## Condensed Financial Statements as of September 30, 2011

#### **Table of Contents**

Report of the Board of Directors	3
Management discussion	98
Certifications	126
Independent Auditors' review report	128
Condensed financial statements	129

This translation of the financial statements is for convenience purposes only. The only binding version of the financial statement is the Hebrew version.

## Condensed Board of Directors' Report for Financial Statements as of September 30, 2011

### **Table of Contents**

The General Environment and the Effect of External Factors on the Bank Group	4
Key data for Bank group	8
Forward-looking information	9
Permits and Arrangements with Regard to Control of the Bank	9
Dividends	10
Profit and Profitability	11
Major Investees	24
Financial Information Regarding Operating Segments	26
International operations	44
Off balance sheet activity	46
Sources and financing	46
Risk management - Basel II: Pillar 3	48
Significant events in the Bank Group's business	82
Legislation and Regulation of Bank Group Operations	82
Legal Proceedings	89
Other Matters	90
Executive Management	90
Internal Auditor	91
Accounting Policy on Critical Matters	92
Certification process of the financial statements	93
Board of Directors	96
Controls and Procedures	97

## Condensed Board of Directors' Report For Financial Statements as of September 30, 2011

At the meeting of the Board of Directors of Mizrahi Tefahot Bank held on November 28, 2011, it was resolved to approve and publish the Board of Directors' report and the consolidated financial statements of Mizrahi Tefahot Bank Ltd. and its investees as of September 30, 2011.

The financial statements were compiled in accordance with generally accepted accounting policies in Israel for interim financial reporting, and in accordance with directives and guidance of the Supervisor of Banks.

#### The General Environment and the Effect of External Factors on the Bank Group

#### Developments in Israel's economy in the first nine months of 2011

#### **Real Developments**

In the third quarter of this year, the slow-down in the economy, which had started in the second quarter, continued. According to estimates by the Central Bureau of Statistics, GDP growth in the third quarter of 2011 was 3.4%, in annualized terms, following growth of 3.5% in the second quarter and 4.7% in the first quarter. Per-capita GDP rose by 1.5% in the third quarter. Imports of goods and services decreased in this quarter by 7.6%, compared to 9.2% growth in the previous quarter.

Total consumption in the economy remained unchanged in the third quarter, following 4.6% growth in the second quarter and 10.4% growth in the first quarter. Private consumption expenditure increased by 0.9% in the third quarter, following 1.3% growth in the previous quarter - an increase reflecting a decline in per-capita private consumption. Exports of goods and services decreased in the third quarter by 16.9%, compared to 1.5% growth in the previous quarter. Exports of goods and services increased in the third quarter by 13.0%, following 11.6% growth in the previous quarter. Growth in residential construction investment slowed down in this quarter to 4.1%, following double-digit growth in the previous five quarters. Public consumption expenditure increased in this quarter by 3.2%, compared to a 4.5% decline in the previous quarter.

The downward trend in unemployment, which started in mid 2009, continued in the third quarter of 2011. Unemployment in August was down to 5.6%, compared to 6.2% at the end of 2010.

#### Inflation and exchange rates

In the first nine months of 2011, the Consumer Price Index rose by 2.2%, compared to a 1.9% rise in the corresponding period last year. The CPI was mostly affected by the rising cost of housing and gas. In the third quarter of 2011, the CPI remained unchanged - compared to a 1.2% increase in the corresponding period last year.

The NIS was devalued by 4.6% against the USD in the first nine months of 2011, reaching NIS 3.712 per 1 USD at the end of September, compared to NIS 3.549 at the end of 2010. The NIS was revalued against the Euro in this period by 6.5%, reaching NIS 5.044 per Euro at the end of September, compared to NIS 4.738 per Euro at the end of 2010.

In the third quarter of 2011, the NIS/USD exchange rate was devalued by 8.7%, with the NIS being devalued by 2.0% vs. the Euro. On November 15, 2011, the USD/NIS exchange rate was 3.732.

#### Monetary and fiscal policy

The first half of 2011 saw a faster pace of increase in interest rates compared to the previous year, designed to face expectations which exceeded the target inflation range (1%-3%). For the first half of the year, the Bank of Israel interest rate was raised by 1.25 percentage points, from 2.0% at the end of 2010 to 3.25% in June 2011. In the third quarter, interest rate remained unchanged at 3.25% - concurrently with a sharp decline in expected inflation, down to the middle of the target range. Note that interest rate for October was lowered, for the first time since 2009, by 0.25 percentage point to 3.0%, and remained unchanged in November.

In the first nine months of 2011, the government budget recorded a NIS 9.7 billion deficit, compared to a NIS 14.0 billion deficit in the corresponding period last year. In this period, tax revenues increased by 5.2% on a real basis over the corresponding period last year. However, in the third quarter the pace of increase slowed down, and total tax collection for the first nine months was NIS 1.2 billion under budget. Government ministry expenditures increased by 4.7% for the period, lower than the budgeted 7.4%. The slow-down in increase in tax collection in the third quarter resulted in an increase in accumulated deficit, and in the 12 months ended in September, the accumulated deficit increased to NIS 25.9 billion. This compares to a budgeted deficit of NIS 25.2 billion in 2011.

The Tractenberg Commission, appointed in response to the "cost of living protest", presented its recommendations while stressing the need to stay within the framework of the national budget. Its recommendations with regard to changes to the tax system in 2012 were approved by the Government, including *inter alia* the following measures: Stopping the tax decrease outline, increasing taxes on corporations, on individuals with high earnings and on capital gains, while providing tax relief to parents of children under three years old, cancelling the increase in tax on gasoline and decreasing customs duty and sales taxes.

#### Residential construction and the mortgage market

According to data from the Central Bureau of Statistics, in the first nine months of 2011 demand for new apartments (apartments sold and apartments constructed not for sale) was 28,230 apartments, a decrease of 3.5% over the corresponding period last year. Starting in February, demand trended downwards by an average 3.8% per month. This decline in demand is also manifested in the mortgage market. In recent months, the number of mortgages originated declined, and in the third quarter total mortgage origination volume was 11% lower than in the second quarter.

Concurrently, the acceleration in construction starts continued. In January-July 2011, construction started on 43,500 residential units in annualized terms, compared to 39,700 units in 2010 and to an average of 33,000 over the past decade. More moderate demand, along with higher construction starts, resulted in an inventory of new apartments for sale from private development at the end of September of 13,244 compared to 10,900 at the end of 2010 - a 21.5% increase. Based on the average pace of sales in the nine months ended September 2011, this inventory would account for 11 months' sales - compared to 7.0 months at the end of 2010.

According to data from the Central Bureau of Statistics, in 2011 housing prices continued to rise, despite higher interest rates and restrictive regulatory action in the mortgage market initiated by the Bank of Israel in the second half of 2010 and in the first half of 2011. Housing prices, on nation-wide average basis, were 6% higher in July 2011 compared to the end of 2010, and 12% higher over the corresponding period last year.

#### Capital market

The decline in equity markets, which started in the first quarter of this year, was more pronounced in the third quarter of 2011. The sharp declines were primarily in response to sharp declines in overseas equity markets, especially in Europe, and in view of the social protests which started in this period. Unlike equity markets, the debenture market was higher. In October-November the markets were highly volatile.

Equity market - the major indexes, Tel Aviv 25 and Tel Aviv 100, declined in the third quarter of 2011 by 11.9% and 12.9%, respectively, and year to date declines were 18.7% and 20.8%, respectively. Due to impact of the debt crisis in Europe, which was most noticeable in bank stocks around the world, financial stocks in Israel recorded the sharpest declines of all major benchmarks. The Financials 15 Index declined by 19.8% in the third quarter, and the Banking Index' decline was even sharper - 21.1%. Year to date, these indexes declined by 29.8% and 28.9%, respectively. The Real Estate 15 Index declined in the third quarter by 15.3% and by 23.4% year to date. The decline in small-cap equities was also pronounced, where the Yeter 50 Index declined by 18.8% in the third quarter and by 34.0% year to date.

Average daily trading volume of shares and convertible securities over the first nine months of this year was NIS 1.8 billion, compared to NIS 1.9 billion in the first half of this year. Total stock issuance (excluding capital raised overseas) in the third quarter amounted to NIS 1.1 billion - lower than in previous quarters. In the first nine months of this year, total stock issuance amounted to NIS 4.6 billion, compared to NIS 12.8 billion in all of 2010.

Debenture market - the debenture market was positive. The General Debenture index rose by 0.8% in the third quarter, after rising by 0.6% in the second quarter of 2011 and after trading unchanged in the first quarter. By comparison, the CPI-linked Debenture Index declined by 0.3%, after rising by 0.3% in the second quarter and rising by 0.4% in the first quarter. The Nonlinked Debenture Index rose prominently by 3.1%, continuing its upward trend from the second quarter (1.4%), reversing the 1.0% decline in the first quarter. The significant rise in this index was associated with the stop in interest rate raises and lower expected inflation in Israel, as well as with higher debenture prices in the USA. The Tel-Bond 20 Index changed direction in the third quarter, declining by 0.8% compared to increases of 0.5% in each of the previous two quarters. The Tel-Bond 40 Index, which also includes real estate companies, declined even more sharply by 1.6%, compared to a 0.3% decline in the previous quarter and to a 1.1% increase in the first quarter.

Yield spreads for corporate debentures over government debentures were slightly higher in the third quarter, on concerns about solvency: Debentures rated AA traded at the end of this quarter at a 1.4 percentage points spread, compared to 1.1 percentage points at the end of the second quarter and to 0.8 percentage points at the end of the first quarter. Debentures rated A traded at the end of this quarter at a 3.5 percentage points spread, compared to 3.4 percentage points at the end of the second quarter and to 1.8 percentage points at the end of the first quarter.

Overall, the public sector placed debentures with the public and with institutional investors in the third quarter of 2011 amounting to NIS 10.0 billion, following NIS 12.0 billion raised in the second quarter of 2011 and NIS 11.7 billion raised in the first quarter of 2011.

Average daily trading volume in debentures over the first nine months of this year amounted to NIS 3.8 billion - similar to previous quarters.

#### Global economy

In the third quarter, uncertainty about the global economy increased as the sovereign debt crisis in Europe took a turn for the worse, and as the USA's credit rating was lowered from its previous level (at all times) of AAA. These events resulted in a sharp decline in business and consumer confidence, as indicated by various surveys. However, GDP in the USA rose in the third quarter of 2011 by an annualized 2.5%, an improvement over 1.3% growth in the second quarter and 0.4% growth in the first quarter.

The Euro Zone economy continued to be overshadowed by the debt crisis in several European countries, and risk of default of these countries increased significantly. This trend was most evident in Italy - where yield on 10-year debentures rose above 7%.

A comprehensive aid program for the Euro Zone was established in a bid to resolve this crisis. Highlights of this program are: A 50% debt write-off by the Government of Greece, an increase in the Rescue Fund for distressed countries up to EUR 1 trillion, an increase in capital adequacy rates for European banks up to 9%, with a promise to inject capital into banks which would be unable to raise funds on their own, as well as a promise to take action to reduce Italy's debt.

In view of these developments, GDP in the Euro Zone rose by an annualized 0.8% - similar to the pace in the previous quarter. Growth in the Euro Zone was led by Germany and France, with 2.0% and 1.6% growth, respectively.

Monetary policy in developed economies remained expansive, with interest rates in the USA and UK remaining low, and with interest in the Euro Zone lowered from 1.50% to 1.25%. In addition, programs for purchase of financial assets by central banks were expanded in both the USA and UK. Even economies which applied a restrictive monetary policy in the past two years - such as Brazil and Australia - changed direction over concerns of an economic slow-down, and lowered their interest rates. Note that expansive monetary policy in developed markets was applied despite the prevailing inflationary pressures: For the trailing 12 months, the CPI in the UK rose by 5.2%, in the USA - by 3.9% and in the Euro Zone - by 3.0%.

Leading overseas benchmarks were impacted by growing concern over solvency of several European countries and potential implications for banks in these and other countries.

The Dow Jones Index in the USA declined in the third quarter by 9.9% and declined year-to-date by 3.3%. The NASDAQ 100 and S&P 500 benchmarks declined in the third quarter by 8.0% and 11.0%, respectively, and in the first nine months of this year, these benchmarks declined by 3.5% and 6.5%, respectively. The German DAX benchmark declined by 23.7% in the third quarter, for a total decline of 18.6% year to date. The FTSE100 and Nikkei indices declined by 13.7% and 11.4%, respectively. In the first nine months of this year, these benchmarks declined by 13.1% and 14.9%, respectively.

## Key data for Bank group

#### **Evolution of income and expenses**

For the three months ended					
	30.9.2011	30.6.211	31.3.2011	31.12.2010	30.9.2010
				NIS	in millions
Profit and Profitability					
Profit from financing operations before expenses with respect					
to credit loss	877	795	752	880	735
Operating and other income	335	341	358	350	335
Total profit	1,212	1,136	1,110	1,230	1,070
Expenses with respect to credit loss	142	80	54	192	102
Operating and other expenses	650	655	<sup>(3)</sup> 673	<sup>(3)</sup> 687	<sup>(3)</sup> 628
Provision for taxes on operating profit	154	138	<sup>(3)</sup> 137	<sup>(3)</sup> 124	<sup>(3)</sup> 127
On operating profit <sup>(1)</sup>	255	253	<sup>(3)</sup> 239	<sup>(3)</sup> 222	<sup>(3)</sup> 206
After-tax profit from extraordinary items before attribution to					
non-controlling interest	_	(1)	(1)	-	2
Net profit <sup>(1)</sup>	255	252	<sup>(3)</sup> <b>238</b>	<sup>(3)</sup> <b>222</b>	<sup>(3)</sup> <b>208</b>
	30.9.2011	30.6.211	31.3.2011	31.12.2010	30.9.2010
				NIS	in millions
Balance sheet - key items					
Balance sheet total	146,877	139,232	<sup>(3)</sup> 136,185	<sup>(3)</sup> 133,304	(3)126,408
Loans to the public, net	117,620	112,391	109,391	107,040	103,493
Securities	5,879	5,431	5,726	7,449	8,273
Deposits from the public	116,497	111,496	109,029	105,991	101,204
Debentures and subordinated notes	12,501	11,301	10,284		9,116
Shareholders' equity (1)	7,359	7,139	<sup>(3)</sup> 6,886	<sup>(3)</sup> 7,130	<sup>(3)</sup> 6,877
		00.0044	04 0 0044	04.40.0040	00 0 00 10
	30.9.2011	30.6.211	31.3.2011	31.12.2010	30.9.2010
Key financial ratios (in percent)					
Net operating profit return on equity (2)	14.9		14.6	13.3	12.6
Net profit return on equity (2)	14.9		14.5		12.8
Net loans to the public to deposits from the public	101.0		100.3		102.3
Capital to total assets	5.0		5.1	5.3	5.4
Ratio of Tier I capital to risk elements	7.70		<sup>(3)</sup> 7.61	<sup>(3)</sup> 7.91	<sup>(3)</sup> 7.84
Total ratio of capital to risk elements	13.55		<sup>(3)</sup> 13.48	<sup>(3)</sup> 13.96	<sup>(3)</sup> 13.88
Cost income ratio	53.6		60.6	55.9	58.7
Expenses with respect to credit loss for the period to net total loans to the public <sup>(2)</sup>	0.48	0.29	0.20	0.72	0.39
Provision for taxes to net profit	60.4	54.8	57.6	55.9	61.1
Profit from financing operations before expenses with respect	2.41	2.30	2.23	2.67	2.35
to credit loss to total assets <sup>(2)</sup>					
Basic net earnings per share	1.12		1.05	0.99	0.93
Diluted net earnings per share	1.11	1.09	1.03	0.97	0.92

<sup>(1)</sup> In the Board of Directors' Report, wherever "net profit", "operating net profit" or "equity" are mentioned, these terms refer to net profit, operating net profit and equity attributable to equity holders of the banking corporation.

<sup>(2)</sup> Calculated on annualized basis.

<sup>(3)</sup> Retroactively adjusted as per directives of the Supervisor of Banks with regard to employee rights. For details, see Note 1.E.4 to the financial statements.

### **Forward-looking information**

Some of the information in the Report of the Board of Directors, which does not relate to historical facts, constitutes "forward-looking information", as defined in the Securities Act, 1968 ("the Act").

The actual results of the Bank could be significantly different from those included in the forward-looking information, or all that is implied there from. Prospective information is characterized by the use of certain words or phrases, such as: "we believe", "expected", "forecasted", "estimating", "intending", "planning", "readying", "could change" and similar expressions, in addition to nouns, such as: "plan", "goals", "desire", "need", "could", "will be". These forward-looking/prospective information and expressions involve risk and lack of certainty, because they are based on management's assessment of future events which includes, *inter alia*: forecast economic developments in Israel and worldwide, especially the state of the economy, including the effect of macroeconomic and geopolitical conditions; changes and developments in the inter-currency markets and the capital markets, and other factors affecting the exposure to financial risk, changes in the financial strength of borrowers, the public's preferences, legislation, supervisory regulations, the behavior of competitors, aspects related to the Bank's image, technological developments and human resources issues.

The information presented here relies, inter alia, on publications of the Central Bureau of Statistics and the Ministry of Finance, on Bank of Israel data and on various forecasts as described below.

#### Permits and Arrangements with Regard to Control of the Bank

On August 22, 2011, Ofer Investments Ltd. (hereinafter: "Ofer Investments") informed the Bank of a letter received by Yuli Ofer RIP, Liora Ofer, Eyal Ofer and Doron Ofer from the Supervisor of Banks, concerning the Permit to acquire control and means of control over the Bank (hereinafter: "the Supervisor's letter").

Ofer Investments is a private company owned by Liora Ofer and Doron Ofer, and owned by a private company owned and controlled by Eyal Ofer and by a foreign resident company, and is one of a group of companies owned and controlled by the Ofer family - which have joint control over the Bank together with others.

The Supervisor's letter, which Ofer Investments has forwarded to the Bank, stipulates *inter alia* that, as requested by Messrs. Ofer, the Permit was temporarily amended on September 30, 2009 so as to reduce the equity required of Ofer Investments to at least 30% for a period of up to two years. According to the Supervisor's letter, the Permit was amended due to the request to allow the acquisition of shopping malls by Meliseron Ltd., a company controlled by Ofer Investments, within a set, short time available to it and in view of the commitment by Messrs. Ofer to have Ofer Investments restructured.

According to the Supervisor, if no steps have been taken to comply with the aforementioned equity requirements, then Messrs. Ofer are in apparent violation of a material condition in the Permit, which refers to stability of the control chain at the Bank.

The Supervisor, in the letter, demanded that Messrs. Ofer provide, no later than September 15, 2011, the opinion of the Independent Auditor of the equity as percentage of total sources at Ofer Investments, for review of compliance with the aforementioned condition in the Appendix to the Control Permit which refers to the aforementioned percentage as of July 1, 2011.

The Supervisor further noted that should the aforementioned condition be breached, the Supervisor would recommend that the Governor of the Bank of Israel exercise his authority pursuant to Section 34a(a) of the Banking Act (Licensing), 1981 and modify the current Permit.

Ofer Investments informed the Bank that the Supervisor's letter is based on the long-standing demand by the Supervisor of Banks that recipients of the Control Permit over the Bank should modify the holding structure of controlling Bank shares, such that these shares would be separate from other operations of Ofer Investments, including holding of real estate properties. Ofer Investments further reported that the outline for restructuring of Ofer's holding stake in the Bank (whereby the controlling Bank shares owned by Ofer Investments would be transferred to a sister company of Ofer Investments) was formulated many months ago by all recipients of the Control Permit, who also signed documents with regard to this matter, and resolutions were adopted by organs of the relevant corporations, and the delay is due to the position of a small minority of Ofer Investments shareholders, which is also one of the Control Permit recipients.

The Bank was informed that the opinion of the Independent Auditor, as requested in the letter, was provided in time to the Supervisor.

#### **Dividends**

Below are details of dividends distributed by the Bank since 2008 through the publication date of these financial statements (in reported amounts):

Payment date	Dividend per share	Total dividends paid
	(in Agorot)	(NIS in millions)
February 19, 2008	33.80	75
June 11, 2008	33.78	75
September 08, 2010	89.59	200
April 17, 2011	53.65	120

#### **Profit and Profitability**

Net profit in the third quarter of 2011 amounted to NIS 255 million, compared to NIS 208 million in the corresponding period last year – an increase of 22.6%. This reflects a 14.9% annualized return on equity, compared to 12.8% in the corresponding period last year.

Net profit for the Group in the first nine months of 2011 amounted to NIS 745 million, compared to NIS 579 million in the corresponding period last year - a 28.7% increase. This profit reflects an annualized 14.3% return on equity, compared to 11.6% in the corresponding period last year and to 11.8% in all of 2010.

Increase in net profit was due to rapid growth in business volume at the Bank Group: Investment in service quality and in unique products, along with intensive marketing activity, resulted in accelerated recruiting of new clients, resulting in 13.7% increase in net loans to the public and in 15.1% increase in deposits from the public, compared to the year-ago period.

# The following major factors impacted Group operating profit in the first nine months of 2011 over the corresponding period last year:

- Profit from financing operations before expenses with respect to credit loss in the first nine months of 2011 increased by NIS 345 million over the year-ago period, amounting to NIS 2,424 million compared to NIS 2,079 million in the corresponding period last year an increase of 16.6%.
- Income from operating commissions increased in the first nine months of 2011 by NIS 28 million, or 2.8%, over the corresponding period last year.
- Other operating income amounted to NIS 16 million in the first nine months of 2011, compared with NIS 27 million in the corresponding period last year.

# Total financing and operating income in the first nine months of 2011 increased by NIS 362 million, to NIS 3,458 million compared to NIS 3,096 million in the corresponding period last year, an increase of 11.7%.

- Expenses with respect to credit loss decreased in the first nine months of 2011 by NIS 5 million, or 1.8%, over the corresponding period last year.
- Operating and other expenses, net of the effect of the accounting treatment of employee stock options and the adjustments of payroll provisions, increased by 4.7% in the first nine months of 2011 compared to the corresponding period last year. Operating and other expenses including this effect increased by 5.3%.
  - Expanded operations, creation of infrastructure for "hybrid banking" recently launched and the launching of 13 new branches and points of sale over the past nine months all affected payroll expenses for the first nine months of 2011. Excluding this effect, and excluding the effect of the accounting treatment of employee stock options and the adjustments to payroll provisions, growth in operating and other expenses over the corresponding period last year was 3.7%.

#### **Evolution of income and expenses**

**Profit from financing operations before expenses with respect to credit loss** for the Group in the first nine months of 2011 amounted to NIS 2,424 million, compared to NIS 2,079 million in the corresponding period last year - an increase of 16.6%.

Profit from financing operations before expenses with respect to credit loss for the Group in the third quarter of 2011 amounted to NIS 877 million, compared to NIS 735 million in the corresponding period last year - an increase of 19.3%. Increase in profit from financing operations was due to rapid growth in business volume at the Bank Group: Investment in service quality and in unique products, along with intensive marketing activity, resulted in accelerated recruiting of new clients, resulting in 13.7% increase in net loans to the public and in 15.1% increase in deposits from the public, compared to the year-ago period.

#### Below is an analysis of the development of major profit from financing operations items (NIS in millions):

		Third	Quarter	F	irst nine	months
			Rate of			Rate of
	2011	2010	change	2011	2010	change
Current operations	824	692	19.1%	2,267	1,937	17.0%
Income from collection of interest on troubled loans	35	41		75	94	
Gain from realized debentures available for sale and debentures						
held for trading, net	2	3		6	38	
Exchange rate and linkage differentials with respect to impaired debt	32	-		34	-	
Effect of accounting treatment of derivatives at fair value and others (1)	(16)	(1)		42	10	
Total	877	735	19.3%	2,424	2,079	16.6%

<sup>(1)</sup> The effect of the accounting treatment of derivatives at fair value is due to the difference between the accounting treatment of balance sheet instruments, charged to the profit and loss statement on the accrual basis (interest, linkage differentials and exchange rate differentials only), vs. derivatives measured at their fair value.

#### Below are details of financing profit by major operating segments of the Group (NIS in millions)<sup>(1)</sup>:

	First nine months					
			Change	Rate of		
Operating segment	2011	2010	amount	change		
Retail banking:						
Mortgages	415	371	44	11.9%		
Household	818	633	185	29.2%		
Small business	347	266	81	30.5%		
Total	1,580	1,270	310	24.4%		
Private banking	73	40	33	82.5%		
Commercial banking	140	120	20	16.7%		
Business banking	485	<sup>(2)</sup> 438	47	10.7%		
Financial management	146	<sup>(2)</sup> 211	(65)	(30.8%)		
Total	2,424	2,079	345	16.6%		

<sup>(1)</sup> For definition of operating segments, see below the chapter on "Bank Group Operating Segments".

<sup>(2)</sup> Reclassified.

The average balances of financial assets in the different linkage segments (including impact of derivatives) are as follows (NIS in millions):

·		Third Quarter			First nine month		
			Rate of			Rate of	
Linkage segments	2011	2010	change	2011	2010	change	
Israeli currency - non-linked	132,025	121,542	11.9%	136,921	113,140	22.2%	
Israeli currency - linked to the CPI	52,124	42,967	21.3%	49,318	41,169	19.8%	
Foreign currency (including Israeli currency linked to							
foreign currency) (1)	83,016	68,792	14.9%	77,303	64,528	7.7%	
Total	267,165	233,301	14.5%	263,542	218,837	20.4%	

(1) Local operations and overseas affiliates.

The increase in deposits with the Bank of Israel and derivatives operations contributed to the increase in the average balances of non-linked NIS-denominated financial assets.

The increase in mortgage volume resulted in higher average balances of NIS-denominated financial assets - both CPI-linked and non-linked.

The increase in the average balances of foreign currency denominated financial assets is primarily due to an increase in the volume of derivative operations.

Interest spreads of various linkage segments (in %, based on average balances)<sup>(1)</sup> (including impact of derivatives) are as follows:

	First nine m		
Linkage segments	2011	2010	
Israeli currency - non-linked	1.49%	1.41%	
Israeli currency - linked to the CPI	0.44%	0.63%	
Foreign currency (including Israeli currency linked to foreign currency) (2)	0.43%	0.60%	
Total including impact of derivatives	1.01%	1.13%	

- (1) In the first nine months of 2011, based on average balances before deduction of expenses with respect to credit loss; in the corresponding period last year after deduction of such expenses.
- (2) Local operations and overseas affiliates.

Data with regard to income and expense rates of Group operations as well as the financial margin represented by the interest differentials are presented under Appendix A of Management Discussion.

**Expenses with respect to credit loss** for the Group amounted to NIS 276 million in the first nine months of 2011, or 0.31% of total loans to the public, net, compared with NIS 281 million, or 0.36% of total loans to the public, net in the corresponding period last year - a decrease of 1.8%.

Expenses with respect to credit loss for the Group amounted to NIS 142 million in the third quarter of 2011, or 0.48% of total loans to the public, net (0.38% excluding the technical effect initially created in 2011 due to application of new provisions with regard to impaired debt), compared with NIS 102 million, or 0.39% of total loans to the public, net in the corresponding period last year - an increase of 39.2%.

The Bank started retrospectively implementing the Public Reporting Regulation on measurement and disclosure of impaired debt, credit risk and provision for credit loss as from January 1, 2011, and therefore data for previous periods are not comparable to those for the current period. For further details, see Note 1.E.1 and Note 3 to the financial statements

#### Development of expenses with respect to credit loss (NIS in millions) is as follows:

public (annualized)	0.48%	0.39%	0.31%	0.36%
Expense with respect to credit loss as percentage of total loans to the				
Total expenses with respect to credit loss	142	102	276	281
debts)	65	9	62	2
Other (for 2010 - general and supplementary provision for doubtful				
By extent of arrears	(9)	9	(11)	9
Group provision for credit loss:				
Specific provision for credit loss (including accounting write-offs)	86	84	225	270
	2011	2010	2011	2010
	Third Quarter		First nine months	

#### Below are details of expenses with respect to credit loss by major operating segments of the Group (NIS in millions):

	·	
		First nine months
Operating segment	2011	2010
Retail banking:		
Household - mortgages	14	18
Household - other	51	43
Small business	58	31
Total	123	92
Private banking	(6)	-
Commercial banking	11	2
Business banking	130	187
Financial management	18	
Total	276	281

**Profit from financing operations after expenses with respect to credit loss** in the first nine months of 2011 amounted to NIS 2,148 million, compared to NIS 1,798 million in the corresponding period last year - an increase of 19.5%.

In the third quarter, profit from financing operations after expenses with respect to credit loss amounted to NIS 735 million, compared with NIS 633 million in the corresponding period last year, an increase of 16.1%.

**Operating and other income** for the Group amounted to NIS 1,034 million in the first nine months of 2011, compared with NIS 1,017 million in the corresponding period last year – a 1.7% increase.

In the third quarter of 2011, operating and other income for the Group amounted to NIS 335 million - similar to the corresponding period last year.

**Income from operating commissions** for the Group amounted to NIS 1,018 million in the first nine months of 2011, compared with NIS 990 million in the corresponding period last year - a 2.8% increase.

In the third quarter, income from operating commissions amounted to NIS 331 million, compared with NIS 325 million in the corresponding period last year - an increase of 1.8%.

**Net gain from investment in shares** for the Group in the first nine months of 2011 amounted to NIS 4 million, compared to no gain in the corresponding period last year.

In the third quarter of 2011, net gain from investment in shares amounted to NIS 1 million - compared to zero gain in the corresponding period last year.

**Other income** for the Group amounted to NIS 12 million in the first nine months of 2011, compared with NIS 27 million in the corresponding period last year.

In the third quarter of 2011, other income amounted to NIS 3 million, compared with NIS 10 million in the corresponding period last year.

**Operating and other expenses**, excluding the expansion in operations (creation of "hybrid banking" infrastructure and launching of 13 new branches and points of sale) and the effect of the accounting treatment of employee stock options and the adjustments to payroll provisions in the first nine months of 2011 increased by 3.7% over the corresponding period last year. These expenses including this effect increased by 5.3%, to NIS 1,978 million compared to NIS 1,878 million in the corresponding period last year.

Operating and other expenses amounted to NIS 650 million in the third quarter of 2011, compared with NIS 628 million in the corresponding period last year - an increase of 3.5%.

Payroll and associated expenses, net of effect of the above expansion in operations and the effect of accounting treatment of employee stock options and the adjustment of payroll provisions, increased by 5.0% in the first nine months of 2011 compared to the corresponding period last year. Payroll and associated expenses, including this effect, amounted to NIS 1,204 million, compared to NIS 1,125 million.

In the second quarter of 2011, the Bank initially applied the Supervisor of Banks' directives concerning strengthening of internal control over financial reporting of employee rights; for further information see Note 1.E.4. to the financial statements.

Payroll and associated expenses amounted to NIS 389 million in the third quarter of 2011, compared with NIS 382 million in the corresponding period last year - a 1.8% increase.

Maintenance and depreciation expenses for buildings and equipment for the Group amounted to NIS 455 million in the first nine months of 2011, compared with NIS 436 million in the corresponding period last year – an increase of 4.4%.

Maintenance and depreciation expenses for buildings and equipment for the Group amounted to NIS 155 million in the third quarter of 2011, compared with NIS 146 million in the corresponding period last year – a 6.2% increase.

Other expenses for the Group, excluding goodwill amortization, amounted to NIS 319 million in the first nine months of 2011, compared with NIS 306 million in the corresponding period last year - an increase of 4.2%.

Other expenses for the Group amounted to NIS 106 million in the third quarter of 2011, compared with NIS 96 million in the corresponding period last year - an increase of 10.4%, primarily due to increased advertising and marketing operations.

#### As a result of the evolution of income and expenses, changes to financial ratios were as follows (in %):

		First nine months		
	2011	2010	2010	
Cost-Income Ratio <sup>(1)</sup>	57.2	60.7	59.3	
Cost-Income Ratio, excluding Bank Yahav	52.8	57.1	55.8	

			2011				2010
	Third	Second	First	Fourth	Third	Second	First
	Quarter						
Cost-Income Ratio <sup>(1)</sup>	53.6	57.7	60.6	55.9	58.7	58.6	65.1
Cost-Income Ratio,							
excluding Bank Yahav	48.4	53.7	56.6	52.6	56.1	53.6	62.0

<sup>(1)</sup> Total operating and other expenses to total operating and financing income before expenses with respect to credit loss.

**Pre-tax operating profit** for the Group amounted to NIS 1,204 million in the first nine months of 2011, compared with NIS 937 million in the corresponding period last year - a 28.5% increase.

In the third quarter of 2011, pre-tax operating profit amounted to NIS 420 million, compared to NIS 340 million in the corresponding period last year, a 23.5% increase.

The provision for taxes on operating profit amounted to NIS 429 million in the first nine months of 2011, compared with NIS 345 million in the corresponding period last year, a 24.3% increase.

In the third quarter of 2011, the provision for taxes on operating profit amounted to NIS 154 million, compared to NIS 127 million in the corresponding period last year, a 21.3% increase.

**Operating net profit** in the first nine months of 2011 amounted to NIS 747 million, compared to NIS 577 million in the same period last year – an increase of 29.5%.

Operating net profit in the third quarter of 2011 amounted to NIS 255 million, compared to NIS 206 million in the corresponding period last year – an increase of 23.8%.

Return <sup>(1)</sup> on Group profit and its development relative to shareholders' equity<sup>(2)</sup> (in %):

	Fire	First nine months	
	2011	2010	2010
Net operating profit	14.4	11.6	11.8
Net profit	14.3	11.6	11.8

			2011				2010
	Third	Second	First	Fourth	Third	Second	First
	Quarter						
Net operating profit	14.9	15.2	14.6	13.3	12.6	12.5	10.8
Net profit	14.9	15.2	14.5	13.3	12.8	12.4	10.9

<sup>(1)</sup> Annualized return

Return on average shareholders' equity, including "total capital resources", as presented in the report of income and expense rates, less the average balance of non-controlling interest and less/plus the average balance of unrealized gain/loss from adjustment to fair value of debentures held for trading as well as gain/loss from debentures available for sale.

#### Earnings per share

Earnings per ordinary, NIS 0.1 par value share are as follows (in NIS):

	Thi	rd Quarter	First nine	months of	All of
	2011	2010	2011	2010	2010
Basic earnings per share:					
Net operating profit attributable to equity					
holders of the banking corporation	1.12	<sup>(1)</sup> 0.92	3.30	<sup>(1)</sup> 2.59	<sup>(1)</sup> 3.58
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the					
banking corporation	1.12	<sup>(1)</sup> 0.93	3.29	<sup>(1)</sup> 2.60	<sup>(1)</sup> 3.59
Diluted earnings per share:					
Net operating profit attributable to equity					
holders of the banking corporation	1.11	<sup>(1)</sup> 0.91	3.23	<sup>(1)</sup> 2.55	<sup>(1)</sup> 3.53
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the					
banking corporation	1.11	<sup>(1)</sup> 0.92	3.22	<sup>(1)</sup> 2.56	<sup>(1)</sup> 3.54

<sup>(1)</sup> Retroactively adjusted for application of the Supervisor of Banks' directives with regard to employee rights. For details, see Note 1.E.4. to the financial statements.

#### **Evolution of balance sheet items**

#### Development in loans to the public according to main operating segments:

			Change compared to				
	Septemb	September 30		September 30	December 31		
	2011	2010	2010	2010	2010		
Balance sheet total	146,877	<sup>(1)</sup> 126,408	<sup>(1)</sup> 133,304	16.2%	10.2%		
Loans to the public, net	117,620	103,493	107,040	13.7%	9.9%		
Deposits from the public	116,497	101,204	105,991	15.1%	9.9%		
Securities	5,879	8,273	7,449	(28.9%)	(21.1%)		
Shareholders' equity	7,359	<sup>(1)</sup> 6,877	<sup>(1)</sup> 7,130	7.0%	3.2%		

<sup>(1)</sup> Retroactively adjusted for application of the Supervisor of Banks' directives with regard to employee rights. For details, see Note 1.E.4. to the financial statements.

**Loans to the public, net** - loans to the public, net on the consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2011 accounted for 80% of total assets, similar to the end of 2010. Loans to the public, net for the Group in the first nine months of 2011 increased by NIS 10.6 billion, or 9.9%.

#### Loans to the public by linkage segments (NIS in millions) is as follows:

		•			Change over:
	September 30		December 31	September 30 December 31	
	2011	2010	2010	2010	2010
Israeli currency					
Non-linked	59,916	52,881	54,680	13.3%	9.6%
CPI- linked	43,272	37,931	39,865	14.1%	8.5%
Foreign currency and foreign currency linked	14,432	12,681	12,495	13.8%	15.5%
Total	117,620	103,493	107,040	13.7%	9.9%

<sup>(1)</sup> Excluding the impact of change in NIS exchange rate, a 10.5% increase in the foreign currency segment and a 9.3% increase in total loan volume, compared to December 31, 2010.

#### Loans to the public, net by operating segments (NIS in millions) are as follows:

					Change over:
		September 30	December 31	September 30	December 31
Operating segment	2011	2010	2010	2010	2010
Retail banking:					
Mortgages	66,037	<sup>(1)</sup> 55,819	<sup>(1)</sup> 58,303	18.3%	13.3%
Household	16,293	<sup>(1)</sup> 15,842	<sup>(1)</sup> 15,566	2.8%	4.7%
Small business	6,185	<sup>(1)</sup> 5,363	5,771	15.3%	7.2%
Total	88,515	77,024	79,640	14.9%	11.1%
Private banking <sup>(2)</sup>	1,506	909	962	65.7%	56.5%
Commercial banking	4,831	4,643	4,717	4.0%	2.4%
Business banking	22,768	20,917	21,721	8.8%	4.8%
Total – business and others	29,105	26,469	27,400	10.0%	6.2%
Total	117,620	103,493	107,040	13.7%	9.9%

<sup>(1)</sup> Reclassified

<sup>(2)</sup> As from 2011, this segment includes credit operations of private banking clients, which was previously included under other segments.

Below are details of non-performing assets, impaired debt accruing interest, commercial troubled credit risk and non-impaired debt in arrears 90 days or longer, in accordance with new directives for measurement and disclosure of impaired debt, credit risk and provision for credit loss:

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)	As of	As of September 30, 2011			As of December 31, 2010 (pro-forma)		
reported amounts (the in millions)		Provision for		710 01 200011	Provision for	Net credit	
	Credit risk	credit loss	risk	Credit risk	credit loss	risk	
A. Troubled credit risk							
Troubled commercial credit risk	2,011	307	1,704	3,213	352	2,861	
Troubled credit risk with respect to individuals	2,053	847	1,206	2,130	891	1,239	
Total troubled credit risk	4,064	1,154	2,910	5,343	1,243	4,100	
B. Composition of troubled indebtedness							
Impaired credit risk	1,661	286	1,375	1,932	321	1,611	
Inferior credit risk	116	12	104	119	12	107	
Credit risk under special supervision	562	34	528	1,577	81	1,496	
Credit risk for housing loans in arrears over 90							
days	1,725	822	903	1,715	829	886	
Total troubled credit risk	4,064	1,154	2,910	5,343	1,243	4,100	
C. Total non-performing assets:  Non-accrual impaired loans to the public:							
Reviewed on individual basis	1,209	266	943	1,550	351	1,199	
Non-accrual impaired debentures	16	-	16	14	_	14	
Other non-accrual impaired debt	-	_	_	25	12	13	
Total non-performing assets	1,225	266	959	1,589	363	1,226	
D. Impaired debt in restructuring of accrual							
troubled debt <sup>(4)</sup>	133	17	116	140	21	119	
E. Troubled commercial credit risk (1)							
On balance sheet credit risk with respect to							
loans to the public	1,528	297	1,231	2,333	330	2,003	
Off-balance sheet credit risk with respect to	40=	40		000		0.4.4	
the public <sup>(2)</sup>	467	10	457	866	22	844	
Total commercial troubled credit risk with	1,995	307	1,688	3,199	352	2,847	
respect to the public	1,995	307	16	14	332		
Other on balance sheet credit risk		207		-	250	14	
Total commercial troubled credit risk	2,011	307	1,704	3,213	352	2,861	
F. Non-impaired debt in arrears 90 days or longer	1,812	828	984	1,840	861	979	
Includes: Housing loans provided for by							
extent of arrears <sup>(5)</sup>	1,322	809	513	1,311	829	482	
Housing loans not provided for by extent of arrears <sup>(3)</sup>	403	13	390	404	_	836	

Note: On- and off-balance sheet credit risk is stated before impact of provision for credit loss, and before impact of deductible collateral with respect to indebtedness of borrower and of borrower group.

<sup>(1)</sup> On- and off-balance sheet credit risk which is impaired, inferior or under special supervision, except for on- and off-balance sheet credit risk with respect to individuals.

<sup>(2)</sup> As calculated for restrictions on indebtedness of a borrower or group of borrowers, except with respect to guarantees provided by borrower to secure indebtedness of a third party, before impact of deductible collateral.

<sup>(3)</sup> Housing loans with respect to which the minimum provision is calculated by extent of arrears, in arrears between 3 and 6 months, and other housing loans which are not impaired and in arrears 90 days or longer, with respect to which the minimum provision is not calculated by extent of arrears.

<sup>(4)</sup> Includes impaired debts accruing interest revenues which was re-structured in previous years.

<sup>(5)</sup> Reclassified.

#### Below is the sector composition of the top 6 borrowers of the Group as of September 30, 2011:

		-	Balance sheet	Off-balance sheet	
Borrower no.		Sector	credit risk	credit risk	Total credit risk
1.	Electricity and water		210	971	1,181
2.	Construction and real estate		351	630	981
3.	Industry		753	105	858
4.	Construction and real estate		225	499	724
5.	Industry		169	512	681
6.	Commerce		370	202	572

On- and off-balance sheet credit risk is stated before the impact of the provision for credit loss, and before the impact of deductible collateral with respect to indebtedness of borrower and of borrower group.

**Securities** - the balance of investment in securities decreased in the first nine months of 2011 by NIS 1.6 billion, and by NIS 2.4 billion compared to September 30, 2010. The change in total investment in securities is within asset and liability management.

#### Distribution of Group security portfolio by linkage segment (NIS in millions) is as follows:

				Char	ige compared to
	September 30		December 31	September 30	December 31
Operating segment	2011	2010	2010	2010	2010
Israeli currency					
CPI- linked	262	652	413	(59.8%)	(36.6%)
Non-linked	2,920	3,762	3,760	(22.4%)	(22.3%)
Foreign currency and foreign					
currency linked	2,614	3,772	3,195	(30.7%)	(18.2%)
Non-monetary items	83	87	81	(4.6%)	2.5%
Total	5,879	8,273	7,449	(28.9%)	(21.1%)

# Investments in securities in the held-to-maturity portfolio, the available-for-sale portfolio and the held-for-trading portfolio

Below are further details of Bank Group investments in securities (NIS in millions):

	Carry	ing amount as of
	September	December
	30, 2011	31, 2010
Government debentures:		
Government of Israel	4,928	6,308
Government of USA	65	103
Total government debentures	4,993	6,411
Debentures of banks in developed nations:		
UK	133	191
Israel	121	127
Germany	101	99
South Korea	26	25
Canada	-	35
Australia	-	18
Other <sup>(1)</sup>	10	18
	391	513
Debentures of financial institutions (other than banks) in developed nations <sup>(2)</sup> :		
USA	149	184
UK	19	36
Luxembourg	11	10
	179	230
Total debentures of banks and financial institutions	570	743
Corporate debentures (composition by sector):		
Industry	88	17
Construction	38	45
Electricity and water	4	24
Hotel and food services	-	1
Communications and computer services	17	23
Financial services	23	44
Total corporate debentures	170	154
Asset-backed debentures (CLO)	63	60
Shares	83	81
Total securities	5,879	7,449

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes 2 countries with a high balance of NIS 8 million as of September 2011, and NIS 14 million as of December 2010.

<sup>(2)</sup> Exposure primarily consists of exposure to banks, investments and holding companies in bank groups.

Below is additional information with regard to impairment of a temporary nature of securities available for sale, listing the duration of impairment and its share out of the amortized cost (NIS in millions):

	•		۸	a of Contomba	r 20 2011
				s of Septembe	
Share of impairment out of amortized cost		Duration in wh	ich fair value is lowe	r than the amoi	tized cost
	Up to 6 months	9-6 months	12-9 months Over	12 months	Total
Asset-backed debentures available fo	r sale				
Up to 20%	-	-	-	4	4
20%-40%	-	-	-	7	7
Over 40%	-	-	-	-	-
Total	-	-	-	11	11
Other debentures available for sale					
Up to 20%	26	-	-	46	72
20%-40%	-	-	-	11	11
Over 40%	-	-	-	27	27
Total	26	-	-	84	110
Total securities available for sale	26	_	-	95	121

19	-	8	24	51
-	-	-	-	
-	-	2	-	2
19	-	6	24	49
-	-	-	11	11
-	-	-	-	-
-	-	-	7	7
-	-	-	4	4
months 9	9-6 months	12-9 months Over 1	2 months	Tota
D	uration in whi	ich fair value is lowe	r than the amor	rtized cos
		Į.	As of December	r 31, 2010
	months 9	months         9-6 months           -         -           -         -           -         -           19         -           -         -           -         -	Duration in which fair value is lower 1	4 7 11  19 - 6 24 2 -

See Note 2 to the financial statements for additional information.

**Deposits from the public** - these account for 79% of the total consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2011, compared with 80% at the end of 2010. In the first nine months of 2011, deposits from the public with the Bank Group increased by NIS 10.5 billion – a 9.9% increase.

#### Composition of deposits from the public by linkage segments (NIS in millions) is as follows:

Change compared to									
	September 30		December 31	September 30 December 31					
	2011	2010	2010	2010	2010				
Israeli currency									
Non-linked	70,214	58,598	62,754	19.8%	11.9%				
CPI- linked	22,691	21,005	22,342	8.0%	1.6%				
Foreign currency and foreign currency linked	23,592	21,601	20,895	9.2%	12.9%				
Total	116,497	101,204	105,991	15.1%	9.9%				

<sup>(1)</sup> Excluding the impact of change in the NIS exchange rate, a 7.9% increase in the foreign currency segment and a 8.9% increase in total deposits, compared to December 31, 2010.

#### Composition of deposits from the public by operating segments (NIS in millions) is as follows:

				Chang	ge compared to
		September 30	December 31	September 30	December 31
	2011	2010	2010	2010	2010
Retail banking:					
Household	52,325	46,698	46,864	12.0%	11.7%
Small business	7,221	6,259	6,413	15.4%	12.6%
Total	59,546	52,957	53,277	12.4%	11.8%
Private banking	6,307	4,746	4,946	32.9%	27.5%
Commercial banking	3,060	2,764	3,631	10.7%	(15.7%)
Business banking	33,402	23,542	24,072	41.9%	38.8%
Financial management	14,182	17,195	20,065	(17.5%)	(29.3%)
Total	116,497	101,204	105,991	15.1%	9.9%

The ratio of shareholders' equity to balance sheet total for the Group as of September 30, 2011 amounted to 5.01%, compared to 5.35% as of the end of 2010.

#### Ratio of capital to risk elements

As per instructions of the Supervisor of Banks, every banking corporation is required to maintain a total minimum capital ratio of no less than 9% of weighted total of risk components of its balance sheet assets and off-balance-sheet items, and these instructions specify the manner of calculation of total capital and total risk components. Starting on December 31, 2009, the ratio of capital to risk elements is calculated in accordance with Basel II rules.

Development of Group ratio of capital to risk components is as follows (in %):

	September 30, 2011	December 31, 2010
Ratio of Tier I capital to risk elements	7.70	<sup>(1)</sup> 7.91
Ratio of total capital to risk elements	13.55	<sup>(1)</sup> 13.96
Minimum total capital ratio required by the directives of the Supervisor of Banks	9.00	9.00

<sup>(1)</sup> Retroactively adjusted for application of the Supervisor of Banks' directives with regard to employee rights. For details, see Note 1.E.4. to the financial statements.

The decrease in the ratio of capital to risk elements is primarily due to impact of initial application of directives on measurement of impaired debt and the provision for credit loss, which reduced equity as of January 1, 2011 by NIS 359 million.

#### **Major Investees**

The contribution of investees to operating net profit (excluding amortization of goodwill) in the first nine months of 2011 amounted to NIS 116.8 million, compared with NIS 74.8 million in the corresponding period last year. Excluding the effect of interest rate differentials, the contribution of investees amounted to NIS 93.9 million, compared to NIS 72.8 million in the corresponding period last year.

#### Bank Yahav for Government Employees Ltd. ("Bank Yahav")

Bank Yahav is a banking corporation operating in accordance with a "Bank" license as per provisions of the Banking Act (Licensing), 1981. On January 28, 2009, the replacement license for the Bank's previous license dated January 11, 2005, was received which allows the Bank to do business with government and public sector employees. In accordance with the new license, Bank Yahav may engage in new operations and may expand its client base in comparison with the situation prior to receiving the license, and subject to advance permission by the Supervisor of Banks.

Along with this license, Bank Yahav received approval from the Supervisor of Banks to provide services to individual clients (such as salaried employees, self employed and households) and to corporations, provided that credit granted to corporations shall not exceed the specified limit. Bank Yahav has completed preparations for operating in accordance with the new license, subject to policy of the Bank's Board of Directors on this matter.

Bank Yahav's contribution to Group net profit in the first nine months of 2011, excluding goodwill amortization, amounted to NIS 28.8 million, compared to NIS 14.5 million in the same period last year (NIS 7.7 million after goodwill amortization). Bank Yahav's net profit return on equity in the first nine months of 2011 was 10.7% on an annualized basis, compared to 5.6% in the corresponding period last year. Bank Yahav's balance sheet total as of September 30, 2011 amounted to NIS 16,272 million, compared to NIS 14,795 million as of December 31, 2010. The balance of loans to the public, net as of September 30, 2011 amounted to NIS 5,595 million, compared to NIS 5,432 million at the end of 2010. The balance of deposits from the public as of September 30, 2011 amounted to NIS 13,960 million, compared to NIS 12,572 million at the end of 2010.

#### Tefahot Insurance Agency (1989) Ltd. ("Tefahot Insurance")

Tefahot Insurance is an insurance agency wholly owned by the Bank, which manages life insurance policies and property insurance policies of clients obtaining mortgages from the Bank.

Tefahot Insurance's contribution to Group net profit in the first nine months of 2011 amounted to NIS 51.2 million, compared to NIS 42.3 million in the corresponding period last year.

Net profit return on equity in the first nine months of 2011 was 23.6% on an annualized basis, compared to 22.1% in the corresponding period last year.

#### United Mizrahi Bank (Switzerland) Ltd.

United Mizrahi Bank (Switzerland) Ltd. "Mizrahi Bank Switzerland") is focused on international private banking services. The Swiss bank is held by a wholly-owned Bank subsidiary, UMOHC B.V. incorporated in Holland.

Net profit of Mizrahi Bank Switzerland in the first nine months of 2011 amounted to CHF 1.1 million, compared to CHF 1.9 million in the same period last year.

Mizrahi Bank Switzerland's balance sheet total as of September 30, 2011 amounted to CHF 153 million, compared to CHF 195 million at the end of 2010.

Loans to the public as of September 30, 2011 amounted to CHF 49 million, compared to CHF 59 million at the end of 2010. The deposits with banks as of September 30, 2011 amounted to CHF 89 million, compared to CHF 118 million at the end of 2010. Deposits from the public as of September 30, 2011 amounted to CHF 87 million, compared to CHF 122 million at the end of 2010. Deposits from banks as of September 30, 2011 amounted to CHF 8 million, compared to CHF 16 million at the end of 2010.

These data exclude off-balance-sheet items, such as fiduciary deposits which are major components of the Bank's business operations in Switzerland.

The contribution of Mizrahi International Holdings Ltd. (B.V. Holland) to Group net profit in the first nine months of 2011, which includes the contribution of Mizrahi Bank Switzerland to net profit, amounted to NIS 27.8 million, compared with NIS 10.4 million in the same period last year. These data include impact of changes in exchange rates on the investment balance, covered by the Bank's own sources. Therefore, the impact of exchange rates on the consolidated statement is not meaningful.

Excluding the impact of changes in exchange rates, the company's contribution to group net profit in the first nine months of the year amounted to a NIS 4.9 million profit, compared to a NIS 8.4 million profit in the corresponding period last year.

In recent months, tax authorities in the USA and Switzerland have been negotiating in conjunction with the double taxation avoidance treaty between these two countries. At the request of Swiss authorities, several Swiss banks including United Mizrahi (Switzerland) Ltd. (a wholly owned and controlled subsidiary of the Bank), have provided statistical information about their business with US clients - to be provided to US authorities. No personally identifiable information, such as client names, has been provided. United Mizrahi Bank (Switzerland) Ltd. cooperates with Swiss authorities and acts in adherence to applicable statutory provisions.

#### Investment in non-banking corporations

The Bank manages nostro investments in non-banking corporations. About 9% of these investments are negotiable and are stated at their market value. The other investments are presented at cost or at their carrying amount. In case of impairment of a non-temporary nature, a provision for impairment is made by the Bank.

Bank investments in non-banking corporations as of September 30, 2011 amounted to NIS 63 million, compared to NIS 59 million at the end of 2010. In the first nine months of 2011, the Bank had net gain from dividends and capital gains from non-banking corporations amounting to NIS 4 million - compared to no gain in the corresponding period last year.

#### **Financial Information Regarding Operating Segments**

#### **Bank Group operating segments**

The Bank manages its operations in six major operating segments, which are distinguished by client characteristics and type of banking services required, as well as by the organizational unit responsible for servicing each segment. Operating segment definition is based on the Bank's organizational structure, as described below. The operations in the six operating segments include all areas of banking operations including classic banking activity (loans and deposits), securities activity for clients and activity in derivative instruments. Operations of the various segments are conducted via Bank branches, trading room, Business Centers, Bank HQ departments and subsidiaries in Israel and overseas.

#### The Bank's operating segments are:

**Household segment** - under responsibility of the Retail Division, This segment includes small household clients and mortgage operations. The division provides appropriate banking services and financial products to segment clients, including in the field of mortgages.

**Small business segment** – under responsibility of the Retail Division, which also serves small business clients, having an indebtedness level of less than NIS 6 million, sales of less than NIS 30 million and liquid asset balance of less than NIS 10 million. Banking services and financial products, including commercial banking services as required, are provided to segment clients.

**Private banking** – private banking is under responsibility of the Private Banking and International Operations sector of the Financial Division. Private banking sector clients are individual clients with liquid assets (primarily short-term deposits and security investments) over NIS 2.5 million. Clients of this segment have high financial wealth, to whom the Bank offers access to unique products and services in capital management activity, advisory service and investment management.

**Commercial banking** – clients of this segment are private and public companies of medium size (middle market) and medium level of indebtedness, and are served by the Business Banking Division, primarily by the Business sector, which operates via six business centers located throughout Israel. Business clients are assigned to the Business sector primarily using the following criteria: total indebtedness of NIS 6-25 million, sales of NIS 30-120 million or liquid assets of NIS 10-40 million.

Segment clients operating in the real estate sector are served by the Construction and Real Estate sector of the Business Division, which specializes in provision of dedicated services to this sector.

**Business banking** - the Major Corporations sector in the Business Division is responsible for the Business Banking segment, which is the focal point for handling the largest business clients. Criteria by which clients are assigned to the Corporate sector include: total indebtedness over NIS 25 million, sales over NIS 120 million or liquid assets over NIS 40 million. This segment provides a range of banking and financial services to the largest companies in the economy, in an array of industries, at relatively high levels of indebtedness. Segment clients operating in the real estate sector are served by the Construction and Real Estate sector of the Business Division, which specializes in provision of dedicated services to this sector.

**Financial management** - operations in this segment include, inter alia, management of assets and liabilities, management of exposure to market risk, management of the nostro portfolio and liquidity management as well as trading room operations in the financial and capital markets. The segment is under responsibility of the Finance Division, except for investments in non-banking corporations, which are under the responsibility of the business division.

The main products offered by the Bank's different operating segments are:

- Banking and finance an array of banking services offered to private and corporate clients, including management of
  checking accounts, provision of a current loan account, different kinds of credit and guarantees, receiving deposits,
  foreign trade activities (imports, exports, documentary credit, etc.), trading in derivative instruments, including trading in
  currencies and interest rates, etc.
- Capital market security transactions for clients on stock exchanges in Israel and overseas, provident fund operating services and mutual fund distribution (management of provident funds and mutual funds until sold) which are among investment tracks available to Bank clients.
- Credit cards A set of financial products and banking services given in conjunction with credit cards issued to Bank clients by credit card companies in Israel.
- Mortgages Housing loans secured by charges on a residence, out of the Bank's funds and within the framework of government aid programs.
- Construction and real estate banking operations vis-à-vis companies in the real estate sector, as well as unique banking services for the real estate sector, including the financing of real estate products by the closed financing method.

In order to analyze results of Bank operations by relevant criteria, clients have been assigned to the organizational units in charge of servicing them. Information presented below by operating segment is based on the Bank's organizational structure on client assignment to various departments and then to operating segments, and on attribution of results and balances to clients and segments in the profitability measurement system.

For further details, *inter alia*, with regard to the division into operating segments and the principles used for attributing balances, income and expenses to customers in the system – see Note 31 to the financial statements as of December 31, 2010.

Note 11 to the financial statements includes a reporting of Bank Group business results by operating segment.

Below is a summary of financial results by operating segment (NIS in millions, in reported amounts):

	Share of total net profit								
		Net profit			percent)	Return on equity			
	in the	first nine	months	for the first nine	e months	(in %), first ni	ne months		
	2011	2010	2011	2010	201	1 201	10		
Household:									
Mortgages	2	257	218	34	38	14.4	13.9		
Other		135	68	18	12	21.1	10.6		
Private banking		39	<sup>(1)</sup> 21	5	4	104.8	<sup>(1)</sup> 40.6		
Small business		107	73	14	13	38.4	28.4		
Commercial banking		43	35	6	6	14.5	12.1		
Business banking		131	<sup>(1)</sup> 71	19	11	6.9	<sup>(1)</sup> 3.7		
Financial management		33	<sup>(1)</sup> 93	4	16	13.5	(1) 30.9		
Total	ī	745	579	100	100	14.3	11.6		

<sup>(1)</sup> Reclassified.

## Below are Bank Group operating results by operating segment

## **Results of Household Segment**

	For the r	ine montl	hs ended	September	30, 2011					
	Banking					Banking				
	and	Credit	Capital			and	Credit	Capital		
	finance	cards	market	Mortgages	Total	finance	cards	market	Mortgages	Total
									NIS ir	millions
Profit from financing operations										
before expenses with respect to										
credit loss:										
From outside operating										
segments	112	19	9	2,841	2,981	200	16	8	1,780	2,004
Inter-segment	692	(14)	-	(2,426)	(1,748)	420	(11)	-	(1,409)	(1,000)
Total profit from financing										
operations before expenses		_	_				_	_		
with respect to credit loss	804	5	9	415	1,233	620	5	8	371	1,004
Operating and other income	163	101	161	182	607	161	87	168	188	604
Total profit	967	106	170	597	1,840	781	92	176	559	1,608
Expenses with respect to credit										
loss	51	-	-	14	65	43	-	-	18	61
Operating and other expenses										
From outside operating										
segments	959	21	48	183	1,211	903	21	45	197	1,166
Inter-segment	(88)	(3)	-	-	(91)	(91)	(3)	-	-	(94)
Total operating and other										
expenses	871	18	48	183	1,120	812	18	45	197	1,072
Operating profit (loss) before taxes Provision for taxes on operating	45	88	122	400	655	(74)	74	131	344	475
profit (loss)	16	32	43	143	234	(27)	28	48	126	175
After-tax operating profit (loss)	29	56	79	257	421	(47)	46	83	218	300
Net profit (loss):	23	30	13	231	721	(41)	70	03	210	300
Before attribution to non-controlling										
interest	29	56	79	257	421	(47)	46	83	218	300
Attributable to non-controlling	20	00		201		( ,		00	210	000
interest	(29)	_	_	_	(29)	(14)	_	_	_	(14)
Attributable to equity holders of the	(20)				(20)	( ,				(1.1)
banking corporation	-	56	79	257	392	(61)	46	83	218	286
Return on capital (net profit as % of						, ,				
average capital)				_	16.1%				_	13.0%
Average balance of assets	13,865	2,412	_	59,863	76,140	13,547	2,473	_	51,396	67,416
Average balance of liabilities	47,844	2,412	_		50,508	44,948	2,473	_	77	47,498
Average balance of risk assets	13,955	-,-12	_	31,529	45,484	13,539	2,470	_	26,685	40,224
Average balance of securities	-		27,431		27,431	10,000	_	26,475	20,000	26,475
Loans to the public, net (end	_	_	21,401	_	27,401	_	_	20,473	_	20,475
balance)	13,737	2,556	_	66 037	82,330	<sup>(1)</sup> 13,134	2,708	_	55,819	71,661
Deposits from the public (end	10,707	2,000		00,007	02,000	10, 104	2,700		00,010	7 1,00 1
balance)	52,325	_	_	-	52,325	46,698	_	_	_	46,698
Average balance of other assets	32,323				32,323	40,000				40,000
managed	8,350	_	_	13,057	21,407	7,982	-	_	14,525	22,507
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			· ·					, -	•
Margin from credit granting		_					_			
operations	350	5	-	393	748	255	5	-	344	604
Margin from receiving deposits	412	-	-	-	412	297	-	-	-	297
Other	42		9	22	73	68		8	27	103
Total	804	5	9	415	1,233	620	5	8	371	1,004

<sup>(1)</sup> Reclassified.

The contribution of the household segment to Group profit in the first nine months of 2011 amounted to NIS 392 million, compared to NIS 286 million in the corresponding period last year - an increase of 37.1%.

The contribution of mortgages in the first nine months of 2011 amounted to NIS 257 million, compared to NIS 218 million in the corresponding period last year - an increase of 17.9%. The increase is primarily due to an 11.9% increase in profit from financing operations before expenses with respect to credit loss, which is due to expanded operations, reflected in a 16.5% increase in average assets. Conversely, the provision for credit loss with respect to these operations decreased by NIS 4 million: Total expenses with respect to credit loss attributed to mortgages in the first nine months of 2011 amounted to NIS 14 million, compared to NIS 18 million in the corresponding period last year - a decrease of 22.2%.

Th contribution of the household segment (except for mortgages) in the first nine months of 2011 amounted to NIS 135 million, compared to NIS 68 million in the corresponding period last year - an increase of NIS 67 million. The increase in the contribution of the household segment is primarily due to an increase of 29.2% in profit from financing operations before expenses with respect to credit loss, due to an increase in business volume and improved financial margin and to a decrease of 18.6% in expenses with respect to credit loss. The modest 2.2% increase in operating income is due to a decrease in income from commissions on securities. On the other hand, operating expenses grew by 7.1%.

## **Results of Household Segment**

		F		ree months			F		nree months	
	- I.		Se	eptember 3	0, 2011	D 1:		S	eptember 3	0, 2010
	Banking	O 4:4	0:4-1			Banking	0	0:4-1		
	and		Capital	Mortagas	Total	and		Capital	Mortgoggs	Total
	finance	carus	market	Mortgages	Total	finance	carus	тыке	Mortgages	Total millions
Profit from financing operations									INIOIII	1111110113
before expenses with respect to										
credit loss:										
From outside operating										
segments	40	7	3	1,084	1,134	54	6	3	786	849
Inter-segment	246	(5)	-	(937)	(696)	169	(4)	-	(652)	(487)
Total profit from financing	240	(0)		(337)	(000)	103	(+)		(002)	(407)
operations before expenses										
with respect to credit loss	286	2	3	147	438	223	2	3	134	362
Operating and other income	51	40	45	59	195	56	30	48	66	200
Total profit	337	42	48	206	633	279	32	51	200	562
Expenses with respect to credit										
loss	25	_	_	4	29	10	_	_	17	27
Operating and other expenses	20			•		10				
From outside operating										
segments	316	7	17	60	400	308	7	13	68	396
Inter-segment	(32)	(1)	-	-	(33)	(35)	(1)	-	-	(36)
Total operating and other	()	(-/			()	(00)	( - /			(00)
expenses	284	6	17	60	367	273	6	13	68	360
Operating profit (loss) before taxes	28	36	31	142	237	(4)	26	38	115	175
Provision for taxes on operating				–		( - /				
profit (loss)	10	13	11	53	87	(2)	10	14	44	66
After-tax operating profit (loss)	18	23	20	89	150	(2)	16	24	71	109
Net profit (loss):						( )				
Before attribution to non-controlling										
interest	18	23	20	89	150	(2)	16	24	71	109
Attributable to non-controlling						` ,				
interest	(11)	-	-	-	(11)	(6)	-	-	-	(6)
Attributable to equity holders of the	•					` `				
banking corporation	7	23	20	89	139	(8)	16	24	71	103
Return on capital (net profit as % of										
average capital)				_	16.0%					13.7%
Components of profit from finan	cing opera	tions be	fore ex	penses wi	h respe	ct to credi	t loss:			
Margin from credit granting										
operations	120	2	-	139	261	91	2	-	122	215
Margin from receiving deposits	148	-	-	-	148	110	-	-	-	110
Other	18	-	3	8	29	22	-	3	12	37
Total	286	2	3	147	438	223	2	3	134	362

Volume of mortgages granted by the segment is as follows:

	Loans granted (NIS in millions)						
	F	irst nine months					
	2011	2010	Rate of change				
Mortgages issued (for housing and any purpose)							
From the Bank's funds	13,175	12,019	9.6%				
From the Treasury's funds							
Directed loans	61	139	(56.1%)				
Standing loans and grants	59	149	(60.4%)				
Total new loans	13,295	12,307	8.0%				
Recycled loans	1,076	881	22.1%				
Total loans issued	14,371	13,188	8.9%				
Number of borrowers (includes recycled loans)	36,516	37,467	(2.5%)				

## **Results of Private Banking Segment**

	F	or the nine mo			For the nine months ended September 30, 2010		
	Danking and	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	er 30, 2011	Danking and	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	er 30, 2010	
	Banking and	Capital	Total	Banking and	Capital	Tota	
	finance	market	Total	finance	market	Tota in million:	
Profit from financing operations before					1410		
expenses with respect to credit loss:							
From outside operating segments	14	_	14	(2)	_	(2	
Inter-segment	59	_	59	42	_	4:	
Total profit from financing							
operations before expenses with							
respect to credit loss	73	-	73	40	-	40	
Operating and other income	17	24	41	14	26	40	
Total profit	90	24	114	54	26	80	
Expenses with respect to credit loss	(6)	-	(6)	-	-		
Operating and other expenses	, ,		, ,				
From outside operating segments	51	5	56	42	6	48	
Inter-segment	8	(4)	4	-	-		
Total operating and other		, ,					
expenses	59	1	60	42	6	48	
Pre-tax operating profit	37	23	60	12	20	3:	
Provision for taxes on operating profit	13	8	21	4	7	1	
Net profit attributable to equity holders							
of the banking corporation	24	15	39	8	13	2	
Return on capital (net profit as % of							
average capital)			104.8%			40.6%	
Average balance of assets	2,779	-	2,779	1,873	-	1,87	
Average balance of liabilities	6,232	-	6,232	5,809	-	5,809	
Average balance of risk assets	711	-	711	907	-	90	
Average balance of securities	-	11,626	11,626	-	7,214	7,21	
Loans to the public, net (end							
balance)	1,506	-	1,506	909	-	909	
Deposits from the public (end							
balance)	6,307	-	6,307	4,746	-	4,740	
Average balance of other assets							
managed	-	-	-	-	-		
Components of profit from financia	ng operations be	efore expens	es with res	spect to credit l	oss:		
Margin from credit granting							
operations	37	-	37	11	-	1	
Margin from receiving deposits	33	-	33	27	-	2	
Other	3	-	3	2	-	:	
Total	73	-	73	40	-	4(	

The contribution of the private banking segment to Group profit in the first nine months of 2011 amounted to NIS 39 million, compared to NIS 21 million in the corresponding period last year. The increase in segment contribution is due to a NIS 33 million increase in profit from financing operations due to increased financial spread, as well as due to the transfer of credit activity of segment clients, previously included under other segments, to the private banking segment as from 2011.

Income amounting to NIS 6 million due to decrease in expenses with respect to credit loss - also contributed to higher segment profit.

Operating and other income increased by NIS 1 million only, due to decline in capital market operations, while operating and other expenses increased by NIS 12 million.

#### **Results of Private Banking Segment**

	E	41 41	411I					
	For	the three mon		For the three months ended September 30, 2010				
		September	r 30, 2011	- · · ·	<u> </u>	r 30, 2010		
	Banking and	Capital		Banking and	Capital			
	finance	market	Total	finance	market	Total		
					NIS	in millions		
Profit from financing operations before								
expenses with respect to credit loss:								
From outside operating segments	3	-	3	1	-	1		
Inter-segment	21	-	21	16	-	16		
Total profit from financing operations								
before expenses with respect to								
credit loss	24	-	24	17	-	17		
Operating and other income	5	9	14	2	10	12		
Total profit	29	9	38	19	10	29		
Expenses with respect to credit loss	(5)	-	(5)	-	-	-		
Operating and other expenses								
From outside operating segments	17	5	22	17	5	22		
Inter-segment	9	(4)	5	(2)	(2)	(4)		
Total operating and other expenses	26	1	27	15	3	18		
Pre-tax operating profit	8	8	16	4	7	11		
Provision for taxes on operating profit	3	3	6	1	2	3		
Net profit attributable to equity holders of the	•							
banking corporation	5	5	10	3	5	8		
Return on capital (net profit as % of								
average capital)			91.0%			71.0%		
Components of profit from financing	operations befo	re expenses w	ith respect	to credit loss:				
Margin from credit granting operations	. 11	• -	11	3	-	3		
Margin from receiving deposits	11	-	11	13	-	13		
Other	2	-	2	1	-	1		
Total	24	-	24	17	-	17		

#### **Results of the Small Business Segment**

			e nine mont September				e nine montl September	
	Banking and finance	Credit cards	Capital market	Total	Banking and finance	Credit cards	Capital market	Tota
							NIS in	millions
Profit from financing operations before								
expenses with respect to credit loss:								
From outside operating segments	335	4	2	341	268	-	3	27
Inter-segment	9	(3)	-	6	(5)	-	-	(5
Total profit from financing operations								
before expenses with respect to								
credit loss	344	1	2	347	263	-	3	266
Operating and other income	137	10	17	164	125	9	17	151
Total profit	481	11	19	511	388	9	20	417
Expenses with respect to credit loss	58	-	-	58	31	-	-	3′
Operating and other expenses								
From outside operating segments	320	2	3	325	305	2	2	309
Inter-segment	(38)	-	-	(38)	(40)	-	-	(40
Total operating and other expenses	282	2	3	287	265	2	2	269
Pre-tax operating profit	141	9	16	166	92	7	18	117
Provision for taxes on operating profit	50	3	6	59	34	3	7	44
Net profit attributable to equity holders of								
the banking corporation	91	6	10	107	58	4	11	73
Return on capital (net profit as % of								
average capital)			_	38.4%				28.4%
Average balance of assets	5,968	218	_	6,186	5,158	41	_	5,199
Average balance of liabilities	6,896	-	-	6,896	6,314	-	-	6,314
Average balance of risk assets	5,030	-	-	5,030	4,457	-	-	4,457
Average balance of securities	-	-	8,361	8,361	_	_	7,558	7,558
Loans to the public, net (end balance)	5,905	280	_	6,185	5,319	44	_	5,363
Deposits from the public (end balance)	7,221	-	_	7,221	6,259	_	_	6,259
Average balance of other assets								
managed	251	-		251	344	-	-	344
Components of profit from financing op	erations bef	ore expens	ses with re	spect to cr	edit loss:			
Margin from credit granting operations	248	-	-	248	192	-	-	192
Margin from receiving deposits	64	-	-	64	41	-	-	4
Other	32	1	2	35	30	-	3	33
Total	344	1	2	347	263	-	3	266

The contribution of the small business segment to Group profit in the first nine months of 2011 amounted to NIS 107 million, compared to NIS 73 million in the corresponding period last year - an increase of 46.6%. The increase in segment contribution is primarily due to a 30.5% increase in profit from financing operations before expenses with respect to credit loss, primarily due to higher volumes and improved financial spread. The increase in segment contribution was also impacted by an increase of 8.6% in operating and other income.

On the other hand, expenses with respect to credit loss increased by NIS 27 million. Operating and other expenses increased by NIS 18 million - an increase of 6.7%.

## **Results of the Small Business Segment**

		For the th	ree month		Fo	For the three months ended September 30, 2010			
	Banking and finance	Credit cards	Capital market	Total	Banking and finance	Credit	Capital market	Total	
							NIS in	millions	
Profit from financing operations before provision for doubtful debts									
From outside operating segments	120	4	1	125	87	-	1	88	
Inter-segment	8	(3)	-	5	6	-	-	6	
Profit from financing operations before									
provision for doubtful debts	128	1	1	130	93	-	1	94	
Operating and other income	43	3	7	53	40	3	7	50	
Total profit	171	4	8	183	133	3	8	144	
Provision for doubtful debts	21	-	-	21	14	-	-	14	
Operating and other expenses									
From outside operating segments	103	-	1	104	103	1	-	104	
Inter-segment	(14)	-	-	(14)	(15)	-	-	(15)	
Total operating and other expenses	89	-	1	90	88	1	-	89	
Pre-tax operating profit	61	4	7	72	31	2	8	41	
Provision for taxes on operating profit	22	1	3	26	11	1	3	15	
Net profit	39	3	4	46	20	1	5	26	
Return on equity			_	54.9%				32.9%	
Components of profit from financing operation	ns before p	rovision f	or doubtfu	ıl debts:					
Margin from credit granting operations	92	-	-	92	69	-	-	69	
Margin from receiving deposits	23	-	-	23	15	-	-	15	
Other	13	1	1	15	9	-	1	10	
Total	128	1	1	130	93	-	1	94	

# **Results of the Commercial Banking Segment**

			nine month September				nine month September	
	Banking	<u> </u>	ортонност	00, 2011	Banking		эортогноог	00, 2010
	and	Credit	Capital		and	Credit	Capital	
	finance	cards	market	Total	finance	cards	market	Tota
							NIS ir	n millions
Profit from financing operations								
before expenses with respect to								
credit loss:								
From outside operating								
segments	194	-	2	196	150	-	1	151
Inter-segment	(56)	-	-	(56)	(31)	-	-	(31)
Total profit from financing								
operations before expenses								
with respect to credit loss	138	-	2	140	119	-	1	120
Operating and other income	30	2	10	42	29	2	10	41
Total profit	168	2	12	182	148	2	11	161
Expenses with respect to credit								
loss	11	-	-	11	2	-	-	2
Operating and other expenses								
From outside operating								
segments	52	-	-	52	44	-	-	44
Inter-segment	53	-	-	53	59	-	-	59
Total operating and other								
expenses	105	-	-	105	103	-	-	103
Pre-tax operating profit	52	2	12	66	43	2	11	56
Provision for taxes on operating								
profit	18	1	4	23	16	1	4	21
Net profit attributable to equity								
holders of the banking								
corporation	34	1	8	43	27	1	7	35
Return on capital (net profit as % of								
average capital)			_	14.5%				12.1%
A	4.044	4.4		4.050	4.545			4.547
Average balance of assets	4,811	41	-	4,852	4,545	2	-	4,547
Average balance of liabilities	3,123	-	-	3,123	3,010	-	-	3,010
Average balance of risk assets	5,219	-	2 004	5,219	4,918	-	4 4 4 0	4,918
Average balance of securities	-	-	3,894	3,894	-	-	4,140	4,140
Loans to the public, net (end	4 700	40		4 024	4 6 4 1	2		4 6 4 2
balance) Deposits from the public (end	4,782	49	-	4,831	4,641	2	-	4,643
balance)	3,060			3,060	2,764			2.764
Average balance of other assets	3,000	-	-	3,000	2,704	-	-	2,764
managed	164			164	40			40
Components of profit from finan		one before	-			-		+0
Margin from credit granting	cing operati	ons before	expenses	with respe	ect to credit it	JSS.		
operations	107	-	-	107	93	-	-	93
Margin from receiving deposits	16	-	-	16	11	-	-	11
Other	15		2	17	15		1	16
Total	138	_	2	140	119	_	1	120

The contribution of the commercial banking segment to Group profit in the first nine months of 2011 amounted to NIS 43 million, compared to NIS 35 million in the corresponding period last year - an increase of 22.9%. The increase is due to an increase of 16.7% in profit from financing operations, which amounted to NIS 140 million, compared to NIS 120 million in the corresponding period last year, and to stability of operating and other expenses, which increased only by 1.9%. compared to the year-ago period. Expenses with respect to credit loss increased by NIS 9 million, while operating and other income increased by 2.4%.

## **Results of the Commercial Banking Segment**

	U	•						
			three month				three month	
			September 3	30, 2011			September	30, 2010
	Banking				Banking			
	and	Credit	Capital		and	Credit	Capital	
	finance	cards	market	Total	finance	cards	market	Tota
5 515 5 1							NIS I	millions
Profit from financing operations								
before expenses with respect to credit loss:								
From outside operating								
segments	63	_	1	64	56	_	_	56
_	(12)		· -	(12)	(14)			
Inter-segment Total profit from financing	(12)		-	(12)	(14)			(14)
operations before expenses								
with respect to credit loss	51	_	1	52	42	_	_	42
Operating and other income	10	_	3	13	10	1	3	14
Total profit	61	_	4	65	52	1	3	56
Expenses with respect to credit			•			· ·		
loss	(10)	-	-	(10)	3	-	-	3
Operating and other expenses								
From outside operating								
segments	18	-	(3)	15	9	-	-	9
Inter-segment	18	-	-	18	25	-	_	25
Total operating and other								
expenses	36	-	(3)	33	34	-	-	34
Pre-tax operating profit	35	-	7	42	15	1	3	19
Provision for taxes on operating profit	12	-	2	14	6	1	1	8
Net profit attributable to equity holders								
of the banking corporation	23	-	5	28	9	-	2	11
Return on capital (net profit as % of								
average capital)				30.2%			_	11.4%
Components of profit from final	ncing operat	ions before	e expenses	with respe	ct to credit lo	oss:		
Margin from credit granting	_				_			
operations	39	-	-	39	30	-	-	30
Margin from receiving deposits	5	-	-	5	4	-	-	4
Other	7	-	1	8	8	-	-	8
Total	51		1	52	42		<u>-</u>	42

# **Results of the Business Banking Segment**

			nine month		•		nine month	
	<u> </u>		eptember	30, 2011			eptember	30, 2010
	Dandina	C	onstructi		Dan Lina	C	onstructi	
	Banking	Conital	on and		Banking	Conital	on and	
	and finance (1)	Capital market	real estate	Total	and finance <sup>(1)</sup>	Capital market	real estate	Tota
	IIIIaiice	market	CSIAIC	TOtal	illance	market		n millions
Profit from financing operations before	<u> </u>						1410 11	i iiiiiioiic
expenses with respect to credit loss:	,							
From outside operating segments	(34)	8	299	273	204	8	200	412
Inter-segment	326	-	(114)	212	86	-	(60)	26
Total profit from financing	020		(114)				(00)	
operations before expenses with								
respect to credit loss	292	8	185	485	290	8	140	438
Operating and other income	46	21	7	74	42	18	6	66
Total profit	338	29	192	559	332	26	146	504
Expenses with respect to credit loss	114	-	16	130	171	_	16	187
Operating and other expenses								
From outside operating segments	135	1	28	164	114	1	25	140
Inter-segment	52	_	10	62	56	_	10	66
Total operating and other expenses		1	38	226	170	1	35	206
Pre-tax operating profit	37	28	138	203	(9)	25	95	111
Provision for taxes on operating profit	13	10	49	72	(4)	9	35	40
Net profit (loss) attributable to		10			( ' /			
equity holders of the banking								
corporation	24	18	89	131	(5)	16	60	71
Return on capital (net profit as % of								
average capital)				6.9%			_	3.7%
Average balance of assets	18,820	_	5,927	24,747	18,549	_	6,018	24,567
Average balance of liabilities	27,140	_	2,279	29,419	17,952	_	2,090	20,042
Average balance of risk assets	19,537	_	13,755	33,292	20,075	_	12,188	32,263
Average balance of securities	_	72,550	_	72,550	_	64,242	_	64,242
Loans to the public, net (end balance)	16,810	, -	5,958	22,768	14,992	· -	5,925	20,917
Deposits from the public (end balance		_	2,273	33,402	21,425	_	2,117	23,542
Average balance of other assets	, - , -		, -	,	, -		,	-,-
managed	18	-	69	87	24	-	92	116
Components of profit from financin	g operations	before ex	penses wi	th respec	t to credit lo	ss:		
Margin from credit granting operations	203	-	89	292	220	-	91	311
Margin from receiving deposits	42	-	13	55	27	-	7	34
Other	47	8	83	138	43	8	42	93
Total	292	8	185	485	290	8	140	438

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes operating results with respect to credit cards, whose amount is not material.

<sup>(2)</sup> Reclassified.

Contribution of the business banking segment to Group profit in the first nine months of 2011 amounted to NIS 131 million, compared to NIS 71 million in the corresponding period last year, an increase of 84.5%.

Contribution of construction and real estate increased by NIS 29 million over the corresponding period last year, primarily due to a NIS 45 million increase in profit from financing operations before expenses with respect to credit loss, offset by stable expenses.

Contribution of the business banking segment, excluding construction and real estate, to Group profit in the first nine months of 2011 amounted to NIS 42 million, compared to NIS 11 million in the corresponding period last year. The increase was primarily due to a NIS 57 million decrease in expenses with respect to credit loss, and an 11.7% increase in operating and other income. Profit from financing operations increased by NIS 2 million, while operating and other expenses increased by NIS 17 million.

### **Results of the Business Banking Segment**

	-		ree month			For the th	nree month	is ended
		S	eptember 3	0, 2011		S	eptember :	30, 2010
		C	Construct					
	Banking		ion and		Banking	Co	nstructi	
	and	Capital	real		and	Capital	on and	
	finance (1)	market	estate	Total	finance (1)	market rea		Tota
							NIS in	millions
Profit from financing operations								
before expenses with respect to								
credit loss:								
From outside operating segments	14	3	115	132	43	3	73	119
Inter-segment	112	-	(38)	74	49	-	(25)	24
Total profit from financing								
operations before expenses wit	h							
respect to credit loss	126	3	77	206	92	3	48	143
Operating and other income	13	9	2	24	11	7	2	20
Total profit	139	12	79	230	103	10	50	163
Expenses with respect to credit loss	95	-	1	96	55	-	3	58
Operating and other expenses								
From outside operating segments	44	-	9	53	30	-	8	38
Inter-segment	17	-	4	21	24	-	4	28
Total operating and other								
expenses	61	-	13	74	54	-	12	66
Operating profit (loss) before taxes	(17)	12	65	60	(6)	10	35	39
Provision for taxes on operating								
profit (loss)	(6)	4	23	21	(4)	4	14	14
Net profit (loss) attributable to								
equity holders of the banking								
corporation	(11)	8	42	39	(2)	6	21	25
Return on capital (net profit as % of	f							
average capital)				6.1%				3.9%
Components of profit from finar	ncing operati	ons before	expenses	with resp	pect to credit	loss:		
Margin from credit granting								
operations	86	-	43	129	58	-	32	90
Margin from receiving deposits	16	_	5	21	9	-	2	11
Other	24	3	29	56	25	3	14	42
Total	126	3	77	206	92	3	48	143

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes operating results with respect to credit cards, whose amount is not material.

<sup>(2)</sup> Reclassified.

# **Financial Management Segment results**

			ths ended r 30, 2011		e nine mont September	
	Banking	Бертеппре	30, 2011	Banking	September	30, 2010
	and	Capital	Total	and	Capital	
	finance	market	. 0	finance	market	Total
						n millions
Profit from financing operations before expenses with						
respect to credit loss:						
From outside operating segments	(1,385)	4	(1,381)	(759)	2	(757)
Inter-segment	1,527	-	1,527	968	-	968
Total profit from financing operations before						
expenses with respect to credit loss	142	4	146	209	2	211
Operating and other income	70	36	106	75	40	115
Total profit	212	40	252	284	42	326
Expenses with respect to credit loss	18	-	18	-	-	-
Operating and other expenses	100		170	105	6	171
From outside operating segments Inter-segment	162 10	8	170 10	165 9	6	171 9
Total operating and other expenses	172	8	180	174	6	9 180
Operating profit (loss) before taxes	22	32	54	110	36	146
Provision for taxes on operating profit (loss)	8	12	20	41	13	54
After-tax operating profit (loss)	14	20	34	69	23	92
Share in net after-tax operating profit of affiliates	1		1	(1)	-	(1)
Net operating profit (loss):	•		•	(.)	_	(.)
Before attribution to non-controlling interest	15	20	35	68	23	91
Attributable to non-controlling interest	-	-	-	2	-	2
Attributable to equity holders of the banking						
corporation	15	20	35	70	23	93
After-tax operating profit (loss), before attribution to						
non-controlling interest	(2)	-	(2)	-	-	-
Net profit (loss):						
Before attribution to non-controlling interest	13	20	33	68	23	91
Attributable to non-controlling interest	-	-	-	2	-	2
Attributable to equity holders of the banking corporation	13	20	33	70	23	93
Return on capital (net profit as % of average capital)		_	13.5%			<sup>(2)</sup> <b>30.9%</b>
Average balance of assets	25,282	-	25,282	17,768	-	17,768
Includes: Investments in affiliates	17	-	17	13	-	13
Average balance of liabilities	36,351	_	36,351	31,495	-	31,495
Average balance of risk assets	4,829	_	4,829	4,144	_	4,144
Average balance of provident and mutual fund assets	78,981	_	78,981	75,374	_	75,374
Average balance of securities	70,001	39,506	39,506	70,074	33,893	33,893
3	_	33,300	39,300	_	33,033	55,055
Loans to the public, net (end balance)	-	-	-	-	-	47.405
Deposits from the public (end balance)	14,182	-	14,182	17,195	-	17,195
Components of profit from financing operations before	re expense	s with res	pect to cred	it loss:		
Margin from credit granting operations	-	-	-	-	-	-
Margin from receiving deposits	-	-	-	-	-	-
Other	142	4	146	209	2	211
Total	142	4	146	209	2	211

<sup>(1)</sup> Reclassified.

<sup>(2)</sup> Retroactively adjusted for retroactive application of the Supervisor of Banks' directives with regard to employee rights. See Note 1E.4 to the financial statements for details.

Contribution of the financial management segment to Group profit in the first nine months of 2011 amounted to NIS 33 million, compared to NIS 93 million in the corresponding period last year - a decrease of 65.0%. The decrease is primarily due to a 30.8% decrease in profit from financing operations before expenses with respect to credit loss, mostly due to the effect of accounting treatment of derivatives measured at fair value and others, and to impairment of investments. The decrease in segment contribution was also impacted by a NIS 18 million increase in expense s with respect to credit loss, and by a 7.8% decrease in operating and other income. Operating and other expenses remained unchanged.

### **Financial Management Segment results**

	For	the three mo		For	the three mor	
	<u> </u>		er 30, 2011	<u> </u>		er 30, 2010
	Banking and	Capital	Total	Banking and	Capital	
	finance	market		finance	market	Total
					NIS	in millions
Profit from financing operations before						
expenses with respect to credit loss:						
From outside operating segments	(582)	1	(581)	(378)	-	(378)
Inter-segment	608	-	608	455	-	455
Total profit from financing operations	3					
before expenses with respect to						
credit loss	26	1	27	77	-	77
Operating and other income	25	11	36	24	15	39
Total profit	51	12	63	101	15	116
Expenses with respect to credit loss	11	-	11	-	-	-
Operating and other expenses				(0)		
From outside operating segments	53	3	56	<sup>(2)</sup> 57	2	59
Inter-segment	3	-	3	2	-	2
Total operating and other expenses	56	3	59	59	2	61
Operating profit (loss) before taxes	(16)	9	(7)	42	13	55
Provision for taxes on operating profit						
(loss)	(4)	4	-	17	4	21
After-tax operating profit (loss)	(12)	5	(7)	25	9	34
Share in net after-tax operating losses	` '		• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •			
of affiliates	-	-	-	(1)	-	(1)
Net operating profit (loss):				` '		` '
Before attribution to non-controlling interest	(12)	5	(7)	24	9	33
Attributable to non-controlling interest	· -	-	-	2	-	2
Attributable to equity holders of the						
banking corporation	(12)	5	(7)	26	9	35
After-tax operating profit (loss), before	` ,		` ,			
attribution to non-controlling interest	-	_	_	_	_	_
Net profit (loss):						
Before attribution to non-controlling interest	(12)	5	(7)	24	9	33
Attributable to non-controlling interest	-	_	-	2	_	2
Attributable to equity holders of the						
banking corporation	(12)	5	(7)	26	9	35
Return on capital (net profit as % of average			(-)			
capital)	•		-			<sup>(2)</sup> <b>44.4%</b>
Components of profit from financing	operations befor	e expenses	with respect	to credit loss:		
Margin from credit granting operations	-	-	· -	-	-	_
Margin from receiving deposits	-	_	_	-	_	-
Other	26	1	27	77	_	77
Total	26	1	27	77	-	77
		•				• • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •

<sup>(1)</sup> Reclassified.

<sup>(2)</sup> Retroactively adjusted for retroactive application of the Supervisor of Banks' directives with regard to employee rights. See Note 1E.4 to the financial statements for details.

# **Product operations**

The following is composition of contribution of credit card operations by major operating segments in the Bank Group (NIS in millions):

·		For the r	nine months ended S	September 30, 2011
		Small	Commercial	Total
	Household	business	banking	consolidated
Profit from financing operations before				
expenses with respect to credit loss	5	1	-	6
Operating and other income	101	10	2	113
Total income	106	11	2	119
Operating and other expenses	18	2	-	20
Pre-tax operating profit	88	9	2	99
Provision for taxes on operating profit	32	3	1	36
Net profit	56	6	1	63

		For the ni	ne months ended S	eptember 30, 2010
		Small	Commercial	Total
	Household	business	banking	consolidated
Profit from financing operations before				
expenses with respect to credit loss	5	-	-	5
Operating and other income	87	9	2	98
Total income	92	9	2	103
Operating and other expenses	18	2	-	20
Pre-tax operating profit	74	7	2	83
Provision for taxes on operating profit	28	3	1	32
Net profit	46	4	1	51

The following is composition of contribution of capital market operations by major operating segments in the Bank Group (NIS in millions):

	•		Fo	r the nine m	onths ende	d Septemb	er 30, 2011
						Financial	Total
		Private	Small Commercial		Business	manage-	consolida-
	Household	banking	business	banking	banking	ment	ted
Profit from financing operations before							
expenses with respect to credit loss	9	-	2	2	8	4	25
Operating and other income	161	24	17	10	21	36	269
Total income	170	24	19	12	29	40	294
Operating and other expenses	48	1	3	-	1	8	61
Pre-tax operating profit	122	23	16	12	28	32	233
Provision for taxes on operating profit	43	8	6	4	10	12	83
Net profit	79	15	10	8	18	20	150

	For the nine months ended September 30, 2010								
						Financial	Total		
		Private	Small Commercial		Business	manage-	consolida-		
	Household	banking	business	banking	banking	ment	ted		
Profit from financing operations before									
expenses with respect to credit loss	8	-	3	1	8	2	22		
Operating and other income	168	26	17	10	18	40	279		
Total income	176	26	20	11	26	42	301		
Operating and other expenses	45	6	2	-	1	6	60		
Pre-tax operating profit	131	20	18	11	25	36	241		
Provision for taxes on operating profit	48	7	7	4	9	13	88		
Net profit	83	13	11	7	16	23	153		

# **International operations**

The international operations segment of the Bank Group includes business operations and private banking services via subsidiaries and branches in Israel and overseas. Bank Group international operations are primarily focused on private banking, providing financial services to Israeli clients who have activities outside of Israel, foreign trade finance, local credit and participation in syndicated loans. The Bank has affiliates in several countries, as described below. All international operations, in Israel and overseas, report to the Private Banking and International Operations sector in the Bank's Financial Division. In addition, control of affiliate operations is conducted by the Risk Control Department in the Risk Control Division.

Details of the affiliates and their business are as follows:

**Swiss subsidiary** - UMB (Switzerland) Ltd. – specializes in private banking services, has one branch, owned by a wholly-owned holding company of the Bank registered in Holland – UMOHC B.V. ("the holding company"). The Swiss subsidiary is subject to the regulatory laws in Switzerland.

Bank's overseas branches – Overseas branches offer their clients full banking services, in accordance with the local laws and regulations. The branches are subject to the local and Israeli regulation.

- Los Angeles Branch: The branch is primarily engaged in commercial banking, syndicated loans and receiving deposits.
   Deposits with this branch are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation(FDIC). The branch's clients are local, Israeli and international clients.
- London Branch: The branch is engaged mainly in business banking, including participation in loan syndicates, foreign trade, credit, receiving deposits, foreign currency trade and providing private banking services. The branch's clients are local. Israeli and international clients.
- Cayman Islands Branch: The branch provides private banking services and is operated through the representation of the Bank by the Butterfield Bank in the Cayman Islands, pursuant to the management agreement between it and the Bank.

International private banking branches in Israel: The Bank operates three special branches, located in Jerusalem, Tel Aviv and Ashdod, serving foreign resident clients. These branches provide full banking services to their clients, primarily private banking. The branches are under Israeli supervision and report to the Private Banking and International Operations sector.

**Mortgage center for foreign residents:** The Bank operates a center in Jerusalem, specializing in marketing, approval and operation of foreign-currency mortgages for foreign residents.

Representative offices: The major activities of representative offices are marketing of Bank services and its representation overseas. The Bank operates representative offices in Mexico, Uruguay, Panama and Germany.

For details of local supervision of Bank affiliates overseas, see the chapter on the international operations segment in the Board of Directors' Report included with the financial statements as of December 31, 2010. Below are details of the contribution of international operations to the various operating segments of the Bank Group (NIS in millions):

		For the	nine months	ended Septembe	er 30, 2011
		Private	Business	Financial	
	Household	banking	banking	management	Total
Profit from financing operations before expenses					
with respect to credit loss	2	48	19	40	109
Operating and other income	-	31	4	2	37
Total income	2	79	23	42	146
Expenses with respect to credit loss	-	(7)	2	-	(5)
Operating and other expenses	2	43	31	4	80
Pre-tax operating profit	-	43	(10)	38	71
Provision for taxes on operating profit	-	15	(4)	14	25
Net profit	-	28	(6)	24	46

	For the nine months ended September 30, 20							
		Private	Business	Financial				
	Household	banking	banking	management	Total			
Profit from financing operations before expense	s							
with respect to credit loss	<sup>(1)</sup> 9	35	<sup>(1)</sup> 25	<sup>(1)</sup> 52	121			
Operating and other income	1	31	4	7	43			
Total income	10	66	29	59	164			
Expenses with respect to credit loss	-	-	4	-	4			
Operating and other expenses	7	41	30	5	83			
Pre-tax operating profit	3	25	(5)	54	77			
Provision for taxes on operating profit	1	9	(2)	20	28			
Net profit	2	16	(3)	34	49			

<sup>(1)</sup> Reclassified.

# Off balance sheet activity

**Provident funds** – the Group provides operating services to provident funds. The value of assets in funds to which the Group provides operating services, amounted as of September 30, 2011 to NIS 57.3 billion, compared to NIS 59.9 billion as of December 31, 2010.

**Client activity in securities** – The value of the securities portfolios in the custody of the Bank, held by clients, reached NIS 151.5 billion as of September 30, 2011, compared with NIS 171.3 billion at the end of 2010<sup>(1)</sup>. **Income from securities activity** for the Group amounted to NIS 197 million in the first nine months of 2011, compared with NIS 211 million in the corresponding period last year - a decrease of 6.6%.

Activity by extent of collection – the Group has credit and deposits from deposits whose repayment to the depositor is contingent on collection of credit (or deposits) for which the Bank receives margin- or collection-fee based revenue. The balance of credit from deposits based on extent of collection as of September 30, 2011 amounted to NIS 14.3 billion, compared to NIS 15.3 billion at end of 2010. These amounts exclude standing loans and government deposits extended for them.

# Sources and financing

Group financing sources include deposits, obligatory notes and debentures of various types, as well as shareholders' equity. The Group selects the mix of financing sources based on its business objectives, including objectives for profitability, return on equity and capital adequacy – subject to statutory limitations applicable to banking corporations and in accordance with the state of the capital market and management forecasts regarding development therein.

Total deposits from the public for the Group as of September 30, 2011 amounted to NIS 116.5 billion, compared to NIS 106.0 billion at the end of 2010. Deposits from the public in the CPI-linked segment increased in the first nine months of 2011 by 1.6%; deposits from the public in the foreign currency and foreign-currency-linked segment increased by 12.9%; and deposits from the public in the NIS-denominated, non-CPI-linked segment increased by 11.9%. For details, see the chapter on development of balance sheet items above.

(1) Data includes securities managed on behalf of mutual funds, which were not previously included in this item.

#### **Obligatory notes**

The Bank is acting to raise long-term sources via issuances, inter alia via Mizrahi Tefahot Issue Company Ltd. ("Tefahot Issue"), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Bank. Over the years, Tefahot Issue issued subordinated notes to the public under published prospectuses.

As of the balance sheet date, all obligatory notes (Series 25-34), including subordinated notes, issued to the public by Bank Mizrahi-Tefahot, amounted to NIS 6,980 million in total par value (as of December 31, 2010 - NIS 4,487 million), of which NIS 2,131 million in subordinated notes, similar to December 31, 2010

On February 15, 2011, Tefahot Issuance issued debentures (Series 29 and Series 32), with total par value of NIS 455 million, for consideration of NIS 505 million, pursuant to a shelf prospectus dated February 25, 2009.

On February 25, 2011, Tefahot Issuance issued a shelf prospectus for issuance of up to 10 series of subordinated notes, 10 series of debentures, extension of subordinate notes (Series 31), extension of debentures (Series 29 and Series 32) as well as issuance of two series of commercial paper.

On April 13, 2011, Tefahot Issuance issued NIS 903 million par value debentures (Series 33, CPI-linked and Series 34, NIS-denominated non-linked), pursuant to the shelf prospectus dated February 25, 2011, for consideration of NIS 903 million.

On July 10, 2011, Tefahot Issuance issued NIS 1,135 million par value debentures (Series 33, CPI-linked and Series 34, non-linked), pursuant to the shelf prospectus dated February 25, 2011, for consideration of NIS 1,155 million.

The proceeds from all of these issuances were deposited at the Bank under terms similar to those of issuances.

### **Complex capital instruments**

All of the Bank's complex capital instruments (Series A) (considered upper Tier 2 capital for maintaining minimum capital ratio) as of September 30, 2011, issued and listed for trading amounted to NIS 1,702 million par value, issued for consideration amounting to NIS 1,644 million.

The revalued balance of the complex capital instruments as of September 30, 2011 was NIS 1.9 billion, compared to NIS 1.8 billion as of December 31, 2010.

### **Rating of Bank obligations**

In accordance with a rating provided by Maalot Standard & Poor's (hereinafter: "Maalot"), the rating of Bank obligations, including deposits deposited with the Bank, is AA+, unchanged since the Bank was first rated in 2003.

The rating of subordinated notes issued by Tefahot Issuance is one rank below the issuer rating, i.e. rated AA.

The complex capital instruments, which constitute upper Tier II capital, are rated A+.

On November 15, 2010, Maalot confirmed the aforementioned rating of capital instruments issued by the Bank.

On April 18, 2011, Moody's rating agency announced it was lowering the rating of Bank deposits by one step, from A1 to A2, in conjunction with lowering ratings for the five major banks in Israel. Further, the rating outlook was updated to "On review for possible downgrade".

# **Risk Management**

# **Basel II: Pillar 3 - Market Discipline**

Below is qualitative information and quantitative data related to all risk factors to which the Bank is exposed, which are managed in line with the policy set by the Board of Directors. The information has been compiled in accordance with disclosure requirements of Basel II recommendations, Pillar 3, as applied to banks by Public Reporting Directives, and in accordance with the directive on qualitative reporting with regard to exposure to and management of market risk.

As of the balance sheet date, there were no material changes in risk management at the Group and in qualitative information, as included in the Board of Directors' report as of December 31, 2010, other than as described below.

Below are references to information required pursuant to reporting directives of the Bank of Israel, included below and elsewhere in these financial statements:

Out-in-st	Disabassas	Objects in Descript Directors Descript (Nets to
Subject	Disclosure	Chapter in Board of Directors' Report / Note to
		financial statements
Application scope	Group entities, consolidation basis, limits on	
	supervisory capital	Risk Management chapter
Capital structure	Details of capital components	Note 4 – Capital Adequacy
Capital adequacy	Quantitative disclosure	Risk Management chapter
	Capital adequacy ratios for the Group	Note 4 – Capital Adequacy
Credit risk	Quantitative disclosure	Risk Management chapter
	Credit risk exposure by economic sector	Management Discussion, Addendum C - Credit
		Risk by Economic Sector
	Credit risk exposure by contractual term to	Risk Management chapter
	maturity	
	Credit risk exposure by major geographic	Management Discussion, Addendum D -
	regions	Exposure to Foreign Countries
	Information about troubled debt	Note 3 – Provision for doubtful debts
	Provision for credit loss by economic sector	Management Discussion, Addendum C - Credit
		Risk by Economic Sector
	Credit loss with respect to housing loans	Risk Management chapter
Credit risk mitigation	Quantitative disclosure	Risk Management chapter
Counter-party credit risk	Quantitative disclosure	Risk Management chapter
Securitization	Quantitative disclosure	Risk Management chapter
Market risk, liquidity risk,		·
interest risk in Bank		
portfolio	Quantitative disclosure	Risk Management chapter
Operating risk	Qualitative disclosure	Risk Management chapter
Equity positions in Bank	Quantitative disclosure	Risk Management chapter
portfolio		
Legal risk	Qualitative disclosure	Risk Management chapter
Risk factors	Qualitative and quantitative disclosure	Risk Management chapter
	<u>'</u>	

### **Application scope**

Provisions of Proper Conduct of Banking Business Regulations nos. 201-211 "Measurement and Capital Adequacy" apply to the Bank Group and in particular to the Bank - Bank Mizrahi-Tefahot Ltd. - the parent company of the Group. For details of Bank Group companies to which these regulations apply, see Note 6 to the financial statements as of December 31, 2010. To the best knowledge of Bank management, and relying on legal counsel, there are no prohibitions or significant restrictions on transfer of funds or supervisory capital between Bank Group companies.

#### Capital adequacy

The Bank assesses its capital adequacy in accordance with Basel II rules, as stipulated by Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive Nos. 201-211. Key rules and approaches applied by the Bank are described below, under Description of Basle II Guidelines in the chapter on Legislation and Supervision of Bank Group Operations. The Bank applies the standard approach to assess exposure to credit risk, the basic indicator approach to assess exposure to operating risk, and the standard approach to assess exposure to market risk. The Supervisor of Banks has stipulated that within 3 years from the start date of applying the basic indicator approach to assessment of exposure to operating risk, banks must transition to using the standard approach. The Bank regularly monitors its capital adequacy ratio, in order to ensure compliance with requirements of the Supervisor of Banks and with limitations set by the Board of Directors, as well as to prepare in advance to respond to evolution of risk assets and capital requirements at the Bank. For this purpose, the Board of Directors has created an internal procedure which specifies the measurement frequency of capital adequacy, the required reporting and actions to be taken if the capital ratio drops below the minimum levels specified; a capital monitoring forum has been created, attended by the Manager, Finance Division - CFO (chair), Manager, Risk Control Division - CRO, Manager, Planning, Operations and Control Division and the Manager, Accounting and Financial Reporting Division - the Chief Accountant.

On February 14, 2011, the Supervisor of Banks issued a circular, whereby the requirements sprcified in Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive No. 311 (Basel II) are discontinued as from January 1, 2011.

On October 25, 2010, the Bank's Board of Directors resolved to set the target for core capital ratio (i.e. original Tier I capital adequacy ratio) at no less than 7.5%. Further, the Board of Directors resolved to direct Bank management to act so as to maintain appropriate safety margins, in order to ensure that the core capital ration shall be no less than the foregoing. The Bank Board of Directors further resolved that the overall capital adequacy ratio shall be no less than 12.5%.

Composition of risk assets and capital requirements with respect to credit risk by exposure group are as follows:

	As of Septembe	r 30, 2011	As of Septembe	er 30, 2010	As of December	31, 2010
	Weighted		Weighted		Weighted	
	risk asset	Capital				Capital
Exposure group	balances	requirement (1)	balances	requirement (1)	balances	requirement (1)
Sovereign debt	544	49	624	56	539	49
Public sector entity debt	390	35	399	36	444	40
Banking corporation debt	1,689	152	1,713	154	1,479	133
Corporate debt	38,023	3,422	35,039	3,154	35,832	3,225
Debt secured by commercial rea	l					
estate	1,640	147	2,083	188	1,920	173
Retail exposure to individuals	10,850	976	10,723	965	10,884	980
Loans to small businesses	2,150	194	1,920	173	2,097	189
Residential mortgages	31,742	2,857	26,794	2,411	27,813	2,503
Securitization	85	8	10	1	27	2
Other assets	2,632	237	<sup>(2)</sup> 2,261	203	<sup>(2)</sup> 2,271	204
Total	89,745	8,077	81,566	7,341	83,306	7,498

- (1) Capital requirement calculated at 9% of risk asset balance, in accordance with interim directive on application of Basel II, Pillar 3.
- (2) Retroactively adjusted for application of the Supervisor of Banks' directives with regard to employee rights. For details, see Note 1.E.4. to the financial statements.

### Risk assets and capital requirements with respect to market risk and operating risk are as follows:

	As of Septemb	er 30, 2011	As of Septemb	per 30, 2010	As of December 31, 201		
	Weighted		Weighted		Weighted		
	risk asset	Capital	risk asset	Capital	risk asset	Capital	
Exposure group	balances req	juirement <sup>(1)</sup>	balances red	quirement <sup>(1)</sup>	balances re	quirement (1)	
Market risk	813	73	971	87	579	52	
Operating Risk (2)	7,775	700	7,268	654	7,407	667	
Total	8,588	773	8,239	741	7,986	719	

- (1) Capital requirement calculated at 9% of risk asset balance, in accordance with interim directive on application of Basel II, Pillar 3.
- (2) Calculated based on the basic indicator approach.

# Development of Group ratio of capital to risk components is as follows:

		Ra	tio of capital to risk elements
	As of September 30, 2011	As of September 30, 2010	As of December 31, 2010
Ratio of Tier I capital to risk			
elements	7.70%	<sup>(1)</sup> 7.84%	<sup>(1)</sup> 7.91%
Ratio of total capital to risk			
elements	13.55%	<sup>(1)</sup> 13.88%	<sup>(1)</sup> 13.96%
Total minimum capital ratio			
required by the Supervisor			
of Banks	9.00%	9.00%	9.00%

(1) Retroactively adjusted for application of the Supervisor of Banks' directives with regard to employee rights. For details, see Note 1.E.4. to the financial statements.

### Risk exposure and assessment

Day-to-day activities in a variety of balance sheet and off-balance-sheet financial instruments expose the Group to risk, mainly – market and liquidity risk, credit risk, and operating risk. The risk management policies in the various areas are intended to support the achievement of the Group's business goals while limiting exposure to such risk.

Risk management at the Group is conducted regularly in accordance with Proper Conduct of Banking Business Regulation Nos. 339 and 342 of the Bank of Israel, and in accordance with the framework specified in Basel II, Pillar 2. To this end, the Group appointed Risk Managers and a CRO, who is included with executive management, responsible for operations of the Risk Control Division. Bank management regards the Bank's risk control and management system as one of its core competencies, so that it is Bank policy to constantly strive to improve the risk control and management system,

Bank management believes that risk control and management must be an integrative process. The management of risk from a total viewpoint, for all of the Bank's financial activity, on and off-balance sheet, enables the Bank to maximize the utilization of the correlation between the different risk factors (basis and interest) in the various linkage segments, and the best possible diversification of the risk. In addition to measuring the total risk value, the Bank measures and manages the mix of risk elements.

As part of this approach, the Bank manages risk using a system that enables management and control under a single platform of the market risk and interest risk of the Bank, and in the future, also the various credit risk components, including implementation of Basel II regulations for calculating regulatory capital.

#### Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of the Bank incurring a loss due to the counter party to a transaction potentially failing to meet its commitments. This risk may arise from multiple factors which may impact the entire loan portfolio, a specific sector or an individual client. These risk factors include, inter alia, macro-economic changes, business risk arising from client operations, credit concentration risk etc.

# Below is composition of credit exposure by exposure group and balance sheet items (1):

11	841 -	165 -	33,203	279 -	10,069 -	1,458 -	3,439 -	-	- 3,549	49,464 3,549
11	841	165	33,203	279	10,069	1,458	3,439	-	-	49,464
-	275	2,144	2,092	-	36	7	-	-	-	4,554
4,321	4	586	388	-	-	-	-	24	-	5,323
13,688	300	2,658	28,877	1,739	13,691	3,478	69,012	-	-	133,444
debt	debt	debt	debt	real estate	individuals	nesses	mortgages	tization	assets	debt
Sovereign	entity	corporation	Corporate	commercia	tc	busi-	Residential	Securi-	Other	Sovereign
	sector	Banking		by	exposure	small				
	Public			Debt secured	Retai	Loans to				
								As of S	eptembe	r 30, 2011
	13,688 4,321	Sovereign entity debt debt 13,688 300 4,321 4	Sovereign debt         sector entity         Banking corporation debt           13,688         300         2,658           4,321         4         586	Sovereign debt         sector entity         Banking corporation         Corporate debt           13,688         300         2,658         28,877           4,321         4         586         388	Sovereign debt         sector entity         Banking corporation corporation debt         Corporate debt         commercia real estate           13,688         300         2,658         28,877         1,739           4,321         4         586         388         -	Sovereign debt         debt         debt         debt         2,658         28,877         1,739         13,691           4,321         4         586         388         -         -         -	Sovereign debt         entity of debt         Eanking corporation debt         Corporate debt         by exposure commercial to businesses         small commercial to businesses           13,688         300         2,658         28,877         1,739         13,691         3,478           4,321         4         586         388         -         -         -         -	Sovereign debt         debt         debt         debt         2,658         28,877         1,739         13,691         3,478         69,012           4,321         4         586         388         -         -         -         -         -         -         -	Public sectorDebt securecRetailLoans to sectorSovereign debtentitycorporationCorporatecommerciatcbusinessesResidentialSecuring tization13,6883002,65828,8771,73913,6913,47869,012-4,321458638824	Sovereign debtdebtBanking debtCorporate debtby exposure commerciasmall transfer commerciaResidential mortgagesSecurimortgagesOther destriction destriction13,6883002,65828,8771,73913,6913,47869,0124,321458638824-

-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	3,314	3,314
46	683	112	31,024	265	9,334	1,317	4,251	-	-	47,033
2	303	2,740	1,427	-	55	7	-	-	-	4,535
7,119	23	466	421	-	-	-	-	3	-	8,031
7,129	315	1,880	26,344	2,105	13,148	3,224	58,466	-	-	112,611
debt	debt	debt	debt	real estate	individuals	nesses	mortgages	tization	assets	debt
Sovereign	entity	corporation	Corporate	commercia	to	busi-	Residential	Securi-	Other	Sovereign
	sector	Banking		by	exposure	small				
	Public			Debt secured	Retail	Loans to				
								As of S	eptembe	r 30, 2010
	7,129 7,119 2	Sovereign debt debt 7,129 315 7,119 23 303 46 683	Sovereign debt         sector entity entity         Banking corporation           7,129         315         1,880           7,119         23         466           2         303         2,740           46         683         112	Sovereign debt         sector entity entity         Banking corporation corporate         Corporate           7,129         315         1,880         26,344           7,119         23         466         421           2         303         2,740         1,427           46         683         112         31,024	Sovereign debt         sector entity         Banking corporation         Corporate commercial real estate           7,129         315         1,880         26,344         2,105           7,119         23         466         421         -           2         303         2,740         1,427         -           46         683         112         31,024         265	Sovereign debt         sector entity         Banking corporation or debt         Corporate debt         Corporate debt         commercial commercial real estate individuals         to commercial real estate individuals           7,129         315         1,880         26,344         2,105         13,148           7,119         23         466         421         -         -           2         303         2,740         1,427         -         55           46         683         112         31,024         265         9,334	Sovereign debt         sector entity         Banking corporation         Corporate debt         by exposure commercial commercial         small to businesses           7,129         315         1,880         26,344         2,105         13,148         3,224           7,119         23         466         421         -         -         -         -           2         303         2,740         1,427         -         55         7           46         683         112         31,024         265         9,334         1,317	Sovereign debt         entity entity         Corporation corporation         Corporate debt         by exposure commercial commercial         tc         businates         Residential mortgages           7,129         315         1,880         26,344         2,105         13,148         3,224         58,466           7,119         23         466         421         -         -         -         -           2         303         2,740         1,427         -         55         7         -           46         683         112         31,024         265         9,334         1,317         4,251	Public sector   Banking   Debt secured   Retail   Loans to sector   Banking   Corporate   commercial   to   busi-real estate   individuals   nesses   mortgages   tization	Sovereign debt         Banking entity         by exposure commercial commercial         small to businesses         Residential Residential Residential sassets         Securing Other real estate individuals nesses         Residential nesses         Securing S

Total	16,812	1,386	4,373	61,661	2,138	22,982	4,740	65,643	8	3,163	182,905
Other assets (5)	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	3,163	3,163
sheet exposures	16	653	159	32,823	219	9,469	1,404	4,686	-	-	49,429
Other off-balance-											
Derivatives (4)	3	347	2,206	1,377	-	39	6	-	-	-	3,978
Securities (3)	6,154	24	492	348	-	-	-	-	8	-	7,026
Loans (2)	10,639	362	1,516	27,112	1,919	13,474	3,330	60,957	-	-	119,309
	debt	debt	debt	debt	real estate	individuals	nesses	mortgages	tization	assets	debt
	Sovereign	entity	corporation	Corporate	commercia	tc	busi-	Residential	Securi-	Other	Sovereign
		sector	Banking		by	exposure	small				
		Public			Debt secured	Retai	Loans to				
									As of D	ecembe	r 31, 2010

- (1) Balance of on- and off-balance sheet balances, after on- and off-balance-sheet offsets, after provision for doubtful debts, excluding impact of credit risk mitigation, credit conversion factors and risk weighting factors, as defined under Basel II rules.
- (2) Includes credit to the public, credit to the Government, deposits with banks and borrowed securities, and excluding general provision for doubtful debts, which is part of the equity base.
- (3) Excludes balances deducted from the equity base and investment in securities in the negotiable portfolio.
- (4) Includes face value of derivatives (including credit derivatives), after effect of add-on factors and positive fair value of derivatives.
- (5) Excludes derivatives and balances deducted from the equity base, including cash, investment in shares, fixed assets and investment in investees.

# Composition of credit exposure by contractual term to maturity by major gross credit exposure type (1), is as follows:

				As of Septem	ber 30, 2011
				Without	
	Up to 1 year	1-5 years	Over 5 years	maturity	Total
Loans (2)	42,577	21,575	69,211	81	133,444
Securities (3)	1,162	3,435	726	-	5,323
Derivatives (4)	2,176	985	1,393	-	4,554
Other off-balance-sheet exposures	38,490	9,954	1,020	-	49,464
Other assets (5)	1,259	639	46	1,605	3,549
Total	85,664	36,588	72,396	1,686	196,334

				As of Septemb	per 30, 2010
				Without	
	Up to 1 year	1-5 years	Over 5 years	maturity	Total
Loans (2)	32,488	19,548	60,511	64	112,611
Securities (3)	3,225	3,820	986	-	8,031
Derivatives (4)	2,257	790	1,488	-	4,535
Other off-balance-sheet exposures	38,743	8,097	194	-	47,034
Other assets (5)	1,377	<sup>(6)</sup> 382	51	1,504	3,314
Total	78,090	32,637	63,230	1,568	175,525

				As of Decemb	er 31, 2010
				Without	
	Up to 1 year	1-5 years	Over 5 years	maturity	Total
Loans (2)	35,915	21,197	62,131	66	119,309
Securities (3)	2,412	3,869	745	-	7,026
Derivatives (4)	2,448	826	704	-	3,978
Other off-balance-sheet exposures	38,939	9,785	705	-	49,429
Other assets (5)	1,175	<sup>(6)</sup> 383	44	1,561	3,163
Total	80,889	36,060	64,329	1,627	182,905

- (1) Balance of on- and off-balance sheet balances, after on- and off-balance-sheet offsets, after provision for doubtful debts, excluding impact of credit risk mitigation, credit conversion factors and risk weighting factors, as defined under Basel II rules.
- Includes credit to the public, credit to the Government, deposits with banks and borrowed securities, and (2) excluding general provision for doubtful debts, which is part of the equity base.
- Excludes balances deducted from the equity base and investment in securities in the negotiable portfolio.
- Includes face value of derivatives (including credit derivatives), after effect of add-on factors and positive fair value of derivatives.
- Excludes derivatives and balances deducted from the equity base, including cash, investment in shares, fixed (5) assets and investment in investees.

  Retroactively adjusted for application of the Supervisor of Banks' directives with regard to employee rights. For
- (6) details, see Note 1.E.4. to the financial statements.

# Credit risk - standard approach

Below is composition of credit exposure amounts <sup>(1)</sup> by exposure group and weighting, before and after credit risk mitigation<sup>(2)</sup>:

# Before credit risk mitigation

									As of Se	ptember	30, 2011
										educted	
	0%	20%	35%	50%	750/	1000/	1500/	2500/	credit	from	Total
Rated exposures:	0%	20%	35%	50%	75%	100%	150%	350%	exposure	equity	Total
Sovereign debt	15,327	2,682	-	-	-	11	-	-	18,020	-	18,020
Public sector entity debt	-	-	-	1,417	-	-	-	-	1,417	-	1,417
Banking corporation debt	-	3,914	-	1,167	-	81	-	-	5,162	1	5,163
Corporate debt	-	92	-	284	-	266	-	-	642	-	642
Securitization	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	24	24	39	63
Other assets	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	37	37
Total	15,327	6,688	-	2,868	-	358	-	24	25,265	77	25,342
Non-art days											
Non-rated exposures:											
Public sector entity debt	-	-	-	4	-	-	-	-	4	-	4
Banking corporation debt	-	6	-	386	-	-	-	-	392	-	392
Corporate debt	-	-	-	-	-	63,583	314	-	63,897	-	63,897
Debt secured by commercial real estate	-	-	-	-	-	2,018	-	-	2,018	-	2,018
Retail exposure to individuals	-	-	-	- 2	23,605	41	149	-	23,795	-	23,795
Loans to small businesses	-	-	-	-	4,906	12	25	-	4,943	-	4,943
Residential mortgages	-	-	56,241	- 1	12,237	3,794	179	-	72,451	-	72,451
Other assets	949	-	-	-	-	2,568	52	-	3,569	87	3,656
Total	949	6	56,241	390 4	40,748	72,016	719	-	171,069	87	171,156
Total	16,276	6,694	56,241	3,258	40,748	72,374	719	24	196,334	164	196,498

<sup>(1)</sup> Balance of on- and off-balance sheet balances, after on- and off-balance-sheet offsets, after provision for doubtful debts, excluding impact of credit conversion factors and risk weighting factors, as defined under Basel II rules.

<sup>(2)</sup> Mitigation using guarantees, credit derivatives and other qualified collateral.

# After credit risk mitigation

Total exposure	16,306	6,726	56,240	3,428	37,828	62,605	707	24	183,864	164	184,028
Total	949	6	56,240	399	37,828	62,451	707	-	158,580	87	158,667
Other assets	949	-	-	-	-	2,568	52	-	3,569	87	3,656
Residential mortgages	-	-	56,240	-	12,194	3,793	179	-	72,406	-	72,406
Loans to small businesses	-	-	-	-	3,627	8	22	-	3,657	-	3,657
Retail exposure to individuals	-	-	-	-	22,007	12	146	-	22,165	-	22,165
Debt secured by commercial real estate	-	-	-	-	-	1,727	-	-	1,727	-	1,727
debt Corporate debt	_	-	-	39 <del>4</del> -	-	54,343	308	-	54,651	-	54,651
Public sector entity debt Banking corporation	-	-	-	5 394	-	-	-	-	5 400	-	5 400
Non-rated exposures:											
Total	15,357	6,720	-	3,029	-	154	-	24	25,284	77	25,361
Other assets	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	37	37
Securitization	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	24	24	39	63
Corporate debt	-	92	-	284	-	62	-	-	438	-	438
Banking corporation debt	-	3,935	-	1,333	-	81	-	-	5,349	1	5,350
Public sector entity debt	17	-	-	1,412	-	-	_	-	1,429	_	1,429
Sovereign debt	15,340	2,693	_	_	_	11	_	_	18,044	_	18,044
Rated exposures:	0%	20%	35%	50%	75%	100%	150%	350%	exposure	equity	Total
	22/	000/	0=0/	<b>=</b> 00/		4000/	4=00/	0.000	credit	from	
									Gross D	Deducted	

# Before credit risk mitigation

									As o	f September	<sup>-</sup> 30, 2010
									Gross	Deducted	
									credit	from	
	0%	20%	35%	50%	75%	100%	150%	350%	exposure	equity	Tota
Rated exposures:											
Sovereign debt	11,262	2,990	-	-	-	44	-	-	14,296	-	14,296
Banking corporation debt	-	3,416	-	161	-	145	-	-	3,722	1	3,723
Corporate debt	-	90	-	154	-	1	(1) -	-	245	-	245
Securitization	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	3	3	57	60
Other assets	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	37	37
Total	11,262	6,496	-	315	-	190	-	3	18,266	95	18,361
Non-rated exposures:											
Public sector entity debt	-	-	-	1,321	-	3	-	-	1,324	-	1,324
Banking corporation debt	-	64	-	1,410	-	-	-	-	1,474	-	1,474
Corporate debt	-	-	-	-	-	58,779	<sup>(1)</sup> 173	-	58,952	-	58,952
Debt secured by											
commercial real estate	-	-	-	-	-	2,370	-	-	2,370	-	2,370
Retail exposure to individuals	-	-	-	-	21,972	159	406	-	22,537	-	22,537
Loans to small											
businesses	-	-	-	-	4,437	19	93	-	4,549	-	4,549
Residential mortgages	-	-	47,999	-	13,547	970	202	-	62,718	-	62,718
Other assets	1,088	-	-	-	_(	<sup>2)</sup> 2,189	58	-	3,335	91	3,426
Total	1,088	64	47,999	2,731	39,956	64,489	932	-	157,259	91	157,350
Total	12,350	6,560	47,999	3,046	39,956	64,679	932	3	175,525	186	175,711

Reclassified.
Retroactively adjusted for application of the Supervisor of Banks' directives with regard to employee rights. For details, see Note 1.E.4. to the financial statements. (1) (2)

# After credit risk mitigation

Total exposure	12,413	6.580	47,993	3.277	37,202	56.427	872	3	164,767	186	164,953
Total	1,088	64	47,993	2,961	37,202	56,241	872	-	146,421	91	146,512
Other assets	1,088	-	-	-	-	<sup>(2)</sup> 2,189	58	-	3,335	91	3,426
Residential mortgages	-	-	47,993	-	13,508	967	201	-	62,669	-	62,669
Retail exposure to individuals Loans to small businesses	-	-	-	-	<ul><li>20,534</li><li>3,160</li></ul>	120 13	389 68	-	21,043 3,241	-	21,043 3,241
Corporate debt Debt secured by commercial real estate	-	-	-	-	-	50,777 2,172	<sup>(1)</sup> 156 -	-	50,933 2,172	-	50,933 2,172
Public sector entity debt Banking corporation debt	-	64	-	1,317 1,644	-	3	-	-	1,320 1,708	-	1,320 1,708
Non-rated exposures:											
Total	11,325	6,516	-	316	-	186	-	3	18,346	95	18,441
Other assets	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	37	37
Securitization	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	3	3	57	60
Corporate debt	-	90	-	155	-	1	(1)_	-	246	-	246
Public sector entity debt Banking corporation debt	63	3,415	-	- 161	-	141	-	-	63 3,717	1	63 3,718
Sovereign debt	11,262	3,011	-	-	-	44	-	-	14,317	-	14,317
Rated exposures:	070	2070	0070	0070	1070	10070	10070	00070	одробаго	oquity	rotai
	0%	20%	35%	50%	75%	100%	150%	350%	credit exposure	educted from equity	Total
										ptember	30, 2010

<sup>(1)</sup> Reclassified.

<sup>(2)</sup> Retroactively adjusted for application of the Supervisor of Banks' directives with regard to employee rights. For details, see Note 1.E.4. to the financial statements.

# Before credit risk mitigation

Total	15,104	5,485	50,832	2,975	40,390	67,174	937	8	182,905	177	183,082
Total	923	176	50,832	1,065	40,390	66,478	937	-	160,801	87	160,888
Other assets	923	-	-	-	-	<sup>(2)</sup> 2,210	51	-	3,184	87	3,271
Residential mortgages	-	-	50,832	-	13,288	1,348	175	-	65,643	-	65,643
Retail exposure to individuals Loans to small businesses	-	-	-	-	<ul><li>22,458</li><li>4,644</li></ul>	138 20	386 76	-	22,982 4,740	-	22,982 4,740
Corporate debt Debt secured by commercial real estate	-	-	-	-	-	2,138	<sup>(1)</sup> 249	-	2,138	-	2,138
Banking corporation debt	-	176	-	1,041	-	-	(1) 0.40	-	1,217	-	1,217
Non-rated exposures: Public sector entity debt	-	-	-	24	-	-	-	-	24	-	24
Total	14,181	5,309	-	1,910	-	696	-	8	22,104	90	22,194
Other assets	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	37	37
Securitization	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	8	8	52	60
Corporate debt	-	68	-	165	-	533	(1) _	-	766	-	766
Banking corporation debt	23	2,601	-	383	-	149	-	-	3,156	1	3,157
Public sector entity debt	-	-	_	1,362	_	-	_	_	1,362	_	1,362
Rated exposures: Sovereign debt	14,158	2,640	_	_	_	14	_	_	16.812	_	16.812
	0%	20%	35%	50%	75%	100%	150%	350%	credit exposure	from equity	Total
										December Deducted	31, 2010

<sup>(1)</sup> Reclassified.(2) Retroactively adjusted for application of the Supervisor of Banks' directives with regard to employee rights. For details, see Note 1.E.4. to the financial statements.

# After credit risk mitigation

Total exposure	15,191	5,505	50,828	3,252	37,677	57,398	874	8	170,733	177	170,910
Iotai	923	177	JU,028	1,072	37,677	57,240	0/4	-	140,791	67	148,878
Other assets Total	923 <b>923</b>	177	50,828	1,072	27 677	<sup>(2)</sup> 2,210	51 <b>874</b>	-	3,184 <b>148,791</b>	87 <b>87</b>	3,271
Residential mortgages	-	-	50,828	-	13,249	1,344	174	-	65,595	-	65,595
businesses	-	-	-	-	3,451	16	62	-	3,529	-	3,529
Loans to small											
Retail exposure to individuals	-	-	-	-	20,977	110	375	-	21,462	-	21,462
commercial real estate	-	-	-	-	-	1,962	-	-	1,962	-	1,962
Debt secured by											
Corporate debt	-	-	-	-	-	51,598	<sup>(1)</sup> 212	-	51,810	-	51,810
Banking corporation debt	-	177	-	1,048	-	-	-	-	1,225	-	1,225
Public sector entity debt	-	-	-	24	-	-	-	-	24	-	24
Non-rated exposures:											
Total	14,268	5,328	-	2,180	-	158	-	8	21,942	90	22,032
Other assets	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	37	37
Securitization	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	8	8	52	60
Corporate debt	-	68	-	165	-	1	(1) _	-	234	-	234
Banking corporation debt	23	2,600	-	660	-	143	-	-	3,426	1	3,427
Public sector entity debt	87	-	-	1,355	-	-	-	-	1,442	-	1,442
Sovereign debt	14,158	2,660	-	-	-	14	-	-	16,832	-	16,832
Rated exposures:									<u> </u>	. ,	
	0%	20%	35%	50%	75%	100%	150%	350% €	exposure	equity	Total
									credit	from	
										educted	- 1, 1
									As of D	ecember	31, 2010

<sup>(1)</sup> Reclassified.

# Significant exposure to groups of borrowers

The following is a summary of Bank credit as of September 30, 2011 with respect to significant<sup>(1)</sup> exposure to groups of borrowers (NIS in millions):

		Off-balance she	et credit risk			
	Net on	With				
	balance sheet	respect to			Total	Capital
	credit risk	derivatives	Other	Deductions	credit risk	allocation
Group 1	1,873	693	1,329	123	3,772	204
Group 2	2,319	392	1,049	1,584	2,176	135
Total	4,192	1,085	2,378	1,707	5,948	339

<sup>(1)</sup> Total credit risk in excess of 15% of the supervisory capital balance.

<sup>(2)</sup> Retroactively adjusted for application of the Supervisor of Banks' directives with regard to employee rights. For details, see Note 1.E.4. to the financial statements.

Bank business with major borrower groups is conducted subject to several guidelines designed to mitigate risk associated with such business:

- Business with borrower groups is primarily done with established, leading public companies.
- Credit is mostly provided for the short- and medium term, to be used in current operations of these companies.
- Credit is diversified among Group companies operating in different segments and economic sectors.
- Credit is provided, to the extent possible, to companies which are not mutually dependent or which are subject to mutual covenants or guarantees.

The Bank takes the following steps in order to manage exposure to groups of borrowers:

- Sets financial covenants as needed.
- Provides credit against collateral, to the extent possible, and closely monitor exposure not secured by collateral.
- Closely monitors company operations and financial results.
- Closely monitors compliance of borrower group companies with financial covenants, if and when specified.

### Leveraged financing

The Bank conducts, in some cases, leveraged financing transactions, in which a client is extended credit for purchasing a controlling stake, characterized by a high LTV ratio compared to the value of shares, and relying exclusively on the shares being acquired as the source for credit repayment. The Bank reviews these transactions with due diligence, based *inter alia* on internal valuations as well as on external valuators. Terms and conditions specified for the transaction include sensitivity tests and financial covenants, which if met, require the borrower to provide additional collateral.

## Details of Bank exposure to credit constituting leveraged financing are as follows:

Economic sector of acquired company			Credit risk		
	As of September 30,		As of December 31,		
	2011	2010	2010		
Commerce	144	-	150		
Communications and computer services	308	361	338		
Construction and real estate	49	-	-		
Total	501	361	488		

# Below is information on the Bank's exposure to foreign financial institutions (1)(2) (NIS in millions):

·		As of Se	eptember 30, 2011
External credit rating	Balance sheet credit risk <sup>(3)</sup>	Off-balance sheet credit risk <sup>(4)</sup>	Current credit exposure
AAA to AA-	2,490	155	2,645
A+ to A-	797	94	891
BBB- to BBB+	3	-	3
BB+ to B-	2	6	8
Lower than B-	16	-	16
Unrated	23	-	23
Total credit exposure to foreign financial institutions	3,331	255	3,586
Includes: Troubled commercial credit risk (6)	-	-	_
Balance of individual provision for credit loss	-	-	_
Troubled commercial credit risk after provision for credit loss	-	-	-

		As of Se	eptember 30, 2010
	Balance sheet	Off-balance sheet	Current credit
External credit rating	credit risk (3)	credit risk (4)	exposure
AAA to AA-	2,050	350	2,400
A+ to A-	780	238	1,018
BBB- to BBB+	3	-	3
BB+ to B-	4	5	9
Lower than B-	-	-	-
Unrated	30	-	30
Total credit exposure to foreign financial			
institutions	2,867	593	3,460
Includes: Balance of troubled debt before provision			
for doubtful debts (5)	38	-	38
Provision for doubtful debts	(12)	-	(12)
Balance of troubled debt	26	-	26

		As of D	ecember 31, 2010
External credit rating	Balance sheet	Off-balance sheet	Current credit
	credit risk <sup>(3)</sup>	credit risk (4)	exposure
AAA to AA-	1,832	339	2,171
A+ to A-	645	53	698
BBB– עד BBB+	3	-	3
BB+ to B-	4	5	9
Lower than B-	-	-	-
Unrated	56	-	56
Total credit exposure to foreign financial			
institutions	2,540	397	2,937
Includes: Balance of troubled debt before provision			
for doubtful debts (5)	38	-	38
Provision for doubtful debts	(12)	-	(12)
Balance of troubled debt	26	-	26

Foreign financial institutions include: banks, investment banks, brokers/dealers, insurance companies, institutional entities and entities controlled by the former. Bank exposure is almost entirely to banks and investment banks primarily incorporated in the UK, USA, Germany, Spain and Canada. Exposure is primarily with respect to institutions incorporated in OECD countries.

Net of deduction of specific provisions for doubtful debts.

Bank deposits, credit to the public, investment in debentures, securities borrowed or acquired in conjunction with resale agreements and other assets with respect to derivative instruments.

Primarily guarantees and commitments to grant credit, including guarantees to secure liabilities of third parties, which have been weighted at 50% of their amount – in accordance with Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive no. 313.

Balance of troubled loans excluding loans covered by collateral that may be deducted for the purpose of calculating the perborrower credit limits of an individual borrower and a group of borrowers, including the off-balance sheet component.

Credit risk for impaired, inferior credit or credit under special supervision, excluding credit risk with respect to individuals. (1)

(2) (3)

(4)

(5)

(6)

The aforementioned credit exposure excludes exposure to financial institutions for which complete, explicit government guarantees are in place, and exclude investments in asset-backed securities. For details of investments in asset-backed securities, see Note 2 to the financial statements. For further information with regard to credit exposure composition with respect to derivative instruments vis-à-vis banks and dealers/brokers (domestic and foreign), see Note 7 to the financial statements. Some of the exposures listed in the above table are included under Management Review - Addendum C - Credit Risk by Economic Sector, enclosed with these financial statements under the Financial Services sector. This Management Review also includes deposits with banks, credit to the public, public investment in debentures and other assets with respect to public derivative instruments. Future transactions, weighted at 10% of their balance, are included under Management Review as part of off-balance sheet credit risk, and are excluded from the above table.

In conjunction with its policy regarding management of exposure to foreign financial institutions, the Bank Board of Directors sets, inter alia, the maximum exposure limit for states and foreign financial institutions, while adjusting the exposure limit to the risk assessment for each state and financial institution. Exposure limits are set based, inter alia, on rating of the various states and financial institutions and on Bank assessment of the risk level in a manner which diversifies exposure. The Bank determines the exposure limit to each financial institution based on the most recent rating available for that institution, provided by one of the leading international rating agencies— based on financial information for the institution under review. Exposure limits per institution include maximum exposure amount and maximum time to maturity for different types of activities and transactions. To this end, the existence (or absence) of an offset agreement for derivative operations with the financial institution is also taken into consideration. The policy also states a hierarchy of authority for approval of specific transactions within the exposure limits.

The Bank monitors current ratings published for financial institutions to which it has exposure, and adjusts the exposure limits and actual exposure, as required, to the current rating. The Bank also reviews on a regular basis any additional information available with regard to those institutions in order to monitor exposure even where the credit rating may not reflect the complete picture.

The Bank takes into consideration the maturity dates of its credit exposure in conjunction with the Bank's liquidity requirements. Deposits are normally deposited for short terms, whereas exposure with respect to derivatives and investments in securities are for longer terms.

Ratings - Bank activity with overseas entities generates exposure to sovereigns and to financial institutions. The Bank has set a policy with regard to review and routing of risk arising from this exposure. For credit risk exposure management, as mentioned above, the Bank uses ratings by independent rating agencies, primarily: Fitch, Standard & Poor's, and Moody's . These ratings are accounted for as part of the considerations in setting limits on Bank exposure to sovereigns and banks, intended primarily for derivatives operations, financing and guarantees for foreign trade and investments in the nostro portfolio.

The Bank acquires the ratings, and analysis underlying such ratings, from Fitch and Standard and Poor's. The main rating used by the Bank for independent analysis is the rating provided by Fitch.

**Environmental risk** - environmental risk to the Bank is the risk of loss which may be incurred due to the Bank being directly liable for an environmental hazard caused by a project financed by the Bank, to impairment of collateral exposed to environmental risk or to deterioration in the financial standing of a borrower due to high expenses arising from environmental protection regulation. Environmental risk also includes other risk factors derived from this risk (goodwill, third party liability etc.) Therefore, it is of prime importance that the Bank set its policy for management of environmental risk, including the capacity to identify, assess and monitor the risk over time.

On June 11, 2009, the Bank received a letter from the Supervisor of Banks, demanding that banks act to incorporate management of exposure to environmental risk within all risk factors at the Bank, including specification of procedures for identification of significant risk when granting credit and inclusion of risk assessment within periodic assessment of quality of credit extended. On April 15, 2010, the Bank Board of Directors approved a policy on environmental risk management. The Bank is preparing to implement the policy and to include it in procedures and work processes, based on the agreed schedule.

### Credit loss with respect to housing loans

In conjunction with credit risk management, the Bank takes various actions to mitigate risk associated with provision of housing loans. The Bank estimates the risk associated with provision of housing loans as low, relative to the inherent risk in the Bank's overall loan portfolio, due to the high level of client diversification, geographic diversification of borrowers, relatively low leverage, intensive review procedures of borrower quality and their repayment capacity, and securing credit with property as collateral, and occasionally with credit insurance as well.

The Bank act regularly to control and manage the risk associated with housing loans, for which the Retail Division and other Bank entities are responsible.

#### Risk appetite in mortgage segment

As part of its credit policy and its credit risk policy, the Bank has set various restrictions on housing loan operations, to account for major risk factors.

The key parameters used for specifying risk appetite in the mortgage segment are: results of the differential risk premium model, LTV ratio of the loan, property location (geographical risk) and credit quality benchmark (see below under Credit Control).

### Means for risk management in housing loans

#### Criteria for loan approval

The Bank has specified uniform, quantitative criteria for review and approval of housing loan applications. Along with the uniform criteria, decision makers at the Bank exercise their judgment. The guiding criteria for granting housing loans have been determined, *inter alia*, based on the following:

- A. Accumulated experience at the Bank with regard to housing loans, including lessons learned over time with regard to parameters which determine borrower quality and quality of loan collateral.
- B. Results of current credit reviews which include, inter alia, review of changes to credit quality in certain sectors.
- C. Assessment of credit risk arising from variable macro-economic market conditions.
- D. Assessment of credit risk in different areas of the country, due to security-related and other events.

These criteria are regularly updated in line with market developments. Thus, for example, in 2009 the Bank decided, due to the low prime lending rate, to instruct bankers and loan approvers to review borrower repayment capacity, accounting for potential increase in monthly repayment due to the prime-linked component for scenarios including a 2 percentage point increase in the prime lending rate over its current rate upon loan approval.

#### **Credit authority**

The Bank has created a ranking of authority for approval of housing loans (at branch, region and headquarters level). The authorized entity to approve the loan is determined based on data in the loan application and on its inherent risk (data about borrowers, LTV ratio, risk premium and nature of the transaction). To enhance control over approval of complex, high-risk loans and loans to specific populations (such as: new immigrants, transactions between family members and individual borrowers), and to make use of specialization in such loans, such applications are sent for approval by the Underwriting and Control Department operating at the mortgage headquarters, staffed by a professional team supervised by the Deputy Manager, Mortgages at the Retail Division.

#### Model for determination of differential risk premium

The Bank has developed a model for calculation of differential risk premium, based on past empirical data, for rating transaction risk at the loan application stage. For each application, an individual risk premium is calculated based on all risk factors identifiable in client information and attributes of the desired transaction.

This premium reflects an estimate of overall transaction risk, allowing for assessment of client odds of being in arrears on the loan or becoming insolvent - at the outset of the application stage. This premium is used for both credit decision making and for pricing of client interest rate.

#### Built-in controls in loan origination system

The Bank manages its mortgage operations using a dedicated computer system developed for this purpose, which includes the following built-in controls:

- Ensure information completeness required for loan and activities required in preparation of the material, review and approval of the loan.
- Rigid, real-time control over transactions by authorization. Use of this preventive control methodology significantly reduces the need for discovery controls after loan origination.
- Workflow process with real-time control over execution of all required tasks at each stage of the loan origination process, sending the application to the authorized entity for performing the required actions at each stage of the loan approval process.

Use of this system has resulted in improved control in different stages of the loan origination process, while achieving uniformity among different Bank branches.

### Mortgage-related training

The Bank Training Center delivers courses for training, development and improvement of all those involved in provision of housing loans. Training content is determined in cooperation with the Mortgage Headquarters, and staff at headquarters participates in training delivery to bankers. In 2011, in addition to the basic course, an advanced mortgage banking course was delivered, including special emphasis on risk management.

Training of staff and management has significant impact on their professional level when granting credit and making credit-related decisions, as well as during ongoing management of client credit.

In 2011, a mortgage course was developed and delivered, designed for commercial branch managers. The course objective is to expand knowledge of these managers about mortgages, with emphasis on the underwriting and risk management process.

#### **Professional conferences**

The Retail Division regularly holds professional conferences for managers and bankers. In these conferences, extensive reviews of developments in the mortgage market are presented, along with steps to be taken to handle the risk associated with such developments. Over the past year, special emphasis was placed at conferences on Bank of Israel directives issued in 2010 and 2011, and their impact on providing housing loans (including capital allocation, restrictions on originating adjustable interest rate loans etc.)

#### **Credit control**

Credit control is a key factor in maintaining quality of credit provided by the Bank to its clients. Control over housing loans is exercised at the individual loan level as well as for the entire mortgage portfolio.

At the individual loan level, the Bank acts to identify as early as possible any symptoms indicating a decline in borrower repayment capacity, in order to identify as soon as possible any credit failure situation. The Bank operates various controls, including regular internal controls at branches, regions and headquarters, as well as additional controls by entities external to the process and to the credit units - the Risk Control Division and Internal Audit.

The Bank maintains control over quality of new credit provided by branches, by means of a monthly Credit Quality report, which includes all loans originated by the Bank between 6-18 months prior to the reported date which are over 3 months in arrears. This report is designed to assist branches in reducing the extent of arrears, and to increase awareness of troubled loans by those originating and approving loans in order to learn lessons for future credit approval. Along with the individual report, listing loans, details of arrears etc., a statistical report is also produced, showing the extent of arrears at each branch, compared to the region and to the Bank as a whole, and compared to previous months. Management of the Retail Division regularly monitors handling of debt in arrears, using this report.

For the entire mortgage portfolio, control is maintained of restrictions imposed by the Bank's risk appetite, both at the Retail Division and at the Risk Control Department of the Risk Control Division. A credit control report is produced semi-annually, with extensive review of the risk profile of the housing loan portfolio, with regard to the following:

- Risk appetite
- Analysis of major risk attributes
- Review of state of arrears and credit quality
- Client debt collection
- Housing loan portfolio for special populations
- Stress testing
- Purchase groups.

### Tools for risk mitigation in housing loans

#### Collateral

In accordance with Bank procedures for mortgages, loans are only provided if secured by property collateral. In some cases, the Bank demands guarantors for the debt, in addition to property collateral.

For verification of information about the property offered to the Bank as collateral and to determine its value, an assessor visit to the property is normally required, providing a report which describes the property, its location, physical condition and market value. Assessors are party to an agreement with the Bank and act in accordance with Bank guidance, including a structured procedure for conducting assessments, identifying exceptions etc.

The common practice for assessment in the mortgage sector is to use an abbreviated assessment. However, since 2006, the Bank has required assessors to conduct extended assessment for some of the loans for purchase of existing apartments, self-construction or general-purpose loans with high-risk property types, which includes additional tests subject to criteria set for this matter.

#### Insurance

According to Bank procedures, all properties serving as collateral must be insured under property insurance. In addition, the borrowers are insured by life insurance assigned to the Bank in case of death prior to complete repayment of the loan. For some loans (usually loans with LTV ratio higher than 75%), the Bank contracts with EMI Corp., which provides credit insurance in case the proceeds from realization of the property collateral for the loan should fail to cover the outstanding loan amount. This credit insurance process is a key risk mitigator.

### LTV ratio

The maximum LTV ratio approved by the Bank is determined by the credit policy and is periodically reviewed. The Bank requires borrowers to contribute part of the financing for the acquisition. This equity payment forms a safety cushion in case the property is realized during a downturn in the real estate market. Furthermore, borrower equity is a further indication of the borrower's financial robustness.

### Entities participating in risk management for housing loans

#### Mortgage Management Department of the Retail Division

This department handles different events which occur during the loan term, whether initiated by the Bank or by the borrower. One of the key tasks is monitoring of collateral provided. During loan origination, the Bank usually received interim collateral, and the final collateral is expected to be received during the loan term. The department also monitors receipt of life and property insurance policies during the loan term.

### **Risk Control Division**

The Risk Control Division reviews the quality of the Bank's loan portfolio and the risk profile of the Bank portfolio. As for mortgages, the portfolio is analyzed semi-annually, including analysis of developments in housing loan grants and our market share, as well as credit composition by various criteria. As from this year, this analysis is performed semi-annually. This report is discussed by the Supreme Credit Committee and is presented to the Bank's Board of Directors.

#### Credit risk and credit concentration monitoring forum

The Bank operates a forum for monitoring credit risk, headed by the Manager, Risk Control Division, which promotes issues such as: analysis of credit portfolio risk level, application of advanced modeling approaches, specification of triggers for activating stress testing; supervision of design and application process of stress testing, and monitoring of the risk profile of the Bank's loan portfolio. This forum operates another entity, composed of professionals in the business domain, control and economists who review the credit portfolio (and in particular the mortgage portfolio), *inter alia*, in view of the risk appetite restrictions specified.

#### **Legal Division**

As part of the underwriting process, collateral for non-standard loans (loans to individuals, transactions involving family members) and high-value loans are reviewed by the Mortgage Advisory Department, a specialized entity in the Legal Division. This test complements the loan approval and review conducted at the branch and the regional underwriting department.

#### **Collection Department**

The Bank operates a dedicated Collection Department, which handles debt collection from borrowers in arrears and realization of properties. Processing is automatically launched once the client fails to make a mortgage payment for the first time. If this failure is not resolved, processing continues by the Telephone Collection Center (prior to filing a law suit), designed to reach payment arrangements with clients. If such an arrangement with borrowers cannot be reached, the debt is processed by the Bank's Collection Department, which includes a dedicated department for mortgage debtors, and legal proceedings are initiated vs. the debtors.

#### Arrears Forum

The Arrears Forum of Bank management convenes monthly, headed by the Manager, Business Division, and reviews the current state of affairs with regard to collection in the previous month, implications on the financial statements and on the provision for doubtful debts. The Forum specifies targets for debt processing and for reducing arrears.

### **Internal Audit**

The work plan for Internal Audit with regard to loans includes, *inter alia*, reference to review of entities involved in loan approval, origination, administration and control.

### Attributes of the Bank's housing loan portfolio

The Bank's policy with regard to mortgages is based on a conservative approach, limiting specific risk for each loan by reviewing various attributes. These attributes include: LTV ratio, ratio of repayment to regular income of the borrower, and borrower capacity to make current repayments even under scenarios involving a change in interest rates. Whenever loans are granted with attributes which do not meet one or more of the standards set by the Bank for these attributes, the Bank requires additional bolstering for the loan, such as credit insurance, additional guarantors for the loan, proven repayment capacity not based on regular income of the borrower etc. In recent years, due to expansion of the housing market and relatively low interest environment, the Bank has enhanced measures taken to mitigate risk, as reflected by a significant decrease in loan risk factors, as detailed below (all data below as of September 30, 2011).

#### LTV ratio

One of the key parameters used by the Bank in minimizing risk in its housing loan portfolio is the LTV ratio (ratio of loan amount to value of the property pledged as collateral). The average loan-to-value ratio for the Bank's mortgage portfolio as of September 30, 2011 was 59.0%, compared to 60.1% on December 31, 2010 and to 60.2% on December 31, 2009. Out of the total loan portfolio of the Bank, amounting to NIS 70.1 million, some 81% were granted with an original LTV ratio under 75%, which secures the loan even in case of an extreme 25% decrease in value of the property pledged as collateral.

The LTV ratio in this report is the historical LTV ratio calculated upon loan approval, and does not account for any current repayments which reduce the loan balance nor any changes in value of properties pledged as collateral. The significant increase in housing prices since late 2008, along with reduced loan balances with respect to current repayment, result in a lower current LTV ratio for loans granted through 2008, so that most all of the loans currently have LTV ratios under 75%. Total loans granted at LTV ratios over 75% in the past two years amounted to NIS 4 billion, or only 5.7% of the total housing loan portfolio.

Loans granted with a high LTV ratio are usually secured by credit insurance, which significantly reduced risk for the Bank, although it does not affect the LTV or repayment percentage calculation. Out of the balance of loans granted with an original LTV ratio higher than 75%, a total of NIS 4.8 billion is insured by credit insurance - 36.6%.

Over the past two years, due to measures taken by the Bank to reduce risk in the mortgage portfolio, the percentage of loans granted with a high LTV ratio out of total housing loan portfolio of the Bank decreased to 14.1% for loans granted 1-2 years ago, 11.3% for loans granted 3-12 months ago and 9.7% for loans granted in the third quarter of 2011.

### Repayment as percentage of regular income

The LTV ratio of a housing loan is a benchmark of loan security, regardless of borrower attributes. When a mortgage is approved, the Bank requires borrowers to show their capacity to make current loan repayments on schedule, primarily by calculating the ratio of monthly repayment to regular income of the borrower.

The average repayment ratio for the Bank's housing loan portfolio is 30.4%. 70% of the Bank's mortgage portfolio were granted to borrowers with a repayment ratio under 35% (the average repayment ratio for these borrowers is 23.2%). 21% of the mortgage portfolio were granted to borrowers with a repayment ratio of 35% to 50% (the average repayment ratio for these borrowers is 40.6%), and only 9% were granted to borrowers with a repayment ratio over 50% (the average repayment ratio for these borrowers is 62.6%).

The loans with a high repayment ratio are loans granted to borrowers with significant other assets, whose repayment capacity is not necessarily based on current income, to borrowers with very high income where the repayment ratio is less significant, or where additional bolstering of the loan is in place, in addition to the pledged property and repayment capacity of the borrower, such as financially robust guarantors.

Even loans granted with a repayment ratio higher than 50% maintain the average LTV ratio, and some 84% of these are granted with a LTV ratio under 75%.

#### Loans bearing variable interest

The Bank allows its clients to obtain housing loans which include a portion bearing NIS-denominated interest linked to the prime lending rate.

Over the past decade, the prime lending rate decreased from 10% in 2002-2003, through 5%-6% in 2004-2008 to 2%-3% in 2009-2010. Hence, the risk associated with loans bearing interest linked to the prime lending rate is primarily due to loans granted since 2009, assuming that the prime lending rate is expected to rise, reflecting a positive real interest in the economy.

The Bank provides clients with the knowledge and expertise of its staff in order for clients to understand the risk involved with a loan bearing interest linked to the prime lending rate and how this risk may be mitigated or avoided. The Bank advises clients to attribute appropriate weighting to this risk, and to be cautious when deciding upon the loan composition. The Bank also recommends to borrowers paying interest linked to the prime lending rate to consider transition to a fixed interest option, or one where interest is adjusted at longer intervals.

The repayment capacity of clients who obtained loans in the period when the prime lending rate was high is reviewed using the high interest rate. Over the past two years, when interest rates were low, these clients benefited significantly from lower loan costs. In this low interest environment, the Bank nevertheless took measures to reduce loans provided bearing interest linked to the prime lending rate: From 40.2% of loans granted 1-2 years ago, the Bank reduced the percentage of loans linked to the prime lending rate to 33% for loans granted 3-12 months ago and down to 19.4% for loans granted in the third quarter of 2011.

Total loans linked to the prime lending rate granted over the past two years, which constitute the major portion of risk associated with such mortgages, is NIS 11.1 billion, or only 15.9% of the housing loan portfolio. Note however that before approving a loan linked to the prime lending rate, the Bank reviews the repayment capacity of the borrower under scenarios where the prime lending rate would increase by 2 percentage points.

### Loan amount

Loans granted by the Bank with an original amount over NIS 2 million amounted in total to NIS 2.8 billion, or only 4% of the Bank's housing loan portfolio.

Below are details of various risk attributes of the housing loan portfolio (NIS in millions):

LTV ratio	Repayment as				Loan	age <sup>(1)</sup> (time el	apsed since lo	oan grant)
	percentage of	Up to 3	3-12			(1 1 1	Over 10	<u> </u>
	regular income	months	months	1-2 years	2-5 years	5-10 years	years	Total
Up to 60%	Up to 35%	1,137	4,471	4,812	7,501	3,277	2,431	23,629
	35%-50%	492	1,590	1,341	1,806	771	370	6,370
	Over 50%	250	670	677	882	367	221	3,067
60%-75%	Up to 35%	803	3,390	4,284	5,967	1,366	854	16,664
	35%-50%	357	1,303	1,241	1,513	457	206	5,077
	Over 50%	156	481	515	712	197	115	2,176
Over 75%	Up to 35%	247	1,090	1,609	2,705	1,523	2,111	9,285
	35%-50%	82	338	375	734	539	675	2,743
	Over 50%	16	96	121	294	269	290	1,086
Total		3,540	13,429	14,975	22,114	8,766	7,273	70,097
Includes:								
Loans gran	ted with original							
•	er NIS 2 million	154	604	750	1,033	193	48	2,782
Percentage	of total housing							
loans		4.4%	4.5%	5.0%	4.7%	2.2%	0.7%	4.0%
Loans bear	ing variable							
interest:								
	ed, at prime lending							
rate	(0)	688	4,430	6,017	11,633	1,838	182	24,788
CPI-linke		149	2,557	3,551	4,145	1,416	1,781	13,599
Foreign	currency (2)	216	868	1,180	1,300	722	44	4,330
Total		1,053	7,855	10,748	17,078	3,976	2,007	42,717
	loans at prime							
•	e, as percentage of	40.40/	00.00/	10.00/	<b>=</b> 0.00/	04.00/	0.50/	0= 40/
total housin	ig loans	19.4%	33.0%	40.2%	52.6%	21.0%	2.5%	35.4%
	loans bearing							
	erest as percentage							
of total hous	sing loans	4.2%	19.0%	23.7%	18.7%	16.2%	24.5%	19.4%
Loans with	LTV over 75% as							
percentage	of total housing							
loans		9.7%	11.3%	14.1%	16.9%	26.6%	42.3%	18.7%

<sup>(1)</sup> The loan balances presented above are aged based on the date of loan origination, and include under the same age group any loan balances actually provided at a later date.

<sup>(2)</sup> Pursuant to directives by the Supervisor of Banks, these include loans for which the interest rate is adjusted up to once every 5 years.

# **Credit risk mitigation**

Below is the composition of net credit exposure by risk mitigation type:

				As of Septemb	er 30, 2011
		•	e covered by	Exposure	
	<u> </u>	9	uarantees (2)	covered by	
	Gross credit	Amounts de-	Amounts	qualified financial	Net credit
	exposure (1)	recognized	added	collateral	exposure
Sovereign debt	18,020	-	24	-	18,044
Public sector entity debt	1,421	-	17	(4)	1,434
Banking corporation debt	5,554	(13)	210	(2)	5,749
Corporate debt	64,539	(217)	-	(9,233)	55,089
Debt secured by commercial real estate	2,018	(1)	-	(290)	1,727
Retail exposure to individuals	23,795	(2)	-	(1,628)	22,165
Loans to small businesses	4,943	(18)	-	(1,268)	3,657
Residential mortgages	72,451	-	-	(45)	72,406
Securitization	24	-	-	-	24
Other assets	3,569	-	-	-	3,569
Total	196,334	(251)	251	(12,470)	183,864

				As of Septemb	er 30, 2010
		xposure covered l	ру	Exposure	
	<u>g</u> ı	uarantees (2)		covered by	
	Gross credit	Amounts de-	Amounts q	ualified financial	Net credit
	exposure <sup>(1)</sup>	recognized	added	collateral	exposure
Sovereign debt	14,296	-	21	-	14,317
Public sector entity debt	1,324	-	63	(4)	1,383
Banking corporation debt	5,196	-	233	(4)	5,425
Corporate debt	59,197	(293)	-	(7,725)	51,179
Debt secured by commercial real estate	2,370	(1)	-	(197)	2,172
Retail exposure to individuals	22,537	(3)	-	(1,491)	21,043
Loans to small businesses	4,549	(20)	-	(1,288)	3,241
Residential mortgages	62,718	-	-	(49)	62,669
Securitization	3	-	-	-	3
Other assets	<sup>(3)</sup> 3,335	-	-	-	3,335
Total	175,525	(317)	317	(10,758)	164,767

- (1) Balance of on- and off-balance sheet balances, after on- and off-balance-sheet offsets, after provision for doubtful debts, excluding impact of credit risk mitigation, credit conversion factors and risk weighting factors, as defined under Basel II rules.
- (2) Mitigating credit risk by using guarantees results in exposures moving from their original exposure group to exposure groups with a lower risk weighting factor. Consequently, sometimes the extent of exposure in a given exposure group, after credit risk mitigation, is higher than the extent of exposure in this group before risk mitigation.
- (3) Retroactively adjusted for application of the Supervisor of Banks' directives with regard to employee rights. For details, see Note 1.E.4. to the financial statements.

Below is the composition of net credit exposure by risk mitigation type - continued:

As of December 31, 2010					
	_	Exposure covered by guarantees (2)		Exposure covered by	
	Gross credit	Amounts de-	Amounts	qualified financial	Net credit
	exposure <sup>(1)</sup>	recognized	added	collateral	exposure
Sovereign debt	16,812	-	20	-	16,832
Public sector entity debt	1,386	-	87	(7)	1,466
Banking corporation debt	4,373	-	284	(6)	4,651
Corporate debt	61,639	(367)	-	(9,228)	52,044
Debt secured by commercial real estate	2,138	(2)	-	(174)	1,962
Retail exposure to individuals	22,982	(4)	-	(1,516)	21,462
Loans to small businesses	4,740	(18)	-	(1,193)	3,529
Residential mortgages	65,643	-	-	(48)	65,595
Securitization	8	-	-	-	8
Other assets	<sup>(3)</sup> 3,184	-	-	-	3,184
Total	182,905	(391)	391	(12,172)	170,733

- (1) Balance of on- and off-balance sheet balances, after on- and off-balance-sheet offsets, after provision for doubtful debts, excluding impact of credit risk mitigation, credit conversion factors and risk weighting factors, as defined under Basel II rules.
- (2) Mitigating credit risk by using guarantees results in exposures moving from their original exposure group to exposure groups with a lower risk weighting factor. Consequently, sometimes the extent of exposure in a given exposure group, after credit risk mitigation, is higher than the extent of exposure in this group before risk mitigation.
- (3) Retroactively adjusted for application of the Supervisor of Banks' directives with regard to employee rights. For details, see Note 1.E.4. to the financial statements.

### Counter-party credit risk

Counter-party credit risk (CCR) is the risk that the counter-party to a transaction will be in default before final clearance of the transaction cash flows. Economic loss would be incurred only when the transaction with the counter-party would have a positive economic value upon such default. The market value of the transaction, which may be positive or negative for either party, actually depends on volatility of market factors. Should the counter-party be in default, and the transaction have a positive fair value, this may cause the Bank to incur a loss, liquidity issues and difficulties in carrying out further transactions. Risk factors which impact counter-party credit risk are: Credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk.

The trading in financial derivatives is part of the Bank's management of assets and liabilities, and is subject to limitations prescribed by the Board of Directors. The Bank trades in these financial derivatives, both for its clients and for its own account, as part of the management of basis and interest exposure in the various linkage segments. The Bank operates in credit derivatives in its nostro portfolio. These investments are individually reviewed by the Risk Management Committee, and are submitted for approval by the Asset and Liability Management Committee headed by the President.

#### Below is the current credit exposure with respect to derivatives:

				As	of September	30, 2011
		Foreign				
	Interest	currency	Contracts	Commodity	Credit	
Details	contracts	contracts	for shares	contracts	derivatives <sup>(2)</sup>	Total
Face value of derivatives after impact of add-on factor	296	1,403	70	1	53	1,823
Positive fair value, gross, of derivatives (1)	738	1,156	835	1	1	2,731
Total exposure with respect to derivatives	1,034	2,559	905	2	54	4,554
Collateral with respect to derivatives (before						
safety factors)	(33)	(527)	(1,209)	(2)	-	(1,771)
Impact of safety factors on collateral	14	223	547	1	-	785
Total current credit exposure after credit risk						
mitigation	1,015	2,255	243	1	54	3,568

				As	of September	30, 2010
		Foreign				
	Interest	currency	Contracts (	Commodity	Credit	
Details	contracts	contracts	for shares	contracts	derivatives <sup>(2)</sup>	Total
Face value of derivatives after impact of add-on factor	218	1,526	22	-	62	1,828
Positive fair value, gross, of derivatives (1)	589	1,519	599	-	-	2,707
Total exposure with respect to derivatives	807	3,045	621	-	62	4,535
Collateral with respect to derivatives (before						
safety factors)	-	(336)	(1,068)	-	-	(1,404)
Impact of safety factors on collateral	-	169	602	-	-	771
Total current credit exposure after credit risk						
mitigation	807	2,878	155	-	62	3,902

				As	s of December	31, 2010
		Foreign				
	Interest	currency	Contracts (	Commodity	Credit	
Details	contracts	contracts	for shares	contracts	derivatives <sup>(2)</sup>	Total
Face value of derivatives after impact of add-on factor	219	1,244	-	-	67	1,530
Positive fair value, gross, of derivatives (1)	472	1,237	738	1	-	2,448
Total exposure with respect to derivatives	691	2,481	738	1	67	3,978
Collateral with respect to derivatives (before						
safety factors)	-	(254)	(1,094)	(1)	-	(1,349)
Impact of safety factors on collateral	-	141	531	-	-	672
Total current credit exposure after credit risk						
mitigation	691	2,368	175	-	67	3,301

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes exposure arising from counter-party credit risk with respect to client activity on the stock exchange, calculated based on stock exchange rules.

<sup>(2)</sup> The Bank's credit derivatives operations are not classified as brokerage operations. For information about transactions to buy and sell credit protection, see Note 7A to the financial statements.

#### Securitization

The Bank does not operate in the field of asset securitization. It is Bank policy to avoid, in principle, investment in complex securitization instruments. The Bank has invested in the past in a <u>limited</u> number of complex securitization instruments, such as CDO and CLO, and these comprise the current portfolio.

Below are details of investments in collateralization exposures and capital requirements with respect there to:

	•	As of Septem	ber 30, 2011
	Risk weighting	Exposure amount Capital rec	uirements <sup>(1)</sup>
BB+ to BB-	350%	24	8
B+ or lower	Deducted from equity	39	39
Total		63	47
		As of Septem	ber 30, 2010
	Risk weighting	Exposure amount Capital rec	uirements <sup>(1)</sup>
BB+ to BB-	350%	3	1
B+ or lower	Deducted from equity	57	57
Total		60	58
		As of Decem	nber 31, 2010
	Risk weighting	Exposure amount Capital rec	quirements (1)
BB+ to BB-	350%	8	3
B+ or lower	Deducted from equity	52	52
Total		60	55

<sup>(1)</sup> Capital requirement (except with respect to exposures deducted from capital) calculated at 9% of risk asset balance, in accordance with interim directive on application of Basel II, Pillar 3.

For further details of exposure to asset-backed securities, see Note 2 to the financial statements.

#### Market risk

Market risk to which the Bank is exposed in different financial instruments arises from their susceptibility to unexpected changes in interest rates, inflation rates and exchange rates, such that changes in market conditions may lead to changes in the fair value of the different financial instruments. Market risk management is intended to maximize Bank profit at the prescribed risk level. Exposure to market risk is managed in accordance with the limitations prescribed by the Board of Directors, within the frameworks of and subject to which, the Bank's Executive Management acts, according to the market conditions at any given time.

The Bank focuses on two major market risk factors:

Interest risk - the risk of erosion of capital as a result of future interest rate changes. The exposure to interest risk results,
 inter alia, from a lack of correlation between the period to maturity of the Bank's assets and liabilities.

Linkage-basis risk - the risk of erosion in capital due to changes in the value of the linkage basis - changes in prices,
 exchange rates and inflation rates. The exposure to basis risk exists when the Bank's assets and liabilities are denominated in different currency or linkage segments.

#### Interest risk in Bank portfolio

Interest risk in the Bank portfolio is the risk of erosion of the Bank portfolio (including, as specified above, all transactions not included in the negotiable portfolio, including financial derivatives used for hedging the Bank portfolio) as a result of future changes in interest rates. The exposure to interest risk results from a lack of correlation between the period to maturity of the Bank's assets and liabilities.

Interest risk in the Bank portfolio is monitored on a regular basis, both in managing interest risk for the overall portfolio in VaR terms, and in EVE (Economic Value of Equity) terms - a model which reviews changes in the economic value of the portfolio under different assumptions regarding changes to the interest rate curve, including corresponding 2% shifts upwards/downwards of the interest rate curve.

Below is the impact of a parallel shift of the curve by 2% on the economic value of the Bank's portfolio in EVE terms (NIS in millions):

					Septen	nber 30, 2011
					Chang	e in fair value
	Į:	sraeli currency			For	eign currency
	Non-linked	Linked to CPI	Dollar	Euro	Other	Total
2% increase	350	62	79	(8)	3	486
2% decrease	(393)	(200)	(15)	6	(2)	(604)
						nber 30, 2010
						e in fair value
	Į:	sraeli currency			For	eign currency
	Non-linked	Linked to CPI	Dollar	Euro	Other	Total
2% increase	179	340	80	(12)	(3)	584
2% decrease	(205)	(530)	(16)	12	4	(735)
	·				Decen	nber 31, 2010
					Chang	e in fair value
	]:	sraeli currency			For	eign currency
	Non-linked	Linked to CPI	Dollar	Euro	Other	Total
2% increase	179	217	(11)	(7)	(1)	377
2% decrease	(201)	(389)	25	6	1	(558)

In preparing the mortgage repayment forecast for the Bank, assumptions with regard to pre-payment are taken into account.

Market risk in the Bank's negotiable portfolio, primarily composed of portfolios managed in the trading room, is managed by means of quantitative limitations specified for each portfolio based on its activity.

#### The VaR model (Value At Risk)

As required according to the directives of the Bank of Israel, the Bank calculates the VaR values and the stress-test values on a monthly basis. The VaR is calculated by calculation methods commonly used around the world, including: the Monte Carlo simulation method and the historical simulation method. Furthermore, in order to improve the responsiveness of the VaR to the degree of volatility in financial markets, the Bank has developed a new VaR calculation method which implements a combination of multiple, generally accepted calculation methods. This method allows the Bank to handle situations where market volatility increases.

The internal estimate of VaR of the Bank Group presents the risk of a loss during a month, with the probability of it occurrence not exceeding 1%. Below is the maximum VaR for the Bank Group (NIS in millions):

	First nine months	First nine months	
	of 2011	of 2010	All of 2010
At end of period	265	342	219
Maximum value during period	286 (Aug)	342 (Sep)	364 (Sep)
Minimum value during period	212 (March)	274 (March)	219 (Dec)

#### Basis risk

Linkage-basis risk relates to the risk of erosion in capital due to changes in the value of the linkage basis – changes in prices, exchange rates and inflation rates. The exposure to basis risk exists when the Bank's assets and liabilities are denominated in different currency or linkage segments.

Below is an analysis of the sensitivity of the Group's (pre-tax) profit to changes in the main exchange rates and in the CPI as of September 30, 2011:

Capital increase (erosion), NIS in millions

					Extre	me historical
			Scenarios			scenario (1)
			5%	10%	Maximum	Maximum
	10% increase	5% increase	decrease	decrease	increase	decrease
CPI	453.2	226.6	(226.6)	(453.2)	69.8	(39.0)
Dollar	180.3	89.2	(90.7)	(180.2)	58.6	(50.0)
Pound Sterling	(1.5)	(0.7)	0.9	2.3	(0.5)	0.6
Yen	-	-	(0.2)	(0.7)	-	(0.1)
Euro	12.4	7.9	(6.5)	(10.0)	6.5	(4.8)
Swiss Franc	14.9	7.4	(7.5)	(14.2)	5.9	(9.4)

<sup>(1)</sup> Extreme scenarios were calculated based on daily changes in the exchange rate and monthly changes in the CPI, in the last 10 years.

#### Interest risk

Interest risk is the risk of erosion of capital as a result of future interest rate changes. The exposure to interest risk results from a lack of correlation between the period to maturity of the Bank's assets and liabilities.

Impact of hypothetical changes in interest rates on fair value of financial instruments of the Bank and its subsidiaries (NIS in millions) is as follows:

Fair value of financial instruments before impact of hypothetical changes in interest rates:

	Israe	eli currency		Foreign	currency (2)	
		Linked to				
	Non-linked	CPI	Dollar	Euro	Other	Total
September 30, 2011						
Financial assets (1)	77,369	45,246	14,485	3,502	2,237	142,839
Amounts receivable with respect to						
financial derivatives (3)	74,471	4,864	50,736	8,835	5,887	144,793
Financial liabilities (1)	(76,454)	(35,908)	(17,281)	(4,377)	(2,421)	(136,441)
Amounts payable with respect to						
financial derivatives (3)	(72,939)	(10,302)	(47,973)	(7,996)	(5,722)	(144,932)
Total	2,447	3,900	(33)	(36)	(19)	6,259
December 31, 2010						
Financial assets (1)	67,941	42,760	12,944	4,146	2,503	130,294
Amounts receivable with respect to	2.,2	,-	,	.,	_,	,
financial derivatives (3)	72,253	3,894	53,430	5,442	4,527	139,546
Financial liabilities (1)	(67,310)	(34,820)	(15,230)	(4,476)	(2,280)	(124,116)
Amounts payable with respect to	, , ,	, , ,	, , ,	, . ,	, , ,	, , ,
financial derivatives (3)	(69,419)	(8,701)	(50,957)	(5,123)	(4,811)	(139,011)
Total	3,465	3,133	187	(11)	(61)	6,713

Net fair value of financial instruments, after impact of changes in interest rates (4):

	Israeli currency			For	eign curr	ency (2)	Change in f	air value
		Linked to					NIS in	
	Non-linked	CPI	Dollar	Euro	Other	Total	millions	In %
September 30, 2011								
Change in interest rates:								
Concurrent immediate increase of 1%	2,683	3,843	(82)	(41)	(28)	6,375	116	1.9%
Concurrent immediate increase of 0.1%	2,473	3,895	(40)	(37)	(20)	6,271	12	0.2%
Concurrent immediate decrease of 1%	2,179	3,998	4	(29)	(10)	6,142	(117)	(1.9%)
December 31, 2010								
Change in interest rates:								
Concurrent immediate increase of 1%	3,345	3,238	136	(11)	(71)	6,637	(76)	(1.1%)
Concurrent immediate increase of 0.1%	3,453	3,151	182	(11)	(62)	6,713	-	-
Concurrent immediate decrease of 1%	3,570	3,094	232	(6)	(51)	6,839	126	1.9%

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes complex financial instruments. Excludes balance sheet balances of derivatives and fair value of off-balance sheet financial instruments.

<sup>(2)</sup> Including Israeli currency linked to foreign currency.

<sup>(3)</sup> Amounts receivable (and payable) with respect to financial derivatives, discounted using interest rates used for calculation of the fair value.

<sup>(4)</sup> Net fair value of financial instruments presented in each linkage segment is the net fair value for this segment, assuming the indicated change in all interest rates in the linkage segment. Total net fair value of financial instruments is the net fair value of all financial instruments (excluding non-monetary items), assuming the indicated change in all interest rates in all linkage segments.

The Bank is required to allocate capital with respect to interest risk in the negotiable portfolio, for exchange rate risk for all banking activities and for option risk. The Bank uses the effective term to maturity method in measuring interest risk, and the Delta Plus method in measuring option risk. This method quantifies the risk associated with operations of the option portfolio based on the "Greek letter" values. These reflect the sensitivity of the option portfolio to moves in the underlying asset and in standard deviation.

In accordance with Basel II rules, the Bank is also required to calculate specific risk in the negotiable portfolio. Capital requirements with respect to specific risk are intended to provide protection against negative change in the price of a single security due to factors related to the individual issuer. The capital requirement with respect to specific risk relates to instruments in the negotiable portfolio, and replaces the capital requirement with respect to credit risk associated with these instruments, had they been held in the Bank's portfolio.

Capital allocation for basis risk is at 8% of the net open position in each currency.

#### Below is the capital requirement due to market risk by risk component (NIS in millions):

		As of Septen	nber 30, 2011		As of Decen	nber 31, 2010
		Capita	al requirement		Capita	I requirement
Risk component (1)	Specific risk	General risk	Total	Specific risk	General risk	Total
Interest risk (2)	3	40	43	6	31	37
Equity risk	-	-	-	-	1	1
Foreign currency exchange rate risk	-	29	29	-	15	15
Total market risk	3	69	72	6	47	53

<sup>(1)</sup> Risk associated with options activity is included under the different components, and was calculated using the Delta Plus approach, as defined in the Supervisor of Banks' directive.

#### Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk result from uncertainty as to the availability of sources and the ability to realize assets within a specified period of time and at a reasonable price. Liquidity risk is managed subject to the limitations of the Board of Directors and Executive Management in an effort to minimize the losses deriving from an investment of surplus liquidity in assets that are highly liquid, but have a low yield.

The Bank has developed an internal model to estimate the liquidity needs and liquid resources, as required by Proper Conduct of Bank Businesses Regulation No. 342 "Management of Liquidity Risk" and in accordance with Basel provisions. The Bank's internal model is based on statistical findings on the public's behavior. An information system was built for daily measurement, control and reporting of the liquidity status. The Bank has a Liquidity Forum, which convenes daily, under the responsibility of the Finance Division, which meets monthly to discuss the liquidity situation and to align the liquidity needs of different Bank units with the liquidity "providers" and liquidity managers. In addition, the Risk Control Division performs back testing of model adequacy, as required by Bank of Israel directives.

<sup>(2)</sup> Calculated using the Effective Duration approach, as defined in the Supervisor of Banks' directive.

#### Operating risk

Basel II provisions referred to operating risk as residual risk, and in fact defined it as risk which is not market risk nor credit risk. Basel II provisions explicitly defined operating risk as the risk of loss due to failure or inappropriateness of internal procedures, people, systems or external events. Furthermore, the Basel II first layer includes capital requirements for operating risk. For details of the Basle II guidelines, see the chapter on Legislation and Supervision of Bank Group Operations.

#### Equity positions in Bank portfolio

For details of equity investments in the Bank's portfolio, see Note 2 to the financial statements. The investment balance includes investments in negotiable and public shares amounting to NIS 6 million, and investment in non-public shares amounting to NIS 94 million.

Total equity investment in Bank portfolio	100	9		
Venture capital / private equity funds	33	3		
Shares	67	6		
	Fair value	requirement (1)		
		Capital		
	As	As of September 30, 2011		

	As	As of December 31, 2010		
		Capital		
	Fair value	requirement (1)		
Shares	63	6		
Venture capital / private equity funds	34	3		
Total equity investment in Bank portfolio	97	9		

<sup>(1)</sup> Capital requirement calculated at 9%, in accordance with interim directive on application of Basel II, Pillar 3.

#### Legal risk

Proper Conduct of Banking Business Regulation 339 (Risk Management) prescribes, *inter alia*, that banking corporations must take action to reduce the legal risk resulting from their various operations. Legal risk is defined in this regulation as "the risk of a loss resulting from not having the possibility of legally enforcing an agreement". Proper Conduct of Banking Business Regulation 206 (Measurement and Capital Adequacy - Operating Risk) defines legal risk in conjunction with operating risk to include, *inter alia*, exposure to fines or penalties arising from supervisory action, as well as from individual arrangements.

The Bank regards legal risk in its wider definition, with regard to Bank conduct in its relationships with various stake holders (clients, suppliers, other third parties etc.) The Chief Legal Counsel has been appointed Manager of Legal Risk. The Bank constantly strives to minimize as much as possible the legal risk associated with its current operations, and acts to disseminate a practical culture leading to mitigation of legal risk in all its different aspects.

The Bank regularly analyzes the legal risk component of its activities, the risk boundaries (arising, for example, from the counter-party identity, from creation of collateral etc.) as well as specific risk attributes of different lines of business, while reviewing risk level and exposure. Further, the Bank has created procedures to assist in mitigating legal risk, as reflected in activities of the different Bank units.

The Bank's Legal Division regularly monitors developments in legislation, rulings and other regulatory provisions which could have implications for the day-to-day activities of the Bank's units. As needed, the Bank amends the different contracts used and ensures availability of legal opinions which serve as basis for Bank contracting. The Legal Division is also involved with training courses at branches, at the Bank's Training Center and in authoring professional e-learning kits.

Similar reference is made for Bank branches and affiliates overseas, with assistance from local external attorneys approved by the Bank's Legal Division.

#### Compliance

The complexity and development of banking activity requires the Bank to adhere strictly to fulfilling the range of obligations imposed on it in its business ties with its customers, by virtue of statutory provisions applicable to a banking corporation. As stipulated by Proper Conduct of Banking Business Regulation 308 with regard to a Compliance Officer, the Bank has appointed a Compliance Officer who heads the Compliance Department, reporting to the Chief Legal Counsel; the Board of Directors has put in place a Compliance Plan. The Compliance Department strives to implement consumer provisions applicable to Bank relationships with its clients, so as to minimize the likelihood of any breach of laws and regulations, and so as to discover, as early as possible, any such breach - thereby minimizing Bank exposure to claims and other damage which may ensue.

The Compliance Department conducts compliance surveys on various topics, delivers training at the Bank and the Compliance Officer is a member of different Bank forums in order to ensure a broad, system-wide view of various compliance aspects.

#### **Prohibition of money laundering**

The Compliance Officer is also responsible for application of the Prohibition of Money Laundering Act, and of the Prohibition of Financing Terrorism Act. The Compliance and Prevention of Money Laundering Department implements statutory requirements on this issue. The Department handles subjective reports of unusual activity, which are submitted to the Authority for Prohibition of Money Laundering, as well as implementation of various controls over activity in different accounts, based on their risk profile.

The Bank also emphasized training in this field to different sectors of Bank employees.

The Bank operates different computer systems for identifying unusual activity and for monitoring the handling of subjective reports.

The Bank applies its policy on this matter, as approved by the Bank Board of Directors in May 2010, and statutory provisions on a Group basis, with mandated changes, at its subsidiaries and affiliates in Israel and overseas.

#### **Risk factors**

For a discussion of the risk factors that impact the Bank and its activities, see the discussion in the chapter on risk management above. A mapping of the risk factors and their impact on the Bank Group are presented below:

Risk factor	Risk factor impact				
Overall effect of credit risk	Intermediate				
Risk from quality of borrowers and collateral	Intermediate				
Risk from industry concentration	Intermediate				
Risk from concentration of borrowers/ borrower groups	Intermediate	Intermediate			
Overall effect of market risk	Intermediate				
Interest risk	Intermediate				
Inflation risk	Intermediate				
Exchange rate risk	Low				
Share price risk	Low				
Liquidity risk	Low				
Operating risk	Low				
Legal risk	Low				
Reputation Risk <sup>(1)</sup>	Low				

(1) The risk of impairment of the Bank's results due to negative reports about the Bank.

Description of methodology used by the Bank to estimate impact of different risk:

#### Market risk

The effect of the risk was measured using VaR values for each risk, with respect to the VaR value limit determined by the Board of Directors.

The Bank's Board of Directors prescribed the VaR limit in order to prevent the creation of high market risk. Therefore, it was prescribed that risk with VaR value equal to or higher than the Board of Directors' limitation has strong effect. Risk with VaR value equal to or higher than 70% of the Board of Directors' limitation has intermediate effect and the risk with VaR value below this is considered having a low effect.

#### Other risk

The degree of influence of credit risk, liquidity risk, operational risk, legal risk and goodwill risk – were determined based on management's assessments, as performed from time to time, and in coordination with the ICAAP process conducted by the Bank, and its outcome, under leadership of the Bank's risk managers, and took into account both qualitative and quantitative aspects, including the Bank's risk profile, outcome of various scenarios at the Bank and the capital planning process.

#### Significant events in the Bank Group's business

#### **Employee stock option plan**

On May 19, 2008, after approval by the Bank's Audit Committee and Board of Directors, option warrants were allotted to Bank officers, branch, department and affiliate managers as well as to other employees of the Bank and its subsidiaries. For further details, see Note 16.A.3.b to Financial Statements as of December 31, 2009

On October 03, 2011, the Bank Board of Directors, after receiving approval of the Bank Audit Committee, resolved to approve a plan for allotment of a further 701,300 options, under identical terms and conditions with the exception of the exercise price, to 31 employees, including one officer of the Bank.

The theoretical benefit value of the option warrants in this allotment, calculated in accordance with accounting rules of Accounting Standard no. 24, amounts to NIS 4.4 million (NIS 5 million including Payroll Tax).

The option warrants were allotted to employees on November 17, 2011.

See Note 12.2 to the financial statements for additional information.

#### **Legislation and Regulation of Bank Group Operations**

#### ISA Enforcement Proceeding Streamlining Act (Legislative Amendments), 2011

This act, enacted on January 11, 2011 and effective as from January 27, 2011, allows the ISA to use a new administrative enforcement track for corporations or individuals who break the law. The proposed track shall only apply to a negligent breach of the law. For serious offenses the ISA would continue to prosecute criminal indictments.

The act stipulates that the breaching party may appear before an enforcement committee, which may impose both monetary sanctions and disqualification from the profession. The ISA may impost administrative fines on individuals and corporations in breach of securities legislation, and even remove them from their position and ban them from the capital market.

The act provides for administrative enforcement for misconduct by professionals under short, quick proceedings, compared to the current state of affairs, which required criminal proceedings which take years. This primarily involves felonies such as stock price rigging and use of inside information in small amounts, or in cases where there is not sufficient

evidence for a criminal indictment. The act extends the sentence for use of inside information from one year to two years.

The Act provides for administrative proceedings to be launched even against defendants already under criminal proceedings for the same felonies, based on justified reasoning by the Chairman of the ISA, and subject to approval by the State Prosecution and a committee headed by ISA senior legal staff whose members are appointed by the Minister of Justice.

The ISA is authorized to impose fines ranging between NIS 25 thousand and NIS 5 million. Convicted individuals, whether self-employed or salaried employees, face fines of between NIS 25 thousand and NIS 50 thousand. Board members and senior officers of companies, which bear personal responsibility, face fines of between NIS 400 thousand and NIS 1 million. Fines imposed on companies may reach NIS 5 million. The act prohibits entities dealing in securities to obtain insurance coverage against administrative fines imposed pursuant to the act, nor to indemnify their employees against fines imposed on the latter as individuals.

The ISA has been authorized to remove from position and ban from the capital market and convicted felons who are Board members and senior officers, such as the CEO or CFO, in addition to imposing the heavy administrative fine on them. This ban is effective for up to one year.

The Act would become effective 30 days after being published, except for certain sections which would apply as from the date on which the Act is published. Certain sections which make reference to regulations enacted or to be enacted pursuant to other laws, shall apply as from the effective date of these referenced regulations.

The Bank is acting to put in place an enforcement program for the Group.

#### Corporate Act (Amendment no. 16), 2011

On March 15, 2011, the Corporate Act (Amendment no. 16), 2011 was made public. Its highlights are as follows:

- A majority of Audit Committee members of a public company would be independent Board members, as defined in the Act, and the Chairman of the Audit Committee would be an external Board member;
- The Audit Committee is authorized, *inter alia*, to decide, with regard to a transaction with an officer and to a transaction with a controlling shareholder, if these are ordinary or extraordinary transactions for approval there of by law, and the Audit Committee is entitled to thus decide based on criteria to be set annually in advance;
- The Audit Committee is authorized to review the Internal Auditor's work plan prior to its submission for approval by the Board of Directors and may propose changes to the plan;
- The Audit Committee is authorized to review the Independent Auditor's scope of work and fees, and make its recommendations to the Board of Directors;
- The external Board members shall be appointed by the General Meeting by a majority of votes of shareholders who are not controlling shareholders of the company, or any of their proxies taking part in the vote;

\_

The term in office of an external Board member is three years, and they may be appointed for two additional terms of three years each, for a total of nine years (just like for an independent Board member, as defined in the Act);

- An external Board member shall be appointed for an additional term if nominated by the Board of Directors for an additional term and this appointment is lawfully confirmed, or if nominated by a shareholder holding at least one percent of voting rights in the company and this appointment is lawfully approved by a majority of votes at the General Meeting;
- An extraordinary transaction between a public company and its controlling shareholder requires approval by the Audit Committee, the Board of Directors and the General Meeting by a majority of votes of shareholders participating in the vote who have no personal interest in approval of the transaction;
- An extraordinary transaction between a public company and its controlling shareholder for a term longer than three
  years, requires lawful approval once every three years unless the Audit Committee has approved that contracting
  for a longer term is reasonable under the circumstances;
- The ISA is authorized to impose a monetary sanction due to breach of certain provisions of the Corporate Act, under conditions specified in the Act;
- The addendum to the Act specifies recommended corporate governance provisions which the company may adopt in its Bylaws, or may disclose their non-adoption.

The effective start date of most sections of the Act is 60 days after its publication, and some (primarily concerning the Audit Committee) - six months after publication, others - upon the effective start date of the ISA Enforcement Proceeding Streamlining Act (Legislative Amendments), 2011 and others yet - subject to appropriate transition provisions.

The Bank has applied and continues to apply the corporate governance principles reflected by the aforementioned amendments.

#### Banking Act (Customer Service) (Amendment 15), 2011

This amendment, passed on July 25, 2011, reverses the current default value used when printing checks for individual clients. The amendment stipulates that checkbooks printed by a banking corporation for an individual client would have the checks crossed and printed with text prohibiting their assignment - unless the client asked for checkbooks to be printed without such crossing and text.

The amendment to the Act became effective on October 1, 2011.

The Bank applies the provisions of the amendment to the Act.

#### Anti-Trust Act (Amendment 12), 2011

The amendment to the Act, passed by the Knesset on July 18, 2011, stipulates that the Anti-Trust Supervisor (hereinafter: "the Supervisor") may determine that a small group of individuals doing business and holding a concentration of more than 50% of total supply of assets or total provision of services, or its acquisition, constitutes a

concentration group with regard to the amendment to the Act, and each of these persons constitutes a member of a concentration group, should the Supervisor consider that certain conditions prescribed by the amendment to the Act have been fulfilled.

The amendment to the Act stipulates special provisions with regard to concentration groups in the banking sector and in the insurance sector, whereby the Supervisor shall consult with the Governor of the Bank of Israel and with the Supervisor of Banks with regard to the Supervisor's intention to determine that a small group of individuals constitutes a concentration group, and the Supervisor shall inform the latter of the Supervisor's intention to issue a directive pursuant to section 31c(a) intended to prevent actual or foreseen significant impact to the public or to business competition among group members or in their sector, if such determination or directive concerns any person acting in a sector which falls under the responsibility of the Bank of Israel pursuant to provisions of the Bank of Israel Act; should the Governor of the Bank of Israel of the Supervisor of Banks, after receiving notice pursuant to this section, consider that issuing such a directive would jeopardize the stability of any banking corporation of the stability of the banking system, they shall inform the Supervisor, who shall avoid issuing such a directive.

Provisions of section 31d of the body of the Act, with regard to the Supervisor avoiding issuing a directive due to notice from the Governor of the Bank of Israel, the Supervisor of Banks or the Supervisor of the Capital Market, as the case may be, because issuing such directive may impact the stability of entities or systems specified in sub-sections (a) or (b) of said section, shall apply through January 1, 2014; the Minister of Finance, with approval of the Knesset Economics Committee, may extend the aforementioned period for additional two-year terms.

In the estimation of the Bank's management, it is not possible at this stage to estimate the effect of the implementation of the law on the operating results of the Bank.

#### Measurement and disclosure of impaired debt, credit risk and provision for credit loss

On December 31, 2007, the Supervisor of Banks published his circular regarding "Measuring and Disclosure of Impaired Debt, Credit Risk and Provision for Credit Loss" (hereinafter: "the regulation"). On February 21, 2010, the Supervisor of Banks issued a letter in which it delayed implementation of this directive in financial statements of banking corporations, from January 1, 2010 to January 1, 2011 - without retrospective implementation in financial statements for prior periods. For details of the directive and its initial application as from January 1, 2011, see Note 1.E.1. to the financial statements.

#### Proper Conduct of Banking Business Regulation No. 301 concerning "Board of Directors"

On December 29, 2010, the Supervisor of Banks issued an amendment to Regulation No. 301 concerning the Board of Directors, in conjunction with updating of Proper Conduct of Banking Business Regulations and adaptation there of to the Basel II framework. The regulation specified rules for Board operation, roles and authority, structure and composition, including its committees, processes for confirmation of Board member qualifications for their position etc. - all this in addition to provisions of the Corporate Act, 1999.

The Regulation emphasizes the Board's place and role in proper corporate governance of a banking corporation,

specified the Board's responsibility for business and financial robustness of the banking corporation and specifies the Board's roles in exercising this responsibility. Thus, for example, the Board must set corporate strategy and approve corporate policies, supervise management activities and their compliance with Board policy, ensure existence of clear responsibilities and reporting channels within the banking corporation, specify the organizational culture with regard to professional conduct and integrity etc.

The regulation further stipulates that the Board must discuss and set overall strategy objectives for the banking corporation group, and that the Board of a controlled entity must take into consideration the overall strategy objectives of the Group, in as much as they are in line with the best interest of the controlled entity.

As for credit, the Board is expected to focus on creating appropriate control and supervision structures over management activity, and to limit its involvement in credit approval.

On November 6,2011, the Supervisor of Banks issued an additional update to Regulation 301, stipulating that a banking corporation which is a private company may have a Board member, employed by another banking corporation which controls the aforementioned banking corporation, serving on the Audiot Committee.

Most of these amendments to the regulation shall become effective by January 1, 2012.

The Bank is preparing to implement the regulation.

### Amendment of Proper Conduct of Banking Business Regulation 313 "Restrictions on indebtedness of borrowers and groups of borrowers"

On May 8, 2011, the Supervisor of Banks issued a circular amending Regulation 313 with regard to restrictions on indebtedness of borrowers and groups of borrowers, in conjunction with action to reduce concentration risk in the banking system. Below are highlights of the amended regulations:

- Imposition of stricter restrictions on the credit portfolio to borrowers and groups of borrowers, inter alia by applying an indebtedness limit on exposure to banks as well, amending the restriction on indebtedness of groups of borrowers from 30% to 25% of equity of the banking corporation, and setting a limit of 120% of equity of the banking corporation for total net indebtedness of borrowers, groups of borrowers and banking groups of borrowers whose net indebtedness to the banking corporation exceeds 10% of equity of the banking corporation.
- Updated definitions of indebtedness and deductions from indebtedness, in accordance with Basel II rules, except for derivative transactions to which a stricter rule is applied, in anticipation of expected changes due to new directives of the Basel Committee.
- Elimination of special processing of the Bank's commitment to clients, which was contingent on the Bank's compliance with restrictions pursuant to the aforementioned regulation.
- Updated definition of capital, in accordance with change in definitions based on Basel II rules.
- Transition provisions are in place to handle exceptions created by initial application of provisions in this circular.

The effective start date of the amended directive is December 31, 2011, except for the amended definition of "equity", which is effective immediately. The Bank is preparing to comply with the directive and is reviewing the implications of its application.

#### Restriction on grant of housing loans bearing variable interest

On May 3, 2011, the Supervisor of Banks issued a letter, directing banking corporations to restrict the ratio of variable interest in housing loans to 33.3% of the total loan for loans approved in principle or refinanced as from May 5, 2011. This restriction does not apply to any refinancing in which the variable interest component of the loan is reduced. Further, a banking corporation may choose not to apply the restriction to loans denominated in foreign currency granted to foreign residents, nor to balloon loans whose original maturity is up to three years. This is contingent on the ratio of total housing loans bearing variable interest to total housing loans approved in principle as from May 5, 2011, provided in each quarter, shall not exceed 33.3%.

Further, the Supervisor of Banks instructed banking corporations to inform their clients of the implications of potential increase in interest rates on their loans.

#### **FATCA (Foreign Account Tax Compliance Act)**

In accordance with the Act, which became effective in the USA in March 2011, foreign financial institutions, including banks around the world, are required to provide to the IRS (US Tax Authority) information about US taxpayers.

According to the Act, foreign financial institutions are required to identify all accounts of individual and entities directly or indirectly owned by Americans, and to report some of them (based on criteria specified in the Act) to the IRS.

Any foreign financial institution which would not sign an agreement with the IRS, shall be required to withhold tax at 30% on relevant payments from a US source. The withholding shall apply to financial assets of the foreign financial institution as well as to assets of its clients.

The Act is designed to:

- Reduce tax avoidance by US persons using accounts outside the USA.
- Increase tax revenues paid by US persons to the USA, and increase transparency and reporting of assets and balances of clients identified as American to the IRS.

Further instructions pursuant to the Act have yet to be finalized and published by the IRS. Provisions of the Act shall be applied as from January 2013.

The Bank avoids providing consulting or any assistance with regard to how accounts are to be identified as American or with respect to US taxation, including any advice with regard to FATCA, and is preparing to apply this legislation.

#### New directives for money markets

At the end of January 2011, the Bank of Israel issued new money market directives, whereby it required reporting of transactions in foreign currency derivatives in excess of USD 10 million as well as reporting of transactions in Government of Israel debentures (up to one year) and short-term Government loans by foreign residents and financial brokers in excess of NIS 10 million. The Bank of Israel also imposed a 10% liquidity requirement for swap transactions and future NIS / foreign currency conversion transactions by foreign residents.

In early May 2011, the Ministry of Finance announced termination of the tax exemption for foreign residents for investment in short-term Government loans and Government debentures for a term of one year or shorter (this termination became effective on July 7, 2011).

#### Report on corporate accountability

On October 3, 2011, the Supervisor of Banks issued a circular regarding the Report on Corporate Accountability. According to this circular, banking corporations should make public a report for a period of up to two years about their corporate accountability, as stated in the directive. The report would be published for the period starting on or after January 1, 2012.

The Bank is preparing to implement the regulation.

#### Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive no. 357 - Information Technology Management

On January 30, 2011, the Supervisor of Banks issued a circular with an update to Proper Conduct of Banking Business Directive no. 357 - Information Technology Management. The directive was amended due to technology changes which have implications on risk management within information technology systems, which have occurred since the most recent update to the directive (in 2003).

The amendments to the directive mostly consist of emphasis on the fact that online banking also includes email, and therefore also required encryption; requirement to protect all websites of the banking corporation, including the marketing website, by means of minimum defense mechanisms set forth in the directive; various easements, such as: allowing an option to update personal information via online banking used to provide information to clients, and conditions which would allow for amendment of personal information; option to execute an online agreement by telephone as well, subject to fulfillment of conditions prescribed by the directive, to facilitate execution of online agreements; permission to grant permissions for various online banking channels, which differ from permissions agreed to on the client account, in case of corporations; any notification which is subject to confidentiality may be sent by the banking corporation via email or via the corporation's website, subject to conditions described in the directive. For sending notifications via the banking corporation's website, the requirement for using computer tools to definitely determine whether the client has received or opened the mail message, or has downloaded the mail message to his computer or has printed it; the directive refers to Proper Conduct of Banking Directive no. 420, which specifies the message types which may be sent via email or via the banking corporation's website, for which the banking corporation would be exempt from sending the messages by post as well.

#### Client investments in financial assets through portfolio managers

On September 20, 2011, the Supervisor of Banks issued a circular on client investments in financial assets through portfolio managers. The circular was issued in view of the Investment Advisory / Marketing / Management Act, and amends Proper Conduct of Banking Business no. 462 on this matter.

The amendment primarily consists of adding the definition of "qualified client", which includes, *inter alia*, institutional clients as well as individual clients with knowledge of and familiarity with the capital market, as well as a significant investment portfolio. Under the Advisory Act, providers of investment advisory or portfolio management services to a "qualified client" need not be licensed. The amendment exempts the banking corporation from the need to provide explanation by an authorized clerk of the banking corporation, provided that the "qualified client" has waived in writing the receipt of such explanation.

#### Recommendations of Basel Committee on Banking Supervision ("Basel Committee")

For details of highlights of recommendations of the Basel Committee and their application to banks in Israel and their implementation by the Bank, see the Board of Directors' Report as of December 31, 2010.

In conjunction with application of Basel II, Pillar 2 (Proper Conduct of Banking Business Regulation 211 - ICAAP Process), all risk types material to Bank operations have been mapped. ICAAP is a comprehensive process in which senior Bank executives are involved. The Bank has specified its risk appetite for all material risk types to its operations, authored policy documents for new risk types and extended existing policy documents, in conjunction with the ICAAP process. The risk appetite, risk mapping and determination of the materiality there of are submitted for approval by the Board of Directors' Risk Management Committee and the Board of Directors plenum, on annual basis.

In May 2011, the Bank submitted to the Bank of Israel its ICAAP document (as of December 31, 2010), which reflects the Bank's assessment of the capital required to cover all risk to which the Bank is exposed in conjunction with its business operations, as per guidance from the Bank of Israel, and in coordination with Bank of Israel comments on the SREP process conducted at the Bank.

Results of the capital assessments conducted within this document, indicate that the Bank has sufficient capital to cover all risk factors to which it is exposed, both under normal and stress conditions.

In conjunction with application of Pillar 2, the Bank continues in accordance with the work plan to regularly eliminate gaps identified vis-à-vis requirements of the Basel Committee in various risk areas, to deliver appropriate training to senior staff at the Bank and to improve its risk management and capital management policy documents in line with Pillar 2 directives.

On September 27 ,2011 ,the Bank received the Supervisor of Banks' comments on the Bank's ICAPP document, as well as comments in conjunction with the supervisory review process. The Bank is reviewing the comments made by the Supervisor and is preparing to implement the directives.

#### **Legal Proceedings**

For material changes in legal proceedings to which the Bank is party, see Notes 6.D. 2) and 3) to the financial statements.

#### **Determination by the Restrictive Trade Practices Authority**

On April 26, 2009, the Bank received a determination by the Anti-Trust Supervisor pursuant to Section 43(a)(1) of the Restrictive Trade Practices Act, 1988, whereby restrictive trade practices existed between the Bank and Bank Hapoalim Ltd., Bank Leumi Le-Israel Ltd., Bank Discount Le-Israel Ltd. and First International Bank of Israel Ltd., with regard to commission-related information sharing, since the early 1990s through commencement of the Supervisor's inquiry into this matter, in November 2004. This is a civil determination which constitutes a-priori evidence of its content in any legal proceeding.

For more details, including consent of the parties to refer this case to arbitration, see Note 6.D.4) to the financial statements.

#### **Other Matters**

The independent auditors have, in their review, drawnattention to Note 6.D.3-4 to the financial statements with regard to claims filed against the Bank, including claims accompanied by applications for class action status.

#### **Executive Management**

On June 2, 2011, Mr. Uziel Danino announced his retirement from the position of Manager, Client Assets and Advisory Division, which became effective on July 14, 2011.

On July 7, 2011, Mr. Haim Git retired from his position as the Chief Internal Auditor of the Bank Group, and upon that date he was appointed as a member of Bank management, Deputy President and CRO, replacing Mr. Moshe Larry. On that date, Ms. Galit Weiser was appointed Chief Internal Auditor of the Bank, as stated below in the chapter titled "Internal Auditor".

On July 14, 2011, Mr. Moshe Larry, Manager of Planning, Operations and Control Division, was also appointed Manager, Client Assets and Advisory Division.

By decision of the Bank Board of Directors dated July 25, 2011, a new division was created at the Bank: The Risk Control Division, headed by Mr. Haim Git. Upon creation of the Risk Control Division, the Planning, Operations and Control Division was renamed the Planning and Operations Division.

On October 25, 2011, Ms. Na'ama Gat announced her intention to retire from her position as Manager, Marketing, Advertising and Business Development Division. Ms. Gat would remain in office until a suitable candidate is located and her position is transitioned.

#### **Internal Auditor**

On June 23, 2011, the Chief Internal Auditor of the Bank Group, Mr. Haim Git, announced his retirement from this position, after being nominated to be a member of Bank management, Deputy President and CRO.

On that date, the Bank's Board of Directors approved the appointment of Ms. Galit Weiser, the Deputy Internal Auditor, to be the Chief Internal Auditor of the Bank Group, as nominated by the Audit Committee and subject to approval by the Supervisor of Banks.

On July 7, 2011, the Supervisor of Banks' approval was received and the appointment became effective.

The following is information about the Chief Internal Auditor of the Bank Group, who started in office on July 7, 2011:

Name	Galit Weiser
Start of term in office	July 2011
Education	CPA; undergraduate degree in Accounting and Economics (Hebrew University); graduate degree in Business Administration (Hebrew University).
Experience	Deputy Chief Internal Auditor at the Bank; previously, Chief Internal Auditor of Bank Tefahot.

On November 17, 2011, 97,600 Bank stock options were allotted to the Internal Auditor. For further details, see Note 12.2) to the financial statements.

The Board of Directors believes that the extent of Bank securities owned by the Internal Auditor does not impact the quality of her work.

#### **Appointment**

In June 2011, appointment of the Internal Auditor was confirmed by the Audit Committee and the Board of Directors, based on the Auditor's experience and educational qualifications.

Details of internal audit within the Group, including the professional standards applied by internal audit, the annual and multi-annual work plan and considerations in its determination, extent of employment of the Internal Auditor and his team and the manner in which reports are submitted with regard to findings of the Internal Auditor have been included in the Board of Directors' Report attached to the 2010 financial statements. No material changes occurred in these details during the reported period.

#### **Accounting Policy on Critical Matters**

The Group's consolidated financial statements are prepared in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles in Israel (Israeli GAAP) for interim periods, and in accordance with the directives and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks on the preparation of the financial statements of a banking entity. Highlights of accounting policies are specified in Note 1 to these condensed financial statements and in Note 1 to the financial statements as of December 31, 2010.

The application of generally accepted accounting principles by management at the time that the financial statements are prepared occasionally involves various assumptions, assessments and estimates that affect the amounts and business results reported in the financial statements. Some of the assumptions, assessments and estimates are critical to the financial position or the results of operations reflected in the Group's financial statements, because of the materiality of the matter, complexity of calculations or the extent of the probability that matters shrouded in uncertainty will be realized.

The financial statements for 2010 include details of accounting policies on critical issues for accounting treatment of the following: Specific provision for doubtful debts, derivative instruments, securities, liabilities with respect to employee rights, provisions for legal claims, provision for impairment of non-financial assets and deferred taxes.

In the reported period there were no changes to Bank accounting policies on critical issues as stated in the Board of Directors' report for the financial statements as of December 31, 2010, other than with regard to the provision for credit loss, fair value measurement and employee rights - pursuant to adoption of new accounting rules in the reported period, as described in section 1.E. to the financial statements.

#### Provision for expected payments to retirees in excess of contractual terms and conditions

In the second quarter of 2011, the Bank implemented, by way of retroactive adjustment, the Supervisor of Banks' directive concerning assessment of liability with respect to employee rights. For details, see Note 1.E.4. to the financial statements. In conjunction with implementation of this directive, a provision was made for expected payments to retirees in excess of contractual terms and conditions, based on an actuarial estimate. The actuarial estimate is based on several key assumptions, including with regard to the discount rate, the annual increase rate of payroll at the Bank, the departure rate prior to retirement age and the average benefit rate per retiree receiving benefits.

The following is a sensitivity analysis of total provision for employee rights to changes in key assumptions used as basis for the actuarial estimate, as of the transition date (NIS in millions):

	A 0.25%			A 5% cha	nge in	A 10% ch	ange in
	increase in	A 1% chang	ge in annual	departure	rate before	average b	penefit per
	discount	payroll incre	ease	retiremen	t age	retiree red	ceiving benefits
	rate	Increase	Decrease	Increase	Decrease	Increase	Decrease
Severance pay provision	(5)	2:	3 (20	))	10 (	10)	3 (3)
Budgetary pension	(3)	)	-	-	-	-	
Bonuses	(2)	1	-	-	-	-	

#### Certification process of the financial statements

The organ in charge of audit supervision at the Bank is its Board of Directors. Board members' names, accounting and financial skills and professional qualifications are specified in the Board of Directors' report as of December 31, 2010. The processes of preparing, auditing and approving the financial statements involve additional organs and officers as described below.

Bank financial statements are prepared by a professional department, headed by the Chief Accountant, pursuant to directives and guidance from the Supervisor of Banks and in accordance with the disclosure policy set by the Bank's Board of Directors.

Concurrently with preparing the financial statements, and based on the draft financial statements forwarded to them, all executive management members confirm by their signature that they are not aware of any detail which may indicate that data and descriptions in the Board of Directors' Report and financial statements with regard to their areas of responsibility include any false representation or lack of material facts, that they instituted effective controls in order to ensure that any material information in their area of responsibility is brought to their attention, and that any significant fault or material weakness of the internal controls over financial reporting which is likely to impact the Bank's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information in their areas of responsibility have been brought to the attention of the appropriate parties.

For details of names and positions of Bank executives, see the chapter on Bank management in the Board of Directors' report as of December 31, 2010.

The Bank operates a Doubtful Debts Committee, headed by the manager of the Business Division, and attended by professional credit officers, as well as a doubtful debts committee headed by the President and attended by the manager of the Business Division, manager of the Retail Division, manager of the Financial Division, the Chief Accountant, the Chief

Legal Counsel and credit professionals. In conjunction with preparation of the financial statements, the committee reviews the state of troubled loans of the Bank, their classification and provisions required there for. In addition, the Chief Legal Counsel and the Chief Accountant review the provisions required with respect to claims filed against the bank.

Matters of principle with regard to disclosure in the financial statements are discussed by the Financial Statements Disclosure Committee ("the Disclosure Committee") headed by the President and including the Chief Accountant, Chief Legal Counsel and other members of the Executive Management. These discussions include issues with material impact on the financial statements, issues of interest to the public, developments requiring disclosure to the public, material changes to application of accounting policies, requests or demands by regulatory authorities and issues on which Bank management and the independent auditor differ. As part of presentation of these issues to the Disclosure Committee, the independent auditors' professional comments are also presented.

In order to improve efficiency of supervision and control of disclosure in financial statements, the Bank's Board of Directors has established the Board Balance Sheet Committee, a restricted committee with 5 Board members, which is tasked with discussion and deliberation of proper disclosure in financial statements and with review of the financial statements in their entirety before they are submitted for discussion and approval by the Board of Directors plenum. The Board of Directors at its meeting on January 24, 2011, resolved to approve for the Balance Sheet Committee to serve as a Financial Statement Review Committee, pursuant to Corporate Regulations (Provisions and Conditions Concerning Approval Process of Financial Statements), 2010 (hereinafter: "regulations concerning financial statements approval process") and to be renamed "the Financial Statement Review Committee".

For this matter, note that in order to meet the condition stipulated in the regulations concerning the financial statements approval process, whereby a majority of Committee members shall be independent Board members, the Board of Directors' Audit Committee confirmed on January 10, 2011, that qualifications for appointment of an external Board member are met for Board members: Dov Mishor, Gideon Sitterman, Avi Ziegelman and Yossi Shachak, and therefore the Audit Committee classified all of these Board members as independent Board members, as this term is defined in the Act. The Board of Directors further assessed on January 24, 2011, for good measure, in relying on statements by the Board members, that each of Board members: Dov Mishor, Gideon Sitterman, Avi Ziegelman, Yossi Shachak and Avraham Shochat have accounting and financial expertise. The Board of Directors at that meeting further resolved to reappoint Board members: Dov Mishor, Gideon Sitterman, Avi Ziegelman, Yossi Shachak and Avraham Shochat as members of the Financial Statements Review Committee, as from the date of that resolution, and to appoint Mr. Avi Ziegelman Chairman of the Financial Statements Review Committee, as from the date of that resolution, replacing Mr. Avraham Shochat who concluded his term in office as Committee Chairman upon that date.

Further to the Audit Committee's resolution dated January 10, 2011 with regard to classification of independent Board members, the Audit Committee resolved, on May 11, 2011, to reclassify each of the following Board members: Messrs. Dov Mishor and Yossi Shachak as "independent Board members", as defined in Section 1 of the Corporate Act, -1999, as

amended by the Corporate Act (Amendment 16), 2011. This is based on statements by the aforementioned Board members and in view of additional conditions required for classification of Board members as independent.

The Financial Statements Review Committee reviews the assessments and estimates made in conjunction with the financial statements, internal controls associated with financial reporting, completeness and appropriateness of disclosure on financial statements; accounting policies adopted and accounting treatment applied to material issues of the corporation; valuations, including underlying assumptions and estimates, on which data on the financial statements relies.

Meetings of the Financial Statements Review Committee are also attended by the Chief Accountant, the Chief Legal Counsel and the independent auditors. The Chief Internal Auditor is invited to attend Committee meetings.

Pursuant to directives of the Supervisor of Banks on implementation of provisions of Sections 302 and 404 of the US Sarbanes-Oxley Act, the Financial Statements Review Committee receives a report on any significant fault discovered in the disclosure processes or in internal controls over financial statements. Any such faults as well as any findings by the independent auditor are also presented to the Board Audit Committee. These discussions are also attended by the Internal Auditor and the independent auditors. Any report of significant faults is also presented to the Board of Directors.

The Financial Statements Review Committee convenes twice to discuss the quarterly financial statements and three times to discuss the annual financial statements, with the final meeting held at least one week prior to the Board of Directors plenary meeting to approve the financial statements.

After discussions are concluded by the Board Financial Statements Review Committee, its recommendations along with the draft financial statements are submitted to the Board of Directors, so that Board members receive the documents at least three days prior to their discussion of by the Board of Directors. In conjunction with the discussion by the Board of Directors, the Chief Accountant presents the financial results and an analysis. The Chairman of the Financial Statements Review Committee's recommendations on matters discussed there by to the Board of Directors for approval of the financial statements. The Board of Directors' meeting to discuss approval of the financial statements is attended, other than by members of the Board, by the President, Chief Accountant, Chief Legal Counsel, Chief Internal Auditor and independent auditors, as well as other participants invited to attend on per-case basis. The independent auditors present their comments.

At the end of this discussion, a resolution is passed to approve the Bank's financial statements and to authorize the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the President and the Chief Accountant to sign the financial statements.

#### **Board of Directors**

During the first nine months of 2011, the Bank Board of Directors held 15 plenary meetings and 61 Board committee meetings.

The Board of Directors at its meeting on January 24, 2011, resolved to approve for the Balance Sheet Committee to serve as a Financial Statement Review Committee, pursuant to Corporate Regulations (Provisions and Conditions Concerning Approval Process of Financial Statements), 2010 and to be renamed "the Financial Statement Review Committee". It was further resolved to appoint Mr. Avi Ziegelman Chairman of the Financial Statements Review Committee, as from the date of said resolution, replacing Mr. Avraham Shochat who concluded his term in office as Committee Chairman upon that date.

On February 28, 2011, Mr. Avi Ziegelman, Mr. Moshe Wertheim and Mr. Avraham (Baiga) Shochat concluded their terms in office as members of the Risk Management Committee.

On May 12, 2011. Mr. Jonathan Kaplan was appointed as a member of the Bank's Board of Directors.

On August 30, 2011, Mr. Avi Ziegelman was appointed Chairman of the Audit Committee, replacing Mr. Dov Mishor - who continues to serve as a member of this Committee.

The Remuneration Committee was renamed the Payroll and Remuneration Committee, and Mr. Gideon Sitterman was appointed Committee Chairman, replacing Mr. Jacob Perry - who continues to serve as a member of this Committee. Further, Messrs. Moshe Wertheim, Avi Ziegelman and Moshe Weidman concluded their office on the Payroll and Remuneration Committee, and Mr. Jonathan Kaplan was appointed member of this Committee. On the same date, Mr. Moti Meir was appointed Member of the Financial Statement Review Committee.

On September 21, 2011, Messrs. Dov Mishor, Avraham (Baiga) Shochat and Yossi Shachak concluded their office as members of the Board Credit Committee.

On September 25, 2011, Mr. Avi Ziegelman was appointed Member of the Board Credit Committee.

**Controls and Procedures** 

In accordance with the public reporting directives of the Supervisor of Banks, based on Section 302 of the American Sarbanes

Oxley Act, the President and the Chief Accountant of the Bank have each separately signed a Certification attached to the

financial statements on "Disclosure Controls and Procedures ("Disclosure Certification"). This directive of the Supervisor of

Banks is part of an overall policy regarding the adoption of the provisions of Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act, which

includes, inter alia, certification by the President and Chief Accountant on "the effectiveness of internal controls over the

financial reporting", which was attached to the financial statements as of December 31, 2010.

The Disclosure Certification relates to the controls and procedures that were designed to assure that the information that

the Bank requires for disclosure in accordance with the public reporting directives of the Supervisor of Banks, is

accumulated, processed and sent to the Bank's Executive Management in a manner that enables decisions to be

reached at an appropriate time, with respect to disclosure requirements. The Disclosure Certification is not meant to

cover the broad aspects of "the Effectiveness of the Internal Controls on the Financial Reporting", as noted.

At the end of the period covered by this Report, the Bank's management, together with the Presidents and Chief

Accountant of the Bank, evaluated the effectiveness of the Bank's disclosure controls and procedures. Based on this

evaluation, the President and Chief Accountant of the Bank concluded that at the end of this period, the disclosure

controls and procedures are effective for recording, processing, summarizing and reporting the information that the Bank is required to disclose in the quarterly report, in accordance with the Public Reporting Regulations of the Supervisor of

Banks, on the date stipulated in these Regulations.

During the quarter ended September 30, 2011, no change occurred in the Bank's internal controls over financial

reporting that had a material effect, or can reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the Bank's internal

controls over financial reporting.

**Jacob Perry** 

**Eliezer Yones** 

Chairman of the Board of Directors

President

Ramat Gan, November 28, 2011

## Summary Management Review - Addendum A Revenue and Expense Rates - Consolidated (1)

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

Interest margin			0.38	0.44			0.44	0.62
Total liabilities	42,848	(542)		(5.16)	40,750	(724)		(7.30)
derivatives (4)	6,373	(56)			9,361	(89)		
Effect of embedded and ALM								
Liabilities (3)	36,475	(486)	(5.44)		31,389	(635)	(8.34)	
Total assets	52,124	715		5.60	42,967	826		7.92
derivatives (4)	4,328	35			4,200	2		
Effect of embedded and ALM								
Assets (3)	47,796	680	5.81		38,767	824	8.78	
Israeli currency - linked to the CPI								
Interest margin			2.37	1.37			2.78	1.50
Total liabilities	130,488	(730)		(2.26)	117,254	(467)		(1.60)
derivatives (4)	57,567	(278)			57,700	(326)		
Effect of embedded and ALM	72,321	(432)	(2.50)		39,334	(141)	(0.93)	
Liabilities (3)	72,921	(452)	(2.50)	3.03	59,554		(0.95)	3.10
Total assets	132,025			3.63	121,542			3.10
derivatives <sup>(4)</sup>	56,318	277			60,162	368		
Effect of embedded and ALM	75,707	906	4.87		61,380	565	3.73	
Israeli currency - non-linked Assets (3)	75 707	000	4.07		04.000	505	0.70	
			in %				in %	
	balance (2)	(expenses)		derivatives	balance (2)	(expenses)		derivatives
	Average		effect of	effect of	J	revenues	effect of	effect of
		Financing	Excluding	Including		Financing	Excluding	Including
			Revenue (ex	rpense) rate			Revenue (ex	pense) rate
	For the thre	e months end	ded Septemb	oer 30, 2011	For the three	months ende	ed September	30, 2010

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	For the thre	e months en	ded Septem	ber 30, 2011	For the three	e months ende	ed Septembe	er 30, 2010
			Revenue (e	xpense) rate			Revenue (e	xpense) rate
		Financing	Excluding	Including		Financing	Excluding	Including
	Average	revenues	effect of	effect of	Average	revenues	effect of	effect of
	balance <sup>(2)</sup>	(expenses)	derivatives	derivatives	balance <sup>(2)</sup>	(expenses)	derivatives	derivatives
			in %				in %	
Foreign currency (5)								
Assets (3)	19,162	1,484	34.77		20,100	(472)	(9.07)	)
Effect of derivatives (4)								
Hedging derivatives	2,634	253			1,314	(20)		
Embedded and ALM derivatives	61,220	2,089			47,378	(2,047)		
Total assets	83,016	3,826		19.75	68,792	(2,539)		(13.97)
Liabilities (3)	24,078	(1,700)	(31.38)		22,364	616	10.57	,
Effect of derivatives (4)								
Hedging derivatives	2,634	(295)			1,449	24		
Embedded and ALM derivatives	56,471	(1,748)			44,399	1,974		
Total liabilities	83,183	(3,743)		(19.25)	68,212	2,614	1	14.47
Interest margin			3.39	0.50			1.50	0.50

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	For the thr	ee months end	led Septembe	er 30, 2011	For the th	ree months en	ded Septemb	er 30, 2010
			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	xpense) rate		Revenue (expense		
		Financing	Excluding	Including	-	Financing	Excluding	Including
	Λνοπασο	_	effect of	effect of	Λνοπαο	_	effect of	effect of
		revenues			Ū	revenues		
	balance (2)	(expenses)	derivatives	derivatives	balance (2)	(expenses)	derivatives	derivatives
			in %				in %	
Total								
Monetary assets								
generating financing								
revenues (3)	142,665	3,070	8.89	)	120,247	917	3.09	
Effect of derivatives (4)								
Hedging derivatives	2,634	253			1,314	(20)		
Embedded and ALM								
derivatives	121,866	2,401			111,740	(1,677)		
Total assets	267,165	5,724		8.85	233,301	(780)		(1.33)
Monetary liabilities generating								
financing expenses (3)	133,474	(2,638)	(8.14)	)	113,307	(160)	(0.57)	
Effect of derivatives (4)								
Hedging derivatives	2,634	(295)			1,449	24		
Embedded and ALM								
derivatives	120,411	(2,082)			111,460	1,559		
Total liabilities	256,519	(5,015)		(8.05)	226,216	1,423		2.49
Interest margin			0.75	0.80	ı		2.52	1.16
On options		74				(5)		
On other derivative								
instruments (excludes								
options, hedging and ALM								
derivatives and embedded								
derivatives that were								
detached (4))		(2)				7		
Commissions from financing								
transactions and other								
financing revenues (6)		101				98		
Other financing expenses		(5)				(8)		
Profit from financing								
operations before								
expenses with respect to								
credit loss		877				735		
Expenses with respect to								
credit loss		(142)				(102)		
Profit from financing		· -/				(/		
operations after expenses								
with respect to credit loss		735				633		
That isopool to ordan 1000		7 3 3				000		

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	For the three words	For the three words
	For the three months ended	For the three months ended
	September 30, 2011	September 30, 2010
	Average balance <sup>(2)</sup>	Average balance <sup>(2)</sup>
Total		
Monetary assets generating financing revenues (3)	142,665	120,247
Assets derived from derivative instruments (7)	3,126	2,716
Other monetary assets (3)	1,061	759
Provision for credit loss (8)	(2,250)	(211)
Total monetary assets	144,602	123,511
Total		
Monetary liabilities generating financing expenses (3)	133,474	113,307
Liabilities deriving from derivatives (7)	2,795	2,154
Other monetary liabilities (3)	1,664	1,723
Total monetary liabilities	137,933	117,184
Total excess monetary assets over monetary		
liabilities	6,669	6,327
Non-monetary assets	1,269	1,275
Non-monetary liabilities	269	256
Total capital resources	7,669	7,346

- (1) The data in this table is provided before and after the effect of derivatives (including off-balance sheet effects of financial derivatives).
- (2) Based on monthly opening balances, except for non-linked Israeli currency, where average balance is calculated based on daily data, before deduction of average balance sheet balance of provisions for credit loss. In 2010, net of the average balance sheet balance of specific provisions for doubtful debts.
- (3) Excludes financial derivatives.
- (4) Hedging financial derivatives, embedded derivatives that were detached and derivatives (ALM) which comprise part of the Bank's asset and liability management system.
- (5) Including Israeli currency linked to foreign currency.
- (6) Includes gain from sale of investments in debentures and from the adjustment to fair value of debentures held for trading.
- (7) Average balance sheet balances of financial derivatives (excludes average off-balance sheet balances of financial derivatives).
- (8) In 2010, general and supplementary provision for doubtful debts.
- (9) Retroactively adjusted as per directives of the Supervisor of Banks with regard to employee rights. See Note 1.E.4 to the financial statements.

Nominal - in USD (USD in millions)

	For the thre	e months er	nded :	Septembe	r 30, 2011	For the thr	ee months e	ended Septen	nber 30, 2010
			Re	evenue (ex	pense) rate	_		Revenue (e	xpense) rate
		Financing	Ex	cluding	Including	_	Financing	Excluding	Including
	Average	revenues	eff	ect of	effect of	Average	revenues	effect of	effect of
	balance (2)	(expenses)	de	erivatives	derivatives	balance (2)	(expenses)	derivatives	derivatives
			in	%				in %	
Foreign currency (5)									
Monetary assets in foreign									
currency generating financing									
revenues (3)	4,9	94 3	39	3.16	;	5,08	6 34	2.70	
Effect of derivatives (4)									
Hedging derivatives	7	43	5			34	6 (5)	)	
Embedded and ALM									
derivatives	16,1	32 (	3			12,34	0 47	•	
Total assets	21,8	69 10	)7		1.97	17,77	2 76	i	1.72
Monetary liabilities in foreign									
currency generating financing									
expenses (3)	6,7	59 (1	6)	(0.95)	)	5,85	5 (4)	(0.27)	
Effect of derivatives (4)									
Hedging derivatives	7	43 (1	7)			38	4 6	;	
Embedded and ALM									
derivatives	15,9	29 (7	2)			10,90	8 (51)	1	
Total liabilities	23,4	31 (10	5)		(1.80)	17,14	7 (49)	)	(1.15)
Interest margin				2.21	0.17	,		2.43	0.57

<sup>(1)</sup> The data in this table is provided before and after the effect of derivatives (including off-balance sheet effects of financial derivatives)

<sup>(2)</sup> Based on monthly opening balances, before deduction of average balance sheet balance of provision for credit loss. In 2010, net of the average balance sheet balance of specific provisions for doubtful debts.

<sup>(3)</sup> Excludes financial derivatives.

<sup>(4)</sup> Hedging financial derivatives (excluding options), embedded derivatives that were detached and derivatives (ALM) which comprise part of the Bank's asset and liability management system.

<sup>(5)</sup> Including Israeli currency linked to foreign currency.

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	For the nine	months end	ed Septemb	er 30, 2011	For the nine r	nonths ende	d Septembe	r 30, 2010
			Revenue (ex	xpense) rate	_		Revenue (e	xpense) rate
	Average balance <sup>(2)</sup>	Financing revenues (expenses)	Excluding effect of derivatives	Including effect of derivatives	Average balance (2)	Financing revenues (expenses)	Excluding effect of derivatives	Including effect of derivatives
			in %				in %	
Israeli currency - non-linked Assets <sup>(3)</sup>	72,931	2,483	4.57		60,428	1,579	3.50	
Effect of embedded and ALM derivatives <sup>(4)</sup>	63,990	1,177			52,712	990	)	
Total assets	136,921	3,660		3.58	113,140	2,569	)	3.04
Liabilities (3) Effect of embedded and ALM	69,399	(1,121)	(2.16)		57,292	(423)	(0.99)	
derivatives (4)	63,847	(959)			50,884	(904)		
Total liabilities	133,246	(2,080)		(2.09)	108,176	(1,327)	)	(1.63)
Interest margin			2.41	1.49	)		2.51	1.41
Israeli currency - linked to the CPI								
Assets (3)	45,002	2,327	6.95	i	37,425	1,735	6.23	
Effect of embedded and ALM derivatives (4)	4,316	167			3,744	166	;	
Total assets	49,318	2,494		6.80	41,169	1,901		6.20
Liabilities <sup>(3)</sup> Effect of embedded and ALM	35,097	(1,734)	(6.64)		30,981	(1,352)	(5.86)	
derivatives (4)	9,537	(378)			8,237	(275)		
Total liabilities	44,634	(2,112)		(6.36)	39,218	(1,627)	)	(5.57
Interest margin			0.31	0.44	,		0.37	0.63

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	For the nine	months ende	ed Septembe	r 30, 2011	For the nine	months ende	ed September	30, 2010
			•	xpense) rate			Revenue (exp	
	Average balance <sup>(2)</sup>	Financing revenues (expenses)	Excluding effect of derivatives	Including effect of derivatives	Average balance <sup>(2)</sup>	Financing revenues (expenses)	Excluding effect of derivatives	Including effect of derivatives
(5)			in %				in %	
Foreign currency (5) Assets (3)	18,904	1,470	10.50	)	19,258	(315)	(2.17)	
Effect of derivatives (4)								
Hedging derivatives Embedded and ALM	2,476	258			1,268	15		
derivatives	55,923	2,064			44,002	(4,007)	1	
Total assets	77,303	3,792		6.59	64,528	(4,307)	)	(8.80)
Liabilities (3)	23,422	(1,499)	(8.62)	)	21,698	838	5.11	
Effect of derivatives (4)								
Hedging derivatives Embedded and ALM	2,476	(309)			1,387	(28)	)	
derivatives	50,504	(1,695)			41,189	3,778	1	
Total liabilities	76,402	(3,503)		(6.16)	64,274	4,588	1	9.40
Interest margin			1.88	0.43	1		2.94	0.60

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	For the nine	months ende	ed Septembe	er 30, 2011	For the nine	months end	led Septemb	er 30, 2010
			Revenue (e	expense) rate	-		Revenue (e:	xpense) rate
	Average balance <sup>(2)</sup>	Financing revenues (expenses)	Excluding effect of derivatives in %	Including effect of derivatives	Average balance <sup>(2)</sup>	Financing revenues (expenses)	Excluding effect of derivatives in %	Including effect of derivatives
Total			111 /0				111 /0	
Monetary assets generating financing revenues <sup>(3)</sup> Effect of derivatives <sup>(4)</sup>	136,837	6,280	6.17		117,111	2,999	3.43	
Hedging derivatives	2,476	258			1,268	15	;	
Embedded and ALM derivatives	124,229	3,408			100,458	(2,851)	)	
Total assets	263,542	9,946		5.06	218,837	163	}	0.10
Monetary liabilities generating financing expenses <sup>(3)</sup> Effect of derivatives <sup>(4)</sup>	127,918	(4,354)	(4.56)		109,971	(937)	(1.14)	1
Hedging derivatives	2,476	(309)			1,387	(28)	)	
Embedded and ALM derivatives	123,888	(3,032)			100,310	2,599	)	
Total liabilities	254,282	(7,695)		(4.06)	211,668	1,634	ļ	1.03
Interest margin			1.60	1.01			2.29	1.13
On options On other derivative instruments (excludes options, hedging and		(120)				(40)	1	
ALM derivatives and embedded derivatives that were detached <sup>(4)</sup> ) Commissions from financing transactions and other financing		23				29	1	
revenues (6)		293				318	3	
Other financing expenses		(23)				(25)	)	
Profit from financing operations before expenses with respect to credit loss  Expenses with respect to credit		2,424				2,079	)	
loss		(276)				(281)	)	
Profit from financing operations after expenses with respect to credit loss		2,148				1,798	3	

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	For the nine months ended	For the nine months ended
	September 30, 2011	September 30, 2010
	Average balance <sup>(2)</sup>	Average balance (2)
Total		
Monetary assets generating financing revenues (3)	136,837	117,111
Assets derived from derivative instruments (7)	3,112	2,276
Other monetary assets (3)	988	897
Provision for credit loss (8)	(2,314)	(209)
Total monetary assets	138,623	120,075
Total		
Monetary liabilities generating financing expenses (3)	127,918	109,971
Liabilities deriving from derivatives (7)	2.548	2,216
Other monetary liabilities (3)	1,788	1,729
Total monetary liabilities	132,254	113,916
Total excess monetary assets over monetary	·	
liabilities	6,369	6,159
Non-monetary assets	1,363	1,295
Non-monetary liabilities	275	252
Total capital resources	7,457	7,202

- (1) The data in this table is provided before and after the effect of derivatives (including off-balance sheet effects of financial derivatives).
- (2) Based on monthly opening balances, except for non-linked Israeli currency, where average balance is calculated based on daily data, before deduction of average balance sheet balance of provisions for credit loss. In 2010, after deduction of average balance sheet balance.
- (3) Excludes financial derivatives.
- (4) Hedging financial derivatives, embedded derivatives that were detached and derivatives (ALM) which comprise part of the Bank's asset and liability management system.
- (5) Including Israeli currency linked to foreign currency.
- (6) Includes gain from sale of investments in debentures and from the adjustment to fair value of debentures held for trading.
- (7) Average balance sheet balances of financial derivatives (excludes average off-balance sheet balances of financial derivatives).
- (8) In 2010, general and supplementary provision for doubtful debts.
- (9) Retroactively adjusted as per directives of the Supervisor of Banks with regard to employee rights. See Note 1.E.4 to the financial statements.

Nominal – in USD (USD in millions)

	For the nine	e months en	ded Septemb	er 30, 2011	For the nine months ended September 30, 2010				
			Revenue (expense) rate		-		Revenue (expense) rate		
	Average balance <sup>(2)</sup>	Financing revenues (expenses)		Including effect of derivatives	Average balance <sup>(2)</sup>	Financing revenues (expenses)		Including effect of derivatives	
(E)			in %				in %		
Foreign currency (5) Monetary assets in foreign currency generating financing revenues (3)	5,090	102	2.68		4,940	87	2.36		
Effect of derivatives (4)									
Hedging derivatives Embedded and ALM	701	14			336	6			
derivatives	15,462	130			11,660	140			
Total assets	21,253	246		1.55	16,936	233		1.84	
Monetary liabilities in foreign currency generating financing expenses (3)	6,615	(39)	(0.79)		5,721	(15)	(0.35)		
Effect of derivatives (4)									
Hedging derivatives Embedded and ALM	701	(28)			368	(10)			
derivatives	14,305	(125)			10,628	(131)			
Total liabilities	21,621	(192)		(1.19)	16,717	(156)		(1.25)	
Interest margin			1.89	0.36	;		2.01	0.59	

<sup>(1)</sup> The data in this table is provided before and after the effect of derivatives (including off-balance sheet effects of financial derivatives).

<sup>(2)</sup> Based on monthly opening balances, before deduction of average balance sheet balance of provision for credit loss. In 2010, net of the average balance sheet balance of specific provisions for doubtful debts.

<sup>(3)</sup> Excludes financial derivatives.

<sup>(4)</sup> Hedging financial derivatives (excluding options), embedded derivatives that were detached and derivatives (ALM) which comprise part of the Bank's asset and liability management system.

<sup>(5)</sup> Including Israeli currency linked to foreign currency.

### Management Discussion - Addendum B Exposure of the Bank and its Subsidiaries To changes in interest rates

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	September 30	, 2011					
	On Call	1-3	3 months				
	to 1 month	months	to 1 year	1-3 years	3-5 years	5-10 years	
			-	-		-	
Israeli currency - non-linked							
Financial assets, amounts receivable with							
respect to derivatives and to complex							
financial assets							
Financial assets (1)	69,421	1,919	1,816	1,648	1,096	652	
Financial derivatives (except for options)	19,758	22,741	18,731	5,528	1,896	4,686	
Options (in terms of underlying asset)	707	283	129	12	-	-	
Total fair value	89,886	24,943	20,676	7,188	2,992	5,338	
Financial liabilities, amounts payable with							
respect to derivatives and to complex							
financial liabilities							
Financial liabilities (1)	59,221	4,386	5,266	4,720	2,435	351	
Financial derivatives (except for options)	19,515	19,231	17,442	6,208	2,399	5,378	
Options (in terms of underlying asset)	1,180	760	862	(36)	-	-	
Total fair value	79,916	24,377	23,570	10,892	4,834	5,729	_
Financial instruments, net							
Exposure to interest rate fluctuations in the sector	9,970	566	(2,894)	(3,704)	(1,842)	(391)	
Cumulative exposure in sector	9,970	10,536	7,642	3,938	2,096	1,705	

#### Specific remarks:

- (1) Excludes balance sheet balances of financial derivatives, fair value of off-balance sheet financial instruments and fair value of complex financial instruments.
- (2) Weighted average by fair value of average effective duration.

#### General note:

- In this table, data by term represents the present value of future cash flows from each financial instrument, discounted using the interest rate which discounts them to the fair value recognized for the financial instruments in Note 8a to the financial statements.
- Internal rate of return is the interest rate which discounts the expected cash flows from a financial instrument to its fair value recognized under Note 8a to the financial statements.
- Average effective duration of a group of financial instruments is an approximation of the change, in percent, in fair value of the group of financial instruments which would be caused by a minor change (0.1% increase) in the internal rate of return of each of the financial instruments.
- Certain transactions conducted by the Bank constitute complex financial instruments, which include embedded derivatives not detached, in accordance with public reporting directives. These transactions include, inter alia, loans with exit points, deposits bearing gradual interest rates with withdrawal dates, credit and deposits with guaranteed minimum and deposits with optional linkage. The Bank reflects the interest rate risk with respect to these instruments in a reasonable manner, by spreading maturities of the cash flows in accordance with contract dates, and with various assumptions based on past experience. The instruments for which exposure to interest rate risk may not be reasonably reflected by spreading it over the appropriate contractual dates, are non-material in amount.

							As of Sep	tember 30	, 2010	As of Dec	ember 31,	2010
						Average			Average			Average
					Internal	effective		Internal	effective		Internal	effective
0	ver 20	Without	To	tal fair	rate of	term to	Total fair	rate of	term to	Total fair	rate of	term to
10-20 years ye	ears	maturity	val			maturity	value	return	maturity	value	return	maturity
					In %	in years		In %	in years		In %	in years
180		- 63	37	77,369	4.76	0.34	4 63,318	3.87	7 0.30	6 67,941	1 4.14	1 0.40
-		-	-	73,340	)	1.07	62,902	2	1.0	1 70,088	3	1.01
-		-	-	1,131		0.83	3 (840	)	0.3	5 2,165	5	0.09
180		- 63	37	151,840	)	0.70	125,830	)	0.69	9 140,194	1	0.70
131	(50	6)	-	76,454	3.10	0.45	62,297	7 2.67	7 0.3	1 67,310	3.20	0.30
-		-	-	70,173	1	1.43	60,09	5	1.2	4 66,520	)	1.13
 -		-	-	2,766	i	0.80	) 21	l	0.3	3 2,899	9	0.14
131	(50	6)	-	149,393		0.92	122,603	3	0.7	7 136,729	•	0.70
	_		_								_	
49		66 63		2,447			3,227			3,465	ō	
1,754	1,81	0 2,44	17	2,447	•							

# Management Discussion - Addendum B (continued) Exposure of the Bank and its Subsidiaries To changes in interest rates

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	-										
	As of Septemb	er 30, 2011									
	On Call to 1	3 r	nonths to								
	month 1-3 months 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5-10 years										
Israeli currency - linked to the CPI											
Financial assets, amounts receivable with respec	t										
to derivatives and to complex financial assets											
Financial assets (1)	173	2,323	11,078	14,550	9,775	5,743					
Financial derivatives (except for options)	5	12	716	1,453	859	1,819					
Total fair value	178	2,335	11,794	16,003	10,634	7,562					
Financial liabilities, amounts payable with respect to	)										
derivatives and to complex financial liabilities											
Financial liabilities (1)	718	1,755	6,777	7,845	8,734	6,701					
Financial derivatives (except for options)	681	246	5,064	2,460	646	1,205					
Total fair value	1,399	2,001	11,841	10,305	9,380	7,906					
Financial instruments, net											
Exposure to interest rate fluctuations in the sector	(1,221)	334	(47)	5,698	1,254	(344)					
Cumulative exposure in sector	(1,221)	(886)	(934)	4,764	6,018	5,674					

#### Specific remarks:

- (1) Excludes balance sheet balances of financial derivatives, fair value of off-balance sheet financial instruments and fair value of complex financial instruments.
- (2) Weighted average by fair value of average effective duration.

#### General note:

- In this table, data by term represents the present value of future cash flows from each financial instrument, discounted using the interest rate which discounts them to the fair value recognized for the financial instruments in Note 8a to the financial statements.
- Internal rate of return is the interest rate which discounts the expected cash flows from a financial instrument to its fair value recognized under Note 8a to the financial statements.
- Average effective duration of a group of financial instruments is an approximation of the change, in percent, in fair value of the group of financial instruments which would be caused by a minor change (0.1% increase) in the internal rate of return of each of the financial instruments
- Certain transactions conducted by the Bank constitute complex financial instruments, which include embedded derivatives not detached, in accordance with public reporting directives. These transactions include, *inter alia*, loans with exit points, deposits bearing gradual interest rates with withdrawal dates, credit and deposits with guaranteed minimum and deposits with optional linkage. The Bank reflects the interest rate risk with respect to these instruments in a reasonable manner, by spreading maturities of the cash flows in accordance with contract dates, and with various assumptions based on past experience. The instruments for which exposure to interest rate risk may not be reasonably reflected by spreading it over the appropriate contractual dates, are non-material in amount.

						As of Con	tombor 20	2010	As of Doo	ambar 21	2010
						As of Sep	tember 30		As of Dec	ember 31,	
					Average			Average			Average
				Internal	effective		Internal	effective		Internal	effective
C	ver 20 W	ithout "	Total fair	rate of	term to	Total fair	rate of	term to	Total fair	rate of	term to
10-20 years y	ears m	aturity	value	return	maturity	value	return	maturity	value	return	maturity
				In %	in years		In %	in years		In %	in years
											-
1,517	6	8′	1 45,246	3.16	3.2	3 41,258	3 2.69	3.3	5 42,760	2.4	8 3.28
1,517	U	U	•			-			•		
 <u>-</u>	-		- 4,864		4.3			3.1			3.06
1,517	6	81	1 50,110	)	3.3	4 45,239	9	3.3	3 46,654	1	3.26
3,022	354	2	2 35,908	3 2.72	4.1	4 33,618	3 2.43	3 4.8	0 34,820	2.6	4 4.74
-	-		- 10,302	2	1.6	1 8,418	3	1.5	3 8,70°	1	1.44
3,022	354	2	2 46,210	)	3.5	8 42,036	3	4.1	5 43,52°	1	4.08
(1,505)	(348)	79	3,900	)		3,203	3		3,13	3	
4,169	3,821	3,900									

# Management Discussion - Addendum B (continued) Exposure of the Bank and its Subsidiaries To changes in interest rates

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	As of Septemb	er 30, 2011					
	On Call to 1	3 r	months to				
	month 1-3	3 months 1	/ear 1-3	years 3-5	years 5-1	0 years	
Foreign currency (1)							
Financial assets, amounts receivable with respect to	•						
derivatives and to complex financial assets							
Financial assets (2)	10,674	5,078	2,329	397	1,084	486	
	,	•	•		•		
Financial derivatives (except for options)	28,403	18,145	9,048	2,052	874	4,209	
Options (in terms of underlying asset)	1,031	653	1,083	(40)	-	-	
Total fair value	40,108	23,876	12,460	2,409	1,958	4,695	
Financial liabilities, amounts payable with respect to							
derivatives and to complex financial liabilities							
Financial liabilities (2)	14,214	6,825	3,264	(188)	(67)	15	
Financial derivatives (except for options)	23,215	13,679	15,119	2,425	1,523	4,713	
Options (in terms of underlying asset)	602	142	272	1	-	-	
Total fair value	38,031	20,646	18,655	2,238	1,456	4,728	
Financial instruments, net							
Exposure to interest rate fluctuations in the sector	2,077	3,230	(6,195)	171	502	(33)	
Cumulative exposure in sector	2,077	5,307	(888)	(717)	(215)	(248)	

#### Specific remarks:

- (1) Including Israeli currency linked to foreign currency.
- (2) Excludes balance sheet balances of financial derivatives, fair value of off-balance sheet financial instruments and fair value of complex financial instruments.
- (3) Weighted average by fair value of average effective duration.

#### General note:

- In this table, data by term represents the present value of future cash flows from each financial instrument, discounted using the interest rate which discounts them to the fair value recognized for the financial instruments in Note 8a to the financial statements.
- Internal rate of return is the interest rate which discounts the expected cash flows from a financial instrument to its fair value recognized under Note 8a to the financial statements.
- Average effective duration of a group of financial instruments is an approximation of the change, in percent, in fair value of the group of financial instruments which would be caused by a minor change (0.1% increase) in the internal rate of return of each of the financial instruments.
- Certain transactions conducted by the Bank constitute complex financial instruments, which include embedded derivatives not detached, in accordance with public reporting directives. These transactions include, inter alia, loans with exit points, deposits bearing gradual interest rates with withdrawal dates, credit and deposits with guaranteed minimum and deposits with optional linkage. The Bank reflects the interest rate risk with respect to these instruments in a reasonable manner, by spreading maturities of the cash flows in accordance with contract dates, and with various assumptions based on past experience. The instruments for which exposure to interest rate risk may not be reasonably reflected by spreading it over the appropriate contractual dates, are non-material in amount.

							As of Sep	tember 30	2010	As of Dec	ember 31	, 2010
						Average			Average			Average
					Internal	effective		Internal	effective		Internal	effective
10-20	0	ver 20 W	/ithout	Total fair	rate of	term to	Total fair	rate of	term to	Total fair	rate of	term to
years	V	ears m	aturity	value		maturity	value	return	maturity	value	return	maturity
,						in years		In %	in years		In %	in years
						,			,			,
	46	17	113	3 20,224	4 2.05	0.50	20,336	3.04	4 0.9	1 19,593	3 2.7	2 0.67
	_	_		- 62,73°		1.37	-		1.1	-		1.09
	_	_		- 2,72		0.72	•		0.2	,		0.37
	46	17	11:			1.14			1.0			0.96
				00,00	_	•••	,			02,002	_'	0.00
	16	-		- 24,079	9 1.53	0.18	3 22,377	7 1.10	0.4	2 21,986	3 1.1	6 0.35
	_	_		- 60,674	4	1.45	50,385	5	1.2	4 58,497	7	1.13
	-	-		- 1,017	7	0.25	5 (706	)	0.2	3 2,394	4	0.32
	16	-		- 85,770	)	1.08	3 72,056	<u> </u>	1.0	0 82,877	7	0.90
				,	-		_,-,-			,		-
	30	17	11:	3 (88	)		252	2		115	;	
	(218)	(201)	(88)									

# Management Discussion - Addendum B (continued) Exposure of the Bank and its Subsidiaries To changes in interest rates

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

As of September 30, 2011											
	On Call to 1	3 i 3 months 1 y	months to	3 years 3-	5 years 5-	10 years					
	monut 1-0	o monuis i	year 1-	years 5-k	years 5	10 years					
Non monetary segment											
Financial assets, amounts receivable with respect to	)										
derivatives and to complex financial assets											
Options (in terms of underlying asset)	53	-	(68)	(6)	-	-					
Total fair value	53	-	(68)	(6)	-	-					
Total exposure to interest rate fluctuations Financial assets, amounts receivable with respect to derivatives and to complex financial assets Financial assets (1)(2) Financial derivatives (except for options) Options (in terms of underlying asset) Total fair value	80,268 48,166 1,791 <b>130,225</b>	9,320 40,898 936 <b>51,154</b>	15,223 28,495 1,144 <b>44,862</b>	16,595 9,033 (34) <b>25,594</b>	11,955 3,629 - 15,584	6,881 10,714 - <b>17,595</b>					
Financial liabilities, amounts payable with respect to											
derivatives and to complex financial liabilities Financial liabilities (1) Financial derivatives (except for options)	74,153 43,411	12,966 33,156	15,307 37,625	12,377 11,093	11,102 4,568	7,067 11,296					
Options (in terms of underlying asset)	1,782	902	1,134	(35)	-	-					
Total fair value	119,346	47,024	54,066	23,435	15,670	18,363					
Financial instruments, net											
Total exposure to interest rate fluctuations	10,879	4,130	(9,204)	2,159	(86)	(768)					
Total cumulative exposure	10,879	15,010	5,805	7,964	7,878	7,110					

#### Specific remarks:

- (1) Excludes balance sheet balances of financial derivatives, fair value of off-balance sheet financial instruments and fair value of complex financial instruments
- (2) Includes shares presented in the column "without maturity".
- (3) Weighted average by fair value of average effective duration.

#### General note:

- In this table, data by term represents the present value of future cash flows from each financial instrument, discounted using the interest rate which discounts them to the fair value recognized for the financial instruments in Note 8a to the financial statements.
- Internal rate of return is the interest rate which discounts the expected cash flows from a financial instrument to its fair value recognized under Note 8a to the financial statements.
- Average effective duration of a group of financial instruments is an approximation of the change, in percent, in fair value of the group of financial instruments which would be caused by a minor change (0.1% increase) in the internal rate of return of each of the financial instruments.
- Certain transactions conducted by the Bank constitute complex financial instruments, which include embedded derivatives not detached, in accordance with public reporting directives. These transactions include, inter alia, loans with exit points, deposits bearing gradual interest rates with withdrawal dates, credit and deposits with guaranteed minimum and deposits with optional linkage. The Bank reflects the interest rate risk with respect to these instruments in a reasonable manner, by spreading maturities of the cash flows in accordance with contract dates, and with various assumptions based on past experience. The instruments for which exposure to interest rate risk may not be reasonably reflected by spreading it over the appropriate contractual dates, are non-material in amount.

As of September 30, 2010									As of Dec	ember 31,	2010	
						Average			Average			Average
					Internal	effective		Internal	effective		Internal	effective
	10-20	Over 20	Without	Total fair	rate of	term to	Total fair	rate of	term to	Total fair	rate of	term to
	years	years	maturity	value	return	maturity	value	return	maturity	value	return	maturity
					In %	in years		In %	in years		In %	in years
	-	-	-	- (21				-		1		
	-	-	-	- (21	)			-		1	1	
	1,74	13	23 83	1 142,83	9 3.8	7 1.2	8 124,91	2 3.3	35 1.4	4 130,29	4 3.5	0 1.38
	1,74	-	-	- 140,93		1.3	•		1.14	•		1.11
		_	_	- 3,83		0.7	•		0.43			0.27
	1,74	12	23 83			1.2		-	1.30			1.22
	1,74		25 05	1 201,01	•	1.2	3 242,32	•	1.3	0 209,03	•	1.22
	3,16	9 2	98	2 136,44	1 2.7	'2 1.3	7 118,29	2 2.3	30 1.6°	1 124,11	6 2.7	1 1.56
	-,	-	-	- 141,14		1.4	•		1.20	•		1.15
		-	-	- 3,78	3	0.6			0.19			0.22
	3,16	9 2	98	2 281,37		1.4			1.4			1.32
	-, -			,-			,			,		
	(1,420	6) (27	<b>7</b> 5) 82	9 6,23	8		6,23	2		6,72	4	
	5,68	5,4	09 6,23	8 6,23	8							
_												

# Management Review - Addendum C Credit Risk by Economic Sector - Consolidated As of September 30, 2011

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	Credit ris	k to the public					
	Balance	sheet credit ris	k		Off-balance shee	t credit risk (1)	
					Guarantees and		
			Fair value		other		
			of		commitments on	Future	
	Credit	Debentures (6)	derivatives	Total	account of clients	transactions	Total
Agriculture	604	-	1	605	201	4	205
Industry	6,858	75	125	7,058	3,379	362	3,741
Construction and real estate (7)	7,835	38	5	7,878	13,612	15	13,627
Electricity and water	346	4	87	437	1,108	288	1,396
Commerce	5,883	-	37	5,920	2,233	346	2,579
Hotel and food services	254	-	30	284	108	24	132
Transport and storage	887	-	4	891	491	34	525
Communications and computer services	1,554	17	9	1,580	875	107	982
Financial services	6,353	22	1,137	7,512	8,492	2,815	11,307
Other business services	3,364	-	8	3,372	627	59	686
Public and community services	836	-	2	838	145	164	309
Private individuals - housing loans	69,512	-	-	69,512	3,410	-	3,410
Private individuals - other	12,060	-	17	12,077	9,284	14	9,298
Total	116,346	156	1,462	117,964	43,965	4,232	48,197
For borrowers' activities overseas	2,982	14	12	3,008	334	86	420
Total credit risk to public	119,328	170	1,474	120,972	44,299	4,318	48,617
Credit risk exposures other than							
with respect to the public							
Banking Corporations	2,024	570	1,952	4,546	291	10,729	11,020
Government	13,621	4,993	-	18,614	188	-	188
Total credit risk	134,973	5,733	3,426	144,132	44,778	15,047	59,825
Credit risk to public included under various							
economic sectors:							
Settlement movements (4)	1,163	-	10	1,173	433	25	458
Local authorities (5)	173		-	173	25		25

- (1) Credit risk for off-balance sheet financial instruments, as calculated for the purpose of per-borrower credit limitations.
- (2) On- and off-balance sheet credit risk with respect to the public which is impaired, inferior or under special supervision, including with respect to housing loans for which a provision was made by extent of arrears, and housing loans for which no provision was made by extent of arrears and which are in arrears of 90 days or longer.
- (3) Includes with respect to off-balance sheet credit instruments (included on balance sheet under Other Liabilities).
- (4) KIBBUTZIM and MOSHAVIM, regional and national organizations, and corporations controlled by the settlement movements.
- (5) Includes entities under their control.
- (6) Includes borrowed securities amounting to NIS 34 million.
- (7) Including housing loans extended to certain purchase groups which are in the process of construction, amounting to NIS 2,876 million. (1,238 on-balance sheet credit risk and 1,638 off-balance sheet credit risk)

	Credit risk to the pr	ublic	Credit loss (3)		
	Credit risk to the p				
Total credit risk of the public	Troubled credit risk (2)	•	Expenses with respective credit loss in first nine months of 2011	e Net accounting	Balance of provision for credit loss
810	-	•	2	12	4
10,799			2	69	101
21,505	1,020	514	28	39	145
1,833			-	-	-
8,499	182	108	31	51	79
416	14	6	2	4	3
1,416	11	6	(2)	3	6
2,562	20	17	-	4	23
18,819	401	326	66	92	325
4,058	98	75	55	22	58
1,147		23	(4)	20	7
72,922			24	9	922
 21,375			66	39	168
166,161			270	364	1,841
 3,428	42		2	-	24
 169,589	4,048	1,342	272	364	1,865
15,566	16	16	4	-	12
18,802	-	-		-	-
203,957	4,064	1,358	276	364	1,877
1,631	44	23	(2)	156	10
198	16	-	-	-	-

# Management Discussion - Addendum C (continued) Credit Risk by Economic Sector - Consolidated As of September 30, 2010

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

					0 (   -   -		- 1		F	
		Polono	e sheet ci	radit riak	Ott-bala	ance she	risk <sup>(1)</sup>		Expense for the first	
-		Dalance	e Sneet Ci	redit risk			IISK		nine	
									months of	
					Guarante				2010 with	
					es and				respect to	
					other			Total	specific	
					commitme			credit	provision	Balance
			Fairvalue		nts on	Future		risk of	for	of
		Debentu-	of		account of	transac-		the	doubtful	troubled
	Credit	res (5)	derivatives	Total	clients	tions	Total	public	debts	debt <sup>(2)</sup>
Agriculture	575	-	-	575	218	1	219	794	(1)	21
Industry	5,451	20	154	5,625	4,245	427	4,672	10,297	` 7	228
Construction and real	-, -			-,	, -		, -	-, -		
estate (6)	7,370	44	2	7,416	11,273	71	11,344	18,760	10	1,270
Electricity and water	222	67	129	418	968	256	1,224	1,642	-	-
Commerce	5,349	-	23	5,372	1,891	184	2,075	7,447	13	176
Hotel and food services	222	1	1	224	81	7	88	312	1	37
Transport and storage	796	-	40	836	337	155	492	1,328	1	35
Communications and										
computer services	1,598	22	20	1,640	350	78	428	2,068	3	44
Financial services	6,118	51	264	6,433	8,003	1,796	9,799	16,232	155	1,046
Other business services	3,067	-	5	3,072	719	64	783	3,855	3	660
Public and community										
services	865	-	-	865	328	7	335	1,200	-	118
Private individuals - housing										
loans	58,271	-	-	58,271	4,251	-	4,251	62,522	4	970
Private individuals - other	11,135	-	16	11,151	8,578	40	8,618	19,769	79	511
Total	101,039	205	654	101,898	41,242	3,086	44,328	146,226	275	5,116
For borrowers' activities										
overseas	2,669	-	129	2,798	328	114	442	3,240	4	85
Total credit risk to public	103,708	205	783	104,696	41,570	3,200	44,770	149,466	279	5,201
Credit risk exposure other										
than to the public:										
Banking Corporations	1,871	754	1,424	4,049	408	10,188	10,596	14,645	=	27
Government	7,022	7,274	-	14,296	329	-	329	14,625	-	-
Total credit risk	112,601	8,233	2,207	123,041	42,307	13,388	55,695	178,736	279	5,228
Credit risk to public included										
under various economic										
sectors:										
Settlement movements (3)	1,223	-	1	1,224	599	32	631	1,855	(6)	97
Local authorities (4)	171	-	-	171	26	-	26	197	-	48

<sup>(1)</sup> Credit risk for off-balance sheet financial instruments, as calculated for the purpose of per-borrower credit limitations.

<sup>(2)</sup> Balance of troubled debt net of loans covered by collateral that may be deducted for the purpose of calculating the per-borrower credit limits of an individual borrower and a group of borrowers, including elements of off-balance sheet risk.

<sup>(3)</sup> KIBBUTZIM and MOSHAVIM, regional and national organizations, and corporations controlled by the settlement movements.

<sup>(4)</sup> Includes entities under their control.

<sup>(5)</sup> Includes borrowed securities amounting to NIS 107 million.

<sup>(6)</sup> Including housing loans extended to certain purchase groups which are in the process of construction, amounting to NIS 2,610 million. Note: Credit risk and troubled debt are stated net of the specific provisions for doubtful debts.

# Management Discussion - Addendum C (continued) Credit Risk by Economic Sector - Consolidated As of December 31, 2010

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

					Off-balance	e sheet c	redit risk		Annual	
		Balance	sheet ci	edit risk			(1)		expense	
					Guarante				with	
					es and			Total	respect to	
			Fair		other			credit	specific provision	Ralanco
			value of		commitme	Future		risk of	for	of
		Dobootu	derivati-		nts on account of			the	doubtful	
	Credit	res (5)	ves	Total	clients	tions	Total	public	debts	debt <sup>(2)</sup>
Agriculture	606	-	-	606	206	2	208	814	-	13
Industry	5,272	18	32	5,322	4,489	357	4,846	10,168	11	229
Construction and real	5,212	10	32	3,322	4,409	331	4,040	10,100	- 11	229
estate (6)	7,151	45	4	7,200	12,454	22	12,476	19,676	1	1,233
Electricity and water	320	24	244	588	955	261	1,216	1,804	2	1
Commerce	5,630		16	5,646	2.152	162	2.314	7,960	21	173
Hotel and food services	240	-	-	240	79	-	79	319	2	37
Transport and storage	822	_	29	851	518	82	600	1,451	1	35
Communications and					0.0	~_	000	.,		00
computer services	1,553	24	16	1,593	310	88	398	1,991	3	20
Financial services (7)	6,188	44	1,153	7,385	7,509	2,107	9,616	17,001	357	650
Other business services	3,102	_	4	3,106	963	50	1,013	4,119	4	224
Public and community				•			•	·		
services	882	-	-	882	352	3	355	1,237	1	94
Private individuals - housing									(-)	
loans	60,840	-	-	60,840	4,686	-	4,686	65,526	(3)	877
Private individuals - other (7)	11,402	-	28	11,430	8,699	67	8,766	20,196	64	504
Total	104,008	155	1,526	105,689	43,372	3,201	46,573	152,262	464	4,090
For borrowers' activities			4.0		40.4		=0.4		_	
overseas	3,247		10	3,257	431	70	501	3,758	7	96
Total credit risk to public	107,255	155	1,536	108,946	43,803	3,271	47,074	156,020	471	4,186
Credit risk exposures other										
than										
with respect to the public Banking Corporations	1,514	743	1,842	4.099	396	11,268	11,664	15,763		26
Government	10,390	6,658	1,042	17,048	280	11,200	280	17,328	-	20
Total credit risk	119,159	7,556	3 378	130,093	44,479	14,539	59,018	189,111	471	4,212
Credit risk to public	113,133	7,330	3,370	130,033	44,473	14,555	33,010	103,111	7/1	4,212
included under various										
economic sectors:										
Settlement movements (3)	1,213	_	_	1,213	548	10	558	1,771	(6)	79
Local authorities (4)	,	_	_	•				•	(0)	
Local authorities	167	-	-	167	25	-	25	192	-	37

- (1) Credit risk for off-balance sheet financial instruments, as calculated for the purpose of per-borrower credit limitations.
- (2) Balance of troubled debt net of loans covered by collateral that may be deducted for the purpose of calculating the per-borrower credit limits of an individual borrower and a group of borrowers, including elements of off-balance sheet risk.
- (3) KIBBUTZIM and MOSHAVIM, regional and national organizations, and corporations controlled by the settlement movements.
- (4) Includes entities under their control.
- (5) Includes borrowed securities amounting to NIS 247 million.
- (6) Including housing loans extended to certain purchase groups which are in the process of construction, amounting to NIS 2,394 million.
- (7) Restated.

Note: Credit risk and troubled debt are stated net of the specific provisions for doubtful debts.

Management Discussion - Addendum C (continued)
Credit Risk by Economic Sector - Average balances - Consolidated
For the nine months ended September 30, 2011
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	D-				Off halan		alie mia la (1)	T
	Ва	liance sne	et credit risk	[		ce sheet cre	alt risk (*)	
	Credit	Debentu -res <sup>(4)</sup>	Fair value of derivatives	Total	Guarantees and other commit- ments on account of clients	Future transactions	Total	Total credit risk of the public
Agriculture	616	-	_	616	204	4		824
Industry	5,974	41	59	6,074	4,180		4,589	10,663
Construction and real	ŕ			•			,	,
estate	7,434	42	3	7,479	12,950		,	20,454
Electricity and water	283	14	171	468	1,080	263	1,343	1,811
Commerce	5,788	-	24	5,812	2,289	208	, -	8,309
Hotel and food services	260	-	8	268	97	8	105	373
Transport and storage	848	-	19	867	511	81	592	1,459
Communications and								
computer services	1,522	19	15	1,556	445	87	532	2,088
Financial services	6,527	28	987	7,542	7,965	2,453	10,418	17,960
Other business services	3,204	-	5	3,209	781	68	849	4,058
Public and community								
services	871	-	10	881	251	98	349	1,230
Private individuals -								
housing loans	65,646	-	-	65,646	3,856	-	3,856	69,502
Private individuals - other	11,769	-	20	11,789	9,161	41	9,202	20,991
Total	110,742	144	1,321	112,207	43,770	3,745	47,515	159,722
For borrowers' activities								
overseas	2,920	4	9	2,933	407	72	479	3,412
Total credit risk to public	113,662	148	1,330	115,140	44,177	3,817	47,994	163,134
Credit risk exposures other than with respect to the public	•							- -
Banking Corporations	2,056	700	1,882	4,637	315	10,800	11,115	15,752
Government	12,188	5,449	-	17,637	228	_	228	17,865
Total credit risk	127,906	6,297	3,212	137,414	44,720	14,617	59,337	196,751
Credit risk to the public included under various economic sectors:	4.450	·	2	4.455	470	40	400	-
Settlement movements (2)	1,152	-	3	1,155	476	_	-	1,647
Local authorities (3)	173	-	-	173	31	-	31	204

<sup>(1)</sup> Credit risk for off-balance sheet financial instruments, as calculated for the purpose of per-borrower credit limitations.

<sup>(2)</sup> KIBBUTZIM and MOSHAVIM, regional and national organizations, and corporations controlled by the settlement movements.

<sup>(3)</sup> Includes entities under their control.

<sup>(4)</sup> Includes borrowed securities amounting to NIS 173 million.

Management Discussion - Addendum C (continued)
Credit Risk by Economic Sector - Average balances - Consolidated
For the nine months ended September 30, 2010
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	Balance sheet credit risk				Off halaman	-1	(1)	Ť
	Balance sh	eet credit	risk			sheet credit	risk '''	
					Guarantees			Total
					and other			credit
			<b>□</b> =:		commit-	Ct		
			Fair value		ments on	Future		risk of
	O and all's	Debentu-	OT	T-1-1	account of	transac-	T-1-1	the public
	Credit		derivatives		clients	tions	Total	•
Agriculture	623	-	-	623	220			845
Industry	5,511	15	72	5,598	3,903	431	4,334	9,932
Construction and real								
estate	7,035	43	32	7,110	10,171		-, -	17,385
Electricity and water	312	65	158	535	715			1,453
Commerce	5,105	-	23	5,128	2,353		2,572	7,700
Hotel and food services	230	1	1	232	72	-		311
Transport and storage	774	-	47	821	411	149	560	1,381
Communications and								
computer services	1,056	17	23	1,096	438	_	535	1,631
Financial services	6,446	45	318	6,809	6,995	1,391	8,386	15,195
Other business services	2,955	-	7	2,962	890	57	947	3,909
Public and community								
services	794	-	-	794	363	6	369	1,163
Private individuals - housing								
loans	54,791	-	-	54,791	3,535	-	3,535	58,326
Private individuals - other	10,899	-	41	10,940	8,825	70	8,895	19,835
Total	96,531	186	722	97,439	38,891	2,736	41,627	139,066
For borrowers' activities								
overseas	3,192	1	92	3,285	431	115	546	3,831
Total credit risk to public	99,723	187	814	100,724	39,322	2,851	42,173	142,897
Credit risk exposure other								
than to the public:								
Banking Corporations	1,910	901	1,203	4,014	415	9,122	9,537	13,551
Government	7,802	7,169	-	14,971	308	-	308	15,279
Total credit risk	109,435	8,257	2,017	119,709	40,045	11,973	52,018	171,727
Credit risk to public included								
under various economic								
sectors:								
Settlement movements (2)	1,272	-	4	1,276	642	30	672	1,948
Local authorities (3)	154	-	-	154	31	-	31	185

<sup>(1)</sup> Credit risk for off-balance sheet financial instruments, as calculated for the purpose of per-borrower credit limitations.

Note: Credit risk and troubled debt are stated net of the specific provisions for doubtful debts.

<sup>(2)</sup> KIBBUTZIM and MOSHAVIM, regional and national organizations, and corporations controlled by the settlement movements.

<sup>(3)</sup> Includes entities under their control.

<sup>(4)</sup> Includes borrowed securities amounting to NIS 176 million.

Management Discussion - Addendum C (continued)
Credit Risk by Economic Sector - Average balances - Consolidated
For the year ended December 31, 2010
Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	Balance sheet credit risk				Off-halanc	e sheet cred	dit rick (1)	
	Ба	iance sneet	CI GUIL HOR		Guarantees	e sheet cret	ait fisk	Total
					and other			credit
		Fa	ir value		commitments	Futuro		risk of
		Debentu of	ii value		on account of			the
	Credit		rivatives T	Fotol			Total	public
A : 10		-les rue	rivatives					
Agriculture	620	-	-	620	217	2	219	839
Industry	5,463	15	64	5,542	4,020	416	4,436	9,978
Construction and real								
estate	7,058	43	26	7,127	10,628	88	10,716	17,843
Electricity and water	314	57	175	546	763	215	978	1,524
Commerce	5,211	-	22	5,233	2,313	208	2,521	7,754
Hotel and food services	232	-	1	233	73	5	78	311
Transport and storage	783	-	43	826	432	136	568	1,394
Communications and								
computer services	1,156	19	21	1,196	412	95	507	1,703
Financial services (6)	6,394	45	485	6,924	7,098	1,534	8,632	15,556
Other business services	2,984	-	6	2,990	905	55	960	3,950
Public and community								
services	811	-	-	811	361	6	367	1,178
Private individuals - housing								
loans	56,001	-	-	56,001	3,765	-	3,765	59,766
Private individuals - other (5)	11,000	-	38	11,038	8,856	76	8,932	19,970
Total	98,027	179	881	99,087	39,843	2,836	42,679	141,766
For borrowers' activities								
overseas	3,203	1	76	3,280	431	106	537	3,817
Total credit risk to public	101,230	180	957	102,367	40,274	2,942	43,216	145,583
Credit risk exposures other							•	
than								
with respect to the public								
Banking Corporations	1,831	869	1,331	4,031	412	9,551	9,963	13,994
Government	8,320	7,067	,	15,387	302	-	302	15,689
Total credit risk	111,381	8,116	2,288	121,785	40,988	12,493	53,481	175,266
Credit risk to the public	,	0,110	_,	,	.0,000	12,100	00, 10 1	,200
included								
under various economic								
sectors:								
Settlement movements (2)	1,260		3	1,263	623	26	649	1,912
Local authorities (3)	,	-		,				,
Local authorities 😭	157	-	-	157	30	-	30	187

<sup>(1)</sup> Credit risk for off-balance sheet financial instruments, as calculated for the purpose of per-borrower credit limitations.

Note: Credit risk and troubled debt are stated net of the specific provisions for doubtful debts.

<sup>(2)</sup> KIBBUTZIM and MOSHAVIM, regional and national organizations, and corporations controlled by the settlement movements.

<sup>(3)</sup> Includes entities under their control.

<sup>(4)</sup> Includes borrowed securities amounting to NIS 190 million.

<sup>(5)</sup> Reclassified.

### **Management Review - Addendum D**

## Exposure to Foreign Countries - Consolidated (1)

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

Part A - Information regarding total exposure to foreign countries and exposure to countries for which total exposure to each country exceeds 1% of total consolidated assets or 20% of capital, whichever is lower:

Balance sheet	exposur	e <sup>(2</sup>	2)								Off-balan exposure	ce sheet ( <sup>(2)(3)</sup>		
Country	Cross-bo	ord	ler bala	ance	affiliates	of the bai	posure of nking eign countr	y			•		Cross-labalance	sheet
<u> </u>	To		Odio		Balance sheet exposu- re before	Deduc- tion with	n deduc-	Total	Balance sheet troubled commer-		Total off- balance sheet	Includes: Off- balance sheet troubled commer-	Matu-	Matu-
	govern-			Го	local	to local	local	exposu-	cial credit	Impaired	dexposu-	cial credi	tunder	over 1
As of Contomb	ments (4)			others	liabilities	liabilitie	s liabilities	re	risk <sup>(4)</sup>	debt (5)	re	risk	1 year	year
As of Septemb USA	er 30, 2		1,187	1,020	) 78 <sup>-</sup>	1 78	1	- 2,20	7 87	' 87	2,636	:	- 1,588	3 619
UK		-	688	908							1,640		- 1,560 1 428	
Germany		_	668	17		-	-	- 68			895		- 358	,
Other		1		2,011		-	_	- 2,736			2,086		5 1,933	
Total exposure to foreign countries		1	3,267	2 056	3 1,35	3 1,09	7 26	1 7,48	5 92	2 136	7,257	, ,	6 4,307	7 201
Includes: Total exposure to			•	•	,	5 1,08	1 20							•
LDC countries Includes: Total exposure to Greece, Portugal, Spain,		-	58	256	<u> </u>	<u>-</u>	-	- 314	<u>4 1</u>	8	218	3 3	3 219	95
Italy and Ireland		-	2	3	3	-	-	-	5 .		112	2 2	2 3	3 2
Total exposure to Greece, Portugal, Spain, Italy and Ireland as of the publication date of the financial														
statements			2	3	,				5 .		75	. ,	2 3	3 2

The exposure presented above represents, in accordance with directives of the Supervisor of Banks, exposure based on final risk. The party bearing the final risk is an individual, business, institution or instrument which provides "credit reinforcement" to the bank, such as guarantees, collateral, insurance contracts or credit derivatives. When no "credit reinforcement" exists, the party bearing the final risk is the debtor.

- (1) (2) Based on final risk, after effect of guarantees, liquid collateral and credit derivatives.
- On- and off-balance sheet credit risk, troubled commercial credit risk and impaired debt are stated before impact of provision for credit loss, and before impact of deductible collateral with respect to indebtedness of borrower and of borrower group.
- Credit risk for off-balance sheet financial instruments, as calculated for the purpose of per-borrower credit limitations.
- Governments, official institutions and central banks.
- The Bank started retrospectively implementing the Public Reporting Regulation on measurement and disclosure of impaired debt, credit risk and provision for credit loss as from January 1, 2011, and therefore data for previous periods are not comparable to those for the current period. For details, see Note 1.E.1 and Note 3 to the financial statements

# **Management Discussion - Addendum D** (continued)

# Exposure to Foreign Countries - Consolidated (1)

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

Balance sheet	exposure								Off-balan	ce sheet ex	oposure (	2)
	Cross-boro	ler halan		affiliates d	sheet expo of the bank		Total balance sheet	Balance of troubled			Cross-b	order
Country	sheet expo			to local re	_	Ji i Courilly	exposure				exposu	
	00010/40			Balance		Net	- C7 (P C C C)	0 000			0,4000	
				sheet		balance						
				exposu-		sheet				Includes:		
					Deduc-	exposure				Off-		
				deduc-	tion with				Total off-	balance	Matu-	Matu-
	_	_		tion of		deduction			balance	sheet	_	ring in
	To govern-			local	to local				sheet	troubled		1 over 1
No of Comtour	ments (3)		others	liabilities	liabilities	liabilities			exposure	credit risk	year	year
<b>As of Septem</b> l JSA			044	2.07	0.000	70	0.50	2 20	4.04	4	- 4.40	000
JSA JK		- 885 - 290	941 117	2,974 584			- ,		, -		- 1,16 - 25	
Germany		- 290 - 568	117			-	9 70 - 58	-	,		- 25 - 54	-
Other			1,836		_		- 2,89	-	,		6 2,25	-
otal exposure		1 1,000	1,000				2,00	0 70	1,50	•	2,20	0 00-
o foreign												
countries		1 2,796	2.906	3,558	3 2,553	3 1,00	5 6,70	8 116	8,12	9 (	6 4,22	7 1,476
Total exposure		,	,	,	,	,	, -				- ,	,
o LDC												
countries		- 84	281		-	-	- 36	5 9	30	3 4	4 24	7 118
ncludes: Total												
exposure to												
Greece,												
Portugal, Spain										_		
and Ireland		- 126	15		-	-	- 14	1 16	5 70	3	- 14	1 -
As of Decemb												
JSA		- 800	977	3,389	-		•		,		- 1,16	
JK		- 281	497	538	3 249	9 28	,		,		1 28	
Germany		- 636	10		-	-	- 64	-	, -		- 61	
Other		- 806	1,886		-	-	- 2,69	2 58	2,41	5	7 1,74	8 944
Total exposure												
o foreign countries		- 2,523	2 270	3,927	7 2,622	2 1,30	5 7,19	8 108	8,58	1 9	8 3,81	0 2,083
Total exposure		- 2,323	3,370	3,321	2,022	2 1,30	3 7,19	0 100	0,50	• (	3,01	0 2,000
o LDC												
countries		- 55	269		-	-	- 32	4 10	) 22	4	4 19	8 126
ncludes: Total												
exposure to												
Greece,												
Portugal, Spair and Ireland	1	- 78	12				- 9	0 10	) 7:		2 9	0
มาน แยเสแน		- 78	12		-	-	- 9	U 10	, /,	) /	<u> </u>	· -

Based on final risk, after effect of guarantees, liquid collateral and credit derivatives.

Credit risk for off-balance sheet financial instruments, as calculated for the purpose of per-borrower credit limitations.

Governments, official institutions and central banks.

<sup>(1)</sup> (2) (3) (4) Balance of troubled debt after deduction of debt covered by collateral deductible for per-borrower and borrower group lending limits. Excludes off-balance sheet risk elements.

### Management Discussion - Addendum D (continued)

# Exposure to Foreign Countries - Consolidated (1)

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

Part B - Information regarding countries for which total exposure to each country is between 0.75%-1% of total consolidated assets or between 15%-20% of capital, whichever is lower:

#### As of September 30, 2011

	Balance sheet	Off-balance	
	exposure	sheet expos	sure
Switzerland	38	2	781

As of September 30, 2010, there is no exposure requiring disclosure in accordance with the public reporting directives of the Supervisor of Banks.

### As of December 31, 2010

Switzerland	291	998

### Part C - Information regarding balance sheet exposure to foreign countries facing liquidity issues

A. Movement in balance sheet exposure to foreign countries facing liquidity issues:

	For the thr	ee months	ended Se	ptember 30, 2	2011 For the thi	ee months	ended Septe	ember 30, 20	010
	Greece	Ireland	Portu	igal Total	Greece	Ireland	Portugal	Total	
Exposure at start of reported period		2	10	22	34	-	19	57	76
Net change in short-term exposure	(	2)	(10)	(22)	(34)	-	(1)	6	5
Exposure at end of reported									
period		-	-	-	-	-	18	63	81

For the	For the nine months ended September 30, 2011					For the nine months ended September 30, 2010				
Greed	e Ire	land P	ortugal Tot	tal	Greece	Ireland	Portugal	Total		
Exposure at start of reported period	-	18	60	78	3 3	4 72	2 61	167		
Net change in short-term exposure	-	(18)	(60)	(78	) (34	1) (54)	) 2	(86)		
Exposure at end of reported										
period	-	-	-		-	- 18	63	81		

B. There is no material exposure to any foreign countries facing liquidity issues which have been restructured.

#### Certification

#### I, ELIEZER YONES, declare that:

- 1. I have reviewed the quarterly report of Mizrahi Tefahot Bank Ltd. ("the Bank") for the quarter ended September 30, 2011 ("the Report").
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary so that the statements included therein, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, will not be misleading with respect to the period covered by the Report.
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the quarterly financial statements and other financial information included in the Report fairly present, in all material respects, the financial condition, results of operations, and changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows of the Bank as of and for the periods included in this Report.
- 4. I and others at the Bank who provide this certification, are responsible for determining and maintaining controls and procedures with regard to disclosure and to the Bank's internal control of financial reporting. Furthermore:
  - A. We have determined such controls and procedures, or caused these controls and procedures to be determined under our supervision, for the purpose of ensuring that material information relating to the Bank, including its subsidiaries, is made known to us by others in the Bank and in those entities, particularly during the period in which the Report is being prepared;
  - B. We have set such internal controls over financial reporting, or had it set under our supervision, intended to provide a reasonable degree of certainty with regard to the reliability of financial reporting and to the fact that the financial statements for external use are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and with directives and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks:
  - C. We have evaluated the effectiveness of the Bank's disclosure controls and procedures and presented our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures in this Report, as of the end of the period covered by this Report based on our evaluation; and
  - D. We have disclosed in this Report any change in the Bank's internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during this quarter, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Bank's internal controls over financial reporting; and
- 5. I and others in the Bank who are declaring this certification, have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of the internal controls over financial reporting, to the Bank's independent auditors, the Board of Directors and the Audit and Balance Sheet Committees of the Board of Directors of the Bank:
  - A. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the determination or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to impair the Bank's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - B. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Bank's internal controls over financial reporting.

The aforesaid does not derogate from my responsibility or the responsibility of any other person according to the law.

Ramat Gan, November 28, 2011

E. Yones
President

#### Certification

#### I, MENAHEM AVIV, declare that

- 1. I have reviewed the quarterly report of Mizrahi Tefahot Bank Ltd. ("the Bank") for the quarter ended September 30, 2011 ("the Report").
- 2. Based on my knowledge, this Report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary so that the statements included therein, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, will not be misleading with respect to the period covered by the Report.
- 3. Based on my knowledge, the quarterly financial statements and other financial information included in the Report fairly present, in all material respects, the financial condition, results of operations, and changes in shareholders' equity and cash flows of the Bank as of and for the periods included in this Report.
- 4. I and others at the Bank who provide this certification, are responsible for determining and maintaining controls and procedures with regard to disclosure and to the Bank's internal control of financial reporting. Furthermore:
  - A. We have determined such controls and procedures, or caused these controls and procedures to be determined under our supervision, for the purpose of ensuring that material information relating to the Bank, including its subsidiaries, is made known to us by others in the Bank and in those entities, particularly during the period in which the Report is being prepared;
  - B. We have set such internal controls over financial reporting, or had it set under our supervision, intended to provide a reasonable degree of certainty with regard to the reliability of financial reporting and to the fact that the financial statements for external use are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles and with directives and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks;
  - C. We have evaluated the effectiveness of the Bank's disclosure controls and procedures and presented our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures in this Report, as of the end of the period covered by this Report based on our evaluation; and
  - D. We have disclosed in this Report any change in the Bank's internal controls over financial reporting that occurred during this quarter, that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Bank's internal controls over financial reporting; and
- 5. I and others in the Bank who are declaring this certification, have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of the internal controls over financial reporting, to the Bank's independent auditors, the Board of Directors and the Audit and Balance Sheet Committees of the Board of Directors of the Bank:
  - A. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the determination or operation of internal controls over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to impair the Bank's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
  - B. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the Bank's internal controls over financial reporting.

The aforesaid does not derogate from my responsibility or the responsibility of any other person according to the law.

Ramat Gan, November 28, 2011

M. Aviv

### Independent Auditors' Review Report to Shareholders of Bank Mizrahi-Tefahot Ltd.

#### Introduction

We have reviewed the enclosed financial information of Bank Mizrahi Tefahot Ltd. ("the Bank"), consisting of the condensed consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2011, the condensed consolidated statement of profit and loss, statements of change in shareholders' equity and cash flow statements for the nine- and three-month periods then ended. The Board of Directors and management are responsible for preparation and presentation of financial information for these interim periods, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Israel (Israeli GAAP) for interim financial reporting and in accordance with directives and guidance of the Supervisor of Banks. We are responsible for expressing our conclusion as to the financial information for this interim period based on our review.

We did not review the condensed interim financial information of certain consolidated subsidiaries, whose assets included in consolidation constitute 7.89% of total consolidated assets as of September 30, 2011, and whose profit from financing operations before provision for doubtful debts included in the consolidated statements of profit and loss constitute 10.64% and 10.33% of total profit from financing operations before provision for doubtful debts for the nine-and three-month periods then ended. Furthermore, we did not review the condensed financial information for the interim period of affiliates, the investment in which amounted to NIS 15 million as of September 30, 2011. The condensed financial information for the interim periods of the aforementioned companies was reviewed by other independent auditors, we have been provided with their review reports and our conclusions, in as much as it relates to the financial information with respect to those companies, is based on the review reports by those other independent auditors.

#### **Review scope**

We have conducted our review in accordance with Review Standard no. 1 of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants in Israel "Review of Financial Information for Interim Periods Conducted by the Entity's Independent Auditor" and with the review standard whose application to the review of banking corporations is stipulated in accordance with directives and guidance of the Supervisor of Banks. A review of financial information for interim periods consists of discussions, mostly with persons responsible for financial and accounting issues, and of application of analytical and other review procedures. A review is significantly limited in scope as compared to an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted audit standards in Israel, and therefore it does not enable us to achieve assurance that we have knowledge of all material matters which might have been identified in an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion.

#### Conclusion

Based on our review, and on the review reports of other auditors, nothing has come to our attention that would cause us to believe that the aforementioned financial data has not been prepared, in all material aspects, in accordance with Israeli GAAP for interim financial reporting and in accordance with directives and guidance of the Supervisor of Banks.

Without qualifying our conclusion, we draw your attention to Note 6.D.3-4 with regard to lawsuits filed against the Bank and motions for class action status.

Brightman Almagor Zohar & Co.

Certified Public Accountants

November 28, 2011

### Condensed consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2011

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	•	As of September 30,		As of December 31,
		2011	2010	2010
	Note	(unaudited)	(unaudited)	(audited)
Assets				
Cash and deposits with banks		16,987	9,801	12,614
Securities	2	5,879	8,273	7,449
Securities loaned or sold in repurchase agreements		34	107	247
Loans to the public (1)(2)	3	119,328	106,858	110,511
Provision for credit loss (1)(2)	3	(1,708)	(3,365)	(3,471)
Loans to the public, net (1)		117,620	103,493	107,040
Loans to the Government		146	67	92
Investments in affiliates		17	13	15
Buildings and equipment		1,588	1,491	1,546
Intangible assets and goodwill (2)		87	90	87
Assets with respect to derivatives (2)	7	3,426	2,278	3,449
Other assets (2)		1,093	<sup>(4)</sup> 795	<sup>(4)</sup> 765
Total assets		146,877	126,408	133,304
Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity				
Deposits from the public		116,497	101,204	105,991
Deposits from banks		1,874	1,712	2,432
Deposits from the Government		1,674	1,712	2,432 172
Debentures and subordinated notes		12,501	9,116	9,813
Liabilities with respect to derivatives (2)	7	3,586	2,680	2,892
Other liabilities (2)(3)	,	4,521	<sup>(4)</sup> 4,266	<sup>(4)</sup> 4,508
Total liabilities				
Equity attributable to equity holders of the banking		139,141	119,169	125,808
corporation		7.050	<sup>(4)</sup> 6,877	<sup>(4)</sup> 7,130
Non-controlling interest		7,359 377	<sup>(4)</sup> 362	<sup>(4)</sup> 366
Total shareholders' equity				
		7,736	7,239	7,496
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity		146,877	126,408	133,304

- (1) On January 1, 2011, the Bank initially adopted the Supervisor of Banks' directive concerning measurement and disclosure of impaired debt, credit risk and provision for credit loss. Comparative figures for previous periods were not restated, so that data as of September 30, 2011 may not be compared to data from previous periods.
- (2) Comparative figures were reclassified to adapt them to the presentation method in the current period, see Note 1.D. to the financial statements.
- (3) Includes: Provision for credit loss with respect to off balance sheet credit instruments amounting to NIS 157 million (on September 30, 2010 NIS 139 million, on December 31, 2010 NIS 172 million).
- (4) Retroactively adjusted as per directives of the Supervisor of Banks with regard to employee rights. See Note 1.E.4. below.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed financial statements.

Jacob Perry	Eliezer Yones	Menahem Aviv
Chairman of the Board of Directors	President	Vice-president, Chief Accountant

Approval date:

November 28, 2011

## Condensed consolidated statement of profit and loss

### Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	For the three months		For the n	ine months	For the Year Ended
		ptember 30		otember 30	December 31
	2011	2010	2011	2010	2010
	(	(unaudited)	(	(unaudited)	(audited)
Profit from financing operations before					
expenses with respect to credit loss	877	735	2,424	2,079	2,959
Expenses with respect to credit loss	142	102	276	281	473
Profit from financing operations after					
expenses with respect to credit loss	735	633	2,148	1,798	2,486
Operating and other income					
Operating commissions	331	<sup>(3)</sup> 325	1,018	<sup>(3)</sup> 990	<sup>(3)</sup> 1,337
Gain (loss) from investment in shares, net	1	-	4	-	(1)
Other revenues	3	<sup>(3)</sup> 10	12	<sup>(3)</sup> 27	<sup>(3)</sup> 31
Total operating and other revenues	335	335	1,034	1,017	1,367
Operating and other expenses					
Payroll and associated expenses	389	<sup>(2)</sup> 382	1,204	<sup>(2)</sup> 1,125	<sup>(2)</sup> 1,529
Maintenance and depreciation of buildings and					
equipment	155	146	455	436	585
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets					
and goodwill (1)	-	4	-	11	14
Other expenses (1)	106	96	319	306	438
Total operating and other expenses	650	628	1,978	1,878	2,566
Pre-tax operating profit	420	340	1,204	937	1,287
Provision for taxes on operating profit	154	127	429	345	<sup>(2)</sup> 469
After-tax operating profit	266	213	775	592	818
Share in net after-tax operating profit of affiliates	-	(1)	1	(1)	-
Net operating profit:					
Before attribution to non-controlling interest (1)	266	212	776	591	818
Attributable to non-controlling interest (1)	(11)	(6)	(29)	(14)	(19)
Attributable to equity holders of the					
banking corporation	255	206	747	577	799
After-tax operating profit (loss), before					
attribution to non-controlling interest	-	2	(2)	2	2
Net profit:					
Before attribution to non-controlling interest (1)	266	214	774	593	820
Attributable to non-controlling interest (1)	(11)	(6)	(29)	(14)	(19)
Attributable to equity holders of the					
banking corporation	255	208	745	579	801

<sup>(1)</sup> Comparative figures were reclassified to adapt them to the presentation method in the current period, see Note 1.D. to the financial statements.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed financial statements.

<sup>(2)</sup> Retroactively adjusted as per directives of the Supervisor of Banks with regard to employee rights. See Note 1.E.4. below.

<sup>(3)</sup> Reclassified.

## Condensed consolidated statement of profit and loss

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

		•		•	For the Year
	For the thr	ee months	For the n	ine months	Ended
	ended Sep	tember 30	ended September 30		December 31
	2011	2010	2011	2010	2010
	(	unaudited)	(	(unaudited)	(audited)
Earnings per share (1)					
Basic earnings per share (in NIS)					
Net operating profit attributable to equity					
holders of the banking corporation	1.12	<sup>(2)</sup> 0.92	3.30	<sup>(2)</sup> 2.59	<sup>(2)</sup> 3.58
Profit from extraordinary operations attributable					
to equity holders of the banking corporation	-	0.01	(0.01)	0.01	0.01
Total	1.12	<sup>(2)</sup> 0.93	3.29	<sup>(2)</sup> 2.60	<sup>(2)</sup> 3.59
Diluted earnings per share (in NIS)					
Net operating profit attributable to equity					
holders of the banking corporation	1.11	<sup>(2)</sup> 0.91	3.23	<sup>(2)</sup> 2.55	<sup>(2)</sup> 3.53
Profit from extraordinary operations attributable to					
equity holders of the banking corporation	-	0.01	(0.01)	0.01	0.01
Total	1.11	<sup>(2)</sup> 0.92	3.22	<sup>(2)</sup> 2.56	<sup>(2)</sup> 3.54

<sup>(1)</sup> Share of NIS 0.1 par value each.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed financial statements.

<sup>(2)</sup> Retroactively adjusted as per directives of the Supervisor of Banks with regard to employee rights. See Note 1.E.4. below.

## **Condensed Statement of Changes in Shareholders' Equity**

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	For the three	months ended Sept	ember 30,	2011 (unaudited)
		apital reserve from penefit from share-		Total paid-up share capital
	Share capital	based payment	Treasury	and capital
	and premium <sup>(1)</sup>	transactions	shares	reserves
Balance as of June 30, 2011	1,998	155	(76)	2,077
Net profit for the year	-	-	-	-
Benefit from share-based payment transactions	-	8	-	8
Related tax effect	-	(16)	-	(16)
Realized share-based payment transactions (3)	4	(4)	-	-
Adjustments for presentation of securities available for sale at				
fair value	-	-	-	-
Adjustments for presentation of securities available for sale				
reclassified to statement of profit and loss	-	-	-	-
Related tax effect	-	-	-	-
Net gain from cash flow hedges	-	-	-	-
Net gain from cash flow hedges reclassified to the statement of				
profit and loss	-	-	-	-
Related tax effect	-		-	<u>-</u>
Balance as of September 30, 2011	2,002	143	(76)	2,069

- (1) Share premium generated prior to March 31, 1986.
- (2) For details on various limitations on dividend distributions, see Note 13 to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010.
- (3) In the third quarter of 2011, 265,109 ordinary shares, NIS 0.1 par value each have been issued against options exercised in conjunction with the employee stock option plan.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

Cumulative other					
comprehensive income (loss)					
Adjustments for presentation of					
securities available for sale at	Net gain from	Retained		Non-controlling	Total shareholders'
fair value of	eash flow hedges	earnings <sup>(2)</sup>	Total	interest	equity
(26)	28	5,060	7,139	365	7,504
-	-	255	255	11	266
-	-	-	8	-	8
-	-	-	(16)	-	(16)
-	-	-	-	-	-
(59)	-	-	(59)	1	(58)
7	-	-	7	-	7
18	-	-	18	-	18
-	11	-	11	-	11
-	-	-	-	-	-
	(4)	-	(4)	-	(4)
(60)	35	5,315	7,359	377	7,736

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	For the three months ended September 30, 2010 (unaudi						
			Total paid-up share capital				
	Share capital and premium <sup>(1)</sup>	based payment transactions	Treasury shares	and capital reserves			
Balance as of June 30, 2010	1,973	104	(76)	2,001			
Net profit for the period	-	-	-	· <u>-</u>			
Dividends declared after balance sheet date	-	-	-	-			
Benefit from share-based payment transactions	-	11	-	11			
Related tax effect	-	15	-	15			
Realized share-based payment transactions (5)	7	(7)	-	-			
Adjustments for presentation of securities available							
for sale at fair value	-	-	-	-			
Adjustments for presentation of securities available for sale							
reclassified to statement of profit and loss	-	-	-	-			
Related tax effect	-	-	-	-			
Net gain from cash flow hedges	-	-	-	-			
Related tax effect	-	-	-	-			
Balance as of September 30, 2010	1,980	123	(76)	2,027			

- (1) Share premium generated prior to March 31, 1986.
- (2) Foreign currency translation adjustment of autonomous overseas units.
- (3) For details on various limitations on dividend distributions, see Note 13 to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2009.
- (4) Retroactively adjusted as per directives of the Supervisor of Banks with regard to employee rights; for details see Note 1.E.4. below.
- (5) In the third quarter of 2010, 53,539 ordinary shares, NIS 0.1 par value each have been issued against options exercised in conjunction with the employee stock option plan.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed financial statements.

Cumulative other	comprehensiv	e income (loss)					
Adjustments for				Dividends			
presentation of		Net gain from	d	eclared after			Total
securities available	Translation	cash flow	Retained	balance		Non-controlling	shareholders'
for sale at fair value	adjustments (2)	hedges	earnings <sup>(3)</sup>	sheet date	Total	interest	equity
(56)	(51)	50	<sup>(4)</sup> <b>4,670</b>	200	6,814	358	7,172
-	-	-	208	-	208	6	214
-	-	-	-	(200)	(200)	-	(200)
-	-	-	-	-	11	-	11
-	-	-	-	-	15	-	15
-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
14	-	-	-	-	14	(4)	10
-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
7	-	-	-	-	7	2	9
-	-	13	-	-	13	-	13
-	-	(5)	-	-	(5)	-	(5)
 (35)	(51)	58	4,878	-	6,877	362	7,239

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	For the nin	e months ended Sep	tember 30,	2011 (unaudite
	c	Capital reserve from		Total paid-up
		benefit from share-		share capital
	Share capital	based payment	Treasury	and capital
	and premium (1)	transactions	shares	reserves
Balance as of January 1, 2011	1,986	156	(76)	2,066
Cumulative effect, net of tax, of initial application on January 1,				
2011 of the directive concerning measurement of impaired debt				
and provision for credit loss (5)	-	-	-	-
Cumulative effect, net of tax, of initial application on January 1,				
2011 of certain IFRS standards	-	-	-	-
Balance as of January 1, 2011, after reconciliation from				
application of new standards and directives	1,986	156	(76)	2,066
Net profit for the year	-	-	-	-
Dividends paid	-	-	-	-
Benefit from share-based payment transactions	-	28	-	28
Related tax effect	_	(25)	-	(25)
Realized share-based payment transactions (6)	16	(16)	-	-
Adjustments for presentation of securities available for sale at fair value	-	-	-	-
Adjustments for presentation of securities available for sale reclassified				
to statement of profit and loss	-	-	-	-
Related tax effect	-	-	-	-
Net gain from cash flow hedges	-	-	-	-
Related tax effect	-	-	-	-
Balance as of September 30, 2011	2,002	143	(76)	2,069

- (1) Share premium generated prior to March 31, 1986.
- (2) Foreign currency translation adjustment of autonomous overseas units.
- (3) For details on various limitations on dividend distributions, see Note 13 to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010.
- (4) Retroactively adjusted as per directives of the Supervisor of Banks with regard to employee rights; for details see Note 1.E.4. below.
- (5) See Note 1.E.1. below.
- (6) In the first nine months of 2011, 540,348 ordinary NIS 0.1 par value shares were issued for exercise of options in conjunction with the Employee Stock Option Plan, and 513,627 ordinary NIS 0.1 par value shares were issued to the President for exercise of options.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

						•	Cumulative other co
						ncome (loss)	i
			Dividends				Adjustments for
	Non-		declared after		Net gain from		presentation of
shareholders	controlling		balance sheet	Retained	cash flow	Translation	securities available for
t equity	interest	Total	date	earnings <sup>(3)</sup>	hedges	djustments <sup>(2)</sup>	sale at fair valuead
7,496	366	7,130	120	4,980	26	(51)	(11)
) (375)	(16)	(359)	-	(359)	-	-	-
<u> </u>	-	-	(120)	69	-	51	<u>-</u>
7,121	350	6,771	-	4,690	26	-	(11)
774	29	745	-	745	-	-	-
- (120)	-	(120)	-	(120)	-	-	-
- 28	-	28	-	-	-	-	-
- (25)	-	(25)	-	-	-	-	-
	-	=	-	-	-	-	-
(84)	(4)	(80)	-	-	-	-	(80)
- 7	-	7	-	-	-	-	7
2 26	2	24	-	-	-	-	24
- 14	-	14	-	-	14	-	-
- (5)	-	(5)	-	-	(5)	-	-
7,736	377	7,359	-	5,315	35	-	(60)

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	For the r	nine months ended S	eptember 30	, 2010 (unaudited
	C	Total paid-up share capital		
	Share capital and premium (1)	based payment transactions	Treasury shares	and capital reserves
Balance as of January 1, 2010	1,963	105	(76)	1,992
Net profit for the period	-	-	-	-
Dividends declared after balance sheet date	-	-	-	-
Benefit from share-based payment transactions	-	32	-	32
Related tax effect	-	3	-	3
Realized share-based payment transactions (5)	17	(17)	-	-
Adjustments for presentation of securities available for sale				
at fair value	-	-	-	-
Adjustments for presentation of securities available for sale				
reclassified to statement of profit and loss	-	-	-	-
Related tax effect	-	-	-	-
Net gain from cash flow hedges	-	-	-	-
Related tax effect	-	-	-	-
Balance as of September 30, 2010	1,980	123	(76)	2,027

- (1) Share premium generated prior to March 31, 1986.
- (2) Foreign currency translation adjustment of autonomous overseas units.
- (3) For details on various limitations on dividend distributions, see Note 13 to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010.
- (4) Retroactively adjusted as per directives of the Supervisor of Banks with regard to employee rights; for details see Note 1.E.4. below.
- (5) In the first nine months of 2010, 195.980 ordinary NIS 0.1 par value shares were issued for exercise of options in conjunction with the Employee Stock Option Plan, and 445,048 ordinary NIS 0.1 par value shares were issued to the President for exercise of options.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the condensed financial statements.

					e income (loss)	comprehensive	Cumulative other
			Dividends				Adjustments for
Total			eclared after	de	Net gain from		presentation of
areholders'	Non-controlling :		balance	Retained	cash flow	Translation	securities available for
equity	interest	Total	sheet date	earnings <sup>(3)</sup>	hedges	adjustments <sup>(2)</sup>	sale at fair value a
6,793	346	6,447	-	<sup>(4)</sup> 4,499	39	(51)	(32)
593	14	579	-	579	-	-	-
(200)	=	(200)	-	(200)	-	-	=
32	-	32	-	-	-	-	=
3	-	3	-	-	-	-	=
-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
(13)	2	(15)	-	-	-	-	(15)
4	-	4	-	-	-	-	4
8	-	8	-	-	-	-	8
29	-	29	-	-	29	-	-
(10)	-	(10)	-	-	(10)	-	-
7,239	362	6,877	-	4,878	58	(51)	(35)

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	For the year ended December 31, 2010 (audited)								
	Share capital and premium (1)	Capital reserve from benefit from share- based payment transactions	Treasury shares	Total paid-up share capital and capital reserves					
Balance as of January 1, 2010	1,963	105	(76)	1,992					
Net profit for the year	· -	-	-	-					
Dividends paid	-		-	-					
Dividends declared after balance sheet date	-	-	-	-					
Benefit from share-based payment transactions	-	44	-	44					
Related tax effect	-	30	-	30					
Realized share-based payment transactions (5)	23	(23)	-	-					
Adjustments for presentation of securities available for									
sale at fair value	-	-	-	-					
Adjustments for presentation of securities available for									
sale reclassified to statement of profit and loss	-	-	-	-					
Related tax effect	-	-	-	-					
Net gain from cash flow hedges	-	-	-	-					
Net gain from cash flow hedges reclassified to the									
statement of profit and loss	-	-	-	-					
Related tax effect	-	-	-	-					
Balance as of December 31, 2010	1,986	156	(76)	2,066					

- (1) Share premium generated prior to March 31, 1986.
- (2) Foreign currency translation adjustment of autonomous overseas units.
- (3) For details on various limitations on dividend distributions, see Note 13 to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010.
- (4) Retroactively adjusted as per directives of the Supervisor of Banks with regard to employee rights; for details see Note 1.E.4. below.
- (5) In 2010, 564,642 ordinary NIS 0.1 par value shares were issued for exercise of options in conjunction with the Employee Stock Option Plan, and 445,048 ordinary NIS 0.1 par value shares were issued to the President for exercise of options.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

(11)	(51)	26	4,980	120	7,130	366	7,496
-	-	8	-	-	8	-	8
	-	(53)	-	-	(53)	-	(53)
-							
-	-	32	-	-	32	-	32
(2)	-	-	-	-	(2)	(1)	(3)
7	-	-	-	-	7	-	7
16	-	-	-	-	16	2	18
-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
-	-	-	-	-	30	-	30
-	-	-	-	-	44	-	44
-	-	-	(120)	120	-	-	-
-	-	-	(200)	-	(200)	-	(200)
-	-	-	801	-	801	19	820
(32)	(51)	39	<sup>(4)</sup> 4,499	-	6,447	346	6,793
for sale at fair value	adjustments (2) ca	ash flow hedges	earnings (3)	date	Total	interest	' equity
securities available	Translation	Net gain from	Retained	balance sheet	Noi	n-controllingsha	
presentation of				declared after			Total
Adjustments for				Dividends			
Cumulative oth	ner comprehensiv	ve income (loss)					

### Statement of cash flows

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

		three months	For the nine m	nonths ended september 30	For the Year Ended December 31
	2011	2010	2011	2010	2010
		(unaudited)	-	(unaudited)	(audited)
Cash flows provided by current operations					
Net profit for the period  Adjustments to reconcile net profit to net cash generated by operating activities:  Minority interest in net after-tax operating	255	<sup>(1)</sup> 208	745	<sup>(1)</sup> 579	<sup>(1)</sup> 801
profit of subsidiaries  Depreciation of buildings and equipment and	11	6	29	14	19
amortization	55	52	167	162	221
Expenses with respect to credit loss  Net gain on sale of available-for-sale	142	102	276	281	473
securities Provision for impairment of available-for-sale	(2)	<sup>(2)</sup> 2	(1)	<sup>(2)</sup> (29)	<sup>(2)</sup> (35)
securities Realized and unrealized gain from adjustment	7	-	7	4	7
to fair value of securities held for trading Net loss from sale of buildings and	(7)	(5)	(12)	(13)	(9)
equipment	-	-	1	-	2
Deferred taxes, net Severance pay - decrease (increase) in excess	22	(62)	(50)	48	61
of amount funded over liability Reconciliation differences included under	34	(8)	105	(21)	(34)
investment and financing operations Benefit from share-based payment	54	<sup>(2)</sup> 128	166	<sup>(2)</sup> 61	<sup>(2)</sup> 104
transactions	8	11	28	32	44
Bank's share in net profit from extraordinary items of subsidiaries	-	1	(1)	1	-
Deferred income, net	39	8	21	24	44
Net cash provided by current operations	605	443	1,481	1,143	1,698

<sup>(1)</sup> Retroactively adjusted as per directives of the Supervisor of Banks with regard to employee rights; for details see Note 1.E.4. below.

<sup>(2)</sup> Reclassified.

# Statement of cash flows (continued)

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

					For the Year
	For the thr	ee months	For the n	ine months	Ended
	ended September 30		ended Se	ptember 30	December 31
	2011	2010	2011	2010	2010
	(	unaudited)		(unaudited)	(audited)
Cash flows provided by activities in assets					
Acquisition of debentures held to maturity	(447)	-	(447)	-	-
Acquisition of securities available for sale	(923)	(1,688)	(2,879)	(5,986)	(6,759)
Proceeds on sale and redemption of securities					
available for sale	1,041	813	4,998	5,259	7,095
Deposits with banks, net	(1,365)	(1,911)	(2,035)	(1,046)	(1,174)
Securities held for trading, net	(158)	42	(132)	175	(23)
Securities loaned or sold in repurchase agreements, net	65	(73)	213	200	60
Loans to the public, net	(5,379)	(2,588)	(11,482)	(8,525)	(12,264)
Loans to the Governments, net	(40)	(66)	(54)	234	209
Acquisition of shares in investees, including owners'					
loans and capital notes	(1)	-	(1)	(1)	(3)
Acquisition of buildings and equipment	(65)	(48)	(195)	(129)	(263)
Proceeds from sale of buildings and equipment	-	(3)	2	-	16
Assets with respect to derivatives, net	(504)	344	37	(1,129)	(1,979)
Other assets, net	58	129	(2)	386	46
Net cash provided by activities in assets	(7,718)	(5,049)	(11,977)	(10,562)	(15,039)

# **Statement of cash flows (continued)**

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

For the three months ended September 30         For the nine months ended September 30         For the nine months ended September 30         Ended September 30           2011         2010         2011         2010         2011         2010         2016           Cash flows provided by activities in liabilities           and shareholders' equity           Deposits from the public, net         5,001         (425)         10,506         6,183         10,97           Deposits from banks, net         (29)         214         (558)         (187)         53           Deposits from the Government, net         5         (4)         (10)         (18)         (3           Issuance of debentures and subordinated notes         1,156         1,003         2,620         1,028         1,78           Redemption of debentures and subordinated notes         (27)         (18)         (151)         (190)         (30           Liabilities with respect to derivatives, net         1,325         4         694         661         94           Other liabilities, net         (194)         (7)         (267)         (114)         10           Dividends paid to shareholders         -         (200)         -         (200)         -         (200) <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> <th></th>						
ended September 30         ended September 30         December 30           2011         2010         2011         2010         2011           (unaudited)         (unaudited)         (audited)           Cash flows provided by activities in liabilities and shareholders' equity           Deposits from the public, net         5,001         (425)         10,506         6,183         10,97           Deposits from banks, net         (29)         214         (558)         (187)         53           Deposits from the Government, net         5         (4)         (10)         (18)         (3           Issuance of debentures and subordinated notes         1,156         1,003         2,620         1,028         1,78           Redemption of debentures and subordinated notes         (27)         (18)         (151)         (190)         (30           Liabilities with respect to derivatives, net         1,325         4         694         661         94           Other liabilities, net         (194)         (7)         (267)         (114)         10           Dividends paid to shareholders         -         (200)         -         (200)         (200)           Net cash provided by (used for) activities in liabiliti						For the Year
Cash flows provided by activities in liabilities         2011         2010         2011         2010         2011           Cash flows provided by activities in liabilities           and shareholders' equity           Deposits from the public, net         5,001         (425)         10,506         6,183         10,97           Deposits from banks, net         (29)         214         (558)         (187)         53           Deposits from the Government, net         5         (4)         (10)         (18)         (3           Issuance of debentures and subordinated notes         1,156         1,003         2,620         1,028         1,78           Redemption of debentures and subordinated notes         (27)         (18)         (151)         (190)         (30           Liabilities with respect to derivatives, net         1,325         4         694         661         91           Other liabilities, net         (194)         (7)         (267)         (114)         10           Dividends paid to shareholders         -         (200)         -         (200)         (200)           Net cash provided by (used for) activities in liabilities and shareholders' equity         7,237         567         12,834         7,163         13,77						Ended
Cash flows provided by activities in liabilities and shareholders' equity         (unaudited)         (unaudited)         (unaudited)         (audited)           Deposits from the public, net         5,001         (425)         10,506         6,183         10,97           Deposits from banks, net         (29)         214         (558)         (187)         53           Deposits from the Government, net         5         (4)         (10)         (18)         (3           Issuance of debentures and subordinated notes         1,156         1,003         2,620         1,028         1,78           Redemption of debentures and subordinated notes         (27)         (18)         (151)         (190)         (30           Liabilities with respect to derivatives, net         1,325         4         694         661         91           Other liabilities, net         (194)         (7)         (267)         (114)         10           Dividends paid to shareholders         -         (200)         -         (200)         (200)           Net cash provided by (used for) activities in liabilities and shareholders' equity         7,237         567         12,834         7,163         13,77           Increase in cash         137         (4,039)         2,338         (2,256)						December 31
Cash flows provided by activities in liabilities and shareholders' equity  Deposits from the public, net 5,001 (425) 10,506 6,183 10,97  Deposits from banks, net (29) 214 (558) (187) 53  Deposits from the Government, net 5 (4) (10) (18) (3)  Issuance of debentures and subordinated notes 1,156 1,003 2,620 1,028 1,78  Redemption of debentures and subordinated notes (27) (18) (151) (190) (30)  Liabilities with respect to derivatives, net 1,325 4 694 661 91  Other liabilities, net (194) (7) (267) (114) 10  Dividends paid to shareholders (194) (7) (267) (114) 10  Net cash provided by (used for) activities in liabilities and shareholders' equity 7,237 567 12,834 7,163 13,77  Increase in cash 137 (4,039) 2,338 (2,256) 42  Cash balance at beginning of period 12,036 11,189 9,835 9,406 9,406		2011	2010	2011	2010	2010
and shareholders' equity  Deposits from the public, net 5,001 (425) 10,506 6,183 10,97  Deposits from banks, net (29) 214 (558) (187) 53  Deposits from the Government, net 5 (4) (10) (18) (3)  Issuance of debentures and subordinated notes 1,156 1,003 2,620 1,028 1,78  Redemption of debentures and subordinated notes (27) (18) (151) (190) (30  Liabilities with respect to derivatives, net 1,325 4 694 661 91  Other liabilities, net (194) (7) (267) (114) 10  Dividends paid to shareholders (194) (7) (267) (114) 10  Net cash provided by (used for) activities in liabilities and shareholders' equity 7,237 567 12,834 7,163 13,77  Increase in cash 137 (4,039) 2,338 (2,256) 42  Cash balance at beginning of period 12,036 11,189 9,835 9,406 9,40		(unaudited)		(unaudited)		(audited)
Deposits from the public, net 5,001 (425) 10,506 6,183 10,97 Deposits from banks, net (29) 214 (558) (187) 53 Deposits from the Government, net 5 (4) (10) (18) (3 Issuance of debentures and subordinated notes 1,156 1,003 2,620 1,028 1,78 Redemption of debentures and subordinated notes (27) (18) (151) (190) (30 Liabilities with respect to derivatives, net 1,325 4 694 661 91 Other liabilities, net (194) (7) (267) (114) 10 Dividends paid to shareholders - (200) - (200) (200)  Net cash provided by (used for) activities in liabilities and shareholders' equity 7,237 567 12,834 7,163 13,77 Increase in cash 137 (4,039) 2,338 (2,256) 42 Cash balance at beginning of period 12,036 11,189 9,835 9,406 9,40	Cash flows provided by activities in liabilities					
Deposits from banks, net       (29)       214       (558)       (187)       53         Deposits from the Government, net       5       (4)       (10)       (18)       (3         Issuance of debentures and subordinated notes       1,156       1,003       2,620       1,028       1,78         Redemption of debentures and subordinated notes       (27)       (18)       (151)       (190)       (30         Liabilities with respect to derivatives, net       1,325       4       694       661       91         Other liabilities, net       (194)       (7)       (267)       (114)       10         Dividends paid to shareholders       -       (200)       -       (200)       (200)         Net cash provided by (used for) activities in       1       13,77       567       12,834       7,163       13,77         Increase in cash       137       (4,039)       2,338       (2,256)       42         Cash balance at beginning of period       12,036       11,189       9,835       9,406       9,40	and shareholders' equity					
Deposits from the Government, net 5 (4) (10) (18) (3) Issuance of debentures and subordinated notes 1,156 1,003 2,620 1,028 1,78 Redemption of debentures and subordinated notes (27) (18) (151) (190) (30 Liabilities with respect to derivatives, net 1,325 4 694 661 91 Other liabilities, net (194) (7) (267) (114) 10 Dividends paid to shareholders - (200) - (200) (200 Net cash provided by (used for) activities in liabilities and shareholders' equity 7,237 567 12,834 7,163 13,77 Increase in cash 137 (4,039) 2,338 (2,256) 42 Cash balance at beginning of period 12,036 11,189 9,835 9,406 9,406	Deposits from the public, net	5,001	(425)	10,506	6,183	10,970
Issuance of debentures and subordinated notes       1,156       1,003       2,620       1,028       1,78         Redemption of debentures and subordinated notes       (27)       (18)       (151)       (190)       (30         Liabilities with respect to derivatives, net       1,325       4       694       661       91         Other liabilities, net       (194)       (7)       (267)       (114)       10         Dividends paid to shareholders       -       (200)       -       (200)       (200)         Net cash provided by (used for) activities in       1       137       567       12,834       7,163       13,77         Increase in cash       137       (4,039)       2,338       (2,256)       42         Cash balance at beginning of period       12,036       11,189       9,835       9,406       9,40	Deposits from banks, net	(29)	214	(558)	(187)	533
Redemption of debentures and subordinated notes       (27)       (18)       (151)       (190)       (30         Liabilities with respect to derivatives, net       1,325       4       694       661       91         Other liabilities, net       (194)       (7)       (267)       (114)       10         Dividends paid to shareholders       -       (200)       -       (200)       (200)         Net cash provided by (used for) activities in liabilities and shareholders' equity       7,237       567       12,834       7,163       13,77         Increase in cash       137       (4,039)       2,338       (2,256)       42         Cash balance at beginning of period       12,036       11,189       9,835       9,406       9,40	Deposits from the Government, net	5	(4)	(10)	(18)	(37)
Liabilities with respect to derivatives, net       1,325       4       694       661       91         Other liabilities, net       (194)       (7)       (267)       (114)       10         Dividends paid to shareholders       -       (200)       -       (200)       (200)         Net cash provided by (used for) activities in liabilities and shareholders' equity       7,237       567       12,834       7,163       13,77         Increase in cash       137       (4,039)       2,338       (2,256)       42         Cash balance at beginning of period       12,036       11,189       9,835       9,406       9,40	Issuance of debentures and subordinated notes	1,156	1,003	2,620	1,028	1,786
Other liabilities, net       (194)       (7)       (267)       (114)       10         Dividends paid to shareholders       -       (200)       -       (200)       (200)         Net cash provided by (used for) activities in         liabilities and shareholders' equity       7,237       567       12,834       7,163       13,77         Increase in cash       137       (4,039)       2,338       (2,256)       42         Cash balance at beginning of period       12,036       11,189       9,835       9,406       9,40	Redemption of debentures and subordinated notes	(27)	(18)	(151)	(190)	(301)
Dividends paid to shareholders         -         (200)         -         (200)         (200)           Net cash provided by (used for) activities in liabilities and shareholders' equity         7,237         567         12,834         7,163         13,77           Increase in cash         137         (4,039)         2,338         (2,256)         42           Cash balance at beginning of period         12,036         11,189         9,835         9,406         9,40	Liabilities with respect to derivatives, net	1,325	4	694	661	911
Net cash provided by (used for) activities in         liabilities and shareholders' equity       7,237       567       12,834       7,163       13,77         Increase in cash       137       (4,039)       2,338       (2,256)       42         Cash balance at beginning of period       12,036       11,189       9,835       9,406       9,40	Other liabilities, net	(194)	(7)	(267)	(114)	108
liabilities and shareholders' equity         7,237         567         12,834         7,163         13,77           Increase in cash         137         (4,039)         2,338         (2,256)         42           Cash balance at beginning of period         12,036         11,189         9,835         9,406         9,40	Dividends paid to shareholders	-	(200)	-	(200)	(200)
Increase in cash         137         (4,039)         2,338         (2,256)         42           Cash balance at beginning of period         12,036         11,189         9,835         9,406         9,40	Net cash provided by (used for) activities in					
Cash balance at beginning of period 12,036 11,189 9,835 9,406 9,40	liabilities and shareholders' equity	7,237	567	12,834	7,163	13,770
	Increase in cash	137	(4,039)	2,338	(2,256)	429
Cash balance at end of period 12,173 7,150 12,173 7,150 9,83	Cash balance at beginning of period	12,036	11,189	9,835	9,406	9,406
	Cash balance at end of period	12,173	7,150	12,173	7,150	9,835

					For the Year
	For the three months ended September 30		For the nine months ended September 30		Ended
					December 31
	2011	2010	2011	2010	2010
	(unaudited)		(unaudited)		(audited)
Appendix A - Non-cash Transactions					
1) Acquisition of buildings and equipment	15	-	17	8	2

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.

## **Note 1 - Reporting Principles and Accounting Policies**

#### A. General

The financial statements as of September 30, 2011 are prepared in accordance with directives of the Supervisor of Banks with regard to preparation of quarterly financial statements of banking corporations, and do not include all of the information required in annual financial statements. These financial statements should be used in conjunction with the audited financial statements as of December 31, 2010.

The Group accounting policy in these condensed consolidated quarterly financial statements is consistent with the policy applied to the annual financial statements, except as noted below in section E.

In accordance with directives of the Supervisor of Banks, the financial statements are only issued on a consolidated basis.

#### B. Principles of financial reporting

These condensed financial statements have been prepared as follows:

- As for core banking business issues the accounting treatment is in accordance with directives of the Supervisor of Banks and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for US banks, as adopted in the Supervisor of Banks' Public Reporting Regulations.
- 2. As for non core banking business issues the accounting treatment is in accordance with Israeli GAAP and in accordance with the following International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the IFRIC interpretations pertaining there to:
  - IAS 8 "Accounting policies, changes in accounting estimates and errors"
  - IAS 21 "The effects of changes in foreign exchange rates"
  - IAS 33 "Earnings per share"
  - IFRS 2 "Share-based payment"
  - IAS 29 "Financial reporting of branches or affiliates in hyper-inflationary economies"
  - IAS 34 "Interim financial reporting"
  - IFRS 3 (2008) "Business combinations"
  - IAS 27 (2008) "Consolidated and separate financial statements"
  - IAS 28 "Investments in associates"
  - IAS 36 "Impairment of assets"
  - IAS 17 "Leases"
  - IAS 16 "Fixed assets"
  - IAS 40 "Investment property"
  - IFRS 5 "Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations"
  - IAS 10 "Events after the reporting period"
  - IAS 20 "Government grants and disclosure of government assistance"
  - IAS 31 "Interests in joint ventures"
  - IAS 38 "Intangible assets"

International standards are applied in accordance with the following guidelines:

- In cases where a material issue arises, which is not addressed by the international standards or by application directives issued by the Supervisor of Banks, the Bank shall handle the issue in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles at US banks which specifically apply to these issues.
- In cases where no specific reference is made in the standards or interpretations of material issues, or where there are multiple alternatives for handling a material issue, the Group shall act in accordance with specific application directives issued by the Supervisor of Banks.
- In cases where the adopted international standard makes reference to another international standard adopted under the public reporting directives, the Group shall act in accordance with provisions of the international standard.
- In cases where the adopted international standard makes reference to an international standard not adopted under the public reporting directives, the Group shall act in accordance with reporting directives and in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles in Israel.
- In cases where the adopted international standard makes reference to definition of a term also defined in the public reporting directives, the reference to the definition in the directives shall replace the original reference.

The issues where adoption of international standards has affected the accounting policy used to prepare these financial statements are listed under section E.2. below.

#### C. Use of estimates

In preparing the condensed consolidated quarterly financial statements in accordance with directives and guidelines of the Supervisor of Banks, Bank management is required to use judgment, assessments, estimates and assumptions which impact policy implementation and amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Except as stated in section E.4. below, management judgment when applying Group accounting policy and the major assumptions used in assessments involving uncertainty are consistent with those applied in preparing the annual financial statements.

#### D. Reclassification

Following initial application of certain accounting standards and directives by the Supervisor of Banks, as described below in section E., certain sections of the financial statements and comparative figures were reclassified to align them with section headings and with reporting requirements in the current period.

Items included on condensed consolidated balance sheet:

- Goodwill amounting to NIS 90 million and NIS 87 million, included as of September 30, 2010 and December 31, 2010, respectively, under Other Assets, is presented on the balance sheet as of September 30, 2011 as a separate item.
- Assets with respect to derivatives amounting to NIS 2,278 million and NIS 3,449 million, included as of September 30, 2010 and December 31, 2010, respectively, under Other Assets, is presented on the balance sheet as of September 30, 2011 as a separate item.
- Liabilities with respect to derivatives amounting to NIS 2,680 million and NIS 2,892 million, included as of September 30, 2010 and December 31, 2010, respectively, under Other Liabilities, is presented on the balance sheet as of September 30, 2011 as a separate item.
- Loans to the public, net as of September 30, 2010 and December 31, 2010 were reclassified for presentation at gross amount as from January 1, 2011.
- Non-controlling interest (minority interest) is included in total shareholders' equity.

Items included on condensed consolidated statement of profit and loss:

Expenses with respect to amortization and impairment of intangible assets and goodwill, amounting to NIS 4 million and NIS 11 million for the three- and nine-month periods ended September 30, 2010, respectively, were reclassified from Other Expenses and are presented as a separate item. Further, an amount of NIS 14 million was reclassified accordingly in the year ended December 31, 2010.

#### E. Initial adoption of accounting standards, accounting standard updates and directives of the Supervisor of Banks

As from periods starting on January 1, 2011, the Bank applies accounting standards and directives as follows:

- 1. Supervisor of Banks' directive concerning measurement and disclosure of impaired debt, credit risk and provision for credit loss, amended directive on treatment of troubled debt and specific directive on group provision for credit loss.
- 2. Certain International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and IFRIC interpretations with regard to application of these standards.
- US accounting standards FAS 157 / ASC 820-10 "Fair-value measurement" (hereinafter: "FAS 157"), FAS 159 (ASC 825-10) "Fair-value option for financial assets and financial liabilities" (hereinafter: "FAS 159") and accounting standard update ASU 2010-06 "Improvements to disclosures about fair value measurement".

- 4. Supervisor of Banks' directives with regard to strengthening internal controls over financial reporting of employee rights.
  - In the second quarter of 2011, management commissioned an actuarial estimate of total increased severance pay to be paid to employees, as per directives of the Supervisor of Banks and based on management expectations. Accordingly, the balances of provision and reserves on the financial statements as of June 30, 2011 were revised for all reporting dates presented on these financial statements, and payroll expenses and net profit were revised for all reporting periods presented on these financial statements.
- 5. Update to accounting standards ASU 2011-02: A creditor's determination with regard to restructuring of troubled debt.

Below is a description of the nature of changes made to accounting policies in these condensed consolidated quarterly financial statements:

 Supervisor of Banks' directive concerning measurement and disclosure of impaired debt, credit risk and provision for credit loss, amended directive on treatment of troubled debt and specific directive on group provision for credit loss:

Pursuant to the Supervisor of Banks' new directive on measurement and disclosure of impaired debt, credit risk and provision for credit loss, the Bank applies as from January 1, 2011 the US accounting standards on this issue (ASC 310) and the opinion of the US banking supervision authorities and of the US SEC, as adopted in the Public Reporting Regulations.

The directive is applied to all debt balances, including deposits with banks, debentures, securities borrowed or purchased in repurchase agreements, loans to the public, loans to the government etc. Loans to the public and other debt balances for which no specific rules on measurement of provision for credit loss were specified in the Public Reporting Regulations (such as: loans to the government and deposits with banks) are reported on the Bank's accounts at their recorded debt balance. The recorded debt balance is defined as the debt balance after accounting write-offs but before deduction of the provision for credit loss for that debt. The recorded debt balance does not include any accrued interest not recognized, or previously recognized and then reversed. Note that prior to January 1, 2011, the Bank applied different rules, whereby the debt balance on the Bank's books included interest accrued prior to classification as non-accruing troubled debt. Therefore, debt balances presented in periods preceding the initial implementation period are not comparable with debt balances reported after implementation. As for other debt balances for which specific rules on measurement and recognition of provision for credit loss exist (such as: debentures), the Bank continues to apply the same measurement rules.

#### **Provision for credit loss**

The Bank has put in place procedures for classification of credit and for measurement of provision for credit loss, in order to maintain an appropriate provision to cover expected credit loss with regard to the Bank's loan portfolio. Further, the Bank has put in place procedures required to maintain, as a separate liability account, an appropriate provision to cover expected credit loss with regard to off-balance sheet credit instruments (such as: commitments to provide credit, unutilized credit facilities and guarantees).

The required provision to cover expected credit losses from the credit portfolio is estimated under one of the following tracks: "individual provision" or "group provision". Further, the Bank reviews the overall appropriateness of the provision for credit loss.

"An individual provision for credit loss" is applied for any debts determined to be impaired, whose contractual balance (including accounting write-offs, unrecognized interest, provisions for credit losses and collateral) is NIS 700 thousand or higher. Debt is classified as impaired when, based on current information and events, it is expected that the Bank would be unable to collect all amounts due pursuant to contractual terms of the debt contract. In any case, debt is classified as impaired when its principal or interest is in arrears over 90 days, unless the debt is well secured and is in collection proceedings. Further, any debt whose terms and conditions have been changed in conjunction with restructuring of troubled debt would be classified as impaired debt, unless prior to and following such restructuring, a minimum provision for credit loss by extent of arrears was made with respect to that debt pursuant to the appendix to Proper Conduct of Banking Business Regulation 314 on troubled debt in housing loans at mortgage banks.

For other debt, the banking corporation may decide whether to make an individual assessment. The individual provision for credit loss is estimated based on expected future cash flows, discounted using the effective interest rate of the original debt. Where debt collection is contingent upon collateral, or if the bank determines that an asset is expected to be seized, the initial provision for credit loss shall be estimated based on fair value of the collateral securing said credit.

"A provision for credit loss using group estimate" is applied for large, homogeneous groups of small debts (whose balance is below NIS 700 thousand, as determined by the Bank) (such as: credit card debts, housing loans and consumer debts repaid by installments) as well as for large, non-impaired debts. The provision for credit losses from debts based on group estimate, except for loans for which a specific minimum provision by extent of arrears has been calculated as per directives of the Supervisor of Banks, is calculated based on rules set forth in USA Accounting Standard FAS 5: "Accounting for Contingencies" (hereafter "FAS 5"), based on a formula specified in the interim directive issued by the Supervisor of Banks, in effect through December 31, 2012.

This formula is based on past loss rates by economic sector, as well as rates of on net accounting write-offs actually recognized as from January 1, 2011. In addition to calculating the range of historic loss rates for various economic sectors, as per the above, for determining the appropriate rate of provision, the Bank also accounts for other data, including trends in credit volume for each sector as well as sector condition, macroeconomic data and general quality assessment of credit to each economic sector.

Pursuant to provisions stipulated by the interim directive, as from January 1, 2011 the Bank does not maintain general and supplementary provisions, but continued to calculate the supplementary provision and to verify that in any case, the amount of group provision at the end of each reporting period shall be no less than the sum of general and supplementary provisions which would have been calculated as of the same date, gross of tax.

The required provision with regard to off-balance sheet credit instruments is assessed as per rules stated in FAS 5. The provision estimated on group basis for off-balance sheet credit instruments is based on provision rates specified for on-balance sheet credit (as stated above), accounting for expected credit realization rate for the off-balance sheet credit risk. The credit realization rate is calculated by the Bank based on credit conversion factors, as prescribed by Proper Conduct of Banking Business Regulation 203 "Measurement and capital adequacy - Credit risk - Standard approach" with certain adjustments in cases where the Bank has past experience which indicates the credit realization rates.

A minimum provision with respect to housing loans is calculated based on the formula stipulated by the Supervisor of Banks, by extent of arrears, such that the provision rate is higher the longer the arrears. Upon the start date of application of the new directive, the amendment to appendix to Proper Conduct of Banking Business Regulation 314 "Troubled debt in housing loans at mortgage banks" became effective, expanding the scope of calculation of provision by extent of arrears to all housing loans, other than loans not repaid by periodic installments and loans used to finance activity of a business nature. Further, the Supervisor of Banks instructed the banking corporations, in a letter dated May 1, 2011, to make a group provision for housing loans in addition to the provision by extent of arrears. The Bank has put in place a methodology for calculating the group provision with respect to housing loans, whereby the provision amount is derived from the increase in current credit grant volume compared to past periods. The amendment is applied prospectively starting with financial statements for periods starting on January 1, 2011.

Initial application of these changes to interest calculation on housing loans resulted in a NIS 84 million increase in provision (NIS 75 million in group provision and NIS 9 million increase in provision by extent of arrears) which was charged, net of tax, as a NIS 55 million adjustment (decrease) in retained earnings as of the initial application date. The Bank classifies all troubled debt and troubled off-balance sheet credit items under: special supervision, inferior or impaired.

#### Income recognition

Upon classification of debt as impaired, the Bank classifies the debt as non-accruing debt and discontinues accrual of relevant interest income, except as stated below for certain restructured debt. Further, upon classification of debt as impaired, the Bank reverses all accrued and uncollected interest income recognized as income in profit and loss. The debt continues to be classified as non-accruing debt for as long as it is classified as impaired debt. Debt which has been formally restructured as troubled debt, and after this restructuring there is reasonable certainty that the debt will be repaid and will perform as per the new terms and conditions, shall be treated as accruing impaired debt. For debt reviewed and provided for on a group basis which is over 90 days in arrears, the Bank does not discontinue accrual of interest income. Such debt is subject to assessment of a group provision for credit loss, which ensures that Bank profit is not skewed upwards.

Commissions for delinquency of such debt is included as income when the Bank has the right to receive them from the client, provided that collection is reasonably secured.

#### Restructuring of troubled debt

Debt which has been formally restructured as troubled debt is defined as debt for which, for economic or legal reasons related to financial difficulties of the debtor, the Bank has made a concession by way of modification to terms and conditions of the debt, designed to make it easier for the debtor to make cash payments in the near term (reduction or postponement of cash payments due from the debtor), or by way of receiving other assets as debt repayment (in whole or in part). In order to determine whether debt restructuring by the Bank constitutes troubled debt restructuring, the Bank conducts a qualitative review of all restructuring terms and circumstances in order to determine whether the debtor is in financial duress and whether the Bank made a concession to the debtor in conjunction with the restructuring.

In order to determine whether the creditor is in financial duress, the Bank reviews for indications of the creditor being in financial duress at the time of restructuring, or for reasonable likelihood that the creditor would be in financial duress if not for the restructuring.

The Bank concludes that a concession was made to the creditor in conjunction with the restructuring - even if the contractual interest rate was increased in the restructuring - if as a result of the restructuring, the Bank is not expected to collect the full debt amount, or if the creditor is unable to raise financing at going market rates for debt with similar terms and conditions to those of the restructured debt. Restructured debt, including debt assessed on a group basis prior to restructuring, shall be classified as impaired debt and shall be individually assessed for making a provision for credit loss or accounting write-off. Since the debt being restructured would not be repaid as per its original contractual terms, the debt continues to be classified as impaired debt even after the debtor resumes repayments pursuant to the new terms and conditions.

#### **Accounting write-off**

The Bank makes accounting write-offs of any debt, or part of it, individually assessed as not collectible and of low value, so that maintaining it as an asset is not justified, or any debt which is subject to long-term collection effort by the Bank. For debt assessed on a group basis, write-off rules have been put in place based on extent of arrears (mostly - over 150 consecutive days in arrears) and on other problem parameters. Note that accounting write-offs do not involve any legal concession, and merely reduce the debt balance reported for accounting purposes, while creating a new cost basis for the debt on Bank accounts.

## Initial application

Below is the impact of new directives on major balance sheet items on the financial statements as of December 31, 2010, had they been applied on said date:

Summary of effect on retained earnings

	As of December 31, 2010
Retained earnings stated on financial statements	4,980
Cumulative effect, net of tax, of initial application of the new directives	(359)
Includes: Change in provision for credit loss	(691)
Includes: Related tax effect	316
Share of external shareholders in provision for credit loss	16
Retained earnings pursuant to the new directives	4,621

Effect on deferred taxes, net

	As of December 31, 2010
Balance of deferred taxes, net included on financial statements	338
Effect of initial application of the new directives	296
Balance of deferred taxes, net pursuant to new directives	634

For further details of the effect on financial statements, see Note 3 to the financial statements.

#### 2. Certain International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) on non-core banking business matters

## A. IAS 21 on impact of changes in foreign currency exchange rates Foreign currency transactions

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the relevant functional currencies of the Bank and its affiliates using the exchange rate as of the transaction date. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency as of the reporting date are translated into the functional currency at the exchange rate as of that date. Exchange rate differences with respect to monetary items are the differences between the amortized cost in the functional currency as of the start of the year, adjusted for the effective interest and installments during the year, and the amortized cost in foreign currency, translated at the exchange rate as of the end of the year.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency and measured at fair value, are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rate as of the date on which the fair value is determined. Exchange rate differences arising from translation into the functional currency are recognized on the statement of profit and loss, other than differences arising from translation into the functional currency of non-monetary equity financial instruments classified as available-for-sale, financial liabilities used to hedge investments in foreign operations, loans to foreign operations which are part of net investment in foreign operations, or cash flow hedges which are recognized under Other Comprehensive Profit.

Non-monetary items denominated in foreign currency and measured at historical cost, are translated at the exchange rate as of the transaction date.

#### Foreign operations

Assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments generated upon acquisition, were translated into NIS at exchange rates as of the reporting date. Income and expenses of foreign operations were translated into NIS at exchange rates as of the transaction date. Translation differences from exchange rates are recognized under Other Comprehensive Profit as from January 1, 2011, the adoption date of IAS 21 "Changes in foreign exchange rates" and are presented in equity under Reserve from Translation of Foreign Operations (hereinafter: "translation adjustments").

If the foreign operation is a subsidiary not wholly-owned by the Group, the pro-rata share of exchange rate differences with respect to the foreign operation is attributed to the non-controlling interest.

Upon realization of foreign operations which results in loss of control, material influence or joint control, the amount accumulated under Reserve for Translation Adjustments from Foreign Operations is reclassified to profit and loss, as part of the gain or loss from said realization.

Upon change in the holding stake of the Group in a subsidiary which includes foreign operations, while maintaining control over the subsidiary, the pro-rata share of the accumulated exchange rate difference amount recognized under Other Comprehensive Profit is reattributed to the non-controlling interest.

When the Group realizes part of an investment which is an associate or jointly-controlled entity which includes foreign operations, while maintaining material influence or joint control, the pro-rata share of the accumulated exchange rate difference amount is reclassified to profit and loss.

When discharge of loans received from or granted to foreign operations is not planned and is not expected in the foreseeable future, any gain or loss from exchange rate differences arising from such monetary items is included under net investment in foreign operations, recognized under Other Comprehensive Profit and presented under equity as part of the Reserve for Translation Adjustments.

#### Overseas banking affiliates

According to directives by the Supervisor of Banks prior to adoption of IFRS, an overseas banking affiliate of a banking corporation was classified as a foreign operation whose functional currency is the same as that of the banking corporation.

In accordance with IFRS, in order to determine the functional currency, the banking corporation should consider, *inter alia*, the following:

- The currency which primarily affects the selling price of goods and services (usually this would be the currency in which selling prices of goods and services are denominated and settled), and the currency of the country whose competitive forces and regulation primarily determine the selling prices of goods and services.
- The currency which primarily affects labor costs, material and other costs for delivery of goods or services (usually, this would be the currency in which these costs are denominated and settled).
- Other factors which may serve as evidence of the entity's functional currency, such as: The
  currency in which monetary resources are generated by financing operations, and the currency in
  which receipts from current operations are usually kept.
- Relations of the affiliate with the banking corporation is the foreign operation significantly independent, do transactions between the affiliate and the banking corporations constitute a large or small percentage of the foreign operation, do cash flows from the foreign operation directly affect the cash flows of the banking corporation and are readily available to be transferred to it, and are cash flows from the foreign operation sufficient to fund its current and anticipated liabilities in the normal course of business of the entity, without resources being provided by the banking corporation.

Upon initial application of IAS 21, the Bank reviewed its overseas affiliates in accordance with these criteria. In accordance with the Supervisor of Banks' directives, reclassification of a banking affiliate as foreign operations whose functional currency is other than NIS, requires that a pre-ruling be obtained from the Manager, Financial Reporting Department, Supervision of Banks. Therefore, pending receipt of such pre-ruling, the Bank continues to treat its overseas banking affiliates as foreign operations whose functional currency is identical to the Bank's functional currency.

A capital reserve from translation differences, with a debit balance of NIS 51 million, accumulated through 1994 with respect to overseas banking affiliates previously classified as autonomous units, was classified upon the transition date to retained earnings.

# B. IFRS 3 (2008) "Business combinations", IAS 27 (2008) "Consolidated and separate financial statements", IAS 28 "Investments in associates" and IAS 31 "Interests in joint ventures' Consolidation basis

Due to initial application of IFRS 3 (2008) and IAS 27 (2008), the Bank revised the accounting policy applied to business combinations and to transactions with a non-controlling interest.

### **Business combinations**

The Bank applies the acquisition method to all business combinations.

The acquisition date is the date on which the acquiring entity achieves control over the acquired entity. Control is the power to determine financial and operational policy of an entity to achieve benefits from its operations. When testing for existence of control, immediately realizable potential voting rights are taken into account. The Bank exercises judgment in determining the acquisition date and whether or not control has been achieved. In accordance with directives of the Supervisor of Banks, a banking corporation may apply the standard retrospectively or prospectively, starting with financial statements for periods starting on January 1, 2011. The Bank has elected to apply the standard prospectively, hence no reattribution of excess cost was made for acquisitions prior to application of the standard. Amortization of goodwill with respect to investments made prior to application of the standard, and in lieu, the need for making a provision for impairment of other-than-temporary nature shall be reviewed as stated in section 2.F. below.

For an acquisition made after January 1, 2011, the Bank would recognize goodwill as of the acquisition date at fair value of the consideration, including amounts with respect to any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and the fair value as of the acquisition date of equity interest in the acquired entity previously held by the Bank, less the net amount attributed upon acquisition to identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

#### Non-controlling interest

A non-controlling interest is any shareholders' equity in a subsidiary which is not attributable, directly or indirectly, to the parent company. A non-controlling interest, comprising instruments which confer ownership interest at present and which confer on its holder a share of net assets upon dissolution are measured at fair value upon the business combination date.

#### Attribution of Profit and of Other Comprehensive Profit items among shareholders

Profit or loss and any Other Comprehensive Profit item is attributed to the controlling shareholder of the entity and to the non-controlling interest. Total profit and Other Comprehensive Profit are attributed to the controlling shareholder of the entity and to the non-controlling interest, even if this results in a negative balance for the non-controlling interest.

#### Investment in associates and in entities

Associates are entities in which the Bank has material influence over financial and operational policy, but over which it has no control.

Investment in entities is accounted for using the equity method and is initially recognized at cost. The investment cost includes transaction costs. The consolidated financial statements include the Bank's share of income and expenses, profit or loss and Other Comprehensive Profit of investees accounted for using the equity method, after required adjustments to align the accounting policy with that of the Group as from the date on which material influence exists until such material influence ceases to exist.

The Bank does not make adjustments to accounting policies with regard to core banking business issues (issues where IFRS are yet to be adopted by the Public Reporting Regulations) applied by a non-banking associate.

When the Group's share of loss exceeds the value of the Group's interest in an entity accounted for using the equity method, the carrying amount of these rights (including any long-term investment) is fully amortized, and the Group recognizes no further loss, unless the Group is committed to support the investee, or if the Group has paid any amounts in consideration for it.

Based on international standards, when determining the existence of material influence, certain potential voting rights should be taken into account. The standard has been prospectively applied starting with financial statements for periods starting on January 1, 2011, and its initial application had no impact on the Bank's financial statements.

#### C. IAS 36 "Impairment of assets" - investments in associates accounted for using the equity method

Investments in associates are reviewed for impairment when there is objective evidence indicating impairment, in accordance with IAS 36 "Impairment of assets" and in accordance with decision 1-4 by the Israeli Securities Authority "Guidelines for review of need to amortize permanent investments". Goodwill which is part of the investment account in the associate is not recognized as a separate asset, and therefore is not separately reviewed for impairment. Impairment is reviewed for the investment as a whole. If there is objective evidence indicating potential impairment of the investment, the Bank estimates the recoverable amount of the investment, which is its value in use or its net selling price, whichever is higher.

In determining the value in use of investment in an associate, the Bank estimates its share of the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to be generated by the associate, including operating cash flows of the associate and consideration for final realization of the investment, or the present value of estimated future cash flows expected to be derived from dividends received and from final realization.

Impairment loss is recognized when the carrying amount of the investment, accounted for using the equity method, exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment loss is not attributed to any specific asset, including goodwill which is part of the investment account in an associate or in a jointly-controlled entity. Impairment loss is only reversed if a change occurs to estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of the investment after the date on which impairment loss was most recently recognized.

The carrying amount of the investment, after reversal of impairment loss, shall not exceed the carrying amount of the investment which would have been determined using the equity method if no impairment loss had been recognized. Reversal of impairment loss shall be recognized under "Banking corporation's share of operating profit or loss of associates".

Initial application of the standard had no impact on the Bank's financial statements.

### D. IAS 17 "Leases"

Leases, including land leases from the Israel Land Administration ("ILA") or from third parties, where the Bank essentially bears all risk and reward associated with the property, are classified as financing leases. Upon initial recognition, leased assets are measured at their fair value or the present value of minimum future leasing fee, whichever is lower. Future payments for exercise of an option to extend the lease term with ILA are not recognized as part of the referring asset and liability, since they constitute a contingent leasing fee, derived from the fair value of the land upon future renewal dates of the lease. Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is treated as per the accounting policy applicable for such asset. Other leases are classified as operating leases, with leased assets not recognized on the Bank's balance sheet.

Prepaid leasing fee paid to the ILA with respect to land leases classified as operating leases are presented on the balance sheet as prepaid expenses, and are recognized on the statement of profit and loss over the lease term. The lease term and amortization amounts account for any option to extend the lease term, if upon contracting the lease it was reasonably certain that the option would be exercised.

Payments for an operating lease are charged to the statement of profit and loss using the straight line method over the lease term. Lease incentives received are recognized as an integral part of all lease expenses using the straight line method over the lease term.

Minimum leasing fees payable for a financing lease are divided into financing expenses and reduction of the liability balance. Financing expenses are allocated for all periods in the lease term, so as to obtain a fixed periodic interest rate for the outstanding liability balance. Minimum leasing fees with respect to contingent leasing fees are updated when the contingency is resolved.

At the outset or upon review of the agreement, the Bank determines whether it is a lease or whether it includes a lease. A specific property is subject to a lease if existence of the agreement is contingent on use of a specific asset(s). An agreement transfers the right to use the property if it transfers the right to control use of the property. Payments and other consideration required pursuant to the agreement are separated at the outset or upon review of the agreements, into payments with respect to the lease and into other components, based on their pro-rata fair value.

For a financing lease, if it is impracticable to reliably separate the payments, the Bank recognizes an asset and a liability whose amount is equal to the fair value of the underlying asset. In subsequent periods, the liability is amortized as payments are made, and an inherent financing expense is recognized with respect to the liability, using the incremental interest rate of the acquirer.

Initial application of the standard had no impact on the Bank's financial statements.

#### E. IFRS 5 "Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations"

In accordance with international standards, as adopted in the public reporting directives, assets which meet the criteria prescribed by the standard for classification as held for sale, except for "assets seized" in credit transactions, as defined in the public reporting directives, shall be measured at their carrying amount or at their fair value net of selling costs, whichever is lower. Furthermore, in accordance with IFRS, these assets shall not be amortized after the date of their classification as held for sale. The Bank prospectively applies the standard as from financial statements for periods starting on January 1, 2011; therefore initial application of the standard had no impact.

research expenses are recognized as expenses when incurred.

#### F. IAS 38 "Intangible assets"

#### Goodwill

For information on measurement of goodwill upon initial recognition, see section 2B above. In subsequent periods, goodwill is measured at cost net of accumulated impairment loss.

#### Software cost

Software acquired by the Bank is measured at cost net of accumulated depreciation and impairment loss. Cost associated with software development or customization is capitalized if and only if: development cost may be reliably measured; the software is technically and commercially feasible; future economic benefits are expected; and the Bank has the intent and sufficient resources to complete development and put the software into use. Cost recognized as an intangible asset includes direct cost of goods and services and direct employee wages. Such cost is measured at cost net of accumulated depreciation and impairment loss. Overhead cost not directly attributable to software development and

#### Amortization

Amortization is charged to the statement of profit and loss using the straight line method over the estimated useful life of intangible assets, including software assets, as from the date on which these assets are available for use.

Goodwill and intangible assets of unspecified useful life are not systematically amortized, but rather are reviewed for impairment at least once annually.

Intangible assets generated at the Bank (such as: software under development) are not systematically amortized while they are not available for use. Therefore, such intangible assets are reviewed for impairment at least once annually, until such data on which they become available for use.

#### Subsequent cost

Subsequent cost is recognized as an intangible asset only when it increases the future economic benefit inherent in the asset with respect to which it was incurred. Other cost, including cost associated with goodwill or self-developed brands, is charged to the statement of profit and loss when incurred. Initial application of IAS 38 has no material impact on the Bank's financial statements.

 FAS 157 "Fair-value measurement" (FAS 159 (ASC 820-10) "Fair-value option for financial assets and financial liabilities" and ASU 2010-06 (ASC 825-10) "Improvements to disclosure of fair value measurement"

FAS 157 defines fair value, and sets fort a consistent work framework for fair value measurement, by defining valuation techniques and a fair value ranking. The ranking divides instruments measured at fair value into three levels:

**Level 1** - fair value measured using prices quoted for identical instruments on an active market accessible by the bank upon the measurement date.

**Level 2** - fair value measured using observed data, either direct or indirect, which are not quoted prices as determined under Level 1. Level 2 data include quoted market data on active markets, or on non active markets, if they exist, or data derived from or based upon such observed market data.

Level 3 - fair value measured by using non-observed data.

FAS 157 expands the disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. Application of the standard allows recognition of "first day" gains, and eliminates the obligation to determine the fair value of derivative instruments not traded on an active market based on the transaction price.

FAS 157 applies starting on January 1, 2011, and is applied prospectively, except for financial instruments initially measured prior to initial application as follows:

- 1. Positions in financial instruments traded on an active market measured at fair value using the blockage factor.
- 2. Derivative instruments measured at fair value pursuant to Part Ia of Public Reporting Directives (FAS 133) using transaction price, since they are not traded on an active market.
- 3. Mixed financial instruments measured at fair value upon initial recognition, using the transaction price pursuant to Part Ia of Public Reporting Directives (FAS 133).

The standard stipulates that the banking corporation should reflect credit risk and non-performance risk in measuring the fair value of debt, including derivatives, issued and measured at fair value. Non-performance risk includes the banking corporation's credit risk, but is not limited to this risk alone.

The Bank assesses credit risk in derivatives as follows:

- When there is sufficient liquid collateral with respect to the exposure, which specifically secures the derivative,
   the Bank assumes that credit risk is zero, and does not adjust the fair value with respect to credit quality of the counter-party.
- When exposure with respect to the counter-party, on consolidated basis, is material (over 1% of the Bank's equity) the Bank conducts a fair value assessment based on indications of the credit quality of the counter-party from transactions on an active market, in as much as such indications are available by reasonable effort. The Bank derives these indications, inter alia, from prices of debt instruments of the counter-party traded on an active market, and from prices of credit derivatives based on the credit quality of the counter-party. If no such indications are available, the Bank calculates the adjustments based on internal ratings (such as: Estimated expected failure ratio and credit loss rate upon failure).
- When exposure with respect to the counter-party, on a consolidated basis, is not material the Bank calculates the aforementioned adjustment on a group basis, using a credit quality benchmark based on groups of similar counter-parties, for example based on internal ratings.

Further, the Bank conducts reasonability testing of results obtained from internal assessment with regard to changes in market spreads, and makes the required adjustments, if any.

In order to adapt the banking corporation's valuation methods to the exit price principle and to provisions specified in the standard, the banking corporation is required to review the valuation methods applied for measuring fair value, taking into consideration the relevant circumstances of the various transactions, including recent transaction prices on the market, indicative prices from valuation services and results of back testing of similar transaction types.

The new disclosure requirements, including disclosure required exclusively on annual reports, are applied as from the first quarter of 2011, without requiring application to financial statements for periods prior to initial application of the standard.

Upon initial application of the standard in the first quarter of 2011, profit from financing operations for the quarter increased by NIS 17 million (NIS 11 million after tax).

In January 2010, the accounting standard update ASU 2010-06 on "Improvement of disclosure with regard to fair value measurement" was published in conjunction with application of Standard 157. In accordance with the update, disclosure and explanation are required if significant amounts measured at fair value are transferred from Level 1 to Level 2 or vice versa. Furthermore, disclosure is required of gross changes in amounts measured at fair value at level 3, due to acquisition, sale, issuance and redemption.

#### **Securities**

The fair value of securities held for trade and securities available for sale is determined based on quoted market prices on a major market. When there are multiple markets on which the security is traded, the estimate is based on the quoted market price on the most effective market. In such cases, the fair value of the Bank's investment in securities is the product of the number of units and the aforementioned quoted market price. If a quoted market price is not available, the fair value estimate is based on the best available information, with maximum use of observed data and taking into account the risk inherent in the financial instrument (market risk, credit risk, non-negotiability etc.)

#### Financial derivatives

Financial derivatives with an active market are valued based on market value, determined on the primary market, or in the absence of a primary market - using a quoted market price on the most effective market. Non-negotiable financial derivatives are valued using models which take into account the risk inherent in the derivative instrument (market risk, credit risk etc.) For further details, see below the valuation methodology of credit risk and non-performance risk.

#### Financial instruments other than derivatives

Most of the financial instruments in this category (such as: loans to the public and loans to the Government, deposits from the public and deposits with banks, non-negotiable subordinated notes and bonds) no "market price" is quotable, since there is no active market on which they are traded. Therefore, the fair value is estimated using acceptable pricing models, such as present value of future cash flows, discounted at an interest rate that reflects the level of risk inherent in the instrument. To this end, the future cash flows for impaired and other debt have been calculated net of effects of accounting write-offs and provision for credit loss with respect of the debt. Also, in certain cases, for the purpose of fair value measurement of non-negotiable financial liabilities, the Bank applies directives stipulated in ASU 2009-05 "Measuring liabilities at fair value". In particular, the Bank values their fair value using quoted prices of the liabilities (or of similar liabilities) which are traded as assets.

#### Fair value alternative

FAS 159 (ASC 825-10) allows banking corporations to elect, upon specified election dates, to measure at fair value financial instruments and certain other items ("qualified items") which, according to public reporting directives, are not required to be measured at fair value. Unrealized gain and loss due to changes in fair value of items for which the fair value option has been selected, are recognized on the statement of profit and loss at each subsequent reporting date. Furthermore, prepaid costs and commissions related to items for which the fair value option has been elected, are recognized on the statement of profit and loss as they are incurred. Election of the fair value option, as mentioned above, is made for each instrument individually, and may not be cancelled.

Further, FAS 159 (ASC 825-10) stipulates presentation and disclosure requirements designed to assist in comparing banking corporations which elect different measurement bases for similar types of assets and liabilities.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Supervisor of Banks' directives with regard to application of the standard have clarified that a banking corporation may not elect the fair value option, unless the banking corporation had previously developed knowledge, systems, procedures and high-level controls which would allow it to measure the item with a high degree of reliability. Therefore, the Bank may not elect the fair value option for any asset which may be classified under Level 2 or Level 3 of the fair value ranking, nor for any liability, without prior consent of the Supervisor of Banks.

FAS 159 (ASC 825-10) applies as from January 1, 2011. The Bank does not apply the fair value alternative pursuant to FAS 159 to any assets or liabilities.

## 4. Supervisor of Banks' directives with regard to strengthening internal controls over financial reporting of employee rights

On March 27, 2011, the Supervisor of Banks published directives with regard to strengthening internal controls over financial reporting of employee rights. These directives provide several clarifications with regard to assessment of liabilities with respect to employee rights, as well as directives concerning internal controls over the financial reporting process for employee rights, including a requirement to include a qualified actuary, identify and classify liabilities with respect to employee rights, maintain internal controls for reliance on the actuarial assessment and its validation, as well as certain disclosure requirements. The severance pay liability for this group of employees shall be stated on the financial statements at the amount of liability calculated on an actuarial basis, accounting for the additional cost expected to be incurred by the banking corporation with respect to providing such benefits, or the liability amount calculated as the product of the employee's monthly salary and their number of years in service, as required by Accounting Opinion 20 of the Institute of Certified Public Accountants in Israel - whichever is higher.

The directives shall be retroactively applied starting with financial statements as of June 30, 2011. Due to application of these directives, shareholders' equity attributable to equity holders of the Bank as of June 30, 2011 decreased by NIS 93 million.

The following is the impact of retroactive application for each previous reporting period included on these financial statements:

For the three month period For the nine month period For the year ended December

		tillee illoi	•			•	i oi iiie ye	ai cilucu L	
	ended	l Septembe	r 30, 2010	ended	l Septembe	er 30, 2010			31, 2010
			Reported			Reported			Reported
	As	Impact of	on these	As	Impact of	on these	As	Impact of	on these
	previously	retroactive	financia	previously	retroactive	financia	previously	retroactive	financia
	reported	application:	statements		application		reported	application	statements
				NI	S in millior	าร			
Impact on profit and loss									
items									
Payroll and associated	381	1	382	1,122	3	1,125	1,525	4	1,529
expenses									
Pre-tax operating profit	341	(1)	340	940	(3)	937	1,291	(4)	1,287
Provision for taxes on operating profit	127	-	127	345	-	345	470	(1)	469
After-tax operating profit	214	(1)	213	595	(3)	592	821	(3)	818
Net profit <sup>(1)</sup>	209		208	582		579	804		801
-		(.)			(0)	0.0		(0)	
Basic net earnings per share	0.04	(0.04)	0.00	0.04	(0.04)	0.00	0.00	(0.04)	0.50
	0.94	, ,	0.93	2.61	(0.01)	2.60	3.60	,	3.59
Diluted net earnings per share	0.93	(0.01)	0.92	2.58	(0.02)	2.56	3.55	(0.01)	3.54
Impact on cash flow statement									
Cash flows provided by current	444	(1)	443	1,146	(3)	1,143	1,702	(4)	1,698
operations									
				As of	Septembei	r 30, 2010	As of	December	· 31, 2010
						Reported			Reported
				As	Impact of	on these	As	Impact of	on these
				previously	retroactive	financia	previously	retroactive	financia
				reported	application	statements	reported	application	statements
				•		NIS in r		•	
Impact on balance sheet									
items									
Other assets (2)				758	37	795	727	38	765
Other liabilities (2)				4,134		4,266	4,375		4,508
Non-controlling interest				369	(7)	362	373	(7)	366
Shareholders' equity (1)				6,965		6,877	7,218		7,130

<sup>(1)</sup> Attributable to equity holders of the banking corporation

<sup>(2)</sup> Reclassified to adapt to method of presentation in the current period, as explained in Note 1.D. above.

#### 5. A creditor's determination with regard to restructuring of troubled debt

In April 2011, the FASB issued an accounting standard update, ASU 2011-02, with regard to a creditor's determination of whether a restructuring is a troubled debt restructuring. In accordance with US standards on this matter (ASC 310), debt restructured as troubled debt is debt which has been formally restructured wherein - for economic or legal reasons related to financial duress of the debtor - the bank made a concession to the borrower.

The update provides further directives which clarify when debt restructuring would be deemed to be restructuring of troubled debt wherein the creditor made a concession. In particular, clarifications are included with regard to application of the concession test for effective interest. Directives are also included for determination as to whether the concession was made in debt restructuring where the contractual interest under the new terms and conditions is higher than the original contractual interest, but still lower than market interest for loans with similar risk attributes and taking into account all of the terms and conditions specified in the restructuring. It was further clarified that in situations where the debtor is unable to raise debt with similar debt attributes under market conditions, the bank would be required to review all other terms and conditions of the restructuring in order to determine whether a concession has been made.

In order to determine whether the borrower is under duress, the bank would be required, *inter alia*, to assess whether it is expected that the borrower would undergo a failure event in the foreseeable future. If the aforementioned event is probable, the bank is to deduce that the borrower is in financial duress.

Further, in accordance with existing standards, an insignificant delay in payments does not constitute a concession. The ASU lists indicators which may indicate a non-material delay, such as: the amount of restructured payments is not material relative to the outstanding debt balance, or relative to the value of collateral, and the delay is not material relative to payment frequency (monthly, quarterly etc.), the original contractual maturity and original expected average duration of the debt. In accordance with the ASU, the creditor must take into account the cumulative effect of past debt restructuring when assessing whether or not the delay is material.

The ASU further lists disclosure requirements with regard to restructuring of troubled debt.

The Supervisor of Banks adopted rules determined by the ASU, which, as from July 1, 2011, became applicable for determination of whether a restructuring is a troubled debt restructuring - for any debt restructuring made on or after January 1, 2011.

Changes to measurement of the provision for credit loss were applied prospectively.

Initial application of the ASU had no material impact on the Bank's financial statements.

#### F. New accounting standards and new directives by the Supervisor of Banks prior to application there of

- 1. IFRS on the following issues, which are not in the core banking business, have yet to become effective and would be adopted in accordance with directives of the Supervisor of Banks, when issued, with regard to timing and manner of initial application there of:
  - IAS 7 "Cash flow statements"
  - IAS 12 "Income taxes"
  - IAS 19 "Employee benefits"
  - IAS 23 "Borrowing costs"
  - IAS 24 "Related party disclosures"

2. In April 2011, the FASB issued an accounting standard update, ASU 2011-03, on reconsideration of effective control for repurchase agreements, which is an update to rules determined by FAS 166 (ASC 860). According to this update, the manner of determination of existence of effective control by transferor in repurchase agreements is to be modified. Evaluation of existence of effective control shall be focused on contractual rights and contractual obligations of the transferor, and therefore would not take into consideration (1) the criterion requiring that the transferor would be capable of acquiring transferred securities even in case of failure of the transferee, and (2) directives with regard to required collateral with respect to this criterion.

Other criteria for review of existence of effective control were not modified by the ASU. These criteria indicate that the transferor maintains effective control over transferred assets (and therefore the asset transfer shall be accounted for as secured debt) if all of the following conditions are fulfilled:

- The assets repurchased or redeemed are identical or essentially identical to the transferred assets;
- The agreement is to repurchase or redeem them prior to maturity, at a fixed or fixable price; and
- The agreement is made simultaneously with the transfer.

The update shall apply to periods starting after December 15, 2011 (i.e. as from January 1, 2012), and shall be applied prospectively for new transactions and existing transactions modified at the start of the first quarterly or annual period following its effective start date. Early adoption is not permitted.

The updated standards are not expected to affect the Group's financial statements.

3. In May 2011, the IASB published the new set of standards, which is part of the joint IASB-FASB consolidation project, and supersedes current standards with regard to consolidation of financial statements and joint ventures, and also includes several changes with regard to associates. In accordance with the Supervisor of Banks' directives, banking corporations should regularly update the accounting treatment of issues adopted by the Public Reporting Regulations. Such an update is required in line with the effective start date and as per transition provisions to be specified in new International Financial Reporting Standards to be published on these matters, and in accordance with adoption principles and clarifications of the Supervisor of Banks. Therefore, the general application of rules stipulated in the new set of standards with regard to consolidation of financial statements and related issues, shall be accomplished subject to provisions of the Public Reporting Regulations, inter alia, with regard to application of the standard to issues for which specific rules, different than those specified in the standard or related directives, were specified or adopted in the Public Reporting Regulations.

#### A. IFRS 10 "Consolidated financial statements"

This standard supersedes provisions of IAS 27 "Consolidated and separate financial statements" and provisions of SIC 12 "Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities" with regard to consolidation of financial statements, such that provisions of IAS 27 shall only continue to apply to separate financial statements. The standard proposes a new control model, for determination whether an investor has control of the investee, and should therefore consolidate it. This model is to be applied to all investees, both those currently within the scope of IAS 27 and those currently within the scope of SIC 12. In accordance with this model, an investor has control of the investee when exposed to or eligible to receive variable returns

arising from their involvement with the investee, and is capable of influencing these returns by means of their power in said investee.

De-facto circumstances would be accounted for in assessing control, so the standard effectively

includes a model of effective control. This means that if effective control is achieved, the financial statements should be consolidated. Furthermore, when assessing the achievement of control, all significant potential voting rights would be accounted for, even if not immediately exercisable. With regard to potential voting rights, their structure, reason for being as well as terms and conditions of the rights should be reviewed.

The standard is to be prospectively applied for annual reporting periods starting on or after January 1, 2013. Early adoption is possible, subject to disclosure and subject to early adoption of two other standards published concurrently: IFRS 11 "Joint arrangements" and IFRS 12 "Disclosure of interests in other entities".

## B. IFRS 11 "Joint arrangements"

This standard supersedes provisions of IAS 31 "Interests in joint ventures" and amends some supervisions of IAS 28 "Investments in associates".

The standard defines joint arrangements as arrangements subject to joint control, and classifies such arrangements into two categories: (1) Joint operations, and (2) joint ventures.

Joint control is an agreed, contractual sharing of control (as defined in IFRS 10) over an arrangement, and only exists when unanimous agreement is required of the parties sharing control in order to make decisions with regard to relevant operations of the arrangement.

1) Joint operations - the parties sharing joint control have interests in assets related to the arrangement, as well as a commitment to fulfill obligations related to the agreement. Joint operations shall be treated similarly to the accounting treatment of jointly-controlled assets and of jointly-controlled ventures pursuant to IAS 31, i.e. shall be recognized as assets and liabilities and shall be treated in accordance with the applicable standards. Joint operations include joint agreements not incorporated as a separate vehicle (similar to jointly-controlled assets and jointly-controlled ventures, as defined in IAS 31), and also include joint agreements incorporated as a separate entity where the legal or contractual form or other indications signify that the parties sharing joint control have interests in assets related to the agreement and a commitment to fulfill obligations related to the agreement.

2) Joint ventures - the parties sharing control have interests in net assets of the joint agreement. Joint ventures shall only be accounted for using the equity method. Joint ventures are all joint agreements incorporated as a separate entity which do not constitute "joint operations". This means that joint ventures are joint agreements incorporated as a separate entity where the legal or contractual form or other indications indicate that the parties sharing joint control have no interests to assets related to the agreement and have no commitment to fulfill obligations related to the agreement.

Furthermore, the standard modifies accounting treatment of loss of joint control where after loss of joint control material influence still remains. In particular, the standard rescinds the current directive to revalue at fair value the remaining investment in the associate upon loss of joint control.

The standard is to be prospectively applied for annual reporting periods starting on or after January 1, 2013. Nevertheless, specific provisions are in place with regard to prospective application in certain cases. Early adoption is possible, subject to disclosure and subject to early adoption of two other standards published concurrently: IFRS 10 "Consolidated financial statements" and IFRS 12 "Disclosure of interests in other entities".

#### C. IFRS 12 "Disclosure of interests in other entities"

The standard contains extensive disclosure requirements with regard to interests in subsidiaries, joint agreements, associates and structured entities.

"Structured entities" are entities incorporated so that voting rights, and similar rights, are not the dominant factor in determining control. The definition of interests in the standard is extensive, including contractual and/or non-contractual involvement which exposes the entity to change in returns due to performance of the investee.

The objective of these new disclosure requirements is to allow users of the financial statements to understand the nature of and risk associated with the entity's interests in other entities, and to understand the impact of these interests on the entity's financial standing, operating results and cash flows. This is reflected in comprehensive, extensive disclosure requirements, including: judgment and significant assumptions reflected in determining the nature of rights in entities and agreements, interests in subsidiaries, interests in joint agreements and in associates and interests in structured entities.

The standard is to be applied for annual reporting periods starting on or after January 1, 2013. Early adoption is permitted, subject to early adoption of two other standards published concurrently - IFRS 11 "Joint agreements" and IFRS 10 "Consolidated financial statements". However, the additional disclosure requirements pursuant to IFRS 12 may be adopted early without early adoption of the other standards.

The Bank has yet to commence review of the implications of adoption of these standards on the financial statements.

4. In May 2011, the FASB issued accounting standard update ASU 2011-04 on fair-value measurement.

This accounting standard update is an update to guidelines with regard to fair-value measurement stipulated in US accounting standard FAS 157 (ASU 820-10). The updates included in this ASU include clarifications by the FASB with regard to intentions concerning application of fair-value measurement rules and with regard to current disclosure requirements, as well as updates which stipulate principles or specific requirements with regard to fair-value measurement and with regard to disclosure requirements concerning fair-value measurement.

Inter alia, these updates include further clarifications and specific guidelines concerning fair-value measurement of financial instruments managed in an investment portfolio, stipulate rules for fair-value measurement of instruments classified as equity by the reporting entity, as well as clarifications with regard to application of premium or discount in calculating the fair value of an accounting unit of an asset or liability. The standard further stipulates additional disclosure requirements as follows:

- 1) For fair-value measurement classified under level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:
  - Valuation process applied by the reporting entity;
  - Sensitivity analysis of fair-value measurement to changes in unobserved data and mutual interrelations between such unobserved data, if any.
- 2) Use of non-financial asset other than by the highest and best use, where the asset is measured at fair value on the balance sheet, or when its fair value is included in disclosures under the highest and best use assumption.
- 3) Classification by level on the fair value hierarchy of items not measured at fair value on the balance sheet, but which require disclosure of their fair value.

On August 11, 2011, the Supervisor of Banks sent a letter to banking corporations, whereby the standard would be applied for annual reporting periods starting on or after January 1, 2012 and that early adoption is not permitted. The updates included in the ASU are to be applied prospectively.

The Bank is preparing to review the implications of adoption of the standard on the financial statements.

**Note 2 - Securities** 

## As of September 30, 2011 (unaudited)

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

			Unrealized	Unrealized	
	Balance	Amortized cost	profits from	losses from	
	sheet	(for shares -	adjustments	adjustments	Fair
	balance	cost)	to fair value	to fair value	value <sup>(1)</sup>
(1) Debentures held to maturity					
of Government of Israel	447	447	-	(5)	442
Total debentures held to maturity	447	447	-	(5)	442
			Cui	mulative other	Fair
			comprehe	ensive income	value (1)
	Balance	Amortized cost			(Balance
	sheet	(for shares -			sheet
	balance	cost)	Gains	Losses	balance)
(2) Securities available for sale Debentures and bonds					
Of the Government of Israel (2)	4,052	4,134	18	(100)	4,052
Of foreign governments (2)(6)	65	65	-	-	65
Of banks and financial institutions in Israel	121	127	-	(6)	121
Of banks and financial institutions overseas	445	445	2	(2)	445
Asset-backed (ABS)	63	69	5	(11)	63
Of others overseas	170	171	1	(2)	170
Total debentures available for sale	4,916	5,011	26	(121)	4,916
Shares <sup>(3)</sup>	83	82	1	-	83
Total securities available for sale	4,999	5,093	<sup>(4)</sup> <b>27</b>	<sup>(4)</sup> (121)	4,999
		<u>.</u>	<u> </u>		<b>-</b> (1)
			Unrealized		Fair value (1)
	Balance	Amortized cost	gains from	losses from	(Balance
	sheet	(for shares -	adjustments	adjustments	sheet
	balance	cost)	to fair value	to fair value	balance)
(3) Securities held for trading					
- Debentures					
of Government of Israel	429	428	1	-	429
Of banks and financial institutions overseas	4	4	-	-	4
Total securities held for trading	433	432	<sup>(5)</sup> <b>1</b>	(5) _	433
Total securities		5,972			

<sup>(1)</sup> Fair value data are generally based on stock exchange prices, which do not necessarily reflect the price to be obtained on the sale of a large volume of securities.

<sup>(2)</sup> See Note 15.A-D to the 2010 financial statements for information on liens on securities held by the Bank.

<sup>(3)</sup> Includes shares for which a fair value is not available, that are stated at cost, net of a provision for decline in value that is not temporary, amounting to NIS 78 million.

<sup>(4)</sup> Included in shareholders' equity in "adjustments on presentation of securities available for sale at fair value".

<sup>(5)</sup> Charged to statement of profit and loss but not yet realized.

<sup>(6)</sup> US government debentures.

**Note 2 - Securities** 

## As of September 30, 2010 (unaudited) (continued)

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	Value <i>i</i>	Amortized cost	Cumu comprehens		
	On balance	(for shares -			Fair
	sheet	cost)	Gains	Losses	Value <sup>(1)</sup>
1) Securities available for sale					
Debentures and bonds					
Of the Government of Israel (2)	6,902	6,948	32	(78)	6,902
Of foreign governments (2)(6)	176	176	-	-	176
Of banks and financial institutions overseas	748	742	7	(1)	748
Asset-backed (ABS)	60	69	6	(15)	60
Of others overseas	205	203	2	-	205
Total debentures available for sale	8,091	8,138	47	(94)	8,091
Shares <sup>(3)</sup>	87	86	1	-	87
Total securities available for sale	8,178	8,224	<sup>(4)</sup> 48	<sup>(4)</sup> <b>(94)</b>	8,178

			Unrealized	Unrealized	
	Unrealized,		gain from	loss from	
	on balance		adjustments to	adjustments	Fair
	sheet	Amortized cost	fair value (5)	to fair value (5)	value (1)
2) Securities held for trading					
- Debentures					
of Government of Israel	89	89	-	-	89
Of banks and financial institutions overseas	6	6	-	-	6
Total securities held for trading	95	95	-	-	95
Total securities	8,273	8,319	48	(94)	8,273

<sup>(1)</sup> Fair value data are generally based on stock exchange prices, which do not necessarily reflect the price to be obtained on the sale of a large volume of securities.

<sup>(2)</sup> See Note 15.A-D to the 2009 financial statements for information on liens on securities held by the Bank.

<sup>(3)</sup> Includes shares for which a fair value is not available, that are stated at cost, net of a provision for decline in value that is not temporary, amounting to NIS 82 million.

<sup>(4)</sup> Included in shareholders' equity in "adjustments on presentation of securities available for sale at fair value".

<sup>(5)</sup> Charged to statement of profit and loss but not yet realized.

<sup>(6)</sup> US government debentures.

## Note 2 - Securities

## As of December 31, 2010 (audited) (continued)

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	Balance A sheet	Amortized cost (for shares -	Cumulative other comprehensive income				Fair
	balance	cost)	Gains	Losses	value (1)		
(1) Securities available for sale							
Debentures and bonds							
Of the Government of Israel (2)	6,023	6,040	31	(48)	6,023		
Of foreign governments (2)(6)	103	103	-	-	103		
Of banks and financial institutions in Israel	127	129	-	(2)	127		
Of banks and financial institutions overseas	612	606	7	(1)	612		
Asset-backed (ABS)	60	66	5	(11)	60		
Of others overseas	154	151	3	-	154		
Total debentures available for sale	7,079	7,095	46	(62)	7,079		
Shares <sup>(3)</sup>	81	81	-	-	81		
Total securities available for sale	7,160	7,176	<sup>(4)</sup> 46	<sup>(4)</sup> (62)	7,160		

			Unrealized	Unrealized	
	Balance	Amortized cost	gains From	losses from	
	sheet	(for shares -	reconciliation	adjustments	Fair
	balance	cost)	to fair value	to fair value	value (1)
(2) Securities held for trading					
- Debentures					
of Government of Israel	285	286	1	(2)	285
Of others	4	4	-	-	4
Total securities held for trading	289	290	<sup>(5)</sup> 1	<sup>(5)</sup> (2)	289
Total securities	7,449	7,466	47	(64)	7,449

## (3) Information about impaired debentures

	As of September 30,	As of September 30,	As of December 31,
	2011	2010	2010
Recorded debt balance of impaired debentures			
not accruing interest income	-	29	29

- (1) Fair value data are generally based on stock exchange prices, which do not necessarily reflect the price to be obtained on the sale of a large volume of securities.
- (2) See Note 15.A-D to the 2010 financial statements for information on liens on securities held by the Bank.
- (3) Includes shares for which a fair value is not available, that are stated at cost, net of a provision for decline in value that is not temporary, amounting to NIS 79 million.
- (4) Included in shareholders' equity in "adjustments on presentation of securities available for sale at fair value".
- (5) Charged to statement of profit and loss but not yet realized.
- (6) US government debentures.

36

(11)

## Note 2 - Securities – Continued Further details with regard to asset-backed securities available for sale

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

Total

Further details with regard to the time period in which	h asset-backed securities available for sale	, which include unrea	alized loss:
		As of Septembe	r 30, 2011
	Less than 12 months	12 month	ns or more
	Fair value Unrealized loss	Fair value Unrea	alized loss
	unaudited		
Asset-backed securities (ABS):			
CLO		39	(11)
Total		39	(11)
		As of Septembe	r 30, 2010
	Less than 12 months	12 month	ns or more
	Fair value Unrealized loss	Fair value Unrea	alized loss
	unaudited		
Asset-backed securities (ABS):			
CLO		60	(15)
Total		60	(15)
		As of Decembe	r 31, 2010
	Less than 12 months	12 month	ns or more
	Fair value Unrealized loss	Fair value Unrea	alized loss
Asset-backed securities (ABS):			
CLO		36	(11)

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

#### A. Loans to the public

	•	September	r 30, 2011	Decembe	r 31, 2010 ( <sub>l</sub>	oro-forma)
	Recorded	Provision	Debt	Recorded	Provision	Debt
	debt	for credit	balance,	debt	for credit	balance,
	balance	loss	net	balance	loss	net
Loans to the public reviewed individually (1)(5)	32,349	615	31,734	30,379	738	29,641
Loans to the public reviewed on group basis (2)(5)	86,979	1,093	85,886	77,783	1,047	76,736
Total loans to the public	119,328	1,708	117,620	108,162	1,785	106,377
Includes: Customers' liabilities for acceptances	278	-	278	191	-	191

## B. Loans to the public reviewed individually

## 1. Loans to the public reviewed individually includes:

		September	r 30, 2011	Decembe	r 31, 2010 ( <sub>l</sub>	oro-forma)
	Recorded	Provision	Debt	Recorded	Provision	Debt
	debt	for credit	balance,	debt	for credit	balance,
	balance	loss	net	balance	loss	net
Impaired loans to the public (3)	1,342	283	1,059	1,690	372	1,318
Non-impaired loans to the public, in arrears 90 days or						
more <sup>(4)</sup>	72	15	57	73	25	48
Non-impaired loans to the public, in arrears 30-89 days (4)	83	4	79	75	3	72
Other non-impaired loans to the public (4)(5)	30,852	313	30,539	28,541	338	28,203
Total non-impaired loans to the public (4)	31,007	332	30,675	28,689	366	28,323
Total loans to the public reviewed individually	32,349	615	31,734	30,379	738	29,641

- (1) Includes loans reviewed individually and found not to be impaired. The provision for credit loss with respect to these loans was calculated on a group basis. For further details of loans reviewed individually, see below section B.
- (2) Loans for which a provision for credit loss is assessed on group basis by extent of arrears, in accordance with appendix to Proper Conduct of Banking Business Regulation No. 314, and other loans not reviewed individually for which the provision for credit loss is calculated on group basis. For further details see section C.
- (3) Non-accruing impaired loans, except for certain loans under restructuring, as itemized in sub-section 4 below.
- (4) Loans reviewed individually and found not to be impaired. The provision for credit loss with respect to these loans was calculated on a group basis.
- (5) Reclassified.

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

## B. Loans to the public reviewed individually (continued)

Supplementary information about loans to the public reviewed individually

		December 31, 2010
	September 30, 2011	(pro-forma)
		Recorded debt balance
2. Impaired loans to the public for which a provision		
for credit loss was made individually	1,139	1,230
Impaired loans to the public for which no provision		
for credit loss was made individually	203	460
Total impaired loans to the public	1,342	1,690
3. Impaired loans to the public measured at present		
value of cash flows	1,123	1,437
Impaired loans to the public measured at collateral		
value	219	253
Total impaired loans to the public	1,342	1,690

## 4. Troubled debt in restructuring where changes were made to credit terms and conditions

	<del>-</del>					
					Decembe	r 31, 2010
		September	r 30, 2011		()	oro-forma)
	Recorded	Provision	Debt	Recorded	Provision	Debt
	debt	for credit	balance,	debt	for credit	balance,
	balance	loss	net	balance	loss	net
Not accruing interest revenues	98	8	90	80	32	48
Accruing interest revenues, in arrears 90 days or more	-	-	-	2	-	2
Accruing interest revenues, in arrears 30-89 days	9	1	8	11	1	10
Accruing interest revenues	70	6	64	48	5	43
Total (included under impaired loans to the public)	177	15	162	141	38	103
Impaired debt accruing interest revenues which was						
restructured in previous years.	54	10	44	79	15	64

## 5. Interest with respect to impaired loans to the public

	For the three months ended	For the nine months ended
	September 30, 2011	September 30, 2011
Average recorded debt balance of impaired loans to the		·
public during the reported period	1,508	1,734
Total interest income recognized in the reported period		
with respect to such loans in the period when it was		
classified as impaired (1)	19	54
Total interest income which would have been recognized		
in the reported period had this credit accrued interest at its		
original terms	19	65
(1) Includes: Interest income recognized in accordance with		
accounting policy on cash basis	15	47

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

## C. Loans to the public reviewed on group basis

1. Housing loans for which a minimum provision for credit loss was made by extent of arrears, in accordance with appendix to Proper Conduct of Banking Business Regulation No. 314:

							Extent	of arrears
	In arrears						Balance	
	30-90						with	
	days			I	n arrears ov	er 90 days	respect to	
						Total	refinanced	
	2-3	3-6	6-15	15-33	Over 33	over 3	loans in	
	months	months	months	months	months	months	arrears (3)	Total
							Septembe	r 30, 2011
Amount in arrears	10	14	23	35	470	542	90	642
Includes: Balance of provision for								
interest (1)	-	-	1	5	180	186	6	192
Recorded debt balance	768	367	280	131	576	1,354	335	2,457
Balance of provision for credit loss (2)	-	-	59	76	525	660	149	809
Debt balance, net	768	367	221	55	51	694	186	1,648
						December	31, 2010 (p	ro-forma)
Amount in arrears	10	15	22	27	470	534	86	630
Includes: Balance of provision for								
interest (1)	-	-	1	-	168	169	8	177
Recorded debt balance	709	374	247	118	628	1,367	318	2,394
Balance of provision for credit loss (2)(4)	-	-	37	59	572	668	161	829
Debt balance, net	709	374	210	59	56	699	157	1,565

2. Other loans not reviewed on individual basis, for which the provision for credit loss was calculated on group basis:

		Septe	mber 30, 2011	December 31, 2010 (pro-forma			
	Recorded	Provision for	Debt	Recorded	Provision for	Debt	
	debt balance	credit loss	balance, net	debt balance	credit loss	balance, net	
Non-impaired loans to the public, in							
arrears 90 days or more	51	5	46	71	8	63	
Non-impaired loans to the public, in							
arrears 30-89 days	132	4	128	145	3	142	
Other non-impaired loans to the							
public	15,914	176	15,738	14,764	132	14,632	
Total	16,097	185	15,912	14,980	143	14,837	

<sup>(1)</sup> With respect to interest on amounts in arrears.

<sup>(2)</sup> Excludes balance of provision for interest.

<sup>(3)</sup> Loans for which an agreement was signed for repayment of arrears by borrower, where a change was made in the repayment schedule for the loan balance not yet due.

<sup>(4)</sup> Reclassified.

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

			Provision		dit loss
		On g	roup basis <sup>(1</sup>	)	
	On individual				
	basis	arrears	Other	•	Tota
Balance of provision for credit loss as of December 31, 2010	2,580	811	215	5	3,606
Nine months ended September 30, 2011:					
Net accounting write-offs recognized as of January 1, 2011 (2)	(2,016)	-	(544)	)	(2,560
Other changes to provision for credit loss as of January 1, 2011					
(charged to shareholders' equity) (2)	(127)	18	1,028	3	919
Expenses with respect to credit loss	177	(11)	110	)	276
Accounting write-offs	(304)	(9)	(148)	)	(461)
Recovery of debt written off in previous years	9	-	88	3	97
Net accounting write-off	(295)	(9)	(60)	)	(364)
Balance of provision for credit loss as of September 30, 2011	319	809	749	)	1,877
			Descrision		ماند الماند
		02.2	Provisior roup basis <sup>(1</sup>		alt ioss
	On individual		Toup basis		
		_,	Othor		Toto
Balance of managinary (amount life bases of them 200, 2044 (3)	basis	arrears	Other		Tota
Balance of provision for credit loss as of June 30, 2011 (3)	407	820	690	)	1,917
Three months ended September 30, 2011:	-	-	-	-	
Expenses with respect to credit loss	66	(-)	85		142
Accounting write-offs	(158)	` ,	(50)		(210)
Recovery of debt written off in previous years	4		24		28
Net accounting write-off	(154)		(26)		(182)
Balance of provision for credit loss as of September 30, 2011	319	809	749	,	1,877
			Provision	n for cre	dit loss
		On group basis	(1)		
	On individual			_	
	basis	arrears	Other	Total	
Composition of provision balance as of September 30, 2011					
With respect to loans to the public	303	809	596	6	1,708
			12	)	12
With respect to debt other than loans to the public	-	-	12	-	12

16

319

395

42

437

141

749

561

129

699

9

809

829

829

157

1,877

1,785

9

171

1,965

under Other Liabilities)

under Other Liabilities)

With respect to loans to the public (3)

Composition of provision balance as of December 31, 2010

With respect to off-balance sheet credit instruments (included

With respect to debt other than loans to the public

Total

Total

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes provision on group basis with respect to debt reviewed individually and found not to be impaired.

<sup>(2)</sup> Due to initial application of new directives with regard to measurement of impaired debt and provision for credit loss, as from January 1, 2011 banking corporations are not required to maintain general, supplementary and special provisions for doubtful debts.

<sup>(3)</sup> Reclassified.

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

## E. Additional information on housing loans and calculation of provision for credit loss

E. Additional information on nousing	round and o	aioaiatioii	or providion	ior orealt ic	,,,,		
					S	eptember 3	0, 2011
		Но	using loans -				
	Housing	impaired	or in arrears				
	loans	OV	er 90 days <sup>(1)</sup>	Bala	ance of prov	ision for cre	edit loss
						Other	
	Recorded		Recorded	_		On	
	debt	Amount in	debt	By extent	On group	individual	
	balance	arrears (3)	balance	of arrears	basis	basis	Tota
Housing loans for which provision for							
credit loss by extent of arrears must be							
calculated (2)	70,212	632	1,689	809 9	9	- (	908
Other housing loans	708	6	36	-	-	14	14
Total	70,920	638	1,725	809	99	14	922
Includes: With respect to housing loans							
granted to certain buyer groups which							
are in the process of construction	1,238	-	6	-	-	-	

- (1) Impaired housing loans and housing loans in arrears over 3 months.
- (2) Includes: General-purpose loans secured by lien on residential apartment, amounting to NIS 4,173 million.
- (3) Includes delinquency interest.
- (4) Includes: Housing loans bearing variable interest, amounting to NIS 47,786 million.

					December 3	1, 2010 (pro	o-forma)
		Hou	sing loans -				
	Housing	impaired of	or in arrears				
	loans	ove	r 90 days <sup>(1)</sup>	Bal	ance of prov	ision for cre	edit loss
						Other	
	Recorded		Recorded			On	
	debt	Amount in	debt	By extent	On group	individual	
	balance	arrears (3)	balance	of arrears	basis	basis	Tota
Housing loans for which provision for credit							
loss by extent of arrears must be calculated (3)	62,298	620	1,685	829	75	-	904
Other housing loans	520	7	30	-	-	18	18
Total	62,818	627	1,715	829	75	18	922
Includes: With respect to housing loans							
granted to certain buyer groups which							
are in the process of construction	969	-	6	-	-	-	

- (1) Impaired housing loans and housing loans in arrears over 3 months.
- (2) Includes delinquency interest.
- (3) Reclassified.

## Note 4 – Capital adequacy pursuant to directives of the Supervisor of Banks

Calculated in accordance with Proper Conduct of Banking Business Regulation No. 201-211 "Measurement and Capital Adequacy" Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

A. Capital adequacy information

	September 30,	September 30,	December 31,
	2011	2010	2010
1. Consolidated data			
A. Capital for purpose of calculating minimum capital ratio			
Tier I capital, after deductions	7,575	<sup>(1)</sup> 7,043	<sup>(1)</sup> 7,218
Tier II capital, after deductions	5,749	<sup>(1)</sup> 5,419	<sup>(1)</sup> 5,527
Total capital	13,324	12,462	12,745
B. Weighted risk asset balances			
Credit risk	89,745	<sup>(1)</sup> 81,566	<sup>(1)</sup> 83,306
Market risk	813	971	579
Operating risk	7,775	7,268	7,407
Total weighted risk asset balances	98,333	89,805	91,292
			December 31,
	Base II	Base II	2010
			In %
C. Ratio of capital to risk elements		411	(4)
Ratio of Tier I capital to risk elements	7.70%	<sup>(1)</sup> 7.84%	<sup>(1)</sup> 7.91
Ratio of total capital to risk elements	13.55%	<sup>(1)</sup> 13.88%	<sup>(1)</sup> 13.96
Total minimum capital ratio required by the Supervisor			
of Banks	9.00	9.00	9.00
2. Significant subsidiaries			
Bank Yahav for Government Employees Ltd. and subsidiaries there of			
Ratio of Tier I capital to risk elements	9.21	<sup>(1)</sup> 9.21	<sup>(1)</sup> 9.17
Total ratio of capital to risk elements	13.82	<sup>(1)</sup> 13.88	<sup>(1)</sup> 13.81
Total minimum capital ratio required by the Supervisor of Banks	9.00	9.00	9.00

<sup>(1)</sup> Retroactively adjusted as per directives of the Supervisor of Banks with regard to employee rights. For details, see Note 1.E.4.

## Note 4 – Capital adequacy in accordance with directives of the Supervisor of Banks (continued)

Calculated in accordance with Proper Conduct of Banking Business Regulation No. 201-211 "Measurement and Capital Adequacy"

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	September 30,	September 30,	December 31,
	2011	2010	2010
<ul> <li>Capital components for calculation of capital ratio (on consolidated basis)</li> </ul>			
A. Tier I capital			
Paid-up share capital and capital reserves	2,069	2,027	2,066
Total cumulative other loss (1)	(60)	(86)	(62)
Retained earnings	5,315	<sup>(3)</sup> 4,878	<sup>(3)</sup> 4,980
Minority interest of external shareholders in equity of			(2)
consolidated subsidiaries	377	<sup>(3)</sup> 362	<sup>(3)</sup> 366
Less:			
Goodwill	(87)	(91)	(87)
Tier I capital after Tier I deductions alone	7,614	7,090	7,263
Less:			
Investments in supervisory capital components of			
banking corporations	(19)	(19)	(19)
Other deductions from Tier I capital	(20)	(28)	(26)
Total Tier I capital	7,575	7,043	7,218
B. Tier II capital			
1. Upper Tier II capital			
General provision for doubtful debts (2)	110	110	110
Complex capital instruments	1,871	1,811	1,831
2. Lower Tier II capital			
Subordinated notes	3,807	<sup>(3)</sup> 3,546	<sup>(3)</sup> 3,631
3. Deductions from Tier II capital			
Investments in supervisory capital components of			
banking corporations	(19)	(19)	(19)
Other deductions from Tier II capital	(20)	(29)	(26)
Total Tier II capital	5,749	5,419	5,527

<sup>(1)</sup> Excludes net gain from cash flow hedges.

<sup>(2)</sup> The amount defined, through December 31, 2010, as general provision for doubtful debts, is part of upper Tier II capital and is not deducted from loans to the public.

<sup>(3)</sup> Retroactively adjusted as per directives of the Supervisor of Banks with regard to employee rights. For details, see Note 1.E.4.

## Note 4 – Capital adequacy in accordance with directives of the Supervisor of Banks (continued)

- B. On June 30, 2010, the Supervisor of Banks issued a letter to banking corporations, on capital policy for interim periods, in which they are required to adopt a target for Tier I capital ratio by December 31, 2010, to be no less than 7.5%. Concurrently, the banks are required to submit to the Supervisor a work plan for achieving this target. The letter further stipulates that in absence of prior approval by the Supervisor of Banks, the bank shall not distribute dividends if the target has not been achieved, or if such dividend distribution would cause the bank not to achieve the target. This directive is intended to clarify the expectations of the Supervisor of Banks from banking corporations in the interim period, pending adaptation of the Supervisor's directives to emerging changes in recommendations of the Basel Committee.
- C. On October 25, 2010, the Bank's Board of Directors decided that the target core capital ratio would be no less than 7.5%. Further, the Board of Directors resolved to direct Bank management to act so as to maintain appropriate safety margins, in order to ensure that the core capital ration shall be no less than the foregoing. The Bank Board of Directors further resolved that the overall capital adequacy ratio shall be no less than 12.5%.

Note 5 – Consolidated statement of assets and liabilities by linkage basis As of September 30, 2011 (unaudited)

	Israeli currency			Foreign cu	irrency <sup>(1)</sup>	Non-	
		CPI-			Other	monetary	
	Non-linked	linked L	JS dollars	Euro c	urrencies	items <sup>(2)</sup>	Total
Assets							
Cash and deposits with banks	13,614	491	2,336	269	277	-	16,987
Securities	2,920	262	1,729	843	42	83	5,879
Securities loaned or sold in conjunction with	,		,				,
repurchase agreements	34	-	-	-	-	-	34
Loans to the public, net	59,916	43,272	10,256	2,262	1,914	-	117,620
Loans to Governments	<u>-</u>	_	1	145	_	-	146
Investments in investees	31	_	_	_	-	(14)	17
Buildings and equipment	_	_	_	_	_	1,588	1,588
Intangible assets and goodwill	_	_	_	_	_	87	87
Assets with respect to derivatives	1,728	181	1,161	90	266	_	3,426
Other assets	790	174	91	1	5	32	1,093
Total assets	79,033	44,380	15,574	3,610	2,504	1,776	146,877
Total dodoto	79,000	44,300	13,374	3,010	2,304	1,770	140,077
Liabilities							
Deposits from the public	70,214	22,691	17,019	4,166	2,407	-	116,497
Deposits from banks	726	709	218	208	13	-	1,874
Deposits from the Government	10	118	34	-	_	-	162
Debentures and subordinated notes	2,136	10,365	-	-	-	-	12,501
Liabilities with respect to derivatives	1,579	202	1,464	202	139	_	3,586
Other liabilities	3,511	700	48	1	3	258	4,521
Total liabilities	78,176	34,785	18,783	4,577	2,562	258	139,141
Difference	857	9,595	(3,209)	(967)	(58)	1,518	7,736
Impact of hedging derivatives:		,	( , ,	,	( )	,	•
Derivatives (except for options)	945	(945)					-
Non-hedging financial derivatives:							
Derivatives (except for options)	2,428	(4,472)	1,412	749	(117)	_	_
Net in-the-money options (in terms of	_,0	( ., /	.,		(,		
underlying asset)	(1,964)	_	1,350	513	122	(21)	_
Net out-of-the-money options (in terms of	, ,		,			( )	
underlying asset)	(25)	-	306	(315)	34	-	-
Total	2,241	4,178	(141)	(20)	(19)	1,497	7,736
Net in-the-money options (capitalized par							
value)	(618)	-	290	122	132	74	-
Net out-of-the-money options (capitalized							
par value)	295	-	140	(454)	60	(41)	-

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes amounts linked to foreign currency.

<sup>(2)</sup> Includes derivatives whose base relates to a non-monetary item.

Note 5 – Consolidated statement of assets and liabilities by linkage basis As of September 30, 2010 (unaudited) (continued)

	Israeli	currency		Foreign c	urrency (1)		
		CDI			Other	Non-	
	Non-linked	CPI-	IS dollars	Furo	currencies	monetary items <sup>(2)</sup>	Tota
Assets	Non-iniked	iiikea c	o dollars	Luio	Currencies	пень	1018
Cash and deposits with banks	5,698	477	2,932	281	413		9,80
Securities	3,762	652	1,874	1,802	96	- 87	8,27
Securities loaned or sold in conjunction	3,762	032	1,074	1,002	90	07	0,27
with repurchase agreements	107	_	_	_	_	_	10
Loans to the public	52,881	37,931	8,292	2,385	2,004	-	103,49
Loans to the Government	32,001	37,931	0,292	2,363	2,004		103,49
Investments in investees	29	-		00	-	(16)	1:
Buildings and equipment	29	-	-	-	-	(16)	1,49 <sup>-</sup>
Intangible assets and goodwill (3)	-	-	-		-	1,491	1,49
Assets with respect to derivatives (3)	4.040	- 074	4.40	-		90	
Other assets (3)	1,646	274	148	75	135	-	2,278
	526	130	110	2	6	21	79:
Total assets	64,649	39,464	13,357	4,611	2,654	1,673	126,40
1.5-1.096							
Liabilities	50.500	04.00=	44000	4 = 4 4	0.054		404.00
Deposits from the public	58,598	21,005	14,839	4,511	2,251	-	101,20
Deposits from banks	230	830	448	151	53	-	1,71
Deposits from the Government	3	153	35	-	-	-	19
Debentures and subordinated notes	398	8,718	-	-	-	-	9,11
Liabilities with respect to derivatives (3)	1,778	253	350	171	128	-	2,68
Other liabilities (3)	3,149	745	133	12	(32)	259	4,26
Total liabilities	64,156	31,704	15,805	4,845	2,400	259	119,169
Difference	493	7,760	(2,448)	(234)	254	1,414	7,23
Impact of hedging derivatives:							
Derivatives (except for options)	1,610	(1,610)	-	-	-	-	
Non-hedging financial derivatives:							
Derivatives (except for options)	1,387	(2,848)	1,180	535	(254)	-	
Net in-the-money options (in terms of							
underlying asset)	(619)	-	1,114	(357)	(98)	(40)	
Net out-of-the-money options (in terms of							
underlying asset)	(490)	-	353	51	49	37	
Total	2,381	3,302	199	(5)	(49)	1,411	7,23
Net in-the-money options (capitalized par				(-)	\ -7	•	, -
value)	(1,244)	-	1,079	140	114	(89)	
Net out-of-the-money options (capitalized			.,			(-0)	
par value)	234	_	(511)	(49)	164	162	
pai raido)	207		(011)	(-+3)	107	102	

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes amounts linked to foreign currency.

<sup>(2)</sup> Includes derivatives whose base relates to a non-monetary item.

<sup>(3)</sup> Data was reclassified to match section headings and presentation method in the current period.

<sup>(4)</sup> Retroactively adjusted as per directives of the Supervisor of Banks with regard to employee rights. See Note 1E.4 to the financial statements for details.

Note 5 – Consolidated statement of assets and liabilities by linkage basis As of December 31, 2010 (audited) (continued)

	Isra	aeli currency		Forei`gn cu	urrency <sup>(1)</sup> N	lon-	
						nonetary	
	Non-linked	CPI- linked	US dollars	Euro c	urrencies it	ems <sup>(2)</sup>	Total
Assets							
Cash and deposits with banks	8,495	434	3,127	150	408	-	12,614
Securities	3,760	413	1,641	1,511	43	81	7,449
Securities loaned or sold in conjunction							
with repurchase agreements	88	159	-	-	-	-	247
Loans to the public, net	54,680	39,865	8,032	2,403	2,060	-	107,040
Loans to Governments	-	-	1	91	-	-	92
Investments in investees	29	-	-	-	-	(14)	15
Buildings and equipment	-	-	-	-	-	1,546	1,546
Intangible assets and goodwill (3)	-	-	-	-	-	87	87
Assets with respect to derivatives (3)	2,967	295	75	21	91	-	3,449
Other assets (3)	<sup>(4)</sup> 555	105	85	1	1	18	765
Total assets	70,574	41,271	12,961	4,177	2,603	1,718	133,304
Liabilities							
Deposits from the public	62,754	22,342	14,505	4,281	2,109	-	105,991
Deposits from banks	587	839	801	76	129	-	2,432
Deposits from the Government	3	136	33	-	-	-	172
Debentures and subordinated notes	752	9,061	-	-	-	-	9,813
Liabilities with respect to derivatives (3)	2,253	227	167	186	59	-	2,892
Other liabilities (3)	<sup>(4)</sup> 3,485	<sup>(4)</sup> 672	-	42	39	270	4,508
Total liabilities	69,834	33,277	15,506	4,585	2,336	270	125,808
Difference	740	7,994	(2,545)	(408)	267	1,448	7,496
Impact of hedging derivatives:							
Derivatives (except for options)	1,375	(1,375)	-	-	-	-	•
Non-hedging financial derivatives:							
Derivatives (except for options)	2,157	(3,496)	1,406	450	(517)	-	
Net in-the-money options (in terms of							
underlying asset)	(1,062)	-	994	(134)	193	9	
Net out-of-the-money options (in terms							
of underlying asset)	(329)	-	238	93	(4)	2	
Total	2,881	3,123	93	1	(61)	1,459	7,496
Net in-the-money options (capitalized							
par value)	321	-	(310)	(75)	83	(19)	
Net out-of-the-money options			, -,	` '		( - /	
(capitalized par value)	(997)	-	843	147	(16)	23	

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes amounts linked to foreign currency.

<sup>(2)</sup> Includes derivatives whose base relates to a non-monetary item.

<sup>(3)</sup> Data was reclassified to match section headings and presentation method in the current period.

<sup>(4)</sup> Retroactively adjusted as per directives of the Supervisor of Banks with regard to employee rights. See Note 1E.4 to the financial statements for details.

	As o	As of September 30, As of Dece			
	201	1 2010	2010		
		(unaudited)	(audited)		
A. Off-balance sheet financial instruments					
Contractual balances or their denominated amounts at the end of the year					
Transactions in which the balance represents a credit risk:					
- Documentary credit	481	381	499		
- Loan guarantees	3,024	2,733	3,066		
- Guarantees to purchasers of homes	6,598	5,650	5,566		
- Other guarantees and liabilities (1)	2,928	1,713	1,738		
- Unutilized revolving credit card facilities	6,565	6,020	6,076		
- Unutilized debitory account and other credit facilities in accounts					
available on demand	16,558	17,212	17,225		
- Irrevocable commitments for loans approved but not yet granted	8,916	9,286	10,345		
- Commitments to issue guarantees	5,344	4,238	5,077		
	As of 2011	September 30,As 2010	2010		
		(unaudited)	(audited)		
B. Special commitments					
Obligations with respect to:					
Long-term rental contracts	542	498	544		
Computerization and software service contracts	68	65	62		
Acquisition and renovation of buildings	10	91	50		
Receipt of deposits on future dates (2)	405	405	405		
	As of Septembe	r 30, As	of December 31,		
	2011 2	2010 20	10		
	(unaudited)	(aı	udited)		
C. Credit exposure arising from securitization structures by others		,			

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes the Bank's liabilities for its share in the risks fund of the MAOF Clearinghouse of NIS 168 million (as of September 30, 2010 and December 31, 2010 - NIS 136 million and NIS 138 million, respectively).

<sup>(2)</sup> Transactions with institutional depositors to receive deposits at future dates at fixed interest rates set in advance on the contract date.

#### D. Contingent liabilities and other special commitments

- For details of other contingent liabilities and special commitments by the Bank group, see Note 19 to the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2010. Below is a description of material changes relative to the description provided in the 2010 annual report.
- 2) Various claims are pending against the Bank and its subsidiaries, namely, claims of customers, as well as motions for recognition of various class actions. In the estimation of the management of the Bank, based on the estimation of the managements of its subsidiaries and on the opinion of their legal counsel as to the possible outcome of the pending claims and motions for approval of claims as class actions, the financial statements include fair provisions, where necessary, to cover possible damages.

Below are details of material claims, where the claim amount (excluding interest and expenses) exceeds 1% of the Bank's shareholder equity, in which developments and changes have occurred compared to the description included in the 2010 financial statements.

A. Two motions are pending and open in District Court and the Supreme Court to recognize as class actions two legal actions against the Bank and other mortgage banks totaling more than one and one-half billion NIS. The specific amount demanded from each bank was not stated.

In the actions, it was principally argued that the banks unlawfully collected commissions on property insurance and life insurance of borrowers and engaged in insurance brokerage, that the mortgage banks over-charged for insurance premiums, and that the banks and insurers are parties to a cartel which results in borrowers having to pay higher insurance premiums than they would pay for similar policies on the free market.

The banks deny all plaintiffs' claims and reject them out of hand. The banks claimed, *inter alia*, that their actions were lawful both in charging the commissions and in the rates of these commissions.

The parties to the first motion to grant class action status submitted to a reconciliation proceeding heard by the Deputy Chief Justice, Justice Theodore Or (Retired). As the reconciliation process progressed, the parties to the additional motion for class action status filed on the same matter against two insurance companies were added to the process, in view of the parties' desire to reach a comprehensive agreement to conclude all proceedings on this issue.

In May 2011, a reconciliation agreement reached by the parties was filed with the Tel Aviv District Court, with a motion to grant this agreement settlement status, which would terminate proceedings on the two motions. The reconciliation agreement stipulates that the banks would make a charitable donation to public causes amounting to NIS 17 million.

Decisions given by the District Court on July 12 and August 7, 2012 ratified the reconciliation agreement as a settlement, and accepted the parties' recommendation for payment of fees to plaintiffs in the two motions, as well as legal fees to their attorneys, amounting in total to NIS 4 million.

According to the reconciliation agreement, the Bank's share of these payments would amount to NIS 8 million.

B. In April 2003, a claim was filed against the Bank in Tel Aviv District Court, for NIS 12 thousand, as well as a motion for recognition as class action for the total payment of approximately NIS 300. The plaintiffs allege that the Bank must refund to them, personally and to the entire group, charges that were recorded in the seven years preceding the filing date of the claim, in accounts classified by the Bank as "legal customers", for "treasury" and "journal", which the Bank is not permitted to collect because of the Bank's improper disclosure of the substance of the charges. The plaintiffs are requesting for themselves, in addition to the claim amount, fees for their filing of the claim and legal costs.

In view of the District Court's opinion in a verdict dated April 2005, that the remedy it would have approved had the claim been accepted as a class action suit, would be to instruct the Bank to correct its accounts such that charges not in line with the verdict are cancelled, and to instruct the Bank to provide information to customers in legal proceedings of their accounts with the Bank - Bank exposure is to costs associated with compliance with Court instructions, and not to any monetary remedy over and above payment of fees for the plaintiff and his attorneys, as described above. The Bank complies with provisions of the verdict dated April 2005 from the date it received the verdict and thereafter.

In July 2011, the Supreme Court handed down its verdict dismissing the plaintiffs' appeal.

C. In January 2008, a claim against the Bank was filed with the Central District Court at Petah-Tikva, along with a motion for class action status, amounting to NIS 237 million.

The plaintiff claims that the Bank lowers interest rates paid on renewable short-term deposits based on a non-binding outlook for reduction of the Bank of Israel interest rate. By contrast, when a similar outlook existed for raising the Bank of Israel interest rate, interest rates on deposits were only raised by the Bank after the date on which the Bank of Israel actually raised its interest rate.

The plaintiff further claims that the Bank acted arbitrarily and misled its customers in the pre-contract stage – by not disclosing to customers that it used different criteria for raising the Bank of Israel interest rate compared to those for lowering the Bank of Israel interest rate, as well as during the contract stage - by not informing its customers that it had lowered interest rates for such deposits based on the outlook for a reduction in Bank of Israel interest rates rather than on actual reduction thereof.

The plaintiff claims that the Bank was also in breach of its duty to disclose, imposed by the Banking Act (Customer Service). The plaintiff further claims that should it be determined that under terms of the contract between the Bank and the customer, the Bank may lower interest rates at will, according to the plaintiff, this is a discriminatory condition in a uniform contract.

In May 2008, the Bank filed its response to the motion, in which it rejected the claims made by the customer, and stated that the claim whereby the Bank had to modify interest rates on fixed-rate deposits exclusively in accordance with Bank of Israel interest rates was fallacious, counter to agreements between the customer and the Bank and contrary to reason. The Bank further claimed that the plaintiff's claim with regard to expectations was also unfounded, since interest on deposits was based on a range of economic and macro-economic considerations, commercial considerations by the Bank and considerations with regard to actual customers. Evidence in this case was heard in 2010.

In May 2011, the parties filed a motion with the Court, seeking approval of a settlement whereby the fixed interest deposit form would be amended to include clarification of the circumstances of change in interest rate for renewed deposits as stated above. The Court has yet to decide on this motion.

D. In August 2008, a claim was filed at the Jerusalem District Court against the Bank and against Mizrahi Provident Fund Management Company Ltd., along with an application for class action status – in the amount of NIS 374 million. The claim was also filed against the Supervisor of Capital Market and Insurance as a formal defendant. The plaintiff, who has held accounts in multiple provident funds managed in his name at the Bank, claims that the Bank unlawfully appropriated proceeds he had received upon transfer of control of provident fund assets, management and trusteeship there for to management and control by management companies, in lieu of transferring them to provident fund account holders, pro rata to their share of fund assets since, according to his claim, these proceeds are the fruit generated by the provident fund assets and arise from rights associated with these assets, therefore, according to the claim, this profit belongs to provident fund account holders rather than to the Bank.

The Supervisor of Capital Market and Insurance was requested to join the claim as plaintiff, alongside the provident fund account holders, claiming that the Supervisor should rightly voice his position on the claim in both material and public aspects.

The Bank has filed its response to the motion claiming, *inter alia*, that this claim is fallacious and distorts the statute. The asset sold is the provident fund management business, which was owned by the Bank. The sale was made in accordance with the BACHAR reform and legislation enacted on its basis, which required the banks to sell their provident fund management business, which was owned by the Bank and not by the members, therefore the Bank alone is entitled to the proceeds from sale of the asset owned. The entire sale was known to national authorities, first and foremost to the Supervisor of Insurance, which reviewed and approved the agreements, including the obvious fact that proceeds from the sale are due to the seller of the asset, namely: the Bank. A pre-trial hearing in this case was heard, the banks filed an expert opinion and evidence was heard in September 2010.

On March 27, 2011 the Court dismissed the plaintiff's motion for granting class action status. On May 19, 2011, the plaintiff appealed to the Supreme Court the verdict rejecting their motion for approval of class action status.

E. In July 2011, a claim was filed with the Central District Court in the amount of NIS 81.8 million for alleged forward transactions made by the Bank in the plaintiffs' account, allegedly unlawfully, which allegedly caused the plaintiffs to incur a loss.

The Bank is reviewing the claim and is preparing its response there to.

For all claims against the Bank Group in individual amounts over NIS 2 million, excluding class action lawsuits whose outcome may not be assessed at this time, there is additional, non-remote exposure for which no provision was made, amounting to NIS 273 million.

- 3) Motions for recognition as class actions are pending against the Bank, where the amount claimed is material, as well as appeals to the High Court of Justice, as itemized below, which, in the opinion of the Bank's management, based on the opinion of the managements of its subsidiaries, and on the opinion of their legal counsel, the prospects for which cannot be estimated at this stage, so that no provision was made for them.
  - A. In May 2011, the Bank received a claim and motion for approval of class action status. The claim concerns late reporting to the Court Order Execution Service of payments made to reduce debt which is subject to proceedings at the Court Order Execution Service.

The plaintiff claims he is unable to estimate the damage incurred by the entire class of plaintiffs, but believes (on a basis which is not clear to the Bank) that it amounts to hundreds of millions of NIS.

The claim alleges that the Bank is late in reporting to the Court Order Execution Service of payments made to reduce debt, and misleads clients. It is further claimed that clients are not credited with interest in accordance with their date of payment. The claim further stipulates that the Enforcement and Collection Authority and the Court Order Execution Service admit the shortfall in credits made in case of late reporting.

The Bank is reviewing the claim and is preparing its response there to.

- B. In May 2011, the Bank received a claim and motion for approval of class action in the adjusted amount of NIS 181 million. The claim involves alleged unlawful charging of early repayment commission for additional housing loans. The plaintiff claims that the Bank allegedly unlawfully charges an early repayment commission for additional loans, without the reduction required by law.
  - The Bank is reviewing the claim and is preparing its response.
- C. In August 2011, a claim and motion for class action status was filed with the Central District Court amounting to hundreds of millions of NIS (as per the claim statement); no specific amount was claimed. The plaintiff seeks a verdict, pursuant to the Class Action Lawsuit Act, whereby the claim would be made on behalf of all Bank clients whose account was charged legal fees not approved by any legal jurisdiction, or whose account was charged unlawful interest with respect to approved legal fees.
  - The Bank is reviewing the claim and is preparing its response.
- D. In August 2011, a claim and motion for class action status was filed with the Tel Aviv District Court amounting to hundreds of millions of NIS (as per the claim statement); no specific amount was claimed. The plaintiff seeks a verdict, pursuant to the Class Action Lawsuit Act, whereby the claim would be made on behalf of all Bank clients whose account was charged legal fees not approved by any legal jurisdiction, or whose account was charged unlawful interest with respect to approved legal fees.
  - The Bank is reviewing the claim and is preparing its response.
- E. In September 2011, a claim and motion for class action status was filed with the Central District Court amounting to NIS 927 million on an adjusted basis, for alleged unlawful charging of compounded interest, in contravention of statutes and agreements, on housing loans - including targeted loans, eligibility loans and additional loans, excluding standing loans.

The motion was also filed against Bank Leumi Mortgage Bank and Bank HaPoalim.

The Bank is reviewing the claim and is preparing its response..

F. On November 2011, a claim was filed with the Haifa District Court against Bank Yahav and Bank Benleumi. The claim alleges that the banks over-charged cash handling fees. The plaintiff also filed a motion for class action status, for a total amount of NIS 200 million. Bank Yahav is reviewing this claim. At this stage, its impact on the Bank Group may not be assessed.

- (4 On April 26, 2009, the Bank received a determination by the Anti-Trust Supervisor pursuant to Section 43(a)(1) of the Restrictive Trade Practices Act, 1988, whereby restrictive trade practices existed between the Bank and Bank Hapoalim Ltd., Bank Leumi Le-Israel Ltd., Bank Discount Le-Israel Ltd. and First International Bank of Israel Ltd., with regard to commission-related information sharing, since the early 1990s through commencement of the Supervisor inquiry into this matter, in November 2004. This is a civil determination which constitutes a-priori evidence of its content in any legal proceeding. On March 24, 2010, the Bank appealed this ruling to the Anti-Trust Court. The Restrictive Trade Practices Authority filed its response to the appeal on February 22, 2011. In accordance with the Court's proposal, all parties have consented to transfer discussion of the appeal to arbitration. For details of a claim filed against the Bank based on the determination by the Anti-Trust Supervisor, see Note 19.D.10)P. to the financial statements as of December 31, 2010.
- (5 Beginning July 1, 2004, a new two-year agreement went into effect between Bank Tefahot, at that time, and the Government, whereby the collection commission rate determined by the tender held by the Ministry of Finance, with the participation of the mortgage banks will apply to loans to eligible borrowers issued on or after July 1, 2004, which are significantly lower than the commission rate on loans issued until June 30, 2004. This agreement has been continuously extended each year, most recently through June 30, 2012.

In May 2008, a new agreement between the Ministry of Finance and the banks became effective (the agreement is expected to be renewed up to a maximum total term of 5 years), whereby loans to eligible borrowers with low point rating are provided out of bank funds and at bank risk. The interest on these loans is determined based on interest for special assistance loans out of Ministry of Finance funds.

Loan terms have been specified to be 25, 20, 15 or up to 10 years, at the customer's choice, but no longer than the term of assistance out of Ministry of Finance funds. The remainder of the conditions would be in line with generally acceptable conditions for assistance out of Ministry of Finance funds, including a waiver of early repayment commission.

For loans granted to certain eligible borrowers, the Ministry of Finance pays the banks which grant loans out of bank funds the difference between the actual interest rate charged and the average interest rate published by the Bank of Israel, plus spread. Concurrently with loan origination as described above, the banks may continue to grant loans out of Ministry of Finance funds to low-rated eligible borrowers, under terms of the previous agreement (dated 2004) and subject to total loans for the group of low-rated eligible borrowers not exceeding 8% of total bank loans to this group (out of bank funds and out of budgeted funds).

The foregoing does not apply to loans to eligible persons added to the October 2010 agreement, in which the loan-to-value ratio is above 75%. For such persons, the loan out of Ministry of Finance funds shall not exceed 70% of total loans granted by the bank to such persons (out of Bank funds and out of budgeted funds).

The agreement for provision of assistance to eligible borrowers out of bank funds, signed in 2008, has been extended through April 30, 2012.

## Note 7 - Financial derivatives activity - volume, credit risk and maturity dates

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

A. Activity on consolidated basis			As c	of Septembe	r 30, 2011 (ι	ınaudited)
	Interest	contracts			Commoditi	
					es and	
			•	Contracts	other	
	NIS - CPI	Other	contracts	for shares	contracts	Total
<ol> <li>Stated amounts of financial derivatives</li> <li>Hedging derivatives (1)</li> </ol>						
Forward contracts	945	-	-	-	-	945
Swaps	-	1,881	-	-	-	1,881
Total	945	1,881	-	-	-	2,826
Includes interest rate swaps on which the Bank agreed to pay a fixed interest rate	_	1,881	-	-	-	1,881
B. ALM derivatives (1) (2)						
Forward contracts	9,008	6,041	59,778	115	50	74,992
Option contracts traded on stock exchange:						
Options written	-	-	2,460	208	-	2,668
Options purchased	-	-	2,812	183	-	2,995
Other option contracts:						
Options written	-	-	10,470	663	-	11,133
Options purchased	-	-	10,654	697	-	11,351
Swaps	1,154	47,470	10,597	-	-	59,221
Total	10,162	53,511	96,771	1,866	50	162,360
Includes interest rate swaps on which the Bank						
agreed to pay a fixed interest rate	654	27,114	-	-	-	27,768
C. Other derivatives (1)						
Forward contracts	-	-	592	-	-	592
Option contracts traded on stock exchange:						
Options written	-	-	4,794	9,421	-	14,215
Options purchased	-	-	4,794	9,421	-	14,215
Other option contracts:						
Options written	-	895	115	307	12	1,329
Options purchased	-	845	129	254	14	1,242
Total	-	1,740	10,424	19,403	26	31,593

<sup>(1)</sup> Except for credit derivatives and spot contracts for foreign currency swaps.

<sup>(2)</sup> Derivatives that constitute part of the Bank's asset and liability management system, which were not intended as hedges.

# Note 7 - Financial derivatives activity – volume, credit risk and maturity dates (continued)

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

		As of September 30, 2011 (u					
	Interest	contracts	Commoditi				
			_		es and		
	NIIO ODI	0.1	•	Contracts	other	T-1-1	
D. Condit desiresting and anot contracts for foreign	NIS - CPI	Other	contracts	for shares	contracts	Total	
D. Credit derivatives and spot contracts for foreign currency swaps							
Credit derivatives in which the Bank is guarantor	_	_	_	_	1,575	1,575	
Credit derivatives in which the Bank is beneficiary	_	_	_	_	27	1,373	
Foreign currency spot swap contracts	_	_	2,951	_	_	2,951	
Total			2,951	_	1,602	4,553	
Total			2,331		1,002	4,555	
Total stated amounts of derivatives	11,107	57,132	110,146	21,269	1,678	201,332	
2. Fair value, gross, of financial derivatives							
A. Hedging derivatives <sup>(1)</sup>							
Positive fair value, gross	1	-	-	-	-	1	
Negative fair value, gross	5	293	-	-	-	298	
B. ALM derivatives (1) (2)							
Positive fair value, gross	155	872	2,076	47	2	3,152	
Negative fair value, gross	139	1,101	1,721	45	2	3,008	
C. Other derivatives (1)							
Positive fair value, gross	-	5	112	152	-	269	
Negative fair value, gross	-	7	112	158	-	277	
D. Credit derivatives							
Credit derivatives in which the Bank is guarantor							
Positive fair value, gross	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Negative fair value, gross	-	-	-	-	20	20	
Credit derivatives in which the Bank is beneficiary							
Positive fair value, gross	-	-	-	-	4	4	
Negative fair value, gross	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Total positive fair value, gross (3)	156	877	2,188	199	6	3,426	
Total negative fair value, gross (3)	144	1,401	1,833	203	22	3,603	

<sup>(1)</sup> Except for credit derivatives.

<sup>(2)</sup> Derivatives that constitute part of the Bank's asset and liability management system, which were not intended as hedges.

<sup>(3)</sup> Of which negative fair value, gross of embedded derivatives amounting to NIS 17 million.

# Note 7 - Financial derivatives activity – volume, credit risk and maturity dates (continued)

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

	As of Septen	nber 30, 2	010 (unauc	lited)		
	Interest	contracts			Commo-	Total
			_		dities and	
	NIIO ODI	0.11	•	Contracts	other	
	NIS - CPI	Other	contracts	for shares	contracts	
Stated amounts of financial derivatives						
A. Hedging derivatives <sup>(1)</sup>						
Forward contracts	1,610	-	-	-	-	1,610
Swaps	-	2,620	-	-	-	2,620
Total	1,610	2,620	-	-	-	4,230
Includes interest rate swaps on which the Bank						
agreed to pay a fixed interest rate	-	2,620	-	-	-	2,620
B. ALM derivatives (1) (2)						
Forward contracts	6,181	6,397	68,545	164	10	81,297
Option contracts traded on stock exchange:						
Options written	-	-	1,434	=	-	1,434
Options purchased	-	-	1,317	-	-	1,317
Other option contracts:						
Options written	-	-	9,814	290	-	10,104
Options purchased	-	-	9,776	321	-	10,097
Swaps	24,276	7,172	6,572	-	-	38,020
Total	30,457	13,569	97,458	775	10	142,269
Includes interest rate swaps on which the Bank						
agreed to pay a fixed interest rate	16,717	2,351	-	-	-	19,068
C. Other derivatives (1)						
Forward contracts	-	-	1,896	-	-	1,896
Option contracts traded on stock exchange:						
Options written	-	-	2,861	11,918	-	14,779
Options purchased	-	-	2,854	11,918	-	14,772
Other option contracts:						
Options written	-	37	155	212	-	404
Options purchased		37	170	143		350
Total	_	74	7,936	24,191	-	32,201

<sup>(1)</sup> Except for credit derivatives and spot contracts for foreign currency swaps.

<sup>(2)</sup> Derivatives that constitute part of the Bank's asset and liability management system, which were not intended as hedges.

## Note 7 - Financial derivatives activity - volume, credit risk and maturity dates (continued)

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

			As of September 30, 2010 (unaudited				
	Interest	contracts				Total	
					dities and		
			-	Contracts	other		
	NIS - CPI	Other	contracts	for shares	contracts		
<ul> <li>D. Credit derivatives and spot contracts for foreign currency swaps</li> </ul>							
Credit derivatives in which the Bank is guarantor	-	-	-	-	861	861	
Credit derivatives in which the Bank is beneficiary	-	-	-	-	27	27	
Foreign currency spot swap contracts	-	-	2,100	-	-	2,100	
Total	-	-	2,100	-	888	2,988	
Total stated amounts of derivatives	32,067	16,263	107,494	24,966	898	181,688	
O Fair value mana of financial desirations							
<ul> <li>2. Fair value, gross, of financial derivatives</li> <li>A. Hedging derivatives (1)</li> </ul>							
Positive fair value, gross	13	-	-	-	-	13	
Negative fair value, gross	62	351	-	-	-	413	
B. ALM derivatives (1) (2)							
Positive fair value, gross	433	143	1,510	5	-	2,091	
Negative fair value, gross	586	112	1,393	4	-	2,095	
C. Other derivatives (1)							
Positive fair value, gross	-	-	54	121	-	175	
Negative fair value, gross	-	-	48	125	-	173	
D. Credit derivatives							
Credit derivatives in which the Bank is guarantor							
Positive fair value, gross	-	-	-	-	-	-	
Negative fair value, gross	-	-	-	-	18	18	
Total positive fair value, gross	446	143	1,564	126	-	2,279	
Total negative fair value, gross	648	463	1,441	129	18	2,699	

Except for credit derivatives.

Derivatives that constitute part of the Bank's asset and liability management system, which were not intended as hedges.

<sup>(1)</sup> (2) (3) Of which positive fair value, gross of embedded derivatives amounting to NIS 1 million and negative fair value, gross of embedded derivatives amounting to NIS 19 million.

## Note 7 - Financial derivatives activity - volume, credit risk and maturity dates (continued)

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

A. Activity on consolidated basis						
			F	As of Decem	ber 31, 2010	(audited)
	Interest	contracts			Commo-	
			0	0	dities and	
	NIS - CPI	Other	,	Contracts for shares	other contracts	Total
4. Ctated are contact financial derivatives	NIS - CFI	Other	COMME	ioi silares	COITHAGES	Total
Stated amounts of financial derivatives     A. Us derivatives (1)						
A. Hedging derivatives (1)	4.075					4.075
Forward contracts	1,375	-	-	-	-	1,375
Swaps	<u> </u>	2,432	-	-	-	2,432
Total	1,375	2,432	-	-	-	3,807
Includes interest rate swaps on which the Bank		0.400				0.400
agreed to pay a fixed interest rate	-	2,432	-	-	-	2,432
B. ALM derivatives (1) (2)			=	450		0.4.400
Forward contracts	6,677	5,357	72,239	159	37	84,469
Option contracts traded on stock exchange:						
Options written	-	-	2,314	-	-	2,314
Options purchased	-	-	2,838	-	-	2,838
Other option contracts:						
Options written	-	-	6,199	715	-	6,914
Options purchased	-	-	6,573	691	-	7,264
Swaps	1,533	36,898	6,813	-	-	45,244
Total	8,210	42,255	96,976	1,565	37	149,043
Includes interest rate swaps on which the Bank						
agreed to pay a fixed interest rate	1,033	20,031	-	-	-	21,064
C. Other derivatives (1)						
Forward contracts	-	-	929	-	-	929
Option contracts traded on stock exchange:						
Options written	-	-	3,744	15,038	-	18,782
Options purchased	-	-	3,744	15,038	-	18,782
Other option contracts:						
Options written	-	284	196	377	-	857
Options purchased		284	216	314		814
Total	-	568	8,829	30,767	-	40,164

<sup>(1)</sup> Except for credit derivatives and spot contracts for foreign currency swaps.

<sup>(2)</sup> Derivatives that constitute part of the Bank's asset and liability management system, which were not intended as hedges.

Note 7 - Financial derivatives activity - volume, credit risk and maturity dates (continued)

A. Activity on consolidated basis						
			A	As of Decem	ber 31, 2010	(audited)
	Interest	contracts			Commo-	
			Currency	Contracts	dities and	
	NIS - CPI	Other	=	for shares	other contracts	Total
D. Credit derivatives and spot contracts for foreign						
currency swaps						
Credit derivatives in which the Bank is guarantor	-	-	-	-	834	834
Credit derivatives in which the Bank is beneficiary	-	-	-	-	26	26
Foreign currency spot swap contracts	-	-	5,649	-	-	5,649
Total	-	-	5,649	-	860	6,509
Total stated amounts of derivatives	9,585	45,255	111,454	32,332	897	199,523
2. Fair value, gross, of financial derivatives						
A. Hedging derivatives <sup>(1)</sup>						
Positive fair value, gross	2	3	-	-	-	5
Negative fair value, gross	25	207	-	-	-	232
B. ALM derivatives (1) (2)						
Positive fair value, gross	90	488	2,580	64	1	3,223
Negative fair value, gross	156	591	1,688	11	1	2,447
C. Other derivatives <sup>(1)</sup>						
Positive fair value, gross	-	4	81	137	-	222
Negative fair value, gross	-	4	71	145	-	220
D. Credit derivatives						
Credit derivatives in which the Bank is guarantor						
Positive fair value, gross	-	-	-	-	-	-
Negative fair value, gross	-	-	-	-	17	17
Total positive fair value, gross (3)	92	495	2,661	201	1	3,450
Total negative fair value, gross (3)	181	802	1,759	156	18	2,916

<sup>(1)</sup> Except for credit derivatives.

<sup>(2)</sup> Derivatives that constitute part of the Bank's asset and liability management system, which were not intended as hedges.

<sup>(3)</sup> Of which positive fair value, gross of embedded derivatives amounting to NIS 1 million and negative fair value, gross of embedded derivatives amounting to NIS 24 million.

#### Note 7 - Financial derivatives activity - volume, credit risk and maturity dates (continued)

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

#### b) Credit risk on financial derivatives according to counter-party to the contract - Consolidated

As of September 30, 2011 (unaudited)										
	Stock exchanges	Banks	Dealers/ Brokers	Govern- ments and central banks	Others	Total				
Positive fair value, gross, of financial										
derivatives (1)	619	1,952	13	-	842	3,426				
Less offset agreements	-	68	-	-	66	134				
Balance sheet balances of derivative										
instruments	619	1,884	13	-	776	3,292				
Off-balance sheet credit risk on financial										
derivatives (2)	508	10,729	11	-	3,800	15,048				
Total credit risk on financial derivatives	1,127	12,613	24	-	4,576	18,340				

In the nine-month period ended September 30, 2011, the Bank recognized credit loss with respect to derivatives amounting to NIS 5 million.

As of September 30, 2010 (unaudited)									
	Stock exchanges	Banks	Dealers/ Brokers	Govern- ments and central banks	Others	Total			
Positive fair value, gross, of financial derivatives (1)									
derivatives (1)	188	1,467	11	-	613	2,279			
Less offset agreements	-	43	-	-	29	72			
Balance sheet balances of derivative									
instruments	188	1,424	11	-	584	2,207			
Off-balance sheet credit risk on financial									
derivatives (2)	292	10,188	11	-	2,897	13,388			
Total credit risk on financial derivatives	480	11,612	22	-	3,481	15,595			

As of December 31, 2010 (audited)									
	Ctook		Dooloro/	Govern- ments and					
	Stock exchanges	Banks	Dealers/ Brokers	central banks	Others	Total			
B 11 (1 )	excitatiges	Daliks	DIOKEIS	Daliks	Others	Total			
Positive fair value, gross, of financial									
derivatives (1)	1,065	1,902	22	-	461	3,450			
Less offset agreements	-	60	-	-	11	71			
Balance sheet balances of derivative									
instruments	1,065	1,842	22	-	450	3,379			
Off-balance sheet credit risk on financial									
derivatives (2)	537	11,268	28	-	2,706	14,539			
Total credit risk on financial derivatives	1,602	13,110	50	-	3,156	17,918			

<sup>(1)</sup> Of which positive gross fair value of embedded derivatives amounting to NIS 0 million (December 31, 2010 and September 30, 2010 – NIS 1 million) and a balance-sheet balance of stand-alone derivatives amounting to NIS 3,297 million, included under "other assets" (December 31, 2010 - NIS 3,378 million and September 30, 2010 - NIS 2,206 million).

<sup>(2)</sup> Off-balance sheet credit risk for financial derivatives (including those with negative fair value) as calculated for the purposes of the per-borrower limitation.

## Note 7 - Financial derivatives activity – volume, credit risk and maturity dates (continued)

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

#### C. Maturity dates - stated amounts: balances at end of period - Consolidated

	As of September 30, 2011 (una						
	Up to three	3 months to 1					
	months	year	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total		
Interest contracts:							
NIS-CPI	820	5,585	3,463	1,239	11,107		
Other	13,056	16,859	12,225	14,992	57,132		
Currency contracts	73,114	27,287	4,063	5,682	110,146		
Contracts for shares	19,344	1,653	272	-	21,269		
Commodities and other contracts	1,046	346	212	74	1,678		
Total	107,380	51,730	20,235	21,987	201,332		

As of September 30, 2010 (unau									
	Up to three	3 months to 1							
	months	year	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total				
Interest contracts:									
NIS-CPI	1,928	12,460	10,983	6,696	32,067				
Other	1,388	9,274	1,635	3,966	16,263				
Currency contracts	39,023	63,197	2,079	3,195	107,494				
Contracts for shares	23,819	985	162	-	24,966				
Commodities and other contracts	10	166	557	165	898				
Total	66,168	86,082	15,416	14,022	181,688				

As of December 31, 2010 (audite									
		Over three							
	Up to three	months							
	months	to 1 year	1-5 years	Over 5 years	Total				
Interest contracts:									
NIS-CPI	2,135	2,584	3,989	877	9,585				
Other	2,939	22,889	9,824	9,603	45,255				
Currency contracts	75,948	30,216	2,146	3,144	111,454				
Contracts for shares	31,301	622	409	-	32,332				
Commodities and other contracts	36	161	629	71	897				
Total	112,359	56,472	16,997	13,695	199,523				

#### Reported amounts, in NIS millions

#### A. Fair value balances

			Septen	nber 30, 2011
		В	ook balance	
	(1)	(2)	Total	Fair value
Financial assets				
Cash and deposits with banks	12,151	4,836	16,987	17,004
Securities	5,349	447	5,796	5,791
Securities loaned or sold in repurchase agreements	34	-	34	34
Loans to the public, net	12,957	104,663	117,620	118,834
Loans to Governments	-	146	146	145
Investments in investees	31	-	31	31
Assets with respect to derivatives	3,426	-	3,426	3,426
Other financial assets	1,000	-	1,000	1,000
Total financial assets	34,948	110,092	145,040	146,265
Financial liabilities				
Deposits from the public	19,649	96,848	116,497	117,987
Deposits from banks	905	970	1,875	1,916
Deposits from the Government	12	150	162	178
Debentures and subordinated notes	-	12,501	12,501	13,226
Liabilities with respect to derivatives	3,586	-	3,586	3,586
Other financial liabilities	3,134	1	3,135	3,134
Total financial liabilities	27,286	110,470	137,756	140,027

<sup>(1)</sup> Financial instruments where the carrying amount equals the fair value (instruments stated at fair value on the balance sheet), or closely approximates the fair value (instruments with original term of up to 3 months, for which the carrying amount is used as approximation of their fair value).

<sup>(2)</sup> Other financial instruments.

#### Reported amounts, in NIS millions

#### A. Fair value balances - Continued

			Decem	nber 31, 2010
		В	ook balance	
	(1)	(2)	Total	Fair value
Financial assets				
Cash and deposits with banks	9,872	2,742	12,614	12,634
Securities	7,369	-	7,369	7,369
Securities loaned or sold in repurchase agreements	247	-	247	247
Loans to the public, net	11,331	95,709	107,040	109,213
Loans to Governments	1	91	92	91
Investments in investees	29	-	29	29
Intangible assets and goodwill (3)	87	-	87	87
Assets with respect to derivatives (3)	3,449	-	3,449	3,449
Other financial assets (3)	621	-	621	621
Total financial assets	32,370	99,178	131,548	133,740
Financial liabilities				
Deposits from the public	22,882	83,109	105,991	107,348
Deposits from banks	921	1,511	2,432	2,501
Deposits from the Government	5	167	172	192
Debentures and subordinated notes	-	9,813	9,813	10,677
Liabilities with respect to derivatives (3)	2,892	-	2,892	2,892
Other financial liabilities (3)	3,405	1	3,406	3,406
Total financial liabilities	30,105	94,601	124,706	127,016

<sup>(1)</sup> Financial instruments where the carrying amount equals the fair value (instruments stated at fair value on the balance sheet), or closely approximates the fair value (instruments with original term of up to 3 months, for which the carrying amount is used as approximation of their fair value).

<sup>(2)</sup> Other financial instruments.

<sup>(3)</sup> Data was reclassified to match headings and presentation method in the current period.

Reported amounts, in NIS millions

#### B. Items measured at fair value on recurrent basis

	For the nine	months ended Se	eptember 30, 20	011 (unaudited)
	Prices quoted on	Other significant	Non-observed	
	active market	observed data	significant	Balance sheet
	(level 1)	(level 2)	data (level 3)	balance
Assets				
Securities available for sale				
Debentures and bonds:				
of Government of Israel	2,038	1,644	-	3,682
Of foreign governments	65	-	-	65
Of others	197	791	181	1,169
Shares of others	5		-	5
Securities held for trading:				
of Government of Israel	429	-	-	429
Of others	4	-	-	4
Securities loaned or sold in repurchase agreements	34	-	-	34
Credit with respect to loans to clients	239	-	-	239
Assets with respect to derivatives				
Interest contracts:				
Shekel/ CPI	-	109	47	156
Other	-	872	5	877
Currency contracts	482	1,706	-	2,188
Contracts for shares	147	36	16	199
Commodities and other contracts	-	6	-	6
Total assets	3,640	5,164	249	9,053
Liabilities				
Deposits with respect to borrowing from clients	239	-	-	239
Liabilities with respect to derivatives				
Interest contracts:				
Shekel/ CPI	-	106	38	144
Other	-	1,394	7	1,401
Currency contracts	148	1,685	-	1,833
Contracts for shares	147	52	4	203
Commodities and other contracts	-	22	-	22
Other	-	13	4	17
Total liabilities	534	3,272	53	3,859

Reported amounts, in NIS millions

C. Change in items measured at fair value on recurrent basis, included in level 3

C. Change in items measured at fair value on recurrent basis, included in level 3										
For the three months ended September 30, 2011 (unaudited)										
							Net unrealized			
		Total	Purchase,				gain with respect			
		realized	issuance			Fair value	to instruments			
	Fair value as	and	and			as of	held as of			
	of June 30,		disposition,		Transfer	September	September 30,			
<b>A</b> .	2011	gain, net	net	to level 3	from level 3	30, 2011	2011			
Assets Securities available for										
sale										
Debentures and bonds:										
Of others	197	(11)	(5)			181	(4)			
Assets with respect to	197	(11)	(5)	-	-	101	(4)			
derivatives										
Interest contracts:										
Shekel/ CPI	13	2	11	21	-	47	2			
Other	9	1	(5)	_	_	5	1			
Currency contracts	-	· -	(0)	_	_	-	· -			
Contracts for shares	16	_	_	_	_	16	_			
Commodities and other	10					10				
contracts	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			
Total assets	235	(8)	1	21	-	249	(1)			
Liabilities										
Liabilities with respect to										
derivatives										
Interest contracts:										
Shekel/ CPI	70	(32)	(2)	2	-	38	(32)			
Other	9	(1)	(1)	-	-	7	(1)			
Currency contracts	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			
Contracts for shares	2	2	_	-	-	4	2			
Commodities and other										
contracts	-	-	-	-	-	-	-			
Other	7	(3)	-	-	-	4	(3)			
Total liabilities	88	(34)	(3)	2	-	53	(34)			

<sup>(1)</sup> Realized gain (loss) included on statement of profit and loss under Profit from Financing Operations (before expenses with respect to credit loss). Unrealized gain and loss included in equity under Adjustments for Presentation of Available-for-Sale Securities at Fair Value.

<sup>(2)</sup> Included on statement of profit and loss under Profit from Financing Operations (before expenses with respect to credit loss).

Reported amounts, in NIS millions

	For the nine n	nonths end	ed Septemb	er 30, 201 <sup>-</sup>	1 (unaudited	d)	
		Total realized	Purchase, issuance		,		Net unrealized gain with respect to instruments
	Fair value as	and	and		Transfer	as of	held as of
	of December		disposition,		from level	September	September 30,
	31, 2010	gain, net	net	to level 3	3	30, 2011	2011
Assets Securities available for sale Debentures and bonds:	•						
Of others Assets with respect to derivatives	193	(7)	(5)	-	-	181	-
Interest contracts:							
Shekel/ CPI	8	(15)	8	46	-	47	(15)
Other	4	7	(6)	-	-	5	7
Currency contracts	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Contracts for shares Commodities and other	17	(3)	2	-	-	16	(3)
contracts	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Total assets	222	(18)	(1)	46	-	249	(11)
<b>Liabilities</b> Liabilities with respect to derivatives							
Interest contracts:							
Shekel/ CPI	62	-	(56)	32	-	38	-
Other	4	5	(2)	-	-	7	5
Currency contracts	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Contracts for shares Commodities and other	-	4	-	-	-	4	4
contracts	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Other	3	(1)	2	-	-	4	(1)
Total liabilities	69	8	(56)	32	-	53	8

<sup>(1)</sup> Realized gain (loss) included on statement of profit and loss under Profit from Financing Operations (before expenses with respect to credit loss). Unrealized gain and loss included in equity under Adjustments for Presentation of Available-for-Sale Securities at Fair Value.

<sup>(2)</sup> Included on statement of profit and loss under Profit from Financing Operations (before expenses with respect to credit loss).

D. In January to September 2011, no items measured at fair value were transferred from level 2 to level 1 measurement.

Reported amounts, in NIS millions

## E. Total realized or unrealized net gain with respect to instruments measured at level 3 and included on statement of profit

#### and loss

	For the three mo	For the three months ended		
	Septembe	September 30, 2011		
	(unaudited)		(unaudited)	
	Operating profit (loss)	Op	perating profit (loss)	
	before expenses with	be	efore expenses with	
	respect to credit loss	Total re	espect to credit loss	Total
Assets				
Securities available for sale				
Debentures and bonds:				
Of others	(9)	(9)	-	-
Total securities available for sale				
Assets with respect to derivatives	3	3	(11)	(11)
Total assets	(6)	(6)	(11)	(11)
Liabilities				
Liabilities with respect to derivatives	(31)	(31)	9	9
Other	(3)	(3)	(1)	(1)
Total liabilities	(34)	(34)	8	8

F. As of September 30, 2011, the Bank balance sheet contains no items measured other than at fair value on recurrent basis.

## Note 9 - Consolidated profit from financing operations before expenses with respect to credit loss

	For the thre	ee months	For the nin	e months	For the Year Ended
	ended Sept		ended Septe		December 31
	2011	2010	2011	2010	2010
		ınaudited)		naudited)	(unaudited)
A. From assets (1)	(0	aaa.tea)	(		(0.1000.00)
From loans to the public	2,533	1,089	5,514	3,012	3,912
From loans to the Government	5	3	10	9	6
From deposits with the Bank of Israel and from cash	155	(53)	267	(9)	(75)
From deposits with banks	131	(143)	176	(49)	(91)
From securities loaned or sold in repurchase		(112)		3	(- ')
agreements	1	1	4		4
From debentures	203	24	258	20	(98)
	3,028	921	6,229	2,986	3,658
B. On liabilities (1)	5,525		-,	_,	-,,,,,
On deposits from the public	(2,338)	28	(3,554)	(432)	(265)
On deposits from the government	(7)	(2)	(12)	(8)	(9)
On deposits from the Bank of Israel and from cash	(· /	( <del>-</del> /	( · – /	(o) -	(°)
On deposits from banks	(100)	9	(166)	(89)	(97)
Securities loaned or sold in conjunction with repurchase	()	· ·	(100)	(00)	(0.)
agreements	_	_	_	_	-
On debentures and subordinated notes	(193)	(195)	(622)	(408)	(558)
	(2,638)	(160)	(4,354)	(937)	(929)
C. On financial derivatives and hedging activities	(=,===)	(100)	(1,001)	(551)	(0=0)
Non-effective element of hedging ratios (2)	_	_	(1)	_	-
Expenses, net, with respect to ALM derivatives (3)	319	(118)	376	(252)	(287)
Net income (expenses) with respect to other derivatives	72	2	(96)	(11)	52
Tracting (or periods) man respect to earlest destruction	391	(116)	279	(263)	(235)
D. Other		(110)		(=55)	(=55)
Commissions from financing transactions	35	25	97	71	95
Financing revenues from collection of interest on	00	20	0.	• •	00
arrears from individual borrowers	9	14	23	28	27
Interest income on troubled debt	26	27	52	66	195
Gain (loss) from sale of debentures available for sale,					
net (4)	(5)	(2)	(6)	25	28
Realized and unrealized gain from adjustment to fair	(-)	( )	(-)	_	
value of debentures held for trade, net	7	5	12	13	9
Other financing revenues	29	29	115	115	153
Other financing expenses	(5)	(8)	(23)	(25)	(42)
3 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7 7	96	90	270	293	465
Total profit from financing operations before					
expenses with respect to credit loss	877	735	2,424	2,079	2,959
Includes: exchange rate differences, net	-	(7)	_, · <b>_</b> ·	(1)	(1)
E. Details of net effect of hedging financial		(')		(1)	(1)
derivatives on profit from financing operations					
Financing revenues (expenses) from assets (section A)	(42)	4	(51)	(13)	(36)
Tillationing revenues (expenses) from assets (section A)	(74)		(51)	(13)	(30)

<sup>(1)</sup> Includes the effective element in the hedging ratios.

<sup>(2)</sup> Excludes the effective element in the hedging ratio.

<sup>(3)</sup> Financial derivatives constitute part of the Bank's asset and liability management which were not intended for hedging.

<sup>(4)</sup> Includes provision for other-than-temporary impairment.

## Note 10 - Gains from Investments in Shares, net

					For the Year
	For the thre	e months	For the nin	e months	Ended
	ended Sept	ember 30	ended Septe	ember 30	December 31
	2011	2010	2011	2010	2010
	(u	ınaudited)	(u	naudited)	(unaudited)
Gain from sale of shares available for sale, net	1	-	3	1	3
Provision for impairment of available-for-sale shares	-	-	-	(2)	(5)
Dividends from available-for-sale shares	-	-	1	1	1
Total loss from investments in shares, net	1	-	4	-	(1)

## **Note 11 – Operating Segments**

## For the nine months ended September 30, 2011 (unaudited)

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

#### A. Information on operating segments

A. Information on operating segments		Private	Small C	ommercial	Business	Financial	Total
	Household	banking	business	banking		management	
Profit from financing operations before expenses	riodocrioid	barnang	business	Danking	Dariking	management	coi iodilaatoo
with respect to credit loss							
From outside operating segments	2,981	14	341	196	273	(1,381)	2,424
Inter-segment	(1,748)	59	6	(56)	212	, ,	-
Profit from financing operations before expenses	(1,112)			(00)		.,	
with respect to credit loss	1,233	73	347	140	485	146	2,424
Operating and other income	607	41	164	42	74		•
Total revenues	1,840	114	511	182	559	252	
Expenses with respect to credit loss	65	(6)	58	11	130		
Operating and other expenses		(-)					
From outside operating segments	1,211	56	325	52	164	170	1,978
Inter-segment	(91)	4	(38)	53	62		
Other operating expenses - total	1,120	60	287	105	226	180	1,978
Pre-tax operating profit	655	60	166	66	203	54	
Provision for taxes on operating profit	234	21	59	23	72		
After-tax operating profit	421	39	107	43	131	34	775
Share in net after-tax operating profit of affiliates	-	_	-	-	-	1	1
Net operating profit:							
Before attribution to non-controlling interest	421	39	107	43	131	35	776
Attributable to non-controlling interest	(29)	-	-	-	-	-	(29)
Attributable to equity holders of the banking	, ,						
corporation	392	39	107	43	131	35	747
After-tax loss from extraordinary items before							
attribution to non-controlling interest	-	-	-	-	-	(2)	(2)
Net profit:							
Before attribution to non-controlling interest	421	39	107	43	131	33	774
Attributable to non-controlling interest	(29)	-	-	-	-	-	(29)
Attributable to equity holders of the banking	, ,						
corporation	392	39	107	43	131	33	745
Return on equity (percentage of net profit							
attributed to equity holders of the banking							
corporation out of average equity)	16.1%	104.8%	38.4%	14.5%	6.9%	13.5%	14.3%
Average balance of assets	76,140	2,779	6,186	4,852	24,747	25,282	139,986
Includes: Investments in affiliates	70,140	2,775	0,100	-,002	2-1,1-11	17	
Average balance of liabilities	50,508	6,232	6,896	3,123	29,419	36,351	
Average balance of risk assets <sup>(1)</sup>	45,484	711	5,030	5,219	33,292	,	
Average balance of provident and mutual fund assets		, , ,	5,050	5,215	55,252	78,981	
Average balance of securities	27,431	11,626	8,361	3,894	72,550		
Loans to the public, net (end balance)	82,330	1,506	6,185	4,831	22,768		
Deposits from the public (end balance)	52,325	6,307	7,221	3,060	33,402		,
Average balance of other assets managed	21,407	0,307	251	164	33,402		21,909

#### B. Information on profit from financing operations before expenses with respect to credit loss

· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	• .						
		Private	Small Commercial		Business	Financial	Total
	Household	banking	business	banking	banking	management	consolidated
Margin from credit granting operations	748	37	248	107	292	-	1,432
Margin from receiving deposits	412	33	64	16	55	-	580
Other	73	3	35	17	138	146	412
Total	1,233	73	347	140	485	146	2,424

<sup>(1)</sup> Risk weighted assets - as calculated for capital adequacy (Proper Conduct of Banking Business Regulation No. 201).

## Note 11 – Operating Segments (continued)

For the nine months ended September 30, 2010 (unaudited)

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

#### A. Information on operating segments

A. Information on operating segments	•	Private	Small C	ommercial	Business (2)	Financial (2)	Total
	Household	banking	business	banking		management	
Profit from financing operations before expenses							
with respect to credit loss							
From outside operating segments	2.004	(2)	271	151	412	(757)	2,079
Inter-segment	(1,000)	42	(5)	(31)	26	968	
Profit from financing operations before expenses	(1,000)	<u> </u>	(-)	(0.1)			
with respect to credit loss	1,004	40	266	120	438	211	2,079
Operating and other income	604	40	151	41	66	115	1,017
Total revenues	1,608	80	417	161	504	326	3,096
Expenses with respect to credit loss	61		31	2	187	-	281
Operating and other expenses			-	_			
From outside operating segments	1.166	48	309	44	140	171	1,878
Inter-segment	(94)	-	(40)	59	66	9	-,
Other operating expenses - total	1,072	48	269	103	206	180	1,878
Pre-tax operating profit	475	32	117	56	111	146	937
Provision for taxes on operating profit	175	11	44	21	40	54	345
After-tax operating profit	300	21	73	35	71	92	592
Share in net after-tax operating profit of affiliates	-	-	-	-	-	(1)	(1)
Net operating profit:						( )	( )
Before attribution to non-controlling interest	300	21	73	35	71	91	591
Attributable to non-controlling interest	(14)	-	-	-	-	-	(14)
Attributable to equity holders of the banking							
corporation	286	21	73	35	71	91	577
After-tax loss from extraordinary items before							
attribution to non-controlling interest	_	-	-	-	-	2	2
Net profit:							
Before attribution to non-controlling interest	300	21	73	35	71	93	593
Attributable to non-controlling interest	(14)	-	-	-	-	-	(14)
Attributable to equity holders of the banking	( )						
corporation	286	21	73	35	71	93	579
Return on equity (percentage of net profit							
attributed to equity holders of the banking							
corporation out of average equity)	13.0%	40.6%	28.4%	12.1%	3.7%	30.9%	11.6%
Average balance of assets	67,416	1,873	5,199	4,547	24,567	17,768	121,370
Includes: Investments in affiliates	67,416	1,073	5,199	4,547	24,567	17,700	121,370
Average balance of liabilities	47,498	5,809	6,314	3,010	20,042	31,495	114,168
Average balance of risk assets (Basel II) (1)	40,224	907	4,457	4,918	32,263	4,144	86,913
Average balance of provident and mutual fund assets	40,224	307	4,437	4,910	32,203	75,374	75,374
Average balance of securities	26,475	- 7,214	7,558	4,140	64,242	33,893	143,522
	71,661	909	5,363	4,140	20,917	33,093	103,493
Loans to the public, net (end balance) Deposits from the public (end balance)	46,698	4,746	6,259	2,764	23,542	17,195	103,493
Average balance of other assets managed	22,507	4,140	344	40	116	17,193	23,007
Average paralice of other assets mariaged	22,507	-	344	40	110		23,007

#### B. Information on profit from financing operations before provision for doubtful debts

	• •						
		Private	Small	Commercial	Business	Financial (2)	Total
	Household	banking	business	banking	banking <sup>(2)</sup>	management	consolidated
Margin from credit granting operations	604	11	192	93	311	-	1,211
Margin from receiving deposits	297	27	41	11	34	-	410
Other	103	2	33	16	93	211	458
Total	1,004	40	266	120	438	211	2,079

<sup>(1)</sup> Weighted risk assets - as calculated for capital adequacy (Proper Conduct of Banking Business Regulation No. 201).

<sup>(2)</sup> Reclassified.

## Note 11 – Operating Segments (continued)

For the three months ended September 30, 2011 (unaudited)

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

#### A. Information on operating segments

		Private	Sm	all	Commercia	al Busines	SS	Financial	Total
	Household	banking	bus	siness	banking	banking	)	management	consolidated
Profit from financing operations before expenses									
with respect to credit loss									
From outside operating segments	1,134	1	3	125	5 6	4	132	, ,	) 877
Inter-segment	(696	)	21	5	5 (12	2)	74	608	-
Profit from financing operations before expenses	;								
with respect to credit loss	438	3	24	130	) 5	2	206	27	7 877
Operating and other income	195	5	14	53	3 1	3	24	36	335
Total revenues	633	3	38	183	3 6	5	230	63	3 1,212
Expenses with respect to credit loss	29	)	(5)	21	l (10	0)	96	11	142
Operating and other expenses									
From outside operating segments	400	)	22	104	1 1	5	53	56	650
Inter-segment	(33	)	5	(14	) 1	8	21	3	3 -
Other operating expenses - total	367	7	27	90	) 3	3	74	59	650
Pre-tax operating profit	237	7	16	72	2 4	2	60	(7)	) 420
Provision for taxes on operating profit	87	7	6	26	5 1	4	21	-	- 154
After-tax operating profit	150	)	10	46	3	8	39	(7)	) 266
Share in net after-tax operating profit of affiliates	<b>;</b>	-	-		-	-	-		
Net operating profit:									
Before attribution to non-controlling interest	150	)	10	46	5 2	8	39	(7)	) 266
Attributable to non-controlling interest	(11	)	-		-	-	-		- (11)
Attributable to equity holders of the banking									
corporation	139	)	10	46	5 2	8	39	(7)	) 255
After-tax loss from extraordinary items before									
attribution to non-controlling interest		-	-		-	-	-		
Net profit:									
Before attribution to non-controlling interest	150	)	10	46	5 2	8	39	(7)	) 266
Attributable to non-controlling interest	(11	)	-		-	-	-		- (11)
Attributable to equity holders of the banking									
corporation	139	)	10	46	3 2	8	39	(7)	) 255
Return on equity (percentage of net profit									
attributed to equity holders of the banking									
corporation out of average equity)	16.0%	91	.0%	54.9%	30.2	<b>%</b>	6.1%		- 14.9%

#### B. Information on profit from financing operations before expenses with respect to credit loss

	Private	Small	Commer	cial Business	Financial	Total
	Household banking	business	banking	banking	management	consolidated
Margin from credit granting operations	261	11	92	39 1	129	- 532
Margin from receiving deposits	148	11	23	5	21	- 208
Other	29	2	15	8	56 2	7 137
Total	438	24 1	30	52 2	206 2	7 877

## Note 11 – Operating Segments (continued)

For the three months ended September 30, 2010 (unaudited) - continued

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

#### A. Information on operating segments

	Pr	rivate	Small	Commerc	cial Business	s <sup>(1)</sup> F	-inancial <sup>(1)</sup>	Total
	Household ba	anking	business	banking	banking		nanagement o	consolidated
Profit from financing operations before expenses with respect to credit loss	S							
From outside operating segments	849	1	8	88	56	119	(378)	735
Inter-segment	(487)	16		6 (	14)	24	455	-
Profit from financing operations before expense								
with respect to credit loss	362	17		)4		143	77	735
Operating and other income	200	12	5	50	14	20	39	335
Total revenues	562	29	14	14	56	163	116	1,070
Expenses with respect to credit loss	27	-	1	4	3	58	-	102
Operating and other expenses								
From outside operating segments	396	22	10	)4	9	38	61	630
Inter-segment	(36)	(4)	(1	5)	25	28	2	-
Other operating expenses - total	360	18	8	89	34	66	63	630
Pre-tax operating profit	175	11	۷	<b>!</b> 1	19	39	53	338
Provision for taxes on operating profit	66	3	1	5	8	14	21	127
After-tax operating profit	109	8	2	26	11	25	32	211
Share in net after-tax operating profit of affiliate	s -	-		-	-	-	(1)	(1)
Net operating profit:								
Before attribution to non-controlling interest	109	8	2	26	11	25	31	210
Attributable to non-controlling interest	(6)	-		-	-	-	-	(6)
Attributable to equity holders of the banking corporation	103	8	2	26	11	25	31	204
After-tax loss from extraordinary items before		·	-		• •		0.	204
attribution to non-controlling interest	-	-		-	-	-	2	2
Net profit:								
Before attribution to non-controlling interest	109	8	2	26	11	25	33	212
Attributable to non-controlling interest	(6)	-		-	-	-	-	(6)
Attributable to equity holders of the banking corporation	103	8	2	26	11	25	33	206
Return on equity (percentage of net profit attributed to equity holders of the banking corporation out of average equity)	13.7%	71.0%			<b>4</b> % 2	.9%	44.4%	

### B. Information on profit from financing operations before provision for doubtful debts

	Privat Household banki			Commercia banking	al Business banking			Total consolidated
Margin from credit granting operations	215	3	69			119		436
Margin from receiving deposits	110	13	15		4 (	(13)	-	129
Other	37	1	10	)	8	37	77	170
Total	362	17	94	. 4	12	143	77	735

<sup>(1)</sup> Reclassified.

## **Note 11 – Operating Segments (continued)** For the year ended December 31, 2010 (audited)

Reported amounts (NIS in millions)

A. Information on operating segments		Private	Sma	1	Commercial	Business (2)	Financial (2)	Total
	Household	banking	busir		banking	banking	management	
Profit from financing operations before expenses		bailining	DUSII	1000	bai ini ig	Danking	management	COI ISOIIGAICG
with respect to credit loss								
From outside operating segments	2,777	7	(2)	377	232	2 604	4 (1,029	2,959
Inter-segment	(1,401		58	(15)				
Profit from financing operations before expenses	(1,101	/		(10)	(00)	,	.,	
with respect to credit loss	1,376	3	56	362	169	657	7 339	2,95
Operating and other income	810		56	206				,
Total revenues	2.186		112	568				
Expenses with respect to credit loss	83		-	45				- 47
Operating and other expenses		•		10	· -	- 0.0		
From outside operating segments	1,574	1	63	414	69	210	236	2,566
Inter-segment	(112		(2)	(47)				
Other operating expenses - total	1,462		61	367				
Pre-tax operating profit	64		51	156				
Provision for taxes on operating profit	233		19	56				
After-tax operating profit	408		32	100				
Share in net after-tax operating profit of affiliates		-	-				-	-
Net operating profit:	•							
Before attribution to non-controlling interest	408	3	32	100	) 54	1 73	3 151	818
Attributable to non-controlling interest	(18		-				- (1	
Attributable to equity holders of the banking	(10	/						, (12
corporation	390	)	32	100	54	1 73	3 150	799
After-tax profit from extraordinary items before			-					
attribution to non-controlling interest		_	-				- 2	2 2
Net profit:								
Before attribution to non-controlling interest	408	3	32	100	54	1 73	3 153	820
Attributable to non-controlling interest	(18	)	-				- (1	
Attributable to equity holders of the banking	( -	/						(12
corporation	390	)	32	100	54	1 73	3 152	2 80
Return on equity (percentage of net profit								
attributed to equity holders of the banking								
corporation out of average equity)	12.7%	52	2.2%	27.6%	13.6%	2.8%	6 52.7%	11.8%
Average balance of assets	68,097	7 2	.040	5,292	2 4,590	24,821	1 18,290	) 123,130
Includes: Investments in affiliates	00,007		,0-10	0,202	,000		- 10,230	,
Average balance of liabilities	<sup>(2)</sup> 45,392	5	,724	6,383	3 2,970	21,098		
Average balance of risk assets <sup>(1)</sup>	40,863		765	4,518	,			
Average balance of provident and mutual fund	.0,000			.,	,	0=,	.,	- 0.,00
assets		-	_	-			- 77,130	77,130
Average balance of securities	27,045	5 7	,315	7,840	4,059	66,264		
Loans to the public, net (end balance)	<sup>(2)</sup> 73,869		962	5,771	,			107,04
Deposits from the public (end balance)	46,864		.946	6,413				,
Average balance of other assets managed	22,655		-	369				- 23,18

#### B. Information on profit from financing operations before expenses with respect to credit loss

	-	Private	Small	Comme	ercial	Business (2)	Financial (2)	Total
	Household	banking	business	banking		banking	management	consolidated
Margin from credit granting operations	83	86	19	258	134	405	5	- 1,652
Margin from receiving deposits	42	24	35	57	16	6 48	3	- 580
Other	11	6	2	47	19	9 204	339	727
Total	1,37	<b>'</b> 6	56	362	169	657	7 339	2,959

Risk weighted assets - as calculated for capital adequacy (Proper Conduct of Banking Business Regulation No. 201). Reclassified. (1) (2)

#### Note 12 - Other matters

 On February 15, 2011, the Bank raised, via Tefahot Issuance, NIS 505 million in consideration for issuance of NIS 455 million par value debentures pursuant to a shelf prospectus dated February 25, 2009.

On February 25, 2011, Tefahot Issuance issued a shelf prospectus for issuance of up to 10 series of subordinated notes, 10 series of debentures, extension of subordinate notes (Series 31), extension of debentures (Series 29 and Series 32) as well as issuance of two series of commercial paper.

On April 13, 2011, Tefahot Issuance issued NIS 903 million par value debentures (Series 33, CPI-linked and Series 34, NIS-denominated non-linked), pursuant to the shelf prospectus dated February 25, 2011, for consideration of NIS 903 million.

On July 10, 2011, Tefahot Issuance issued NIS 1,135 million par value debentures (Series 33, CPI-linked and Series 34, NIS-denominated, non-linked), pursuant to the shelf prospectus dated February 25, 2011, for consideration of NIS 1,155 million.

The proceeds from all of these issuances were deposited at the Bank under similar terms.

 On May 19, 2008, after approval by the Bank's Audit Committee and Board of Directors, option warrants were allotted to Bank officers, branch, department and affiliate managers as well as to other employees of the Bank and its subsidiaries. For further details, see Note 16.A.3.b to Financial Statements as of December 31, 2009

The number of option warrants which the offerees may actually exercise, pursuant to terms of the plan, for each lot itemized in the plan, is based on the net operating profit return on the Bank's average shareholders' equity, up to an annual rate of return equal to 18%, based on the exercise eligibility formula, as specified in the option plan. On October 26, 2010, the Board of Directors resolved, after receiving approval of the Audit Committee, to update the vesting eligibility formula for each of the Stock Option plans for VPs for lots vesting in 2011, 2012 and 2013, where the vesting eligibility would be determined based on annual rate of return in reported fiscal 2010, 2011 and 2012, respectively. In accordance with the updated formula, the offerees would be eligible to exercise in full the options in each lot, provided that the average net profit rate of return on equity would be 15%, compared to 18% in the original formula, all as stipulated in the update to the stock option plan. For recording the expense on the Bank's financial statements, Bank management has estimated the trend of annual rates of return (though not linear) for each of the years 2010, 2011 and 2012. Using this trend, the number of options each offeree may exercise out of the total number of options granted to them in accordance with the plan were reestimated for lots vesting in 2011 through 2013. The update to the vesting eligibility formula, as well as management estimates with regard to the trend of annual rates of return, are arithmetical results of the Board of Directors' decision with regard to the capital adequacy target, as stated in Note 4.C. above. Pursuant to this reestimation, it is expected that the number of options exercisable by each offeree, as stated above, would be similar to the number of options exercisable by each offeree based on previous estimates by management, and that the change would not materially impact the Bank's financial statements.

#### Note 12 - Other matters - continued

On October 3, 2011, the Bank Board of Directors, after receiving approval of the Bank Audit Committee, resolved to approve a plan for allotment of a further 701,300 options, under identical terms and conditions with the exception of the exercise price, to 31 employees, including one officer of the Bank. Options would be allotted in 2 equal lots vesting on three dates ("vesting dates") starting on the first anniversary (lot 1) and second anniversary (lot 2) of the allotment date, subject to net profit rate of return on average equity for each year preceding each vesting date, as stated above. The exercise price for each option allotted to the additional offerees pursuant to the plan is NIS 31.62, plus CPI linkage differentials, adjusted for any dividends or bonus shares to be distributed by the Bank. The exercise price was based on the closing price of Bank shares on the stock exchange on October 2, 2011, the most recent trading day prior to the date of plan approval by the Board of Directors. The fair value (theoretical benefit value) of a single option in any lot of the additional options approved was calculated in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standard (IFRS) 2, using the Black & Scholes model. The theoretical benefit value of the option warrants in this allotment, calculated in accordance with accounting rules of Accounting Standard no. 24, amounts to NIS 4.4 million (NIS 5 million including Payroll Tax). Calculation of the total theoretical benefit value for the allotment is based on assumptions regarding the number of options that offerees would be eligible to exercise based on management estimate of the range of annual rates of return, as stated above, as well as based on Bank management assessment with regard to the average churn rate of plan offerees, meaning that some of the option warrants to be granted would expire due to the offerees retirement. The theoretical benefit value of each lot is recognized in the Bank's accounts over the vesting period.

Below are the assumptions used in calculating the fair value of a single option, as well as the resulting fair value per single option, for each of the lots granted:

	Lot 1	Lot 2	2	Total
Allotment approved October 3, 2011				
Number of options		350,650	350,650	701,300
Annualized standard deviation		31.93%	36.90%	
Exercise price (in NIS)		31.62	31.62	
Risk-free interest rate		1.07%	1.13%	
Term to exercise (in years)		2.71	3.21	
Fair value per single option		6.93	8.63	
Total fair value per lot (NIS in thousands)		1,700	2,783	4,483

The option warrants were allotted to employees on November 17, 2011.